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Driving clarity in financial reporting

Investors and regulators have been raising concerns about the clarity of financial reporting. Alongside this, artificial
intelligence has fundamentally changed the face of communication, impacting confidence and trust. Maintaining
stakeholders’ confidence and trust is high on the agenda for all companies, with clarity of reporting playing a key role.

INTRODUCTION

A company's annual reporting contains three key areas that provide insights into the business model and strategy: the
Operating and Financial Review (OFR), the financial statements, and the sustainability disclosures. Companies may
face direct challenge from investors, regulators and other report users if these insights are not connected.

To achieve connectivity, it is crucial that companies are both compliant with relevant standards and are connecting the
dots between financial and non-financial information. This is especially important when reporting on issues that create
volatility for the company’s prospects, such as climate change and uncertain times.

The current economic conditions are marked by ongoing impacts of fluctuating interest rates and inflation, increased
market volatility, and heightened geopolitical risk. These uncertainties bring numerous issues and risks for companies,
including shifts in consumer demand, disrupted supply chains, staff shortages and increased operational costs.

These factors contribute to an everchanging business environment. Increasingly, the effects of climate change are
shaping our landscape, prompting stakeholders to focus on how entities are reflecting the risks and opportunities
they are facing and the strategic decisions they have made in transitioning to a low-carbon economy. In this complex
environment, effective and clear communication continues to be critical.

Australian content

In the OFR, stakeholders expect entities to provide a holistic view of their business, including their performance and
future strategic plans. ASIC regularly calls for the OFR to complement the financial report and tell the story of how
the company’s businesses are performing. It should provide explanations for underlying drivers of results, financial
position, material business risks, and their impact on strategies and future prospects. Importantly, forward-looking
information should be based on reasonable assumptions, and the market should be updated through continuous
disclosure if circumstances change.

Within the financial statements, it remains critical for entities to clearly explain key judgements made and estimates
used in making them. Uncertain market and economic conditions may result in a wider range of reasonable assumptions
informing estimates of asset and liability values. Disclosing significant judgements, sources of estimation uncertainty,
key assumptions, and sensitivities is vital to assist stakeholders in understanding the connectivity between the front part
of the annual report and the financial statements.
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Significant developments and complex changes have also occurred in the global tax landscape to promote tax
integrity and transparency. This includes the ongoing implementation of global minimum tax reform that could have a
substantial impact on multinational groups. The financial reporting impacts of these developments, along with newly
effective accounting and regulatory requirements are summarised on our What's new? page.

The global trend towards sustainability reporting continues, with an aim to increase its prominence and connectivity
with financial reporting. In Australia, the climate-related disclosures legislation Treasury Laws Amendment (Financial
Market Infrastructure and Other Measures) Act 2024 was passed, and received Royal Assent in September 2024.

The new requirements will be mandatory on a phased approach, with the first wave of entities reporting from financial
years beginning 1 January 2025. In line with this, the Australian Accounting Standards Board has released the first
globally aligned Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards, AASB S1 General Requirements for Disclosure of
Sustainability-related Financial Information (available for voluntary adoption) and AASB S2 Climate-related Disclosures
(@ mandatory standard). Our Australian and Global sustainability reporting resource centres offer practical guidance to
assist entities prepare for these changes.

With the finalisation of AASB S2, we recommend companies use this as a basis for any voluntary reporting of climate-
related risks and opportunities in any reporting periods leading up to mandatory application by the company. ASIC
continues to highlight its expectations on sustainability-related disclosures and greenwashing, and the publishing of
sustainability-related statements that are well-founded and clearly backed by strategic plans and investments. Notably,
ASIC is taking regulatory actions as a result of its greenwashing surveillance activities.

Given Australia’s alignment with IFRS® Accounting Standards, minimal changes have been made to the source
document prepared by our international colleagues. Australian-specific disclosures have been added where
applicable, and navigation bookmarks and links are available to facilitate identification of the changes and disclosures
that entities should consider.

We trust you find this Example Public Company Limited Guide to annual reports — illustrative disclosures a valuable
resource in your annual report preparation. If you require further information on the content of this publication or
need assistance in the application of Australian Accounting Standards, please contact your KPMG professional.
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How to use this guide

The purpose of this publication is to help you in preparing annual financial reports in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards, which are International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) developed
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB® Board) as adopted by the AASB for for-profit entities.

Itillustrates one possible format for financial statements for a fictitious multinational corporation involved in general
business (Example Public Company Limited).

This publication relates to both annual financial years ending 31 December 2024 and 30 June 2025 and reflects standards
and interpretations that have been issued by the AASB as at 31 August 2024 and that are required to be applied by an
entity with an annual reporting period beginning on 1 January 2024 and 1 July 2024 (‘currently effective requirements’).

The early adoption of standards or amendments to standards that are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after
1 January 2024 (‘forthcoming requirements’) is not illustrated.

Although it is not exhaustive, this guide illustrates the disclosures required by IFRS Accounting Standards for one
hypothetical corporation, merely for illustrative purposes and, as such, largely without regard to materiality.

This guide should not be used as a boilerplate template. The preparation and presentation of financial statements
require the preparer to exercise judgement, in terms of the choice of accounting policies, the ordering of notes to the
financial statements, how the disclosures should be tailored to reflect the entity’s specific circumstances, and the
relevance of disclosures considering the needs of the users.

In April 2025, this guide has been updated to illustrate disclosures related to the Consolidated entity disclosure
statement (CEDS) which were amended and approved in December 2024. The changes are mandatory for financial

years beginning on or after 1 July 2024 (i.e. financial years ending on or after 30 June 2025). Under Australian
content, the Consolidated entity disclosure statement has been updated to reflect the amendments.

Navigating this guide

If you are using this guide for the first time:

Given Australia’s close alignment to IFRS Accounting Standards, a substantial portion of Example Public Company Limited
has been based on the illustrative disclosures publication prepared by our international colleagues based on ‘pure’ IFRS
Accounting Standards.

However to illustrate additional Australian specific disclosure and alternative presentation methods that are commonly used
in Australia, a separate section, has been included, just before the main financial statements. A clear cross-reference to the
Australian section is included on affected international pages.

Australian specific disclosure is shown in section one Australian content.

lllustrative disclosure based on IFRS Accounting Standards is shown in section two Guide to annual financial statements.

This hypothetical corporation (the ‘Group’) used in this publication has been applying the Accounting Standards for
some time —i.e. it is not a first-time adopter. If you are preparing your first set of annual financial statements, that
include an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards, you are considered a first
time adopter. For more information on first time adoption, see Chapter 6.1 in the 21st edition 2024/25 of our publication
Insights into IFRS.

If you are recurring user of this guide:

We direct you to our What's new page, which contains a summary of all new or revised accounting standards and regulatory
changes that have been reflected in Example Public Company Limited since the previous edition of this guide and references
to other resources in the guide that you might find useful to your financials statement preparation for the current period.

Materiality considerations

Materiality is relevant to the presentation and disclosure of the items in the financial statements. Preparers need to
consider whether the financial statements include all of the information that is relevant to understanding an entity’s
financial position at the reporting date and its financial performance during the reporting period.

Preparers also need to take care not to reduce the understandability of an entity’s financial statements by obscuring
material information with immaterial information or by aggregating material information that is different by nature or
function. Individual disclosures that are not material to the financial statements do not have to be presented — even if
they are a minimum requirement of a standard. Preparers need to consider the appropriate level of disclosure based on
materiality for the reporting period.

Specific guidance on materiality and its application to the financial statements is included in paragraphs 29-31 of AASB
101 Presentation of Financial Statements. In addition Making Materiality Judgements (AASB Practice Statement 2)
provides practical guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality in the preparation of financial statements.
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Further KPMG guidance

We also have a number of accompanying tools and
publications that can be used to assist you in the

preparation of your annual report and helping you to report KPMG Australia
financial information in the most meaningful way. These
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materials and more, can be accessed from our Financial Reporting and
Reporting Centre site, which contains a number of other Accounting
valuable references and resources. Standards
£ Whether you are new to IFRS Accounting Standards or a
g current user, you can find digestible summaries of recent IFRS Today
8 developments, detailed guidance on complex requirements,
& and practical tools such as illustrative disclosures
g and checklists.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Basis of preparation

Reporting entity

Basis of accounting

Functional and presentation currency
Use of judgements and estimates
Changes in accounting policy

GIERENIES

Performance for the year
6. Operating segments

7. Discontinued operation
8. Revenue

9. Income and expenses
10. Net finance costs

11. Earnings per share

Employee benefits

12. Share-based payment arrangements
13. Employee benefits

Income taxes
14. Income taxes

Alternative performance measure

15. Adjusted EBITDA — Not used in Australian
context

Assets

16. Biological assets

17. Inventories

18. Trade and other receivables

19. Cash and cash equivalents

20. Disposal group held for sale

21. Property, plant and equipment

22. Intangible assets and goodwill

23. Investment property

24. Equity-accounted investees

25. Other investments, including derivatives

Equity and liabilities

26. Capital and reserves

27. Capital management
28. Loans and borrowings
29. Trade and other payables
30. Government grants

31. Provisions

Financial instruments

32. Financial instruments — fair values
and risk management

Group composition

33. List of subsidiaries

34. Acquisition of subsidiary
35. Non-controlling interests
36. Acquisition of NCI
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What's new?

The following Standards are effective for the first time when preparing Tier 1 general purpose financial statements
for annual reporting periods ending 31 December 2024 and 30 June 2025:
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Australian Accounting Standards
Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to AASB 7 and 107)

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to AASB 101) and Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (Amendments to AASB 101)
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to AASB 16)

Fair Value Measurement of Non-Financial assets of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities (Amendments to AASB 13)’

The Group applied Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to AASB 7 and 107) for the first time in the current year.
The amendments introduce new disclosures to help users of the financial statements to assess the effects of supplier
finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and liquidity risk. See Notes 29 and 32(C)(iii) for illustrative
disclosures about supplier finance arrangements entered into by the Group. For further information, see our article.

Australian content

The Group also applied Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to AASB 107) and Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to AASB 107) for the first time in the current year. The amendments
clarify certain requirements for determining whether a liability is classified as current or non-current and introduce
new disclosures for non-current loan liabilities that are subject to covenants within 12 months after the end of the
reporting period. Adopting the amendments resulted in a change in the accounting policy for classifying liabilities
that can be settled in a Group entity’'s own shares. See Note 5 for illustrative disclosures explaining the nature and
effect of this change. In addition, see Note 28(B) for illustrative disclosures about the Group’s non-current loans that
are subject to covenants. For further information, see our article.

The Group does not have any other transactions that are affected by the other newly effective accounting standards
and amendments.

Throughout the guide, a double black line running down the left margin of the text highlights major changes effective for
the first time for BOTH annual reporting periods ending 31 December 2024 and 30 June 2025. The double black line in
the left margin also highlights major changes in terms of what was illustrated in the previous 2024 edition of this guide.

Primary statements

Tax transparency measures in Australia

The Australian Federal Government passed the Treasury Laws Amendment (Making Multinationals Pay Their Fair
Share - Integrity and Transparency) Act 2024 (Act) on 27 March 2024 and received Royal Assent on 8 April 2024. The
Act addresses tax transparency measures for multinational groups and includes requirements for Australian public
companies (listed and unlisted) to disclose information on each of their subsidiaries, including details on their tax
residence, in their financial reports. The Act amends the Corporations Act 2007. Minor clarifications were enacted
in relation to these disclosures in December 2024.

This guide illustrates required disclosures. Under Australian content, a new statement, Consolidated entity
disclosure statement — separate to the notes to the financial statements —is included and the Directors’ declaration
has been amended for required wording. See our Reporting Update (25RU-02 | Consolidated Entity Disclosure
Statement) for further details of the requirement.

Notes

In April 2025, this guide was updated to illustrate CEDS disclosures amended by the Treasury Laws Amendment
(Fairer for Families and Farmers and Other Measures) Act 2024, which passed both houses of parliament on 28

November 2024 and received Royal Assent on 10 December 2024. The amendments apply for financial years
commencing on or after 1 July 2024, i.e. annual financial reports for 30 June 2025 and onwards.

IFRS Interpretation Committee agenda decisions

Agenda decisions are a way of making a statement about why a change in the requirements of an IFRS Accounting Standard or
an interpretation of that requirement does not need to be issued. They often include explanatory information that is intended to
provide guidance for the consistent application of IFRS Accounting Standards. As a result, final agenda decisions form part of
the guidance of the IFRS Accounting Standards. They must be followed to claim compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

Appendices

1. These amendments only apply to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities and does not affect the application of AASB 13 for other entities.
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Any changes in accounting that arise from the application of final agenda decisions are accounted for as a change in
accounting policy in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
i.e. change is applied retrospectively. AASB 108 requires specific disclosures to be made in respect of changes in
accounting policies.

Our IFRIC Agenda Decisions publication provides an outline of the recent tentative and final agenda decisions issued
by IFRIC. Final IFRIC agenda decisions must be applied in Australia.

Climate-related financial reporting impacts

All entities are facing climate-related risks and opportunities and are making strategic decisions in response —including
around their transition to a low-carbon economy. These climate-related risks and strategic decisions could impact their
financial statements and metrics.

Investors and regulators need to understand how climate-related risks and opportunities have affected and will affect
an entity’s financial position and performance. Although financial statements are not the only source of information
about climate-related matters — entities are also expected to provide more comprehensive disclosures in the front part
of the annual report or elsewhere — they play an important role. Australian Accounting Standards do not refer explicitly
to climate-related risks or matters, but they implicitly require relevant disclosures in the financial statements when
climate-related matters considered in preparing the financial statements are material.

Our Clear on climate reporting hub provides guidance on the potential financial statement impacts of climate-related
matters. See especially our:

e Talkbook — Are you clear on climate reporting in the financial statements?
e Article and talkbook — Net-zero commitments.
e Article — Have you disclosed the impacts of climate-related matters clearly?

For an illustration of the climate-related impact on the Group's financial statements, see Note 16(C) related to biological
assets, Notes 21(G) and 38 related to property, plant and equipment, Note 22(C) related to impairment testing and
Notes 22(E), 30(B), 31(D) and 44(G) related to emissions schemes.

An entity may face direct challenge from investors, regulators and other report users if the Operating and Financial
Review (OFR), financial statements and sustainability disclosures are not connected. To achieve connectivity in annual
reports, and tell a connected story, an entity joins the disclosure dots between the front part of the financial report (e.g.
OFR and sustainability disclosures) and the financial statement notes and ensures the different components of the
front part disclosures are themselves connected. Connectivity is especially important when reporting on issues that
create volatility for the entity’s prospects, such as climate-related risks and opportunities and other uncertainties. For
more about connectivity, see our Connected reporting web page.

Australian sustainability reporting framework

The first Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards (ASRS) have been approved by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB). They comprise:

e AASB S1 General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information — a voluntary standard
e AASB S2 Climate-related Disclosures —a mandatory standard.

AASB S1 and AASB S2 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning 1 January 2025 and are applicable for both
profit and not-for-profit entities. A three-phased implementation approach will require reporting of climate-related
financial disclosures for annual reporting periods beginning 1 January 2025 for ‘Group 1 entities’, with implementation
for other entities commencing in subsequent periods.

This publication does not include illustrative disclosures in relation to the Australian sustainability reporting framework.
For further information, see our Reporting Update (24RU-12 | Australian Sustainability Reporting legislation and
standards finalised). Our Australian and Global sustainability reporting resource centres also offer practical guidance to
assist entities prepare for these changes.

Standards issued but not yet effective

Appendix | provides a comprehensive list of new accounting standards and amendments, distinguishing between
those that are effective for an entity with an annual reporting period beginning on 1 January 2024 and those with a later
effective date.
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References and abbreviations

References are included in the left margin of this guide to identify their sources. Generally, they relate only to
presentation and disclosure requirements.

IAS 1.82(a)

[IAS 16.41]

Insights 2.3.60.10

Paragraph 82(a) of IAS 1.

Paragraph 41 of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.The square brackets are used only in

Note 44 to the financial statements (material accounting policies) to indicate that the paragraph
relates to recognition and measurement requirements, as opposed to presentation and disclosure
requirements.

Paragraph 2.3.60.10 of the 21st edition 2024/25 of our publication
Insights into IFRS.

The following markings in the left-hand margins indicate the following.

In the context of consolidated financial statements, the disclosures in respect of operating
segments (Note 6) and earnings per share (EPS) (see statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (OCI), and Note 11) apply only if the parent:

¢ has debt or equity (operating segments) or ordinary shares/potential ordinary shares (EPS) that
are traded in a public market —i.e. a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an overthe-counter
market, including local and regional markets; or

¢ files, orisin the process of filing, its financial statements with a securities commission
or other regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a
public market.

Major changes since the previous edition.

The following abbreviations are used often in this guide.

AASB

ASIC

ASX

ASX Appendix

IAS® Standards

IFRIC®

IFRS Accounting
Standards

9]
Reg
S

Australian Accounting Standards issued by the AASB. The AASB Accounting Standards numbering
convention is as follows:

e AASB 1-AASB 18 represent Accounting Standards issued by the AASB equivalent to an IFRS
Accounting Standard issued by the IASB Board (AASB 1 is the Australian equivalent to IFRS 1);

e AASB 101 onwards represent Accounting Standards issued by the AASB equivalent to an IAS®
Standard issued by the |ASB Board (AASB 136 is the Australian equivalent to IAS 36); and

e AASB 1004 onwards are those domestic Australian Accounting Standards for which there are no
equivalent IFRS Accounting Standards.

Australian Securities and Investments Commission Regulatory Guides (RG), Corporations
Instruments (Instrument)

ASX Limited — Official Listing Rules. This refers to information which must be included in the
annual report

ASX Limited — Appendix 4E. This refers to information that must be disclosed in the Preliminary
Final Report. There is no requirement for this information to be disclosed in the annual report

International Accounting Standards issued by the predecessor of the IASB Board, the
International Accounting Standards Committee, and amended by the IASB Board

Interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee
International Financial Reporting Standards

IFRS Interpretations Committee publication /FRIC Update
Corporations Regulations 2001
Section, Corporations Act 2001

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation.
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.


https://home.kpmg.com/xx/en/home/insights/2013/09/insights-into-ifrs.html

Australian content

Corporate governance statement 7
Directors’ report 10
Consolidated statement of financial position 32

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income 34
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 36
Consolidated statement of cash flows 38
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 40
1. Reporting entity 40
2. Basis of accounting 40
3. Functional and presentation currency 40
14. Income Taxes 41
26. Capital and reserves 41

46. Reconciliation of cash flows from
operating activities 42
47. Auditors’ remuneration 43
48. Deed of cross guarantee 44
49. Parent entity disclosures iy
Consolidated entity disclosure statement 49
Directors’ declaration 51
ASX additional information 52
Voluntary tax disclosures: Part A 55

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.



Annual Financial Report

Example Public Company Limited

5153-S155 ABN 14 004 152 682
Reg 1.0.07
30 June 2025

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation.
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.




Corporate governance statement | 7

Corporate governance statement

The Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (Fourth Edition) (Principles and
Recommendations) apply to all ASX listed entities, regardless of its legal form (i.e. company,
managed investment scheme or stapled entity), whether it was established in Australia or whether
it is internally or externally managed. Whilst the Principles and Recommendations are designed

to achieve good corporate governance outcomes and meet reasonable investor expectations, the
ASX Corporate Governance Council acknowledges that different entities may legitimately adopt a
range of corporate governance practices.

Introduction

As such, the Principles and Recommendations are not mandatory for listed entities nor do
they prescribe practices that an entity must adopt. However, where the Board of a listed entity
chooses not to follow a particular recommendation, it must explain why — the ‘if not, why not’
approach — including the period for which a recommendation was not followed, explanation
and any alternative governance practices adopted in lieu. Where a particular recommendation
has been followed for only part of the year, the part of the year for which it has been followed
must be disclosed. It is not sufficient to state that there have been no changes to the practices
previously reported.

The ASX Corporate Governance Council (Council) released the consultation draft for a proposed
fifth edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (Fifth Edition)
on 27 February 2024.The Council is targeting release of the final version in early 2025, with the
expectation the Fifth Edition will take effect for an entity’s first full financial year commencing on
or after 1 July 2025.

A listed entity has flexibility to make its corporate governance disclosures on its website or in

its annual report. Where an entity chooses to provide its corporate governance statement on its
website, it must lodge a copy of the statement at the same time the annual report is lodged with
the ASX, thus ensuring the ASX has a permanent record at its effective date each year, regardless
of an entity's website changes (Listing Rule 4.7.4). In addition, the annual report needs to include
the website address of where the corporate governance statement can be found.

AUSTRALIAN CONTENT

The corporate governance statement must also specify the date at which it is current (which must
be the entity’s balance date or later) and state that it has been approved by the board.
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The Principles and Recommendations reflect a ‘best practice’ view of appropriate corporate
governance standards that other entities may find useful when framing its own corporate
governance policies and practices.

Appendices
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Corporate governance statement (continued)

Introduction

Appendix 4G

Appendix 4G Key to disclosures Corporate Governance Council Principles and Recommendations
identifies and locates corporate governance disclosures by providing a key to where each can be
found; and to assist entities with its corporate governance disclosure obligations by providing a
documented verification process (Listing Rule 4.7.3).

A listed entity is required to complete and lodge an Appendix 4G at the same time it lodges its annual
report with the ASX.

Approach in Example Public Company Limited

There are a number of common disclosures required in the corporate governance statement by
the ASX Listing Rules and those required by the Corporations Act 2001 in the Directors’ report. To
avoid duplication, a clear cross-reference may be made from the corporate governance statement
to the location of the disclosure in the Directors’ report. Alternatively, the directors’ report could
include components of the corporate governance statement by reference, provided the corporate
governance statement is included with the financial statements and it is permitted by AS/IC
Corporations (Directors’ Report Relief) Instrument 2016/188 .
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The corporate governance statement should not form part of the financial report upon which

the company's auditor expresses an opinion, except to the extent that it includes an audited
remuneration report. This would only occur when the corporate governance statement is presented
within the Directors’ report, because the remuneration report required by S300A must be located in
the Directors’ report.

As the facts and circumstances are specific to an entity as to how it has followed the Principles and
Recommendations, this publication does not include an illustrative corporate governance statement.
For those entities opting to provide their corporate governance statement on their website,

the example below illustrates how the corporate governance statement could be appropriately
referenced from the annual report to the entity’s website.

“Example Public Company Limited maintains the highest standards of corporate governance in
accordance with the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th edition).

For the financial year 30 June 2025, Example Public Company Limited’s Corporate Governance
Statement together with the ASX Appendix 4G as applicable to the Corporate Governance Statement
is available at examplepubliccompanylimited.com.au/CorporateGovernance and a copy

of the statement has been lodged with the ASX "

Primary statements

Appendices
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5292(1), $298(1),
5299(2)

S5300(1)(c)
5300(1)(c),(10)(a)

Directors’ report’

For the year ended 30 June 2025

The directors present their report together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group
comprising of Example Public Company Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries for the financial
year ended 30 June 2025 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1 Directors

The directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are”:

Name, qualifications and

5300(11)(e) i i ibiliti i ins®
independence status Experience, special responsibilities and other directorships
Mr Frederick D Adair, AO B.Eng. Extensive knowledge of all the Company’s industries. Chairperson of EFT
Chairperson Limited since 2020, FORX Ltd since 2020, and Example Public Company
Independent Non-Executive Limited since 2016. Chairperson of Remuneration and Nomination
Director Committees. Director since 2018 — appointed chairperson 2022.
Mr Garry S Andrews, B.Eng. Extensive management and engineering experience in paper and mining
Chief Executive Officer industries in Australia and overseas. Director since 2014 — appointed
chief executive officer 2019.
Mr Benjamin Q Barton, B.Eng. Extensive experience in paper and packaging manufacturing. Formerly chief
Independent Non-Executive executive officer of Australian Paper Pack Limited, 2017 to 2022. A director of
Director Australian Containers Packaging Limited since 2020. Member of Nomination
and Audit Committees. Appointed 1 November 2024.
Ms Harriet W James, B.Com., CA,  Extensive corporate finance expertise, and knowledge of the paper
GAICD manufacturing and forestry industries. Formerly chief executive officer
Independent Non-Executive of Pine Trees Limited, 2013 to 2022. Chairperson of Audit Committee.
Director Member of Remuneration Committee. Director since 2021.
Ms Kimberly Nguyen, Extensive corporate administration expertise and paper and mining industry
B.Sc., FAA knowledge. Formerly chief executive officer of Eastern Paper Limited, 2015
Independent Non-Executive to 2023. Directorships include Deep Mines Limited and Pine Forest Limited
Director since 2016, ABC Energy Limited since 2018, New Packaging Limited since
2020, Mining Technologies Limited since 2018 and Example Public Company
Limited since 2017 Member of Nomination Committee. Director since 2021.
Ms Catherine C Martinez, B.Eng, Extensive engineering expertise and extensive knowledge of the packaging
Independent Non-Executive and paper manufacturing industries. Twenty-six years of experience
Director as a packaging equipment engineer in South America, South East Asia
and Australia. Member of Audit Committee (until 14 November 2024).
Director since 2020.
Mr Richard O Stephens, B.A,, Extensive legal expertise and knowledge of the paper manufacturing
LL.B. and forestry industries. Formerly a practising solicitor for 30 years.
Non-Executive Director Other directorships include Australian Packaging Limited since 2018, and
RMG Energise Limited since 2020. Member of Nomination Committee
until retirement. Director since 2014. Retired as a director on 30 September
2024. Nominee of Example Investment Holdings (Australia) Limited.
Ms Veronica M Thomas, Extensive corporate administration and finance expertise. Twenty-five
B.Com., CPA years service in an accounting and management capacity. Member of
Independent Non-Executive Remuneration and Audit Committees. Director since 2023. Retired as a
Director director on 5 July 2025.
Ms Natalia Stevens, Extensive finance expertise and knowledge of packaging and paper
B.Com., CA manufacturing industries. Twenty years service in an accounting and
Independent Non-Executive management capacity. Member of Remuneration and Audit Committees.
Director Appointed 5 July 2025.
$299(2) a.  If consolidated financial statements are prepared, only the consolidated entity is reported on. Comparatives are only
required for the directors’ report when Regulation 2M.3.03 specifically requires comparatives (e.g. remuneration of key
management personnel).
5201K(3) b. When an alternate director exercises the director’s powers, the exercise of the powers is just as effective as if the
powers were exercised by the director. Accordingly, if an alternate director has acted during the period, in our view all
relevant disclosures applicable to directors should be made for this person. No disclosure is required if the person did
not act in the capacity of director during the period.
S300(11)(e) c.  For listed entities, details of directorships of other listed companies held by the director at any time in the three years

immediately before the end of the financial year, and the period for which the directorship has been held must be
disclosed.
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025
2 Company secretary

Ms Rachel M Parish BA, MBA, LLB was appointed to the position of company secretary in
July 2017 Ms Rachel M Parish previously held the role of compliance manager and company
secretary with another listed public company for five years, and prior to that worked as general
counsel to a listed entity, and as a solicitor with a major legal practice.

3 Officers who were previously partners of the audit firm

The following persons were officers of the Company during the financial year and were previously
partners of the current audit firm, KPMG, at a time when KPMG undertook an audit of the Group:

e [insert names if applicable]

4 Directors’ meetings

The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) and number of
meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company during the financial year are:

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee
Director Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
A B A B A B A B
Mr F D Adair 7 7 - - 2 2 2 2
Mr G S Andrews 7 7 - - - - - -
Mr B Q Barton 2 2 2 2 - - 1 1
Ms HW James 7 7 4 5 1 2 - -
Ms K Nguyen 4 7 - - - - 2 2
Ms C C Martinez 7 7 3 3 - - - -
Mr R O Stephens 3 4 - - - - 1 1
MsV MThomas 6 7 5 5 2 2 - -

A —Number of meetings attended
B — Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year

Ms K Nguyen has only attended four of the seven directors’ meetings held during the financial
year due toillness.
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5299(1)(C)
IAS 1.138(b)

RG 24753-59

Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

5 Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group during the course of the financial year were the manufacture
and sale of paper and forestry (cultivation of pine trees and the sale of wood as well as related
services).

In November 2024, the Group sold its entire Packaging division, a separate reportable segment
(see Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements). The Group was committed to a plan to sell
this division due to a strategic decision to change the direction of the Group in late 2024.

There were no other significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Group during the year.

Objectives

The Group's objectives are to:

increase the return on equity to 15 percent in the next financial year and to 20 percent by the
end of the 2027 financial year

reduce the number of employee strike incidents in the next financial year

improve the retention rate of our outstanding people resources to 85 percent by 30 June 2028
for those employees with five years or more service

retain 90 percent of all customers on a yearto-year basis and increase customer satisfaction
with our service to an average rating of ‘high’ for all industry segments

reduce our carbon footprint, working toward Australia's target emission reduction of 43% in
emissions by 2030 and net zero climate goals by 2050.

In order to meet these objectives the following targets have been set for the 2026 financial year
and beyond:

grow market share for existing business and increase revenue and operating activities of at least
10 percent per annum

reduce operating costs by five percent per annum over the next two years

consider further strategic alliances through joint ventures to minimise the risks to the Group
complete 90 percent of contracts within their target timeframe

further develop the management team by establishing a leadership programme

reduce Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions by 50% in next 2 years through investment in
sustainable technologies and renewable energy.
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

6 Operating and financial review®
Overview of the Group

[Insert details]

Shareholder returns

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
Profit attributable to owners of
the company $7,055,000 $5,623,000 $2,447000 $2,039,000 $1,700,000
Basic EPS $2.146 $1.694 $1.203 $1.172 $1.164
Dividends paid $1,243,000 $571,000 $310,000 $300,000 $300,000
Dividends per share 24.8c 4.8c 5.0c 4.5¢ 4.5¢
Change in share price $0.15 $0.20 $0.10 $0.05 $0.05
Return on capital employed 35.1% 24.8% 9.2% 8.5% 8.6%

Net profit amounts have been calculated in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards”.
Returns to shareholders increased through both dividends and capital growth. Dividends for 2024
were fully franked and it is expected that dividends in future years will continue to be fully franked.
Investments for future performance

[Insert details such as discussions on significant acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and
businesses during the year and reasons for these acquisitions]

Review of financial condition

[Insert details such as discussions on capital structure and treasury policyc'd, liquidity and funding,
cash flows from operations, and the impact of legislation and other external requirements]
Review of principal businesses

[Insert general information about operations and activities of the entity. This should include a
discussion on the underlying drivers of the entity’s performance]

Review of [each operating segment of the Group]

[Insert details such as products, market, operating results and commentary thereon]

Review of prospects for future financial years and material business risks

[Insert details such as discussions of the entity's prospects for future financial years accompanied
by discussions of material business risks that could adversely affect the achievement of the
financial prospects disclosed, taking into account the nature and business of the entity and its
business strategy. This should include a discussion of environmental, social, governance, as well
as cyber security risks, where those risks could affect the entity’s achievement of its financial
performance or outcomes.]

[Consider the disclosures required by AASB S2 Climate-related disclosures as they relate to the
governance, strategy, risk management and performance and outlook of the entity®.]

Significant changes in the state of affairs

[Insert details —\Where the directors are of the opinion that there have been no significant changes
in the state of affairs, the directors’ report might include the following wording:

In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group
that occurred during the financial year under review.]

RG 247

RG 230

IFRS 7B6

Refer to Regulatory Guide 247 Effective Disclosure in an operating and financial review for further guidance on
Operating and financial reviews.

If net profit amounts have not been calculated in accordance with Australian Accouting Standards, hence
representing non-IFRS financial information, then additional disclosures required as per ASIC Regulatory Guide 230
Disclosing non-IFRS financial information.

Preparers should review the financial instrument disclosures in the directors’ report for consistency with the risk-
related disclosures required under IFRS 7 and IAS 1 in the notes to the financial statements.

The disclosures of the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments required by IFRS 7:31-42 may
be either given in the financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference from the financial statements to
some other statement, such as a management commentary or risk report, that is available to users of the financial
statements on the same terms as the financial statements and at the same time. Where the information is given in
the other statement, the financial statements must incorporate a cross-reference to this information, otherwise, the
financial statements are incomplete.

The AASB issued AASB S2 Climate-related disclosures in September 2024. Entities are encouraged to voluntarily
adopt the core pillars (based on the TCFD recommendations) in preparation for mandatory sustainability reporting
which is being phased in over the next three years. See our Resource centre on the financial reporting impacts of
climate change and developments in sustainability reporting.
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g Directors' report (continued)
=]
]
2 For the year ended 30 June 2025
[=
$300(1)(a), (b) 7 Dividends
Dividends paid or declared by the Company to members since the end of the previous financial
year were:
Cents per Total amount
S300(1)(a) Declared and paid during the year 2024 share $'000 Date of payment
Final 2024 ordinary 25.97 805 31 August 2024
- Final 2024 preference 25.03 438 31 August 2024
2
E Total amount 1,243
2
S $300(1)(b) Declared after end of year
=2 . .. .
g After the balance sheet date the following dividends were proposed by the directors.
< The dividends have not been provided and there are no income tax consequences.
=
% Cents per Total amount
< share $’000 Date of payment
Final ordinary 27.92 892 31 August 2025
Final preference 25.03 438 31 August 2025
Total amount 1,330
The financial effect of these dividends has not been brought to account in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2025 and will be recognised in subsequent
*g financial reports.
g Preference shares are classified as a liability and distributions paid are recognised as interest
2 expense”.
o
E Dividends have been dealt with in the financial report as: Note $'000
e Dividends 26(C) 1,243
Interest e><pensea 28 51
Noted as a subsequent event 26(C) 1,330
(7]
3
3]
=2
0
[}]
2
S
c
2
5{ a.  Distributions paid on shares presented as financial liabilities and recognised as interest expense need to be disclosed
under S300(1). The requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 override those of Accounting Standards. The potential
for confusion may be overcome by analysing the dividend disclosure contained in the directors’ report (or financial
report) between those amounts dealt with as a distribution of equity and any amounts accounted for as interest.
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Directors’ report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

Introduction

$299(1)(c) 8 Events subsequent to reporting date’
IAS 10.21 (a), (b)

At the end of July 2025 the Group announced its intention to implement a cost-reduction
programme and to take further measures to reduce costs. Additionally, to enable the Group to
adapt its size to today's market conditions, it intends to reduce the Group’s workforce by 400
positions worldwide by 30 June 2026, by means of non-replacement wherever possible. The
Group expects the restructuring associated with the reduction in positions to cost between
$600,000 and $850,000 in the year ending 30 June 2026 and 2027.

Subsequent to 30 June 2025, one of the Group's major trade customers went into liquidation
following a natural disaster in August 2025 that damaged its operating plant. Of the $100,000
owed by the customer, the Group expects to recover less than $10,000. No additional allowance
for impairment has been made in these consolidated financial statements.

On 10 July 2025, one of the premises of Oy Kossu AG, having a carrying amount of $220,000, was
seriously damaged by fire. Surveyors are in the process of assessing the extent of the loss, following
which the Group will file a claim for reimbursement with the insurance company. The Group is unable
to estimate the incremental costs relating to refurbishment and temporary shift of production to
other locations (in excess of the reimbursement expected).

AUSTRALIAN CONTENT

As reported in the condensed interim financial statements on 22 January 2025, the Group announced
its intention to acquire all of the shares of ABC Company for $6,500,000. On 4 July 2025, the Group's
shareholders approved the transaction and the Group is now awaiting approval from regulatory
authorities before proceeding with the acquisition. Management anticipates that this approval will be
received by October 2025.

On 23 September 2025, an increase in the Netherlands corporate tax rate from 25 to 30 percent
was substantively enacted, effective from 1 January 2026. This increase does not affect the
amounts of current or deferred income taxes recognised at 30 June 2025. However, this change
will increase the Group’s future current tax charge accordingly. If the new tax rate were applied to
calculate taxable temporary differences and tax losses recognised as at 30 June 2025, the effect
would be that net deferred tax assets would increase by $27.000 (see Note 14).
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Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end
of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and
unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect significantly the
operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group,
in future financial years.

$299(1)e) 9 Likely developments

S299A(1)(c) The Group will continue to pursue its policy of increasing the profitability and market share of its
5299(3) major business sectors during the next financial year. This will require further investment in areas
RG 24776-78 such as manufacturing and sale of paper, which have performed well over recent years and offer

sound opportunities for future development.

Further information about likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected
results of those operations in future financial years has not been included in this report because
disclosure of the information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

Appendices

IAS 10.21(a), (b) a.  Preparers should ensure that events identified in the directors’ report are also included in a note to the financial
statements and vice versa. Refer to Note 41 in the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’report (continued)
-§ For the year ended 30 June 2025
- s2ssr1i) 10 Environmental regulation

The Group's operations are subject to significant environmental regulation under both Commonwealth
and State legislation in relation to its manufacture of paper and forestry activities.

The Group is committed to achieving a high standard of environmental performance. It has
established an Environmental Management Committee to focus on this area of operating
performance. The committee is responsible for the regular monitoring of environmental
exposures and compliance with environmental regulations.

As part of this process the committee is responsible for:
e setting and communicating environmental objectives and quantified targets
® monitoring progress against these objectives and targets

¢ implementing environmental management plans in operating areas which may have a
significant environmental impact
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¢ identifying where remedial actions are required and implementing action plans

¢ regular monitoring of licence requirements, with performance against licence conditions
reported to the various State regulators on a regular basis.

To enable it to meet its responsibilities, the committee has established a regular internal reporting
process. Environmental performance is reported from each site up through management to the
committee on a regular basis. On a quarterly basis the committee reports to the audit committee
who then report to the board on the Group's environmental performance. Compliance with the
requirements of environmental regulations and with specific requirements of site environmental
licences was substantially achieved across all operations with no instances of non-compliance in
relation to licence requirements noted.

Primary statements

Based on the results of enquiries made, the board is not aware of any significant breaches during
the period covered by this report.

Furthermore, the Group’s strategy for identifying, managing and responding to climate-related
risks and opportunities are disclosed in accordance with the forthcoming AASB S2 Climate-related
disclosures and are set out on page [x] of the Annual report 2.

$300(11)(a)-(d) 11 Directors’ interests’
S205@G, S608, S609,

ASICRG 5 The relevant interest of each director in the shares, debentures, interests in registered schemes
and rights or options over such instruments issued by the companies within the Group and other
related bodies corporate, as notified by the directors to the ASX in accordance with S205G(1) of

the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows:

Example Public Company Limited

Options over Rights over
Ordinary shares ordinary shares ordinary shares
Mr F D Adair 1,000 - -
Mr G S Andrews 33,280 200,000 80,000
Ms HW James 2,820 - -
Ms K Nguyen 5,000 - -

a. The AASB issued AASB S2 Climate-related disclosures in September 2024. Entities are encouraged to voluntarily
adopt the core pillars (based on the TCFD recommendations) in preparation for mandatory sustainability reporting
which is being phased in over the next three years. See our Resource centre on the financial reporting impacts of
climate change and developments in sustainability reporting.

S300 b. Although not specified, S300 should be read as if the information is to be disclosed as at the date of the directors’ report.

This disclosure could be included in the remuneration report (see Section 20.6). However, where the number held at
the date of the report differs to the number held at the reporting date, or the definition of ‘relevant interest’ results in
a different number, all numbers will need to be disclosed.

Appendices
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

12 Share options
Unissued shares under options™ "

All options were granted in previous financial years. No options have been granted since the end of
the previous financial year.

At the date of this report unissued shares of the Group under option are:

Expiry date Exercise price Number of
shares"
1 July 2027 $10.00 200,000
1 July 2033 $10.50 200,000
400,000

All unissued shares are ordinary shares of the Company.

All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the employee’s employment.
In addition, the ability to exercise the options is conditional on the Group achieving annual growth
in operating profit of at least five percent each year over three years. Further details about share-
based payments to directors and KMP are included in the remuneration report in Section 20.

These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any
other body corporate.

Shares issued on exercise of options

During or since the end of the financial year, the Group issued ordinary shares of the Company as a
result of the exercise of options as follows (there are no amounts unpaid on the shares issued):

Number of shares Amount paid on each share
5,000 $10.00

S300(1)(d)ii),
5300(3)-(5)

b.

Not all share options relate to remuneration schemes, for example, some may be as a result of consideration issued for
an acquisition. In this case, these disclosures are more appropriately located in a separate area of the directors’ report,
other than the Remuneration report. Where the share options do relate to remuneration, duplication of disclosures is
not required. Where share options do relate to remuneration, entities should ensure that all required disclosures, both
those by the Corporations Act 2001 and those by the Corporations Regulations 2001, are provided.

The Corporations Act requires disclosure of the number of options granted to the directors and 5 most highly
remunerated officers of the company (other than directors).

Where these officers are KMPR such information would normally be included in the Remuneration Report as disclosed
in Section 20. Additional disclosure is required in the Directors’ Report where the options were granted to officers who
are among the five most highly remunerated officers of the company and the group but are not KMP and hence not
disclosed in the remuneration report. An example of additional disclosure for these officers is as follows:

Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company granted during the reporting period as part of the remuneration
of the five most highly remunerated officers of the Company and Group (other than directors and key management
personnel), are set out below.

Name of officer Grant date Exercise price Number of shares under option
Officer name 1 July 2023 $10.00 100,000

Details relating to options granted to directors and officers who are key management personnel are set out in the
Remuneration Report in Section 20.4.1.
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5300(1)(9),(8)&(9)
S199A, S199B

5300(8)(a)
5300(9)(a)
5300(9)(c)

5300(9)(e)

5300(8)(a), S300(9)(a)

Directors’ report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

13 Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors
Indemnification

The Company has agreed to indemnify the following current directors® of the Company, Mr F D Adair,
Mr G S Andrews, Mr B Q Barton, Ms HW James, Ms K Nguyen, Ms C C Martinez and Ms N Stevens
and the following former directors, Mr A Brown, Mr R O Stephens, Mr K Wall and MsV M Thomas
against all liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a related body corporate) that

may arise from their position as directors of the Company and its controlled entities, except where
the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the
Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses.

The Company has also agreed to indemnify the current directors of its controlled entities for all
liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a related body corporate) that may arise
from their position, except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith.
The agreement stipulates that the Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities,
including costs and expenses.

Under the terms of an agreement entered into in April 2018, the Company has agreed to indemnify
certain senior executives for all liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a related
body corporate) that may arise from their position in the Company and its controlled entities,
except where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The senior executives
in question are the general managers of each of the Group’s operating divisions. The agreement
stipulates that the Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including legal fees.

During the year, a claim for breach of contract was brought against Mr A Smith, a former senior
executive of the Company. The claim related to a contract signed by him in his former capacity as
an executive officer. Under the terms of an indemnity agreement entered into during Mr Smith's

$300(9)(c)
term as an officer, the Company agreed to indemnify senior executives against all claims and legal
costs arising from the discharge of their duties, except where the liability arises out of conduct

S300(9)(d) involving a lack of good faith. Total costs of $45,000 were incurred during the year by the Company
on behalf of Mr Smith.

$300(8)() Under the terms of an agreement entered into in April 2019, the Company has agreed to indemnify

S300(9)(b) their former auditors, LMN, for all liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a related

gggggﬁg body corporate) that may arise from their position as auditor, except where the liability arises out
of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Company will meet the
fullamount of any such liabilities, including legal fees.

S30009)(c) XYZ Limited, who allegedly relied upon the 2019 Independent Audit Report and acquired an
interest in the Company, subsequently brought an action in the current year against the former
auditors, LMN, alleging that certain contingent liabilities were not adequately disclosed in the
financial report. Under the terms of the indemnity agreement, the Company incurred costs of
$50,000 being the costs incurred by LMN in mounting a successful defence.

S300(9)(a) a.  Either the name of the officer or the class of officer to which the officer belongs or belonged must be disclosed.
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

Introduction

§300(1)(g),(8)&(9) 13 Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors
(continued)

Insurance premiums®

S300(8)(b)

g;’gg@(ﬁ)’ (d) Since the end of the previous financial year the Company has paid insurance premiums of $36,000
(e in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expenses’ insurance contracts, for current

and former directors and officers, including senior executives of the Company and directors, senior

300910 executives and secretaries of its controlled entities. The insurance premiums relate to:
C,

e costs and expenses incurred by the relevant officers” in defending proceedings, whether civil or

criminal and whatever their outcome
e other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the exception of conduct involving a wilful

breach of duty or improper use of information or position to gain a personal advantage.

The premiums were paid in respect of the following officers of the Company and its controlled entities:

AUSTRALIAN CONTENT

e premiums totalling $18,000 were paid in respect of the following current directors of the
Company: Mr F D Adair, Mr G S Andrews, Mr B Q Barton, Ms HW James, Ms K Nguyen,
Ms C C Martinez and Ms N Stevens

e premiums totalling $8,000 were paid in respect of the following former directors of the
Company: Mr A Brown, Mr R O Stephens, Mr KWall and MsV M Thomas

e premiums totalling $4,000 were paid in respect of those officers of the Company holding the
position of general manager of operating divisions

e premiums totalling $6,000 were paid in respect of the directors, senior executives and
secretaries of the Company's controlled entities.

The insurance policies outlined above do not contain details of the premiums paid in respect of
individual officers of the Company.
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S300(9) a.  The nature of the liability and the amount of the insurance premiums paid do not have to be disclosed where such
disclosure is prohibited by the contract itself. Where these details are not disclosed, it is recommended to make a
statement to this effect. For example:

The directors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in
respect of the directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expenses’ insurance contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited
under the terms of the contract.

Appendices
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

S300(118) 14 Non-audit services®
The Group's audit was released for public tender in 2023 and KPMG was appointed at our AGM as the
auditor on 1 October 2023. KPMG and the lead audit partner, [Name of the audit partner], have been the
auditor of the Group for the past two years ended 30 June 2025. In accordance with the Corporations Act
2001 [and KPMG partner rotation requirements], the next rotation of the lead partner of Example Public
Company Limited is planned to occur after the completion of the 30 June 2028 financial year audit.”
S300(11B)(b) During the year KPMG, the Group's auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to
S300(11b) the audit and review of the financial statements.
S300(11E, . . . . . ) .
5324(CA )532465 The board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and in accordance
S300(11B)(c) with written advice provided by resolution of the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision of those
non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
¢ all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Group
and have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and
objectivity of the auditor; and
¢ the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor
independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not
involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making
capacity for the Group, acting as an advocate for the Group or jointly sharing risks and rewards.
S300(11B)(a) Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Group, KPMG, and its network firms for audit and
S5300(11C) non-audit services provided during the year are set out below®*
ASIC Instrument In dollars 2025
2016/191 . . . " -
Services other than audit and review of financial statements:
Regulatory assurance servicese®
Workers compensation audit 43,410
Other assurance services'
Controls assurance services 97,600
Due diligence services 362,910
Other services®’
Tax advice 15,670
Taxation compliance services 98,560
618,240
Audit and review of financial statements” 1,708,500
Total paid to KPMG" 2,326,740
S300(11B) ‘Non-audit services' is not a defined term in the Corporations Act 2001. For the purposes of clear and transparent reporting any services
provided by the auditor which are not the audit or review of financial statements should be included.
ASIC encourages certain categorisation of fees to auditors to aid in the consistent and transparent reporting of audit and non-audit fee
information. See footnotes to Note 47 for further information.
S300(2A), An entity that has not included details of non-audit services in the directors’ report but specifies that this information may be found
S5300(11B)(a), in this note to the financial statements, discloses the amount for each non-audit service in that note in order to comply with the
S5300(11C)(b) Corporations Act 2001 requirements.
This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only. Although not required, it is the best practice to disclose auditor tenure, of both the
auditor and the lead partner, in the annual financial report.
S5300(11B)(a) Comparative information is not required.

Although it is not required, we encourage entities to split fees from assurance services from fees for non-assurance services.

We also encourage assurance services to be further split between “regulatory assurance services” and “other assurance services”
This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.

Regulatory assurance services are those that are required under legislation and are performed by the auditor, for example, Form FS 71
for an AFS licensee, workers compensation, APRA reports, US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 Section 404, franchising code of conduct
and retirement villages.

Other assurance services are fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-procedures services such as those required under contractual
arrangements. Examples include, assurance on revenue information relevant to a royalty agreement, sustainability assurance reporting
and capital raisings.

KPMG has defined other services as services that do not fall within regulatory or other assurance services e.g. tax advice, tax
compliance, consulting.

The amount paid for audit services and the total amount paid to auditors are not required to be disclosed in the directors’ report. It is
included to allow an assessment of the level of audit to non-audit fees paid to the auditor during the year.
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

15 Modification of auditor rotation requirements

[Details should be inserted here, when applicable.]

16 True and fair view

[Details of the directors’ reasons for disclosing the additional information and reference to where
this information is disclosed should be inserted here, when applicable.]

17 Proceedings on behalf of the Company

[Details should be inserted here, when applicable.
Example wording where a person has applied for leave of the Court and has brought or intervened
in proceedings on behalf of the Company may be:

[Name_applicant] has applied to the Court for leave to [bring proceedings on behalf of the
Company/intervene in any proceedings] to which the Company is a party for the purpose of
taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings.

The application has been granted by the Court.

[Name_applicant] has [brought/intervened] on behalf of the Company, proceedings with the
following details during the year:

[Name_parties to the proceedings] are parties to the proceedings

[Details of the nature and status of the proceedings (including the cause of action and any orders
made by the Court)].]

18 Lead auditor’s independence declaration

The Lead auditor's independence declaration is set out on page [xxx]” and forms part of the
directors’ report for the financial year ended 30 June 2025.

19 Rounding off

The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports)
Instrument 2016/191 and in accordance with that Instrument, amounts in the consolidated
financial statements and directors’ report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars,
unless otherwise stated.

KPMG considers separate presentation for the lead auditor's independence declaration to be preferable due to the
difficulty in determining the placement of the declaration in the directors’ report to ensure it is clear that the audit

partner is only providing sign off in relation to the declaration rather than the entire directors’ report, to enable it to be

on KPMG letterhead and therefore to facilitate improved reporting of the information to the users.
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Directors' report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

Introduction

20 Remuneration report - audited*"**

S300A(1), S300A(1A) An entity’s remuneration report discusses the specific facts and circumstances of its remuneration
practices. The approach in Example Public Company Limited is to present a framework for the
remuneration report setting out the discussion required and providing illustrations of how some

of the requirements could be disclosed in tabular format to comply with the more quantitative
disclosure requirements.

Our Insights into Remuneration Reporting - KPMG's practical guide to Remuneration Reporting

the key management personnel. The headings set out below provide one framework that an entity
may wish to consider as a guide. An entity tailors the disclosure to its facts and circumstances of
its remuneration practices.]

= provides guidance to help companies prepare Remuneration Reports that are effective
= communication tools and aspire to align with best practice.

2

Q .. . .

O 20.1 Principles of compensation - audited”

2

§ S300A(1)(a) [Provide a discussion of the board policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration of
< S300A(1A)

=

(2]

)

<

Compensation packages include a mix of fixed and variable compensation, and short and
long-term performance-based incentives.

S300A(1)(e)(i) The table below represents the target remuneration mix for group executives in the current
year. The short-term incentive is provided at target levels, and the long-term incentive amount is
provided based on the value granted in the current year.

3

& At risk

g

g Fixed remuneration Short-term incentive Long-term incentive
>

E CEO 50% 30% 20%

a CFO, COO 60% 20% 20%

Other executives 75% 25% -

Fixed compensation

[Discuss the composition of fixed compensation and the frequency and basis of review, including
a discussion of non-cash benefits.]

S300A(2) ) , ) ) . . . . .

a.  The directors’ report of a listed disclosing entity that is a company must include a remuneration report.

S308(3C) b. The entire remuneration report must be audited for compliance with S300A. Using the word ‘audited’ within each
section header of the remuneration report is one example of how the audited information might be distinguished from
the unaudited disclosures contained in the directors’ report. Another method could be to label each audited page as
audited, so long as the end of the audited material is obvious to the reader.

S250R(2),(3) ¢. Theremuneration report of a listed company is subject to a non-binding vote of adoption by shareholders at the

S300A(1)(g) AGM. Where 25 percent or more of the votes cast at the most recent AGM were against adoption of that report, the
subsequent remuneration report must include an explanation of the board'’s action in response, or if the board does
not propose any action, the board'’s reasons for inaction.

RG 230 d.  Some companies disclose alternative remuneration amounts that are measured and/or allocated to annual reporting

periods on a basis that is not entirely consistent with the Corporations Act requirement to use accounting standards
when disclosing remuneration amounts. For example, alternative equity compensation presented might be amounts
determined in the year of vesting based on the value at vesting date, rather than the grant date fair value being
spread over the vesting period. These disclosures are in addition to the statutory disclosures that are measured in
accordance with the accounting standards. Such companies should consider the requirements of RG 230 so that the
additional, alternative disclosures are not misleading to users.
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

20 Remuneration report - audited (continued)

S300A(1)(ba)i 20.1 Principles of compensation - audited (continued)

Performance-linked compensation
[If an element of remuneration is dependent on the satisfaction of a performance condition, provide a
detailed summary of the performance condition, including:

e explanation of why the performance condition was chosen

e asummary of the methods of assessment of satisfaction of the performance condition and why
that method of assessment was chosen

e f the performance condition involves comparison of factors external to the company, a summary
of those factors, including the identities of companies or index if such factors relate to the
performance of such other company or index.

Include discussion of any discretion to reduce the performance-based elements of remuneration,
including any discretion that has been applied in the current year, or a statement such as “The
remuneration committee has not exercised such discretion in the current year.”

Practice is to differentiate performance-linked compensation between short-term and long-term
incentive schemes.]

ﬁ:f’n 27’\2/’-3- 03(1) Awards issued in the current year

[The terms and conditions of each grant of a cash bonus, performance related bonus, or share-based
payment compensation benefit made to a person, whether part of a specific contract for services
or not, affecting compensation in the reporting period or a future reporting period is disclosed. In
our view, disclosures should also include details of any other relevant features which may impact
the remuneration the KMP will ultimately be entitled to such as Board discretion or other terms.
This information is often included in the discussion of performance linked compensation.]

Awards issued in the previous years

[The terms and conditions of each award issued under legacy plans should be included in the
Remuneration Report if they continue to impact the current and future years’ remuneration. In our
view, disclosures should also include details of any other relevant features which may impact the
remuneration the KMP will ultimately be entitled to such as Board discretion or other terms.]

Reg 2M.3.03(1) Modifications to the terms of share-based payment transactions
tem 14 [If the terms of share-based payment transactions granted as compensation have been altered or
modified during the reporting period disclosure is required]

Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth

S300A(1AA),(1AB) [An entity provides a discussion of the relationship between the remuneration policy and the company’s
performance, specifically dealing with the matters illustrated below.”]

In considering the Group's performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the remuneration
committee have regard to the following indices in respect of the current financial year and the
previous four financial years.”

S300A(1)(ba) a.  \When an element of remuneration includes a performance condition that involves comparing the company against

(iv)(B) one or more other companies, a company discloses that list of other companies. Some companies use a published
index of companies or a subset of such an index in setting their performance conditions, such as the ASX 50 or the
ASX 100 excluding specified industries. Other companies use a specific basket of worldwide competitor companies.
Disclosure of the comparator companies does not always need to name the actual companies, but should be
specific enough to enable a user to arrive at the actual list of companies. This may involve disclosing the name of the
published index of companies (e.g. ‘ASX 100 companies’), naming the index and the specific exclusions (e.g. ASX
100 companies excluding those in the financial services and extractive industries’), or listing the individual companies
in the comparator group. Cross referencing to a list that is not contained in the remuneration report will not achieve
compliance with the Corporations Act 2001 requirements.

S300A(1AB)(c) b.In determining the consequences of the company’s performance on shareholder wealth in a financial year,the company
must also have regard to any return of capital by the company to its shareholders during the year that involves:
¢ the cancellation of shares in the company, and

e a payment to holders of those shares that exceeds the price at which shares in that class are being traded at the
time when the shares are cancelled.
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S300A(1AA)(@)

S300A(1AB)(a)
S300A(1AB)(d)
S300A(1AB)(b)
S300A(1AB)(d)

ASIC RG230.20(f)(ii)

S300A(1)(e)(vii)

Reg 2M.3.03(1)
Item 13

S300A(1)(h)(i)
S300A(1)(h)(ii)

S300A(1)(h)fiii)

S300A(1)(h)(iv), (v)

S300A(1)(h)(vi), (vii)

S300A(1)(h)(vi)

Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025
20 Remuneration report - audited (continued)

20.1 Principles of compensation - audited (continued)

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
Profit attributable to owners of
the company $7,055,000 $5,623,000 $2,447000 $2,039,000 $1,700,000
Dividends paid $1,243,000 $571,000 $310,000 $300,000 $300,000
Operating income growth 7.4% 6.2% 5.8% 6.1% 6.8%
Change in share price $0.15 $0.20 $0.10 $0.05 $0.05
Return on capital employed 35.1% 24.8% 9.2% 8.5% 8.6%

Profit is one of the financial performance targets considered in setting the Short Term Incentive
(STI). Profit amounts have been calculated in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.
Operating income is operating profit as reported in the statement of profit or loss.

Service contracts

[Where the person is employed by the company under a contract: the duration of the contract, the
periods of notice required to terminate the contract, and the termination payments provided for under
the contract are disclosed.

For each contract for services between the KMP and the disclosing entity (or any of its subsidiaries),
such further explanations are disclosed as are necessary in addition to those prescribed in
SB300A(1)(ba) and Regulation 2M.3.03(1) Iltem 12 to provide an understanding of how the amount of
compensation in the current reporting period was determined, and how the terms of the contract
affect compensation in future periods.]

Services from remuneration consultants

The remuneration committee engaged Marshall Associates (Marshall) as remuneration consultant to
the board to review the amount and elements of the key management personnel remuneration and
provide recommendations in relation thereto.

In addition to the remuneration recommendations, Marshall provided the following other services to
the Company throughout the year:

e summarised the key terms and conditions of each contract for services to enable the remuneration
committee to assess whether the terms and conditions are consistent across different parts of the
business

e advice in relation to the embodiment of risk in the assessment of performance for the vesting of
remuneration awards

e expatriate compliance services.

Marshall was paid $35,000 for the remuneration recommendations in respect of reviewing the
amount and elements of remuneration.

Marshall was paid $12,500 in total for all other services.

The engagement of Marshall by the remuneration committee was based on a documented set
of protocols that would be followed by Marshall, members of the remuneration committee, and
members of the key management personnel for the way in which remuneration recommendations
would be developed by Marshall and provided to the board.

The protocols included the prohibition of Marshall providing advice or recommendations to key
management personnel before the advice or recommendations were given to members of
the remuneration committee and not unless Marshall had approval to do so from members of
the remuneration committee.
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025
20 Remuneration report - audited (continued)

Introduction

20.1 Principles of compensation - audited (continued)

Services from remuneration consultants (continued)

S300A(T)()(vi) These arrangements were implemented to ensure that Marshall would be able to carry out its work,
including information capture and the formation of its recommendations, free from undue influence
by members of the key management personnel about whom the recommendations may relate.

The board is satisfied that the remuneration recommendations were made by Marshall free from
undue influence by members of the key management personnel about whom the recommendations
may relate.

S300A(1)(h)tvii) The board undertook its own inquiries and review of the processes and procedures followed by
Marshall during the course of its assignment and is satisfied that its remuneration recommendations
were made free from undue influence.

AUSTRALIAN CONTENT

These inquiries included arrangements under which Marshall was required to provide the board with
a summary of the way in which it carried out its work, details of its interaction with key management
personnel in relation to the assignment and other services, and respond to questioning by members
of the board after the completion of the assignment.

S300A(1)(a) Non-executive directors

[Non-executive directors’ remuneration arrangements are usually separately described.]

Total compensation for all non-executive directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 2021
AGM, is not to exceed $400,000 per annum and is set based on advice from external advisors with
reference to fees paid to other non-executive directors of comparable companies. The base fee for
the Chairperson is $100,000 per annum. Base fees for other directors are $50,000 per annum.
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Directors’ base fees cover all main board activities and membership of one committee. Non-
executive director members who sit on more than one committee receive an additional payment of
$2,000 per day for meetings attended.

Non-executive directors do not receive performance-related compensation and are not provided
with retirement benefits apart from statutory superannuation.

Appendices
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Directors’ report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

20 Remuneration report - audited (continued)

20.2 Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration - audited™"

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each director of the Company, and other key
management personnel of the consolidated entity are:

Short term
S300A(1)(c), Reg 2M.3.03(1) Items 6 — 11 Salary & fees STl cash bonus Non-monetary
In dollars (D) (A) benefits Total
Directors
Non-executive directors
Name (Chairperson) 2025 87,602 - 5,825 93,427
2024 83,660 - 4,622 88,282
Name (appointed [date]) 2025 19,110 - - 19,110
Name 2025 42,397 - - 42,397
2024 40,666 - - 40,666
Name (Retired [date]) 2025 42,390 - - 42,390
2024 46,666 - - 46,666
Sub-total non-executive directors’ 2025 191,499 - 5,825 197,324
remuneration® 2024 170,992 - 4,622 175,614
Executive directors
Name, Director, CEO 2025 436,613 102,500 248,506 787,619
2024 420,444 95,256 241,553 757253
Total directors’ remuneration® 2025 628,112 102,500 254,331 984,943
2024 591,436 95,256 246,175 932,867
Executives
Name, CFO 2025 194,545 77500 111,263 383,308
2024 188,233 74,558 109,225 372,016
Name, COO 2025 490,908 56,000 139,297 686,205
2024 387831 54,666 137555 580,052
Name, Finance Director, Karooa Pty 2025 380,111 70,000 12,821 562,932
Limited, Example Mining Company Pty Ltd 2024 310,885 98,666 105,332 514,883
Formerf
Name, Finance Director, Example Gumnut 2025 164,376 37,500 141,756 343,632
Limited (resigned [date] E) 2024 200,634 45,666 112,069 358,369
Total tives' " 2025 1,229,940 241,000 505,137 1,976,077
otal executives remuneration 2024 1,087,583 273,556 464,181 1,825,320
Total directors' and executive officers’ 2025 1,858,052 343,500 759,468 2,961,020
remuneration 2024 1,679,019 368,812 710,356 2,758,187

Notes in relation to Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration table

A. The short-term incentive bonus is for performance during the respective financial year using the criteria set out on page [x]. The amount was finally
determined on 7 August 2025 (2024: 8 August 2024) after performance reviews were completed and approved by the remuneration committee.

B. The fair value of the options is calculated at the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing model and allocated to each reporting period evenly over
the period from grant date to vesting date. The value disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the options recognised as an expense in each reporting period.

C. The fair value of performance rights with the relative TSR condition is calculated at the date of grant using the Monte-Carlo simulation model, taking
into account the impact of the TSR condition and the lack of dividends during the vesting period. The fair value of performance rights with the
operating income growth condition is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the lack of dividends during

the vesting period. The value disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the rights recognised as an expense in each reporting period.

S300A(1)(c) a.  Remuneration disclosures are only required for the current year Key management personnel (KMP) of the consolidated entity
(or for the Company where consolidated financial statements are not required). Disclosure for former KMP who were not KMP for
any portion of the current year are not required, although they remain included in disclosures in notes to the financial statements.

Reg 2M.3.03(1) - The table excludes the following components of compensation which should be separately included where applicable:
Items 7.8, 9 long-term incentives distributed in cash, post-employment benefits other than superannuation, shares and units, cash-settled
and 11 share-based payment compensation and share-based payments giving a choice of equity- or cash-settlement.

Reg 2M.3.03(4)  Quantitative disclosures must be recognised, measured and classified in accordance with applicable Australian Accounting
Standards. The relevant accounting standards are generally AASB 119 Employee Benefits and AASB 2 Share-based
Payments. Where appropriate a footnote should be included to explain an unusual quantitative disclosure, such as, a negative
share-based payment expense which arises where AASB 2 requires reversal of amounts previously expensed.

Reg 2M.3.03(2) d- Inaremuneration report, comparative information is only required for amounts of remuneration required by Items 6, 7, 8, 9 and
11 of Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03(1). Comparative information for other remuneration report disclosures (e.g. narratives and
other qualitative information) is not required.
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Post-employment  Other long term Share-based payments
Superannuation Termination Options and rightsh Proportion of remuneration
benefits (D) benefits (B&C) Total performance related
=
2
i
=
8,400 - - - 101,827 - 5
8,200 - - - 96,482 O
1,720 - - - 20,830 - Z
3,820 - . - 46,217 - n&:'
3,655 - - - 44,221 ':Z
3,820 - - - 46,210 - 3
4,555 - - - 51,221
17,760 - - - 215,084 -
16,310 - - - 191,924
95,000 8,325 - 215,000 1,105,944 28.7%
89,552 8,305 - 125,000 980,110
112,760 8,325 - 215,000 1,321,028 "
105,682 8,305 - 125,000 1,172,034 "dé;
g
41,500 8,325 - 215,000 648,133 45.1% E
39,556 8,305 - 125,000 544,877 -
66,800 8,325 - 86,000 847,330 16.8% E
64,887 8,305 - - 653,244 &
45,800 8,325 - - 617,057 11.3%
44,661 7865 - - 567409
28,609 8,325 116,658 - 497,224 75%
56,127 7865 - - 422,361
182,709 33,300 116,658 301,000 2,609,744
205,231 32,340 - 125,000 2,187,891
295,469 41,625 116,658 516,000 3,930,772
311,093 40,645 - 250,000 3,369,925
D. Inaccordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits, annual leave is classified as an other long term employee benefit.
E. Directors of the Group have exercised their discretion to allow the Finance Director to receive these awards despite not having completed the
requisite service period. On termination of employment the Company accelerated the vesting period and recognised the full share-based payment
expense. While the full share-based payment expense has been recognised for all unvested equity, the awards may or may not vest subject to the
original performance hurdles.?

€. There is no explicit requirement to disclose total KMP remuneration, however this is a common disclosure and may be
useful to a shareholder.

Reg 2M.3.03(3) f. The Corporations Act 2001 requires the relevant individuals to be disclosed, regardless of whether they retired during the year.
Hence, if an executive meets the definition of a KMP for only part of the current year, this executive would be included in
the KMP disclosures, for the period the executive met the KMP definition. This would be the case regardless of whether the
executive is still KMP at yearend. For example, a manager of a subsidiary is promoted during the year. On promotion, the
manager meets the definition of a KMP Before year end, the parent entity sells this subsidiary. The consolidated financial

statements would include disclosures about this manager for the period the manager met the definition of KMP — from 4

promotion until sale of subsidiary. However, in the following year, disclosures for this individual could be deleted from the o

Remuneration report. =
Reg 2M.3.03(1) 9-  Inaremuneration report, when compensation has been altered or modified, which may be due to Board discretion, disclosure 8
Item 14(c)(iii), should be made for the new terms and conditions that affect the vesting or exercise of an option or other right. Companies may 2:'
(d) also want to consider explaining the Board's reasons for exercising that discretion.

Reg 2M.3.03(1) h- Share based payment remuneration is to be separately disclosed for equity settled and cash settled share-based payment
Item 11 transactions. Equity settled share based payment transactions are to be further separated between (i) shares and units and (i)
options and rights.
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Reg 2M.3.03(1)
Item 12(e)-(f)

Reg 2M.3.03(1)
Item 12(c)

Reg 2M.3.03(1)
Item 12(f)

Reg 2M.3.03(3)

Reg 2M.3.03(1) Item
15(a)(i)(ir), (b)(i)~(ii), (iv)
Item 18(b)

Reg 2M.3.03(1) Item
15(b)(iv)-(v)

Reg 2M.3.03(1) Item
15(b)(vi)

Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025
20 Remuneration report - audited (continued)
20.3 Analysis of bonuses included in remuneration - audited®

Details of the vesting profile of the short-term incentive cash bonuses awarded as remuneration
to each director of the Company, and other key management personnel are detailed below.

Short-term incentive bonus

Included in
remuneration % forfeited in year
$(A) % vested in year (B)
KMP
KMP name 102,500 95% 5%

(A)  Amounts included in remuneration for the financial year represent the amount related to the financial year
based on achievement of personal goals and satisfaction of specified performance criteria. The remuneration
committee approved these amounts on 7 August 2025.

(B) The amounts forfeited are due to the performance or service criteria not being met in relation to the current
financial year.

20.4 Equity instruments - audited”

All rights and options refer to rights and options over ordinary shares of Example Public Company
Limited, which are exercisable on a one-for-one basis under the executive share plan (ESP).

20.4.1 Right and options over equity instruments granted as compensation — audited

Details on rights and options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as
compensation to each key management person during the reporting period and details on options
that vested during the reporting period are as follows:

Options®

Options granted

No options were granted during 2024.

Fair value Exercise
per option at price per Number of options
Options grant date option vested during
vested Grant date $ $ Expiry date 2024-25
KMP name 1July 2022 5.60 10.10 1 July 2032 100,000
Rights
Number of rights Fair value at
Rights granted during Vesting grant date
granted 2024-25 condition Grant date $ Expiry date
KMP name 20,000 Operating 1July 2024 10.10 1July 2034
income
20,000 Relative TSR 1July 2024 8.50 1July 2034

All rights and options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the individual’s

employment. The rights vest and options are exercisable three years from grant date. In addition to
a continuing employment service condition, vesting is conditional on the Group achieving certain
performance hurdles. Details of the performance criteria are included in the long-term incentives
discussion on page [x]. For rights granted in the current year, the earliest vesting date is 1 July 2027

Reg 2M.3.03(1)
Item 12

Reg 2M.3.03(3)

5300(1)(d)

Disclosures are required for each grant of each type of cash bonus, performance-related bonus or share-based
payment to each person that affects remuneration in the current or future periods.

Disclosures related to equity instruments under Items 15 to 16 must be separated into each class of equity
instrument, identifying each class by the name of the issuing entity, the class of equity instrument, and if the
instrument is an option or right, the class and number of equity instruments for which it may be exercised.

Include details of options granted to KMP only. Details of options granted to officers who are among the five most
highly remunerated officers of the Company or the Group but are not KMP are separately disclosed in the Directors'
report - see Note 12.
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

Introduction

20 Remuneration report - audited (continued)

20.4 Equity instruments - audited (continued)

Reg 2M.3.03(1) Item 16|  20.4.2 Exercise of options granted as compensation - audited

Reg 2M.3.03(1) ltem During the reporting period, the following shares were issued on the exercise of options
161a), (c) previously granted as compensation:

Number of shares® Amount paid $/share -

KMP name 5,000 10.00 E

Reg 2M.3.03(1) There are no amounts unpaid on the shares issued as a result of the exercise of the options in the §
Item 16(c) 2024-25 financial year. >
<

20.4.3 Details of equity incentives affecting current and future remuneration - =

audited E

Reg 2M.3.03(1) Details of vesting profiles of the rights and options held by each key management person of the 2

Item 12(a)-(b),(e-g) Group are detailed below.

Financial years Maximum
% vested % forfeited in which grant  value yet to

Instrument Grant date in year in year (A) vests vest (B)°
KMP name Options 100,000 1 July 2022 100% -% 1 July 2024 N/A
Options 100,000 1 July 2023 -% -% 1 July 2026 N/A
Rights 40,000 1July 2024 -% -% 1 July 2027 80,000

(A) The percentage forfeited in the year represents the reduction from the maximum number of
instruments available to vest due to performance criteria not being achieved.

(B) The maximum value of share rights yet to vest is determined based on the amount of the grant
date fair value that is yet to be expensed. The minimum value of share rights yet to vest is nil
since the shares will be forfeited if the vesting conditions are not met.
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20.4.4 Analysis of movements in equity instruments — audited

S300A(1)(e)ii)-iii) The value of rights or options over ordinary shares in the Company granted and exercised by each
key management person during the reporting period is detailed below.

Value of rights or options exercised

Granted in year in year
$(A) $(B)
KMP name 372,000 -
IFRS 2.7 (A) The value of rights granted in the year is the fair value of the rights calculated at grant date.

The total value of the rights granted is included in the table above. This amount is allocated to
remuneration over the vesting period (i.e. in years 1 July 2024 to 1 July 2027).

(B) The value of options exercised during the year is calculated as the market price of shares of
the Company as at close of trading on the date the options were exercised after deducting the
price paid to exercise the option.

Reg 2M.3.03(1) a.  If the number of options or rights exercised differs from the number of equity instruments issued, the number of

Item 16(b) options or rights exercised is also disclosed. @
Q

Reg 2M.3.03(1) b.  Estimates of the maximum and minimum possible total value of the bonus or grant (other than option grants) for "g

Item 12(h) financial years after the financial year to which the report relates is required to be disclosed. o

S300A(1)(e) c. This disclosure requirement refers specifically to “options” rather than more generically to equity instruments or <?:'

“options and rights” It is not clear whether an entity is required to include other forms of share-based payments in
these disclosures. In our view, an entity should choose whether to interpret “options” strictly and limit disclosures
to only options, or to interpret “options” more widely and include the values of all forms of share-based payments.
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Directors'report (continued)

Reg 2M.3.03(1)
Item 17(a)-(g)
S300A(1)(e)(iv)

Reg 2M.3.03(1)

Item 10

Reg 2M.3.03(1)
Item 21(a), (c),(e)-(f)

Reg 2M.3.03(1)
Item 20(a), (c),(e)-(f)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

20 Remuneration report - audited (continued)
20.4 Equity instruments - audited (continued)
20.4.5 Options and rights over equity instruments’

The movement during the reporting period, by number of rights and options over ordinary
shares in Example Public Company Limited held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key
management person, including their related parties, is as follows:

Heldat Granted as Heldat Vested Vestedand
1 July compen- 30June during exercisable aﬁ
2024 sation Exercised Lapsed Forfeited 2025 the year 30 June 2025
Options
KMP name 250,000 - - 50,000' - 200,000 100,000 100,000
Rights
KMP name - 40,000 - - - 40,000 - -

" Options that lapsed during the year were granted during the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

20.5 Payments to persons before taking office - audited

[insert details of any payment made as part of the consideration for the person agreeing to hold
office including the monetary value and date of payment]

20.6 Key management personnel transactions® - audited
Loans to key management personnel and their related part/'esd

Details regarding loans outstanding at the end of the reporting period to key management
personnel and their related parties, where the individual’s aggregate loan balance exceeded
$100,000 in the reporting period, are as follows:

Balance Balance Interest not Highest balance in
1July 2024 30 June 2025 charged period
$ $ $ $
KMP name 102,000 78,000 9,786 187,000

Unsecured loans issued to [KMP name] during the year ended 30 June 2025 amounted to
$85,000. During the year, [KMP name] repaid $109,000 of the balance outstanding on the loan.

Details regarding the aggregate of all loans made, guaranteed or secured by any entity in the
Group to key management personnel and their related parties, and the number of individuals in
each group as at 30 June 2025, are as follows:®

Opening Closing Interest not Number in group at
balance balance charged 30 June 2025
$ $ $
Total for key management 132,000 78,000 10,796 2

personnel and their related parties

Reg 2M.3.03(1) . . ) _
/rei 20(b), (g), ltem No interest is payable on the loans, and the loans are repayable in cash in full 12 months after the
21(b),(g) issue date.

Reg 2M.3.03(3) a.  This disclosure is separated into each class of equity instrument, identifying each class by the name of the issuing entity, the class of equity

Reg 2M.3.03(1)Item 17(h)
Reg 2M.3.03(1) Iltems 17-24

Reg 2M.3.03(3A)

Reg 2M.3.03(1)Items 17-22

instrument, and if the instrument is an option or right, the class and number of equity instruments for which it may be exercised.
b.  Options and rights vested and unexercisable at the end of the reporting period are, where relevant, disclosed.

c.  Individual disclosures about equity transactions, loans and other transactions are required in a remuneration report. Disclosures about these
other transactions with KMP in the aggregate, are still included in the notes to financial statements. Some level of duplication may be required
to comply with both AASB 124 and the Corporations Act.

d.  Loan disclosures do not include loans involved in transactions that are in substance options, including non-recourse loans to purchase shares.
Such loans should be included in disclosures as options.
The disclosures in relation to options and rights holdings, equity holdings and transactions, loans, and other transactions and balances are
required for transactions with KMP, close family members of KMP and entities over which KMP or a close member of the family of those
personnel, have control, joint control or significant influence.

e.  The totals included in the table below may be different from the totals in the table above which includes only disclosures when the individual’s
aggregate loan balance exceeds $100,000 in the reporting period.
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Directors'report (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2025

20 Remuneration report - audited (continued)
20.6 Key management personnel transactions - audited (continued)

Other transactions with key management personnel®

A number of key management personnel (KMP), or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in
them having control, or joint control, over the financial or operating policies of those entities.

A number of these entities transacted with the Group during the year. The terms and conditions of the transactions
with KMP and their related parties were no more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be
expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-key management personnel related entities on an arm'’s
length basis.

From time to time, directors of the Group, or their related entities, may purchase goods from the Group. These
purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Group employees or customers, and
are trivial or domestic in nature.

Movements in shares®*

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in Example Public Company Limited
held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows:

Held at Received on Other Held at |
1July 2024 exercise of options changes* 30 June 2025
KMP name 1,000 - 4,000 5,000

* Other changes represent shares that were purchased or sold during the year

Change in directors after 30 June 2025°

Reg 2M.3.03(1) MsV MThomas has retired as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 5 July 2025. Ms Natalia
ftem 4,5 Stevens was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on the same date.
5298(2) This Directors’ report is made out in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

F D Adair

Director

Datedat ...ccocovvveeiieiiiiiecee (City) this ......... dayof ... 2025.

Reg 2M.3.03(1) Details of each type of transaction between the disclosing entity and a KMPR or any KMP related party, are disclosed.
Items 22-24 However, disclosure is not required for transactions that meet the following criteria:
Reg 2M.3.03(3B) . . . . . .

a. the transaction occurs within a normal employee, customer or supplier relationship on terms and conditions no more
favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect the entity would have adopted if dealing at arms-length with an
unrelated person; and

b. information about the transaction does not have the potential to affect adversely decisions about the allocation
of scarce resources made by users of the financial statements, or the discharge of accountability by the key
management person; and

c. the transaction is trivial or domestic in nature.

This disclosure exemption is only available for other transactions covered by Reg 2M.3.03(1) Items 22-24.

Reg 2M.3.03(1) The disclosures related to the movements in equity instruments should be done in relation to each type of equity

Items 18 instrument.

Reg 2M.3.03(1) When an individual ceased to be a KMP before the end of the reporting period, entities should clearly disclose the basis

Items 18 for the end of period number of shares disclosed. It may be appropriate to indicate ‘'n/a’ at period end, explaining that the
individual was not a KMP at that date.
Similar consideration should be given in relation to the beginning balance for individuals who became KMP during the
reporting period.

ﬁeg 2"7(-9‘?;)03(7) Separate disclosure of the number of equity instruments held nominally at the end of the reporting period is made.

ems
Reg 2M.3.03(1) If th_ere has been a change in the chie_f execgtive qfficer, director or other key management person or executive dqr_ing
ltems 4 and 5 or since the end of the current reporting period, disclose the name of each person involved in the change, the position

involved, and the date on which the change occurred.
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IAS 1.10(a), (ea)-(f), 29,

Consolidated statement of financial position®

368384, 40A0B, Note 30 June 2025 30 June 2ozg 1 July 203:3
54-55,113 In thousands of dollars Restated* Restated* *
Assets
IAS 1.54() Cash and cash equivalents 19 1,504 1,849 2,529
IAS 1.54(h) Trade and other receivables 18 32,518 22,325 17,336
IAS 1.55 Contract assets' 8 1,271 782 -
IAS 1.54(g) Inventories” 17 12,148 12,119 11,587
IAS 1.54(c) Intangible assets® 22 115 120 100
IAS 1.54(f) Biological assets 16 32 31 29
IAS 1.54(d) Other investments, including derivatives® 25 662 1,032 947
IAS 1.54(n) Current tax assets 34 60 -
IAS 1.55 Prepayments’ 330 1,200 895
IFRS 5.38, 40, IAS 1.54() | Assets held for sale 20 14,400 - -
IAS 1.60 Current assets’ 63,014 39,518 33,423
IAS 1.54(d) Other investments, including derivatives® 25 3,616 3,612 3,221
IAS 1.54(e) Equity-accounted investees 24 2,489 1,948 1,530
1AS 1541b), IFRS 16.48 |  Investment property” 23 1,520 400 300
IAS 1.54(0), 56 Deferred tax assets 14 2,251 2,108 985
IAS 1.55 Employee benefits 13 671 731 716
IAS 1.54(a) Property, plant and equipment* 21 28,490 33,230 37433
IAS 1.54(f) Biological assets 16 4,698 4,025 3,407
JAS 1.54(c) Intangible assets and goodwill 22 6,111 4,541 5,329
IAS 1.60 Non-current assets' 49,846 50,495 52,921
Total assets 112,860 90,013 86,344
IAS 1.10 An entity may also use other titles — e.g. ‘balance sheet’ — as long as the meaning is clear and the title not misleading.
Insights When comparatives are restated, in our view, although it is not specifically required by the Accounting Standards, labelling
2.850.110 the comparatives as restated is necessary to highlight that the comparatives are not the same as the financial statements

IAS 1.10(f), 40A

IFRS 16.47(a),
48

Insights
710.40.50

IAS 1.60-61

IAS 1.66, Insights
3.1.30

IFRS 15.B21,
BC367

IAS 1.564-55,
IFRS 15.105, 109,
A, BC320-BC321,
Insights 4.2.570

IAS 1.66,
Insights 3.1.30

published previously.

The Group has presented a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period, because the
correction of errors (see Note 43) has a material effect on the information in the statement.

The Group has presented right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property within ‘property, plant and
equipment’ —i.e. the same line item in which it presents underlying assets of the same nature that it owns. Alternatively, an
entity may choose to present right-of-use assets separately in the statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that
meet the definition of investment property are presented within ‘investment property’.

In our view, derivative assets and liabilities should be presented in separate line items in the statement of financial position if they
are significant.

The Group has made a current/non-current distinction in the statement of financial position. An entity may present its
assets and liabilities broadly in order of liquidity if such a presentation provides information that is reliable and more
relevant. Our publication Guide to annual financial statements — lllustrative disclosures for banks (December 2023) provides
an example presentation of assets and liabilities in order of liquidity.

The Group has classified certain intangible assets (emission allowances) as current (see Note 22(E)) because they are expected to
be realised within 12 months of the reporting date. An entity needs to apply the requirements in IAS 1 in determining whether to
classify intangible assets as current or non-current.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and other standards do not specify where assets for rights to recover
products from customers with regards to sales with a right of return should be presented. The Group has included these
assets within ‘inventories’ and disclosed them separately in the notes (see Note 17).

Although it is not specifically required, the Group has presented in the statement of financial position line items related

to contract assets and contract liabilities. For further guidance on applying the requirements in IAS 1 for classification of
contract assets and contract liabilities as current or non current, see 4.2.510 in Insights into IFRS.

Although this guide uses the terms ‘contract assets’ and ‘contract liabilities’, an entity may also use other terms.

The Group has classified prepayments as current because they relate to the purchase of inventories and are expected to be
realised within 12 months of the reporting date. An entity needs to apply the requirements in IAS 1 in determining whether to
classify prepayments as current or non-current.
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Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)
Note 30 June 2025 30 June 2024 1 July 2023

In thousands of dollars Restated*b F!estated*b'c

Liabilities
IAS 1.55 Bank overdraft 19 334 282 303
IAS 1.55 Contract liabilities 8 160 166 -
IAS 1.54(K) Trade and other payables" ™ 29 24,013 21,328 28,250
IAS 1.54(m) Loans and borrowingsk' " 28 6,297 5,656 3,504
IAS 1.55, 78(d)) Employee benefits 13 20 388 13
IAS 1.54(n) Current tax liabilities 4,751 1,693 25
IAS 1.54() Provisions 31 660 1,540 140
IAS 1.65 Deferred income 30 - - 140
IFRS 5.38,40,1AS 1.54(p) |  Liabilities directly associated

with the assets held for sale 20 4,410 - -
IAs 1.60 Current liabilities’ 40,645 31,053 32,375
IAS 1.54(m) Loans and borrowingsk' n 28 22,808 21,268 22,204
IAS 1.55, 78(d) Employee benefits 13 912 453 1,136
IAS 1.54(k) Trade and other payables' 29 290 5 4
IAS 1.55 Deferred income 30 1,424 1,462 -
IAS 1.54() Provisions 31 1,010 - 740
IAS 1.54(0), 56 Deferred tax liabilities 14 549 406 323
IAS 1.60 Non-current liabilities’ 26,993 23,5694 24,407

Total liabilities 67,638 54,647 56,782

Net assets 45,222 35,366 29,562

Equity
IAS 1.54(r), 78(e) Share capital 19,756 18,050 18,050
IAS 1.54(r), 78(e) Reserves 19,434 9,771 3,818
IAS 1.55, 78(e) Retained earnings 2,228 4,454 4,976

Equity attributable to owners

of the Company 26 41,418 32,275 26,844
IAS 1.54(q) Non-controlling interests 35 3,804 3,091 2,718

Total equity 45,222 35,366 29,562

* The comparative information is restated on account of correction of errors. See Note 43

The notes on pages 71 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 16.47(b) K The Group has presented lease liabilities within ‘loans and borrowings'. Alternatively, an entity (a lessee) may choose to
present lease liabilities separately from other liabilities in the statement of financial position.

IFRS 15.55 - The Group has presented its refund liabilities under IFRS 15 as ‘trade and other payables'. The Group's returns policy offers

Insights 3.1.10.30, ™
710.35.70-100, U
12-20

Insights n
710.310.10,

30-40, IAS 1.29,
IFRS 7.8(e)(ii)

only an exchange for another good — i.e. the Group does not offer a cash refund. Therefore, refund liabilities do not meet
the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. If a refund liability or a liability related to a
repurchase agreement meets the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32, then it is subject to the disclosure requirements in
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

The Group has presented amounts owed for the purchase of goods or services but related to a supplier finance arrangement
within “trade and other payables’ because it considers that the nature and function of these payables is not different from other
trade payables and therefore, does not warrant a separate presentation on the face of the statement of financial position. In our
view, regardless of whether the original trade payable is derecognised, an entity should consider the appropriate presentation of
amounts related to supplier finance arrangements in the statement of financial position. The Group has disclosed those amounts
separately in the notes. See Note 29.

There is no specific guidance in the Accounting Standards on the presentation of embedded derivatives and the related host
contracts. The Group has presented its separable embedded derivative liability related to certain convertible notes together with
the host contract on the basis that the host and the embedded derivative are subject to the same contract. However, as the
separable embedded derivative is mandatorily measured at FVTPL, it is disclosed separately in the notes (see Note 32(A)).
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IAS 1.70(b), 10A, 29,
38-38A, 81A-85, 113

IAS 1.82(a)

IAS 1.99, 103

IAS 1.103

IAS 1.85

IAS 1.99, 103

IAS 1.99, 103

IAS 1.99, 103, 38.126
IAS 1.82(ba)

IAS 1.99, 103

IAS 1.85, BC565-BC56
IAS 1.85

IAS 1.82(b)

IAS 1.85

IAS 1.82(c)

IAS 1.85

IAS 1.82(d), 12.77

IAS 1.85

IFRS 5.33(a), IAS 1.82(ea)
IAS 1.81A(a)

IAS 1.82A(a)(i)

IAS 1.85

IAS 1.85

IFRS 7.20(a)(vii)
IAS 1.82A(b)(i)

IAS 1.91(b)

IAS 1.82A(a)(ii)
IAS 21.52(b)

IAS 1.85
IAS 1.82A(b)(ii)

IAS 1.92

IFRS 7.24C(b)(i)

IFRS 7.24C(b)(iv),
IAS 1.92

IAS 1.85
IAS 1.92

IFRS 7.20(a)(viii)
IFRS 720(a)(viii), IAS 1.92

IAS 1.91(b)

IAS 1.81A(b)

IAS 1.81A(c)

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensiveincome™”

For the year ended 30 June

Note 2025 2024
In thousands of dollars Restated*
Continuing operations
Revenue® g 102,860 96,719
Cost of sales® 9c)  (55,432) (56,186)
Gross profit 47428 40,533
Otherincome 9(A) 893 104
Selling and distribution expenses® 9(C) (18,322) (15,865)
Administrative expenses® 9(C) (17,732)  (14,428)
Research and development expenses® 9(C) (1,109) (697)
Impairment loss on trade receivables and contract assets' 32(C)fii) (200) (190)
Other expenses 9(B) (996) -
Operating profit’ 9,962 9,457
Finance income* 1,131 447
Finance costs” (1,883) (1,635)
Net finance costs 10 (752) (1,188)
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 24 1,141 587
Profit before tax 10,351 8,856
Income tax expense 14 (3,178) (2,460)
Profit from continuing operations 7173 6,396
Discontinued operation _
Profit (loss) from discontinued operation, net of tax' 7 379 (422)
Profit for the period 7,552 5,974
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 21(F) 200 -
Remeasurements of defined benefit liability (asset) 13(B) 72 (15)
Equity investments at FVOCI — net change in fair value 26(D) 141 59
Equity-accounted investees — share of OCI 24, 26(D) 15 (3)
Related tax! 14(B) (137) (14)
291 27

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign operations — foreign currency translation differences 679 471
Net investment hedge — net loss (3) (8)
Equity-accounted investees — share of OCI 24, 26(D) (172) (166)
Reclassification of foreign currency differences on loss of

significant influence 34(D) (20) -
Cash flow hedges — effective portion of changes in fair value® 26(D) (62) 95
Cash flow hedges — reclassified to profit or loss"" 26(D) (31) (12)
Cost of hedging reserve — changes in fair value 26(D) 34 10
Cost of hedging reserve — reclassified to profit or loss' 26(D) 8 2
Debt investments at FVOCI — net change in fair value 26(D) 54 60
Debt investments at FVOCI - reclassified to profit or loss' 26(D) (64) -
Related tax 14(B) 19 (48)

442 404

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 733 431
Total comprehensive income for the period 8,285 6,405
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (continued)

For the year ended 30 June

Note 2025 2024
In thousands of dollars Restated*
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 7,055 5,623
Non-controlling interests 35 497 351

7552 5,974

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 7,762 6,032

Non-controlling interests 35 523 373
8,285 6,405

IAS 33.4 Earnings per share
IAS 33.66,
Do rument Basic earnings per share (dollars) 11 2.146 1.694
IAS 33.66,
2‘3{2@’;”“”““ Diluted earnings per share (dollars) 17 2.067 1.685
Earnings per share — continuing operations
IAS 33.66,
ASIC | . .
2575/7’57"”%” Basic earnings per share (dollars) 11 2.023 1.832
IAS 33.66,
OoC Instrument Diluted earnings per share (dollars) 17 1.950 1.822
¥ The comparative information is restated on account of correction of errors. See Note 43. Comparative
information has also been re-presented due to a discontinued operation and a change in classification.
See Notes 7 and 21(H) respectively.
The notes on pages 71 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
IAS 1.10A The Group has elected to present comprehensive income using a ‘one-statement’ approach. For an illustration of the alternative ‘two-
statement’ approach, see Appendix Il.
IAS 1.82 IAS 1 requires the separate presentation of specific line items in the statement of profit or loss. The Group has not presented certain line
items because during the reporting period it did not have events or transactions to be reflected in those line items. See footnotes (c) and
(d) below for specific considerations related to separate presentation of line items in the statement of profit or loss.
IFRS 15.113, In our view, an entity is not required to present revenue from contracts with customers as a separate line item in the statement of profit or
IAS 1.29-30. 85 loss and may aggregate it with other types of revenue considering the requirements in IAS 1. However, in providing a separate disclosure
Insi }71‘ 4 2,56[) 25 of revenue from contracts with customers — either in the notes or in the statement of profit or loss — we believe that an entity should not
nsignts 4.2. . include amounts that do not fall in the scope of IFRS 15 (see Note 8).
IAS 1.82(a), The Group has presented interest income on financial assets that are subsequently measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as part of ‘finance

Insights 7.10.70.20

IAS 1.99-100

IAS 1.82(ba), 85,
31,97 99,
Insights 4.1.20.40

IAS 1.85,
BC55-BC56

IAS 1.82(b), IFRS
16.49, 71G13

IFRS 5.33(a)-(b),
IAS 1.82(ea)

IAS 1.90-91
IFRS 9.6.5. 11—
6.5.15, IAS

1.82A(a), Insights
710.90.35

IAS 1.94

income’ because it does not consider it as part of its revenue-generating activities. If the interest income, calculated using the effective
interest method, constituted revenue, then the entity would be required to separately present that income as interest revenue in the
statement of profit or loss and OCI. In our view, an entity may present interest income from other financial assets in another revenue line item
if it arises in the course of the entity’s ordinary activities.

The Group has elected to analyse expenses recognised in profit or loss based on functions within the Group. Alternatively, an entity may
present the analysis based on nature if this presentation provides information that is reliable and more relevant. The analysis may also be
presented in the notes.

An entity that presents the analysis of expenses by function or by nature in the statement of profit or loss and OCI may face challenges in
determining how this presentation interacts with the specific requirements to present the effect of some events or circumstances as a single
amount in the statement of profit or loss and OCI — e.g. impairment losses determined under Section 5.5 of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
The Group has applied judgement in determining an appropriate presentation and disaggregated the impairment loss amount into:

e impairment related to trade and other receivables and contract assets, which is presented separately in the statement of profit or loss and
OCl; and

* impairment related to investments in debt securities, which is not presented separately but included under ‘finance costs’ due to
materiality considerations.
The Group believes that this presentation is relevant to an understanding of its financial performance.

The Group has presented a subtotal of ‘operating profit'. When an entity presents results from operating activities, it ensures that the
amount disclosed is representative of activities that would normally be regarded as ‘operating’, and it would be inappropriate to exclude
items clearly related to operations.

The Group has presented interest expense on the lease liability separately from the depreciation charge for the right-of-use asset. Interest
expense on the lease liability is a component of finance costs, which is presented separately in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

The Group has elected to disclose a single amount of post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations in the statement of profit or loss
and OCI, and has analysed that single amount into revenue, expenses and the pre-tax profit or loss in Note 7. Alternatively, an entity may
present the analysis in the statement.

The Group has elected to present individual components of OCI before related tax with an aggregate amount presented for tax in the
statement of profit or loss and OCl and has provided disclosures related to tax on each component of OCI in Note 14(B). Alternatively, an
entity may present individual components of OCI net of related tax in the statement.

IFRS 9 specifies whether and when amounts previously recognised in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. However, in some circumstances it
may be unclear at the time when a gain or loss is recognised in OCI whether it will subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss. For example,
if an entity hedges a future purchase of a non-financial item, then the related hedging gains and losses will subsequently be included in the
initial cost of the non-financial item and affect profit or loss when the non-financial item is disposed of or written down. Conversely, if the
future hedged cash flows are no longer expected to occur or if a loss is no longer expected to be recoverable, then the hedging gains or
losses will be reclassified to profit or loss. Accordingly, in our view gains or losses on cash flow hedges and costs of hedging relating to the
future recognition of a non-financial asset or liability should be presented in OCI as items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss when specific conditions are met.

The Group has elected to present reclassification adjustments in the statement of profit or loss and OCI. Alternatively, an entity may
present these adjustments in the notes.
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IAS 1.10(c), 29,
108, 113

IAS 1.106(b)

IAS 1.106(d)(i)

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 30 June 2025

IAS 1.106(d)(ii), 106A

IAS 1.106(a)

IAS 1.106(d)(iii)

IAS 1.106(d)(i)

IAS 1.106(d)(ii), T06A

IAS 1.106(a)

IAS 1.106(d)(iii)

IAS 1.106(d)(iii)

Share Translation Hedging
In thousands of dollars Note capital reserve reserve1
Balance at 1 July 2023,* as previously reported 18,050 (119) 399
Impact of restatement 43 - - -
Restated balance at 1 July 2023 18,050 (119) 399
Total comprehensive income for the period (restated)
Profit for the period - - -
Other comprehensive income for the period 14(B), 26(D) - 275 65
Total comprehensive income for the period (restated) - 275 65
Hedging gains and losses and costs of hedging
transferred to the cost of inventory - - -
Transactions with owners of the Company
Contributions and distributions
Treasury shares acquireda 26(B) - - -
Transfer to profits reserveb 26(B) - - -
Dividends 26(C) - - -
Equity-settled share-based paymen‘[c 13(E), 14(C) - - -
Total transactions with owners of the Company - - -
Restated balance at 30 June 2024 18,050 156 464
Balance at 1 July 2024 18,050 156 464
Total comprehensive income for the period
Profit for the period - - -
Other comprehensive income for the period 14(B), 26(D) - 458 (35)
Total comprehensive income for the period - 458 (35)
Hedging gains and losses and costs of hedging
transferred to the cost of inventory - - - 8
Transactions with owners of the Company
Contributions and distributions
Issue of ordinary shares 26(A) 1,550 - -
Issue of ordinary shares related to
business combinations 34(A) 87 - -
Issue of convertible notes 14(C), 28(C)-(D) - - -
Treasury shares sold” 26(B) 19 - -
Transfer to profits reserve” 26(B) - - -
Dividends 26(C) - - -
Equity-settled share-based payment® 13(E), 14(C) - - -
Share options exercised 26(A) 50 - -
Total contributions and distributions 1,706 - -
Changes in ownership interests
Acquisition of NCI without a change in control 36 - 8 -
Acquisition of subsidiary with NCI 34 - - -
Total changes in ownership interests - 8 -
Total transactions with owners of the Company 1,706 8 -
Balance at 30 June 2025 19,756 622 437

The Hedging reserve includes the cost of the hedging reserve. These balances are detailed in Note 26D.

*  The comparative information is restated on account of correction of errors. See Note 43.

IAS 32.33, Insights 7.3.

750.10-20

The Accounting Standards do not mandate a specific method of presenting treasury shares within equity. However,

local laws may prescribe the allocation method. Therefore, an entity needs to take into account its legal environment when
choosing how to present its own shares within equity. An entity needs to choose a presentation format, to be applied
consistently to all treasury shares. The Group has elected to present the total cost of treasury shares as a separate category

of equity.
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c
.0
S
(%]
=]
K
Attributable to owners of the Company =
Treasury Con-
Fair value Revaluation Profits share vertible Retained Non-controlling
reserve reserve reserve reserve notes earnings Total interests Total equity
17 - 3,521 - - 4,919 26,787 2,718 29,505
- - - - - 57 57 - 57
17 - 3,521 - - 4,976 26,844 2,718 29,562
- - - - - 5,623 5,623 351 5,974 E
82 - - - - (13) 409 22 431 =
82 - . - - 5,610 6,032 373 6,405 §
=2
—
<
[+
'—
()
2
<
- - - (280) - - (280) - (280)
- - 6,382 - - (6,382) - - -
- - (571) - - - (571) - (571)
- - - - - 250 250 - 250
- - 5,811 (280) - (6,132) (601) - (601)
99 - 9,332 (280) - 4,454 32,275 3,091 35,366
(2]
99 - 9,332 (280) - 4,454 32,275 3,091 35,366 ?:
£
2
- - - - - 7,055 7,055 497 7,552 13
87 134 - - . 63 707 26 733 ;
87 134 - - - 7118 7,762 523 8,285 £
[-n
- - - - - - 8 - 8
- - - - - - 1,550 - 1,550
- - - - - 120 207 - 207
- - - - 109 - 109 - 109
- - - 1" - - 30 - 30
- - 10,126 - - (10,126) - - -
- - (1,243) - - - (1,243) - (1,243)
- - - - - 755 755 - 755
- - - - - - 50 - 50
- - 8,883 1" 109 (9,251) 1,458 - 1,458
- - - - - (93) (85) (115) (200)
- - - - - - - 305 305
. N - - - (93) (85) 190 105
- - 8,883 1 109 (9,344) 1,373 190 1,563
186 134 18,215 (269) 109 2,228 41,418 3,804 45,222
The notes on pages 71 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
(7]
Q
L2
2
b. Amounts transferred to the profits reserve characterise profits available for distribution as dividends in future 8
years and reflects the amounts transferred by individual entities in the Group and is therefore not necessarily o
equivalent to the consolidated Group profit for the year. <
IAS 1.78(e), 79(b), 108, c. Generally, IFRS 2 Share-based Payment does not address whether an increase in equity recognised jn connection
Insights 4.5.900.20 with a share-based payment transaction should be presented in a separate component within equity or within
retained earnings. In our view, either approach is allowed under the Accounting Standards. The Group has
elected to present such increase in retained earnings.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 30 June
IAS 1.10(d), 29, 38-38A, Note 2025 2024
113 In thousands of dollars Restated*
IAS 718(a) Cash flows from operating activities™ * ©

Cash receipts from customers 95,008 97935

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (89,020) (94,079)

Cash generated from operating activities 5,988 3,856
1As 73132 Interest paid” * (1,609) (1,289)
1S 735 Income taxes paid (400) (1,910)
1AS 710 Net cash from operating activities 46 3,979 657

Cash flows from investing activities
IAS 731 Interest received® 37 29
IAS 731 Dividends received® 26 32
IAS 716(b) Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,179 397
IAS 7.16(d), (h) Proceeds from sale of investments 1,346 534
IAS 739 Disposal of discontinued operation, net of cash disposed of? 7 10,890 -
IAS 739 Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 34 (1,799) -
IAS 716(a) Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (15,857) (2,228)
IAS 716(a) Acquisition of investment property 23(A) (300) (40)
IAS 716(a) Purchase of non-current biological assets 16(A) (305) (835)
IAS 716(c), (g) Acquisition of other investments (359) (342)
IAS 24.18 Dividends from equity-accounted investees 24(A) 21 -
IAS 716(a) Development expenditure 22(A), (D) (1,235) (503)

Receipt of asset-related government grant® 30 130 1,462
IAS 710 Net cash used in investing activities (6,226) (1,494)
IAS 718-19 a.  The Group has elected to present cash flows from operating activities using the direct method, disclosing major classes of gross cash

IFRS 7.31, 33-34, b.

B11F IG18A, IAS
710-11, 43,
44F44H, Insights
2.3.190. 90120,
U 12-20

IAS 76, 11, Insights ¢

2.3.20.11

receipts and payments related to operating activities. Alternatively, an entity may present operating cash flows using the indirect method.

There is no specific guidance in the Accounting Standards on the classification of cash flows from supplier finance arrangements. However,
in our view it is the nature of the activity, rather than the classification of the related item in the statement of financial position, that primarily
determines the classification of the cash outflow. Furthermore, in our view, in determining the appropriate classification an entity should
apply judgement and assess whether a single cash outflow or multiple cash flows occur for the entity. The Group presents a single cash
outflow for the payments made to the bank because it considers the payment to a supplier by the bank not to be a cash transaction of the
Group. The Group classifies its cash outflows for payments made to the bank within operating activities because it views the principal nature
of these payments as related to the purchase of goods and services. There may be other acceptable approaches depending on the legal
form and structure of supplier finance arrangements. The Group has provided disclosure to enable understanding of the effects of its supplier
finance arrangement on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows (see Note 29 and Note 32(C)(iii).

The Group has classified cash flows related to emissions certificates (current intangible assets) within operating activities because they
relate to the Group's principle revenue-generating activities and the assets are not considered long-term in nature. The emissions certificates
are expected to be realised within 12 months of the reporting date by surrendering them to the government to settle the annual emissions
obligation (see Note 22(E)). In determining the classification of cash flows, an entity considers the nature of the activity to which they relate.
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- - c

Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

For the year ended 30 June :E

IAS 1.10(d), 29, Note 2024 2023 -
38-38A, 113 In thousands of dollars Restated*

Cash flows from financing activities

IAS 717(a) Proceeds from issue of share capital 26(A) 1,550 -
IAS 717(c) Proceeds from issue of convertible notes 28(C) 5,000 -
IAS 717(c) Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference shares 28(D) 2,000 -
IAS 717(c) Proceeds from loans and borrowings 591 4,079
IAS 717(a) Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 30 -
IAS 717(a) Proceeds from exercise of share options 26(A) 50 - =
. . w
IAS 716(h) Proceeds from settlement of derivatives 5 1 -
IAS 721 Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings 28(C), (D) (311) - 8
IAS 742A Acquisition of non-controlling interests 36 (200) - <Zt
IAS 717(b) Repurchase of treasury shares - (280) 3
IAS 717(dl) Repayment of borrowings (5,055) (2,445) =
e epeas (2]
1AS 717(e) Payment of lease liabilities® (554) (590) >
IAS 731, 34 Dividends paid® 26(C) (1,243) (571)
IAS 710 Net cash from financing activities 1,863 204
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (384) (633)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July** 1,567 2,226
IAS 728 Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held (13) (26)
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June** 19 1,170 1,567
* The comparative information is restated on account of correction of errors. See Note 43. 12
. . . )
1AS 745 ** Cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of £
/ [
the Group’s cash management. s
B
7]
The notes on pages 71 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements ;
£
S
o
IFRS 16.50, IAS d.  The Group has classified:
717(e) e cash payments for the principal portion of lease payments as financing activities;
e cash payments for the interest portion as operating activities consistent with the presentation of interest payments chosen by the Group
(see footnote (e) below); and
e short-term lease payments and payments for leases of low-value assets as operating activities.
IAS 731, e.  The Accounting Standards require cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid to be disclosed separately. In our view, such
Insights 2.3.50.10-20 disclosure is required in the statement of cash flows, rather than in the notes. In the absence of specific guidance in IFRS Accounting Standards,
an entity chooses an accounting policy, to be applied consistently, for classifying interest and dividends paid as either operating or financing
activities, and interest and dividends received as either operating or investing activities. The Group has elected to classify cash flows from
interest paid as operating activities, cash flows from interest received and dividends received as investing activities, and cash flows from
dividends paid as financing activities. Interest paid includes the interest portion of the lease liabilities. See footnotes (d) above and (f) below
Insights 2.3.50.38 f.  Inour view, an entity should choose an accounting policy, to be applied consistently, to classify cash flows related to capitalised interest as
follows:
e ascash flows from investing activities if the other cash payments to acquire the qualifying asset are reflected as investing activities; or
e consistently with interest cash flows that are not capitalised (which has been applied by the Group)
The Group has presented capitalised interest consistently with interest cash flows that are not capitalised. 3
Q
IAS 710, IFRS g.  The Group has elected to present a statement of cash flows that analyses all cash flows in total —i.e. including both continuing and S
5.33(c), discontinued operations; amounts related to discontinued operations by operating, investing and financing activities are disclosed in g
Insights 5.4.220.50 Note 7(B). However, in our view cash flows from discontinued operations may be presented in ways in which the requirements of IFRS 5 &
o ' Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations and IAS 7 regarding cash flow presentation may be met. <
IAS 710-11, Insights ~ h.  There is no specific guidance in IFRS Accounting Standards on the classification of cash flows from the receipt of government grants.
2.320.11 Cash flows should be classified based on the nature of the activity to which they relate. The Group has classified cash flows related to asset-
related grants as investing activities and those related to income related grants as operating activities because this reflects the nature of the
related activities.
© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
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40 | Example Public Company Limited

IAS 1.10(e)

IAS 1.138(a)-(b)

IAS 1.517(a)-(b)

AASB 1054.8(b)

IAS 1.112(a), 116

AASB 1054.7 8, 9
5296, 5297

IAS 1.16,10.17

IAS 1.57(d)-(e)
ASIC Instrument

Notes to the consolidated financial Statements

1. Reporting entity
Example Public Company Limited (the ‘Company’) is domiciled in Australia.

The Company'’s registered office is at [address]. These consolidated financial statements comprise
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’).

The Group is a for-profit entity and is primarily involved in manufacturing paper and paper-related
products, cultivating trees and selling wood (see Note 6(A)).

2. Basis of accounting®

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards adopted by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial statements
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the International Accounting
Standards Board.They were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on [date].

Details of the Group's accounting policies, including changes thereto, are included in Note 44 and
Note 5.

3. Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in dollars which is the Company'’s
functional currency. The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/
Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 and in accordance with that instrument, amounts in

the consolidated financial statements and directors’ report have been rounded off to the nearest

2016/191 .

/ thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

AASB 1048 Compliance with Australian Interpretations is required by AASB 1048 Interpretation and Application of Accounting
Standards. A statement of compliance with Australian Accounting Standards therefore includes a statement of
compliance with Australian Interpretations.

IAS 1.16 An entity whose financial statements and notes comply with all IFRS Accounting Standards requirements must make

an explicit and unreserved statement of such compliance in the notes. Entities that comply with Australian
Accounting Standards are not automatically in compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards, particularly
where the Australian specific exemptions for not-for-profit and public sector entities are utilised.

Technically, there is no requirement to state that an entity does not comply with IFRS Accounting Standards.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

The following are additional Australian specific disclosures that are included in Note 14
and 26, as appropriate.

14. Income taxes

Introduction

K. Amounts recognised in the profit and loss

Al1052.16 The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax consolidated group.
As a consequence, all members of the tax consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head
entity within the tax consolidated group is Example Public Company Limited.®

26. Capital and reserves 5

A. Share capital E

i. Ordinary shares 3
IAS1.79(a)liii) The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. E

B. Nature and purpose of reserves E

vii. Profits reserve é’
IAS 1.79(b) The profits reserve represents profits of entities within the Group transferred to a separate reserve

to preserve their profit character. Such profits are available to enable payment of franked dividends
in future years. Dividends amounting to $1,243 thousand (2024: $571 thousand) were distributed
from the profits reserve during the year.

C. Dividends

In thousands of dollars 2025 2024
Dividend franking account”

AASB 1054.13 Amount of franking credits available to shareholders of Example
Public Company Limited for subsequent financial years 4,122 2,074

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon the ability to declare dividends.

In accordance with the tax consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity in the tax-
consolidated group has also assumed the benefit of $4,122 thousand (2024: $2,074 thousand)
franking credits.
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Al 1052.16 a.  Additional information may be required to be disclosed separately in the standalone financial statements of the head
entity and/or the stand alone or intermediate consolidated financial statements of any subsidiary in a tax consolidated
group. This information could include but not limited to the method adopted for measuring the current and deferred
tax amounts, nature of any tax funding arrangement and any tax sharing agreement (including significant terms and
conditions that may affect the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows), the net amount recognised for
the period as tax-consolidation contributions by (or distributions to) equity participants, its major components and the
accounts affected.

Appendices

AASB 1054.12, 13 b.  Separate disclosure is required in respect of any New Zealand imputation credits and any Australian imputation credits.
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- - - - -
s Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
:5 AASE 1054.16 46. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities
= Note 2025 2024
In thousands of dollars Restated*
IAS 718(b) Cash flows from operating activities™
Profit for the period® 7,552 5,974
Adjustments for:
— Depreciation 21(A) 5,339 5,122
— Amortisation 22(A) 785 795
— Deferred income 30 (38) -
5 — (Reversal of) impairment losses on property, plant and equipment 21(B) (393) 1,123
w — Impairment losses on intangible assets and goodwill 22(C) 16 285
% — Impairment loss on remeasurement of disposal group 20(A) 35 -
g — Change in fair value of biological assets 16(A) (587) (28)
§ — Increase in fair value of investment property 23(A) (20) (60)
g — Net finance costs 10 752 1,188
§ — Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 24 (1,141) (587)
< — Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 9(A) (48) (16)
— Gain on sale of discontinued operation, net of tax 7 (516) -
— Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 13(E) 755 248
— Tax expense 14 3,153 2,416
15,644 16,460
Changes in:
8 ~ Intangible assets (emissions certificates)” 5 (20)
é — Inventories (1,843) (176)
£ — Contract assets (489) (782)
Z — Trade and other receivables (16,946) (4,920)
‘g — Contract liabilities (6) 166
& - Prepayments 870 (305)
— Trade and other payables® 8,727 (6,841)
— Provisions and employee benefits 26 274
Cash generated from operating activities 5,988 3,856
IAS 731-32 Interest paid™ " (1,609) (1,289)
IAS 735 Taxes paid (400) (1,910)
IAS 710 Net cash from operating activities 3,979 657
IFRS 16.50, a.  The Group has classified:
IAS 717(e) e cash payments for the principal portion of lease payments as financing activities;

* cash payments for the interest portion as operating activities consistent with the presentation of interest payments chosen by the Group (see footnote (e) below); and
e short-term lease payments and payments for leases of low-value assets as operating activities.
The Group has not restated comparative information.

IFRS 731, 33-34, b.  There is no specific guidance in the IFRS Accounting Standards on the classification of cash flows from reverse factoring arrangements. However, in our view
IAS 7710-11 itis the nature of the activity, rather than the classification of the related item in the statement of financial position, that determines the classification of the

Y 4 cash outflow. Furthermore, in our view, in determining the appropriate classification an entity should apply judgement and assess whether a single cash outflow
43, Insights or multiple cash flows occur for the entity. The Group presents a single cash outflow for the payments made to the factor (the bank) because it considers
2.3.190.30-60, the payment to a supplier by the bank not to be a cash transaction of the entity. The Group classifies its cash outflows for payments made to the bank within
U 12-20 operating activities because it views the principal nature of these payments as related to the purchase of goods and services. The Group has provided disclosure

of non-cash transactions (see Note 29) and disclosure of liquidity risk arising from liabilities related to reverse factoring arrangements (see Note 32(C)(iii)). There
may be other acceptable approaches depending on the legal form and structure of reverse factoring arrangements.

IAS 718, 20, A, c.  The Group has used "profit or loss as the starting point for presenting operating cash flows using the indirect method. This is the starting point referred to in IAS

Insights 2.3.30.20 7 Statemen( of Cash Flows, although the example provided in the appendix to the standard starts with a different figure_ — 'profit before taxation’. Because the
I appendix is illustrative only and therefore does not have the same status as the standard, it would be more appropriate to follow the standard.

IAS 76, 11, d.  The Group has classified cash flows related to emissions certificates (current intangible assets) within operating activities because they relate to the Group'’s

Insights 2.3.20.11 principle revenue-generating activities and the assets are not considered long-term in nature.The‘emissions‘cer_tificates are expected to be rea_li;ed within
e 12 months of the reporting date by surrendering them to the government to settle the annual emissions obligation (see Note 22(E)). In determining the

classification of cash flows, an entity considers the nature of the activity to which they relate.
IAS 731, Insights e.  The Accounting Standards require cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid to be disclosed separately. In our view, such disclosure is required in the
2.350.10- 20 statement of cash flows, rather than in the notes. In the absence of specific guidance in the IFRS Accounting Standards, an entity chooses an accounting policy,

to be applied consistently, for classifying interest and dividends paid as either operating or financing activities, and interest and dividends received as either
operating or investing activities. The Group has elected to classify cash flows from interest paid as operating activities, cash flows from interest received and
dividends received as investing activities, and cash flows from dividends paid as financing activities.

Interest paid includes the interest portion of the lease liabilities. See footnotes (a) above and (f) below

Insights 2.3.50.38 f. In our view, an entity should choose an accounting policy, to be applied consistently, to classify cash flows related to capitalised interest as follows:
e as cash flows from investing activities if the other cash payments to acquire the qualifying asset are reflected as investing activities; or
* consistently with interest cash flows that are not capitalised.
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The Group has presented capitalised interest consistently with interest cash flows that are not capitalised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) |  :
47. Auditors’ remuneration®"° :E
;\g;g/gtmmem In dollars 2025 2024 -

Audit and review services®
Auditors of the Group — KPMG

Audit and review of financial statements — Group® 658,900 524,360

Audit and review of financial statements — controlled entities® 1,049,600 689,890

AASB 1054.10(a) 1,708,500 1,214,250
Other auditors =
AASB 1054.10(a) Audit and review of financial statements 12,260 11,310 E
3
AASB 1054.100), 11 | Assurance services' Z
Auditors of the Group — KPMG 5'
Regulatory assurance services"? 43,410 30,860 §
Other assurance services"" 460,510 491,370 =

503,920 522,230

Other auditors

Other assurance services"" 2,000 2,000

AASB 1054.10(b), 11 Other services
Auditors of the Group — KPMG
Taxation advice and tax compliance services 114,320 96,350

Other auditors
Valuation services 25,000 23,000
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a.  This illustrative disclosure excludes auditors’ remuneration for associates or joint ventures but includes partnerships
and joint operations. An entity may want to separately disclose auditors’ remuneration for associates and joint
ventures, in which case we recommend additional line items be included within each section for transparency.

b.  Although it is not required, this categorisation of fees to auditors is encouraged by ASIC to aid in the consistent and
transparent reporting of audit and non-audit fee information.

¢ Disclosures are required regardless of whether the entity or a related entity make the payments. Where fees are paid on
behalf of the entity by a related party outside the consolidated entity, disclosure as a related party transaction is required.

d. Half-year audit and review fees for entities in the group are included in ‘audit and review services'.

e.  ASIC encourages fees paid to the Group auditor to be split out separately for those relating to auditing the statutory
financial report of the parent covering the consolidated group; and those relating to auditing the statutory financial
reports of any controlled entities. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.

f. Although it is not required, ASIC encourages entities to split fees for assurance services from fees for non-assurance
services. They also encourage assurance services to be further split between “regulatory assurance services” and
“other assurance services" This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.

AASB 1054.10,11 An entity is required to describe the nature of all services provided that do not relate to the audit or review of the
financial statements. There is no requirement to provide an amount for each non-audit service.

S300(2A), However, an entity that has not included detailed amounts for all non-audit services in the directors’ report but has

S300(11B)(a), specified that this information may be found in the financial statements, discloses the amount for each non-audit

S300(11C)(b) service in this note in order to comply with the Corporations Act 2001 requirements.

d9.  Regulatory assurance services are those that are required under legislation and are performed by the auditor, for
example, Form FS 71 for an AFS licensee, workers compensation, APRA reports, US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Section 404, franchising code of conduct and retirement villages.

h. Other assurance services are fees for other assurance services other than those included under regulatory
assurance, such as those required under contractual arrangements. Examples include, assurance on revenue
information relevant to a royalty agreement, sustainability assurance reporting and capital raisings.

i.  Other services are services that do not fall within regulatory or other assurance services e.g. tax advice, tax
compliance, consulting.

Appendices
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

48. Deed of cross guarantee®’

ASIC Instrument 2016/785 | Pursuant to ASIC Corporations (\Wholly owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 the wholly-owned
subsidiaries listed below are relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation,
audit and lodgement of financial reports, and Directors' reports.

Introduction

ASIC Instrument 2016/785 | It is a condition of the Instrument that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a
Condition 6{v)(i}-(i) Deed of Cross Guarantee. The effect of the Deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor
payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain
provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Act,
the Company will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid in
full. The subsidiaries have also given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is wound up.

ASIC Instrument 2016/785 | The subsidiaries subject to the Deed are:
Condition 6(v)(i)&(ii)

Acacia Pty Limited

Gumnut Limited

e Karooa Pty Limited
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Pavlova Pty Limited
e |amington Pty Limited
e Meat Pie Limited

ASIC Instrument 2016/785 | Karooa Pty Limited became a party to the Deed on 1 January 2025, by virtue of a Deed of
Condition 6(v)fi (i)&(v) Assumption. Tasman Trust was released from its obligations under the Deed by executing
Revocation Deeds on 30 March 2025.

Acacia Pty limited obtained relief pursuant to the Instrument for the year ended 30 June 2024,
however, whilst still party to the Deed, is not eligible for relief in the current year as it has become
a small propriety company. It was a large proprietary company in the previous financial year.

ASIC Instrument 2016/785 | A consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial

Condition 6(v)fi), ()&(vi) position, comprising the Company and controlled entities which are a party to the Deed, after
eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, for the year ended
30 June 2025 is set out as follows:

Primary statements

ASIC Instrument a.  Summarised consolidated income statement and balance sheet disclosures for each of the following groups of entities
2016/785 as at the reporting date must be included in the consolidated financial statements of the Holding Entity:

e the Closed Group

¢ the group comprising the Holding Entity and all of its controlled entities that are parties to the Deed of Cross
Guarantee (i.e. including controlled entities not wholly owned)

e parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee which are not controlled entities (either individually or in aggregate).

In some circumstances, the disclosures required for each of the above will not differ as all the parties to the Deed of
Cross Guarantee will be members of the Closed Group. This is the case in Example Public Company Limited group.

These are only the financial report conditions for obtaining relief under the legislative instrument. The legislative
instrument must be referred to for full details and conditions.

Appendices

ASIC Instrument b. Comparative information is only required where the holding entity was a holding entity in a deed of cross guarantee
2016/785 at any time during the immediately preceding financial year.
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Notes to the consoliclated financial statements (continued)

48. Deed of cross guarantee (continued)

ASIC Instrument Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and retained earnings®

2016/785 Condition

6(v)(V)&(vi)

2025 2024

In thousands of dollars Restated*
Revenue (x) X
Cost of sales (x) (x)
Gross profit (x) X
Operating expenses (x) (x)
Finance income (x) X
Finance costs (x) (x)
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees (x) X
Profit before tax (x) X
Tax expense (x) X
Profit after tax (x) X
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss: (x) X
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment, net of tax (x) X
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: (x) X
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax (x) X
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (x) X
Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax (x) X
Retained earnings at beginning of year (x) X
Transfers to and from reserves (x) X
Reduction in retained earnings on share buy-back (x) X
Dividends recognised during the year (x) X
Retained earnings at end of year (x) X
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (x) X
Non-controlling interests (x) X
Profit for the period (x) X
* See Notes 7 21(H) and 43.

ASIC Instrument a.  One of the required conditions for wholly owned subsidiaries to be relieved from the Corporations Act 2001

2016/785 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports, and Directors’ reports, is to present a statement
of comprehensive income setting out the information specified by paragraphs 82 to 87 of Accounting Standard AASB
101 Presentation of Financial Statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
48. Deed of cross guarantee (continued)
Statement of financial position

30 June 2025 30 June 2024 1 July 2023
In thousands of dollars Restated* Restated*
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents X X X
Trade and other receivables X X X
Contract assets X X X
Inventories X X X
Biological assets X X X
Other investments, including derivatives X X X
Current tax assets X X X
Prepayments X X X
Assets held for sale X X X
Current assets X X X
Other investments, including derivatives X X X
Equity accounted investees X X X
Investment property X X X
Deferred tax assets X X X
Property, plant and equipment X X X
Biological assets X X X
Intangible assets and goodwill X X X
Non-current assets X X X
Total assets X X X
Liabilities
Bank overdraft X X X
Contract liabilities X X X
Trade and other payables, including derivatives X X X
Loans and borrowings X X X
Employee benefits X X X
Current tax liabilities X X X
Provisions X X X
Deferred income/revenue X X X
Liabilities held for sale X X X
Current liabilities X X X
Loans and borrowings X X X
Derivatives X X X
Employee benefits X X X
Deferred income/revenue X X X
Provisions X X X
Deferred tax liabilities X X X
Non-current liabilities X X X
Total liabilities X X X
Net assets X X X
Equity
Share capital X X X
Reserves X X X
Retained earnings X X X
Total equity X X X
* See Note 43.
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Reg 2M.3.01 (1)(k)

Reg 2M.3.01(1)(f)
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Reg 2M.3.01(1)(b)

Reg 2M.3.01(1)(c)
Reg 2M.3.01(1)(d)

Reg 2M.3.01(1)(e)

Reg 2M.3.01(1)(i)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

49. Parent entity disclosures®

As at, and throughout, the financial year ended 30 June 2025 the parent entity of the Group was
Example Public Company Limited.

2024 2023
In thousands of dollars Restated*
Result of parent entity
Profit for the period XX XX
Other comprehensive income XX XX
Total comprehensive income for the period XX XX
Financial position of parent entity at year end
Current assets XX XX
Total assets XX XX
Current liabilities XX XX
Total liabilities XX XX
Total equity of the parent entity comprising of:
Share capital XX XX
Revaluation reserve XX XX
Reserve for own shares XX XX
Profits reserve XX XX
Retained earnings XX XX
Total equity XX XX

* See Notes 7 21(H) and 43.

Parent entity contingent liabilities

The directors are of the opinion that provisions are not required in respect of these matters, as it
is not probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required, or the amount is not
capable of reliable measurement.

In thousands of dollars Note 2025 2024

Contingent liabilities not considered remote

Litigation (a) XX XX
Performance guarantees (b) XX XX
GST liabilities of other entities within the GST group XX XX

Tax liabilities of other entities within the tax
consolidated group XX XX

(@) The parent entity is defending an action brought by an environmental agency in Europe.
While liability is not admitted, if defence against the action is unsuccessful, fines and legal
costs could amount to $950 thousand (2024: nil) of which $250 thousand (2024: nil) would
be reimbursable under an insurance policy. Based on legal advice, the directors do not expect
the outcome of the action to have a material effect on the parent entity’s financial position.

In the directors’ opinion, disclosure of any further information would be prejudicial to the
interests of the Group.

a.

Parent entities that are APRA regulated or hold an Australian Financial Services Licence are recommended to continue
to present the parent entity financial statements and notes in the group annual report.
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48 | Example Public Company Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Introduction

49. Parent entity disclosures (continued)
Parent entity contingent liabilities (continued)

(b) The parent entity has guaranteed, to an unrelated party, the performance of a subsidiary in
relation to a contract for the supply of paper. In the event of default, the terms of the contract
contain a minimum compensation payment to the unrelated party of $600,000. The contract
is due to be fulfilled by 31 December 2025.

Reg 2M.3.01(1)(j) Parent entity capital commitments for acquisition of property plant and equipment

During the year the Company entered into contracts to purchase plant and equipment for $x,xxx
thousand (2024: $x,xxx thousand).

Reg 2M.3.01(1)(h) Parent entity guarantees in respect of the debts of its subsidiaries

The parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect that the Company
guarantees debts in respect of certain subsidiaries.

Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the deed are
disclosed in Note 48.
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applicable 30 June
2024 onwards
(Updated for
amendments
applicable for 30 June
2025 onwards)

S295(3A)(a)(iii)

S5295(3A)(@)(iii)

lllustrative disclosures — Consolidated entity disclosure statement | 49

Consolidated entity disclosure statement

a,b,cde

As at 30 June 2025

% of share

capital held
directly or
indirectly by
Body corporate, Place the Company  Australian or Jurisdiction(s)
partnership or incorporated/  in the body Foreign tax of Foreign tax
Entity name trust formed? corporate residentf’ h residencyf’ h
Example Public Company . .
Limited (the Company) Body corporate Australia Australian N/A
Acacia Pty Limited Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A
Gumnut Limited Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A
Body corporate
Karooa Pty Limited —Trustee of Australia 100% Australian N/A
Macadamia Trust
Macadamia Trust Trust N/A N/A Australian N/A
Pavlova Pty Limited Body corporate Australia 100% Both Singapore
Body corporate
Lamington Pty Limited — Partner in Australia 100% Australian N/A
the Lamington
Partnership
Lamington Partnership Partnership N/A N/A Australian N/A
Meat Pie Limited Body corporate Australia 100% Australian N/A
Baguette S.A. Body corporate France 100% Foreign France
Mermaid A/S Body corporate Denmark 100% Foreign Denmark
Papier GmbH Body corporate Germany 100% Foreign Germany
Lei Sure Limited Body corporate Romania 100% Foreign Romania
Paper Pabus Co Body corporate UK 100% Foreign UK
Hemy Payo Products N.V. Body corporate Netherlands  100% Foreign Netherlands
Oy Kossu AG Body corporate Switzerland 90% Foreign Switzerland
Papyrus Pty Limited Body corporate us 90% Foreign us
Swissolote AG Body corporate Switzerland 75% Foreign Switzerland
Maple-leaf Inc Body corporate Canada 45% Foreign Canada
Silver Fir S.A. Body corporate Spain 48% Foreign Spain
Sloan Bio-Research Co Body corporate uKk - Foreign UK
MayCo Body corporate us - Foreign us

S5295(3A)

5295(3A)(@)

S295(3A)(b)

These disclosures are applicable for all Australian public companies (listed and unlisted) reporting under Chapter 2M of
the Corporations Act 2001 effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2023 i.e. the annual financial reports for
30 June 2024 and onwards. Public companies with a financial year ending 30 June 2024 will have needed to comply with
this requirement for their financial year ended 30 June 2024. This requirement is therefore only new for public companies
that have not yet reported on or after 30 June 2024, such as a public company with a financial year ending 31 December
2024. For details of Amendments to the CEDS requirements that apply to financial years ending on or after 30 June 2025,
see footnote (f). For more information refer to our Reporting update, 25RU-02 | Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement.

The prescribed information must be disclosed for each entity that was, at the end of the financial year, part of the
consolidated entity. Prescribed information for an entity disposed of during the year that is no longer part of the
consolidated entity at the end of the financial year is not required.

Where a public company is not required to prepare consolidated financial statements, a ‘Consolidated entity
disclosure statement’ must still be included. Below is an illustrative disclosure for such a statement:

‘Example Public Company Limited is not required by Australian Accounting Standards to prepare consolidated
financial statements, and as a result subsection 295(3A)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001 to prepare a Consolidated
Entity Disclosure Statement does not apply to the Company.’

Comparative information is not required for the prescribed information disclosed in a Consolidated entity disclosure statement.

The Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement information required by the Corporations Act 2007 must incorporate
each entity forming part of the Consolidated Group, not just those considered to be material. This includes newly
acquired ‘shelf’ companies, dormant entities or those that would otherwise be excluded from the company’s process
to prepare consolidated financial statements on the basis of materiality.

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Introduction

AUSTRALIAN CONTENT

0
2
c
]
£
]
2
T
S
)
>
£
&
£
S
o

Appendices



https://kpmg.com/au/en/home/insights/2025/04/25ru-02-consolidated-entity-disclosure-statement.html

Introduction

=
2
w
=
2
(o}
o
=2
=
-
<
o
=
(2]
2
<

Primary statements

Appendices

50 | Example Public Company Limited

5295(3B)

Consolidated entity tiisclosure statement (continued) "

As at 30 June 2025
Basis of preparation’
Key assumptions and judgements

Determination of Tax Residenc

Section 295 (3A) of the Corporation Acts 20017 requires that the tax residency of each entity which is
included in the Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement (CEDS) be disclosed. For the purposes of this
section, an entity is an Australian resident at the end of a financial year if the entity is:

a) anAustralian resident (within the meaning of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997) at that time; or

b) apartnership, with at least one partner being an Australian resident (within the meaning of the
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997) at that time; or

c) aresident trust estate (within the meaning of Division 6 of Part |ll of the Income Tax Assessment
Act 1936) in relation to the year of income (within the meaning of that Act) that corresponds to the
financial year.

The determination of tax residency involves judgment as the determination of tax residency is highly fact
dependent and there are currently several different interpretations that could be adopted, and which could
give rise to a different conclusion on residency.

In determining tax residency, the consolidated entity has applied the following interpretations:
e Australian tax residency

The consolidated entity has applied current legislation and judicial precedent, including having
regard to the Commissioner of Taxation’s public guidance in Tax Ruling TR 2018/5.

e Foreign tax residency
The consolidated entity has applied current legislation and where available judicial precedent in
the determination of foreign tax residency. Where necessary, the consolidated entity has used

independent tax advisers in foreign jurisdictions to assist in its determination of tax residency to
ensure applicable foreign tax legislation has been complied with.

S295(3A)(a)(iv)

g.

In December 2024,the Government enacted amendments to clarify CEDS disclosures for financial year commencing
on or after 1 July 2024, i.e. annual financial reports for 30 June 2025 and onwards.

Amendments and clarifications include:

e CEDS must identify whether each entity is an Australian tax resident and any foreign jurisdictions where they are
tax residents;

e \When partnerships and trusts that are part of the consolidated entity are Australian residents for the purposes of
the disclosures.

The amendments have been reflected in the above illustrative disclosures. These amendments are not required to be
reflected in the CEDS for entities with financial years commencing on or before 30 June 2024, i.e. annual financial
reports for periods ending on or before 29 June 2025. Such an entity may, however, choose to voluntarily apply
these amendments. Any voluntary disclosures are subject to the Directors' declaration for the Consolidated Entity
Disclosure Statement of 'true and correct'.

A body corporate is only required to disclose the place at which the entity was incorporated or formed. An entity may wish
to voluntarily disclose this information for partnerships and/or trusts. It should be noted that any voluntary disclosures are
also subject to the Directors' declaration for the Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement of 'true and correct'.

The determination of tax residency is not a straight forward process and may require judgements, entities may
consider the guidance from Australian Tax Office, e.g. Working out your residency guidance, Residency requirements
guidance, Practical Compliance Guideline — PCG 2018/9 when performing an assessment.

In our view a basis of preparation should be provided to describe the key assumptions and judgements made in
determining an entity's tax residency. This may include: what sources were used, what interpretations or judgements
were required to be applied due to these sources, what criteria was used to conclude given the judgement applied.
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5295(4)

S5295(4)(d)(ii)

5295(4)(d)(i)

5295(4)(da)

5295(4)(c),
ASIC RG22

5295(4)(e)

5295(4)(ca)

lllustrative disclosures — Directors’ declaration | 51

Directors’ declaration

1. In the opinion of the directors of Example Public Company Limited (the ‘Company’):

a) the consolidated® financial statements and notes that are set out on pages xx to xxx and
the Remuneration re|oortb in sections xx to xxx in the Directors’ report, are in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving atrue and fair view of the Group's® financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of
its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(i) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations
2007;

b) the Consolidated entity disclosure statement as at 30 June 2025 set out on pages yy is
true and correct; and

c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as
and when they become due and payable.

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the group entities identified
in Note 48 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become
subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company and those group
entities pursuant to ASIC Corporations (Wholly owned Companies) Instrument 201 6/785."°

3. The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations
Act 2007 from the chief executive officer and chief financial officer for the financial year ended
30 June 2025.

4. Thedirectors draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which
includes a statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

5295(5)(a) Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

5295(5)(b) Datedat ......cccovvveveeeeiiinnne [CItY] e day of i 2025

S5295(5)(c)
[Director_namel]
Director®
Entities that are including parent entity financial statements (not only consolidated financial statements) will need
to tailor this to reflect the parent entity’s financial statements, financial position and performance.

5295(5) The Corporations Act does not require the Directors’ declaration to refer to the Remuneration report.

The declaration may be signed by more than one director.
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52 | Example Public Company Limited

a,b,cd

ASX additional information

Additional information required by the ASX Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this
report is set out below.

Shareholdings (as at 30 June 2025)

ASX4.10.4 Substantial shareholders

The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their associates is set out below:
Shareholder

Example Investment Holdings (Australia) Limited

Introduction

Voting rights

ASX4.10.6 Ordinary shares

Refer to Note 26 in the financial statements
ASX 4.10.6 Options

There are no voting rights attached to the options
ASX4.10.6 Rights
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There are no voting rights attached to the rights

ASX4.10.6 Redeemable preference shares

There are no voting rights attached to the redeemable preference shares
ASX4.10.6 Non-redeemable preference shares

There are no voting rights attached to the non-redeemable preference shares

” ASX4.10.6 Redeemable convertible notes

g Refer to Note 28 in the financial statements

g Distribution of equity security holders

; Number of equity security holder

_g Category Ordinary Convertible Redeemable Redeemable

a shares Options  Rights preference preference convertible notes
1-1,000 182 52 - - - 10
1,001 -5,000 71 21 - - - 2
5,001 - 10,000 45 32 - - 15 -
10,001 - 100,000 23 - 2 - 32 -
100,001 and over 1 - 1 2 1 -

322 105 3 2 48 12

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares is 105.

ASX4.10.19 a.  |f an entity was admitted under Rule 1.3.2(b), in its first two annual reports after admission, a statement about
whether the entity used the cash and assets in a form readily convertible to cash that it had at the time of admission
in a way consistent with its business objectives must be included in the annual report. If the use was inconsistent,
an explanation of how the cash and assets were used are to be disclosed.

The statement in the first annual report must be for the time between admission and the end of the reporting period.
The statement in the second annual report must be for the whole of the reporting period.

ASX 4.10.20 b. If the entity is an investment entity, each of the following must be disclosed:

e alist of all investments held by it and its child entities

® the total number of transactions in securities during the reporting period, together with the total brokerage paid or
accrued during the period

e the total management fees paid or accrued during the reporting period, together with a summary of any
management agreement.

ASX 4.10.15 ¢ If the entity is a mining exploration entity, a list of interests in mining tenements held and location of tenements,
together with the percentage interest therein, must be disclosed.

Appendices

ASX 5.6 In the case of a mining company, statements contained in the annual report should comply with Listing Requirements
in Appendix 5A.

ASX4.10 d.  Information is to be made up to a date not earlier than six weeks before the annual audited financial report is sent to shareholders.
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ASX additionalinformation (continued)

Securities purchased on-market’

ASX4.10.22
The following securities were purchased on market during the financial for the purpose of the
employee incentive share scheme:
Number of shares Average price paid
purchased per share
Ordinary Shares 12,500 $10.25
ASX4.10.16 Unquoted equity securities
Redeemable preference shares
Portfolio Asset Management Limited holds 250,000 redeemable preference shares,
representing 25 per cent of the total number on issue.
Redeemable convertible notes
Insurance Investments Limited and Trust Securities Limited each hold 1,200 redeemable
convertible notes. These holdings each represent 24 per cent of the total number on issue.
. b
ASX4.10.13 Securities exchange
The Company is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. The Home exchange is Sydney.
IAS 1.138(a) Other information
Example Public Company Limited, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a publicly listed
company limited by shares.
ASX4.10.18 On-market buy-back
[There is no current on-market buy-back]
ASX4.70.9 Twenty largest shareholders
Number of ordinary Percentage of
Name shares held capital held
1 Example Investment Holdings (Australia) Ltd 1,700,000 52.2
2 Aust. Nominees Limited 98,150 3.0
3 New Life Association Limited 65,400 2.0
4 QueensTrustee Limited 62,800 1.9
5 Australian Assurance Co. Limited 43,905 13
6 JTD Nominees Pty Limited 42,700 1.3
7 S & K Mutual Limited 42,450 1.3
8 Bank Insurance Co. Limited 41,320 1.3
9 The Life Assurance Company Limited 41,300 1.3
10 Superannuation Trustee Pty Limited 34,750 1.1
" PLC Superannuation Fund Limited 32,720 1.0
12 Regal Insurance Pty Limited 31,400 1.0
13 Fund Managers Limited 30,100 0.9
14 Investment Placements Pty Limited 26,295 0.8
15 Credit Union Investments Limited 25,600 0.8
16 EmployeesTrust Fund Pty Limited 24,800 0.7
17 Securities Investment Pty Limited 22,480 0.7
18 Employee Pension Fund Pty Limited 21,290 0.7
19 Institutional Investor Limited 12,800 0.4
20 Investment Management Limited 12,240 0.4
2,412,500 741
Number of convertible Percentage of
ASX4.10.9 Name preference shares held capital held
Substantial Investor Limited 250,000 50.0
Large Investments Limited 250,000 50.0
500,000 100.0
ASX4.10.22 The information is included where securities are purchased on-market:
e under or for the purposes of an employee incentive scheme; or
* to satisfy the entitlements of the holders of options or other rights to acquire securities granted under an employee
incentive scheme.
This disclosure may be included in the remuneration report.
ASX4.10.13 If applicable, the ASX also requires disclosure of details of the following in the Annual Report:
ASX4.10.14

e alist of other stock exchanges on which any of the securities are quoted
e the number of restricted securities and the date from which the securities may be sold.
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54 | Example Public Company Limited

ASX4.10.11

ASX4.10.10

ASX4.10.12

ASX additionalinformation (continued)

Offices and officers
Principal Registered Office’

Example Public Company House
20 Sydney Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Telephone: (02) 9120-2020
Facsimile: (02) 9120-2045
Internet: www.examplepublic.com.au

Company Secretary

Ms Rachel M Parish, BA, MBA, LLB
Locations of Share Registries

Sydney

ABC Registrars Pty Ltd
Level 3, 111 Hunter Street
Sydney NSW 2000

GPO Box 1234

Sydney NSW 2001

Telephone: (02) 9123-4567
Facsimile: (02) 9234-4567

Melbourne

ABC Registrars Pty Ltd
Level 1, 526 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Box 123456 GPO
Melbourne VIC 3001

Telephone: (03) 9123-4567
Facsimile: (03) 9234-5678
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ASX4.10.11 a. If the principal administrative office differs from the principal registered office, the address and telephone number of the
principal administrative office and the principle registered office must be disclosed.
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Voluntary tax disclosures: Part A

The disclosures on the following pages illustrate one way in which an entity might incorporate Part A
of the Tax Transparency Code (The Code) requirements, released by the Board of Taxation in May 2016,
within its annual financial statements. The Code disclosures are divided into:

Introduction

e Part A (Financial statements or other report — for businesses with a turnover of AU$100 million
or over)

e Part B (‘Taxes Paid’ report — for businesses with a turnover of A$500 million or over).

The Code is a voluntary code. An entity may therefore wish to disclose that it is voluntarily adopting the
Code, and to what extent it is doing it — whether it is doing Part A and Part B disclosures; and where
other taxes might be reported elsewhere.

The Code proposes that where a business is only required to adopt Part A, that the information can be
displayed either as improved tax disclosure in its general purpose financial report or in another document.
An entity will need to consider whether a separate report would achieve the objectives of the Code, or
whether it could include the information in its financial statements in a manner that provides the desired
level of transparency and ‘plain English” explanation.

Comparative information is not required for the first year of disclosure.

In May 2017, the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), at the request of the Board of Taxation,
included an Appendix to the Code, providing draft guidance on implementing the Code. The guidance
sets out the necessary disclosures to ensure interested parties can better understand the differences,
if any, between the effective tax rate (ETR) under the Code and the accounting ETR prepared in
accordance with accounting standards. The calculation of the ETR is consistent with the example
included in these financial statements.

AUSTRALIAN CONTENT

On 29 February 2019, the Board of Taxation released a consultation paper which proposed changes
to the Code following feedback from earlier consultation sessions. The submission date for feedback was
26 March 2019. At the date of this publication there have been no decisions on changes to the Code.
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Voluntary tax disclosures: Part A (continued)
T
E Extension of Note 14(D)
Reconciliation of accounting profit to income tax expense to income tax payable
Note 2025 2024
In thousands of dollars Restated*
Profit before tax from continuing operations 10,351 8,856
Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate - 33% 3,416 2,922
- Non temporary differences
E Share of profit of equity-accounted investees reported (377) (194)
g net of tax
g Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (73) (49)
§ Non-deductible expenses 245 36
E Tax incentives (88) (63)
§ Changes in estimates related to prior years 116 (34)
Other movements (61) (158)
Total non temporary differences (238) (462)
Income tax expense on continuing operations 3,178 2,460
Income tax expense on discontinued operations® 7 305 (44)
% Total consolidated income tax expense 3,483 2,416
(7]
g Temporary differences
Z Amounts recognised in OCI” - -
g Amounts recognised directly in equityb - -
= Net movement in deferred tax balances® 14(E) 1 1,100
Total temporary differences 1 1,100
Income taxes payable for the current financial year 3,482 3,616
Income taxes payable at the beginning of the year 1,633 30
Less: Tax paid during the year (400) (1,913)
Income taxes payable as at 30 June® 4,717 1,633
Represented in the Statement of financial position by:
Current tax liabilities 4,751 1,693
Current tax assets (34) (60)
4,717 1,633
* See Notes 7 21(H) and 43.

a.  The reconciliation to the effective income tax expense illustrated in Example Public commences with ‘Profit before tax from
continuing operations’. To calculate the effective tax rate for continuing and discontinued operations, this reconciling item is
required. Where an entity commences from a basis of continuing and discontinued operations, this reconciling item will not
be required.

b. There may be items recognised in or recycled out of other comprehensive income (OCI), or recognised in equity that result in
movements in temporary differences. Whilst Example Public Company Limited did not have such items for the years ended
30 June 2025 and 2024, these should be separately disclosed where the client has these and they are material.

c.  This illustrative disclosure cross-references to the note to the financial statements where the net movement in deferred tax
balances is further disaggregated. Such detail could be included here rather than providing a cross-reference.

Appendices

d. The reconciliation to income taxes payable can also be extended to income taxes paid. Alternatively, the Code states that a
reconciliation from income tax expense to income taxes paid could be provided. If presented in the annual financial statements,
this would necessitate reconciling the prior year tax expense as taxes are usually paid in the subsequent financial year.
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Voluntary tax disclosures: Part A (continued)

Effective tax rates (ETR)

Bases of calculation of each ETR*"*

Introduction

Global operations —Total consolidated tax expense ETR: IFRS calculated total consolidated
company income tax expense divided by total consolidated accounting profit on continuing and
discontinued operations.

Australian operations — Australian company income tax expense ETR: IFRS calculated
company income tax expense for all Australian companies and Australian operations of overseas
companies included in these consolidated financial statements, divided by accounting profit

derived by all Australian companies and Australian operations of overseas companies included in =
these consolidated financial statements. i
The Company income tax expense ETR: IFRS calculated company income tax expense for the %
parent Company divided by accounting profit on continuing and discontinued operations for the ;
parent Company.* g
2025 2024 &
Percentage Restated* -
ETR <
Global operations —Total consolidated tax expense 31.56% 25.32%
Australian operations — Australian company income tax expense 25.68% 28.81%
The Company income tax expense 35.54% 37.59%

* See Notes 7, 21(H) and 43.

0
2
c
]
£
]
2
T
S
)
>
£
&
£
S
o

a. The ETRs should be calculated as company income tax expense divided by accounting profit. Calculation of the ETR based on
company tax expense only will enable the users of the disclosure to make comparisons both to the company tax rate and to
other companies. The Board of Taxation has specified that the global ETR should be calculated ‘for the worldwide accounting
consolidated group’ of which the Australian operations form a part.

b. Asrequired in the Code, this example includes company income taxes only. No adjustments have been made for other taxes
as Example Public Company Limited does not have taxes other than company income tax that meets the AASB 112 definition
of income taxes and therefore is in the scope of AASB 112. Other taxes (for example, government royalties, PRRT) could be
included in an additional ETR disclosure. The basis of calculation of the ETR should clearly identify what has been included and
any underlying assumptions.

c. The Code does not specify which entity needs to provide the disclosures, for example the ETR could be calculated on a tax
consolidated group basis or on a legal entity basis or another basis. The key to providing transparency is to clearly identify any
basis of calculation.

Appendices

d.  Disclosure of the Company (that is, the parent) ETR is not required by the Code. This is additional to what is required.

e. While not provided in this illustrative disclosure, an explanation of variances to the domestic company tax rate and movements
year on year should be provided.
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Financial highlights™*

REVENUE OPERATING ADJUSTED

PROFIT EBITDA
(Thousand EUR) (Thousand EUR) (Thousand EUR)

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

REVENUE BASIC DIVIDENDS
BY REGION* EARNINGS PER ORDINARY
PER SHARE SHARE

Other (EUR) (Cent)
countries
2024
[Country X]
Y 2023
Germany Netherlands
00
N
<

2024 2023 2024 2023

b.

c.

The Group presents these financial highlights to show certain financial metrics that appear in the financial
statements. This information is provided for illustrative purposes only.

The comparative information is restated on account of correction of errors. See Note 43.

Includes revenues of discontinued operation (see Notes 6(D)(i) and 7).
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IAS 1.10(a), 10(ea)~(f),
29, 38-38A, 40A-40B,
54-55, 113

IAS 1.54(a)

IAS 1.54(c)

IAS 1.54(f)

IAS 1.54(b), IFRS 16.48
IAS 1.54(e)

IAS 1.54(d)

IAS 1.54(0), 56

IAS 1.55

IAS 1.60

IAS 1.54(c)
IAS 1.54(f)
IAS 1.54(g)
IAS 1.55

IAS 1.54(d)
IAS 1.54(n)
IAS 1.54(h)
IAS 1.55

IAS 1.54(i)

IFRS 5.38, 40,
IAS 1.54()

IAS 1.60

IAS 1.10 a.

Insights 2.8.50.110  b.

IAS 1.10(f), 40A c.

IFRS 16.47(a), 48 d.

Insights 710.40.50  ©

IAS 1.60-61 f.

IAS 1.66, Insights g.

3.1.30

IFRS 15.821, BC367 h.

IAS 1.564-55, i.
IFRS 15.105, 109,

A, BC320-BC321,
Insights 4.2.510

IAS 1.66, j-
Insights 3.1.30

An entity may also use other titles — e.g. ‘balance sheet’ — as long as the meaning is clear and the title not misleading.

When comparatives are restated, in our view, although it is not specifically required by the Accounting Standards,
labelling the comparatives as restated is necessary to highlight that the comparatives are not the same as the
financial statements published previously.

The Group has presented a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period, because
the correction of errors (see Note 43) has a material effect on the information in the statement.

The Group has presented right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property within ‘property,
plant and equipment’ —i.e. the same line item in which it presents underlying assets of the same nature that it owns.
Alternatively, an entity may choose to present right-of-use assets separately in the statement of financial position.
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are presented within ‘investment property"”.

In our view, derivative assets and liabilities should be presented in separate line items in the statement of financial
position if they are significant.

The Group has made a current/non-current distinction in the statement of financial position. An entity may present its
assets and liabilities broadly in order of liquidity if such a presentation provides information that is reliable and more
relevant. Our publication Guide to annual financial statements — lllustrative disclosures for banks (December 2023)
provides an example presentation of assets and liabilities in order of liquidity.

The Group has classified certain intangible assets (emissions allowances) as current (see Note 22(E)) because they
are expected to be realised within 12 months of the reporting date. An entity needs to apply the requirements in
IAS 1 in determining whether to classify intangible assets as current or non-current.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and other accounting standards do not specify where assets for
rights to recover products from customers with regards to sales with a right of return should be presented. The
Group has included these assets within ‘inventories’ and disclosed them separately in the notes (see Note 17).

Although it is not specifically required, the Group has presented in the statement of financial position line items
related to contract assets and contract liabilities. For further guidance on applying the requirements in IAS 1 for
classification of contract assets and contract liabilities as current or non-current, see 4.2.510 in Insights into IFRS.

Although this guide uses the terms ‘contract assets’ and ‘contract liabilities’, an entity may also use other terms.

The Group has classified prepayments as current because they relate to the purchase of inventories and are
expected to be realised within 12 months of the reporting date. An entity needs to apply the requirements in IAS 1
in determining whether to classify prepayments as current or non-current.
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IAS 1.10(a), 10(ea)-(f),

29, 38-38A, 40A-40B,

54-55, 113

IAS 1.54(r), 78(e)
IAS 1.55, 78(e)
IAS 1.54(r), 78(e)
IAS 1.55, 78(e)

IAS 1.54(q)

IAS 1.64(m)
IAS 1.55, 78(d)
IAS 1.54(k)
IAS 1.55

IAS 1.54(1)

IAS 1.54(0), 56
IAS 1.60

IAS 1.65

IAS 1.54(n)
IAS 1.54(m)
IAS 1.55, 78(d)
IAS 1.54(k)
IAS 165

IAS 1.55

IAS 1.54(1)

IFRS 5.38, 40,
IAS 1.54(p)

IAS 1.60
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Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)

31 December 31 December 1 January
Note 2024 8 2023 2023
In thousands of EUR A\'Qestated* restated*
Equity 0\ o
Share capital é&Q 14,550 14,550
Share premium Q 177 3,500 3,500
Reserves 1,219 439 297
Retained earnings /) 20,443 13,786 8,497
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 6 41,418 32,275 26,844
Non-controlling interests 3,804 3,091 2,718
Total equity ’\‘b‘ o 45,222 35,366 29,562
Liabilities {b‘ a0
Loans and borrowings 09 g\ 22,808 21,268 22,204
Employee benefits V' QO 912 453 1,136
Trade and other payables xo‘ ‘b\ 290 5 4
Deferred income (1' 0\ 1,424 1,462 -
Provisions ’5 1,010 740
Deferred tax liabilities \(\ 549 406 323
Non-current Iiabil@ né 26,993 23,594 24,407
Bank overdraft O v &' 334 282 303
Current tax liRilities @ 4,751 1,693 25
Loans an S 6,297 5,656 3,504
Emplo 20 388 13
Trade and T payables 24,013 21,328 28,250
Contract liabilities 160 166 -
Deferred income - - 140
Provisions 660 1,540 140
Liabilities directly associated with the assets
held for sale 4,410 - -
Current liabilities 40,645 31,053 32,375
Total liabilities 67,638 54,647 56,782
Total equity and liabilities 112,860 90,013 86,344

*  The comparative information is restated on account of correction of errors. See

The notes on pages 27 to 191 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16.47(b)

IFRS 15.55

Insights 3.1.10.30,
710.35.70-100,
U 12-20

Insights 7.10.310.10,
30-40, IAS 1.29,
IFRS 7.8(e)(ii)

n.

The Group has presented lease liabilities within ‘loans and borrowings'. Alternatively, an entity (a lessee) may choose
to present lease liabilities separately from other liabilities in the statement of financial position.

The Group has presented its refund liabilities under IFRS 15 as ‘trade and other payables’. The Group'’s returns policy
offers only an exchange for another good — i.e. the Group does not offer a cash refund. Therefore, refund liabilities

do not meet the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. If a refund liability or a
liability related to a repurchase agreement meets the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32, then it is subject to the
disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

The Group has presented amounts owed for the purchase of goods or services but related to a supplier finance
arrangement within “trade and other payables’ because it considers that the nature and function of these payables
is not different from other trade payables and therefore, does not warrant a separate presentation on the face of
the statement of financial position. In our view, regardless of whether the original trade payable is derecognised,
an entity should consider the appropriate presentation of amounts related to supplier finance arrangements in the
statement of financial position. The Group has disclosed those amounts separately in the notes. See Note 29.

There is no specific guidance in the Accounting Standards on the presentation of embedded derivatives and the
related host contracts. The Group has presented its separable embedded derivative liability related to certain
convertible notes together with the host contract on the basis that the host and the embedded derivative are subject
to the same contract. However, as the separable embedded derivative is mandatorily measured at FVTPL, it is
disclosed separately in the notes (see Note 32(A)).
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IAS 1.10(b), 10A, 29,
38-38A, 81A-85, 113

IAS 1.82(a)
IAS 1.99, 103
IAS 1.103
IAS 1.85

IAS 1.99, 103
IAS 1.99, 103

IAS 1.99, 103, 38.126
IAS 1.82(ba)

IAS 1.99, 103

IAS 1.85, BC55-BC56
IAS 1.85

IAS 1.82(b)

IAS 1.85

IAS 1.82(c)

IAS 1.85
IAS 1.82(d), 12.77

IAS 1.85

IFRS 5.33(a),
IAS 1.82(ea)

IAS 1.81A(a)

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprenhensive income

For the year ended 31 December

Note 2024 2023
In thousands of EUR < O, ‘99 restated*
Continuing operations &\' ‘\U
Revenue " O s 102860 96,719
Cost of sales D & oo (s5432)  (56,186)
Gross profit ‘b\‘ *0 &v 47,428 40,533
Other income ’(.‘ XQ (o) 9(A) 893 104
Selling and distribution expenses 09 &o o\oo 9(C) (18,322) (15,865)
Administrative expenses v. Q 9(C) (17732)  (14,428)
Research and development expenses& (4 '\4 9(C) (1,109) (697)
Impairment loss on trade receiva an ra%@gets 32(C)(ii) (200) (190)
Other expenses x0 O 9(B) (996) -
Operating profit '29 o ‘0 9,962 9,457
Finance income 0 &‘ 1,131 447
Finance costs b‘b o (1,883) (1,635)
Net finance cos# ‘ 10 (752) (1,188)
Share of prof'cc o ed investees, net of tax 24 1,141 587
Profit before ta 10,351 8,856
Income tax expense Q¥ 14 (3,178) (2,460)
Profit from continuiﬁg operations 7173 6,396
Discontinued operation
Profit (loss) from discontinued operation, net of tax 7 379 (422)
Profit for the period 7,552 5,974

For footnotes, see page 65.
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- - c
o
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and £
=]
i i g
other comprehensive income (continued) :
£
For the year ended 31 December
IAS 1.10(b), 10A, 29, Note 2024 2023
38-38A, 81A-85, 113 In thousands of EUR restated*
Other comprehensive income
IAS 1.82A(a)(i) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
IAS 1.85 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment o% 200 -
IAS 1.85 Remeasurements of defined benefit liability (asset) 3(8) 72 (15)
IFRS 7.20(a)(vii) Equity investments at FVOCI — net change in fair valueo 26(D) 141 59
IAS 1.82A (b)) Equity-accounted investees — share of OCI \@ ‘\\ 2@26@) 15 (3) :,=:
3
IAS 1.91(b) Related tax !&\ E 'Q 14(B) (137) (14) §
AP 291 27 §
; RN s
IAS 1.82A(a)(ii) Items that are or may be reclassified sn@qt@} to'\ £
profit or loss k-
IAS 21.52(b) Foreign operations — foreign Currerb?\Qan:c,@n d|@ences 679 471
IAS 1.85 Net investment hedge — net Ios (3) (8)
IAS 1.82A(b)(ii) Equity-accounted investees — 24, 26(D) (172) (166)
IAS 1.92 Reclassification of foreign @nc&&fe &?s on loss of
significant influence 34(D) (20) -
IFRS 724C(b)(i) Cash flow hedges — @c’u\s tlore changes in fair value 26(D) (62) 95
IFRS 724C(b)(iv), n
IAS 1.92 Cash flow hedg rec@ﬁ\ﬂe proﬂt or loss 26(D) (31) (12) =
IAS 1.85 Cost of hedg@* %es in fair value 26(D) 34 10 T
IAS 1.92 Cost of hedg @ chassmed to profit or loss 26(D) 8 2 u
IFRS 7.20(a)(viii) Debt investmen | — net change in fair value 26(D) 54 60 E
IFRS 720(a)(viil), ; . . &
IAS 1.92 Debt investments at FVOCI — reclassified to profit or loss 26(D) (64) - E
IAS 1911b) Related tax 14(8) 19 (48) 2
442 404 =
IAS 1.81A(b) OClI for the period, net of tax 733 431
IAS 1.81A(c) Total comprehensive income for the period 8,285 6,405
The notes on pages 27 to 191 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Appendices

For footnotes, see page 65.
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IAS 1.10(b), 10A, 29,
38-38A, 81A-85, 113

IAS 1.81B(a)(ii)
IAS 1.81B(a)li)

IAS 1.81B(b)(ii)
IAS 1.81B(b)(i)

Australian content

IAS 33.4
IAS 33.66

IAS 33.66

IAS 33.66

IAS 33.66
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For footnotes, see page 65.
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IAS 1.10A a.
IAS 1.82 b.
IFRS 15.113, C.
IAS 1.29-30, 85,
Insights 4.2.560.25
IAS 1.82(a), d.

Insights 7.10.70.20

IAS 1.99-100 e.

IAS 1.82(ba), 85, f.
31,97 99,
Insights 4.1.20.40

IAS 1.85, g.
BC55-BC56
IAS 1.82(b), h.

IFRS 16.49, 71G13

IFRS 5.33(a)—(b), i.
IAS 1.82(ea)

IAS 1.90-91 -

IFRS 9.6.5.11, k.

6.5.15,
IAS 1.82A(a),
Insights 7.10.90.35

IAS 1.94 I

IAS 1.85-85B, m.

BC38G,
Insights 4.1.150

The Group has elected to present comprehensive income under a ‘one-statement’ approach. For an illustration of the
alternative 'two-statement’ approach, see Appendix Il.

IAS 1 requires the separate presentation of specific line items in the statement of profit or loss. The Group has not
presented certain line items because during the reporting period it did not have events or transactions to be reflected
in those line items. See footnotes (c) and (d) below for specific considerations related to separate presentation of line
items in the statement of profit or loss.

In our view, an entity is not required to present revenue from contracts with customers as a separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss and may aggregate it with other types of revenue considering the requirements in IAS 1.
However, in providing a separate disclosure of revenue from contracts with customers — either in the notes or in the
statement of profit or loss — we believe that an entity should not include amounts that do not fall in the scope of
IFRS 15 (see Note 8).

The Group has presented interest income on financial assets that are subsequently measured at amortised cost

or FVOCI as part of ‘finance income’ because it does not consider it as part of its revenue-generating activities. If

the interest income, calculated under the effective interest method, constituted revenue, then the entity would be
required to separately present that income as interest revenue in the statement of profit or loss and OCI. In our view,
an entity may present interest income from other financial assets in another revenue line item if it arises in the course
of the entity’s ordinary activities.

The Group has elected to analyse expenses recognised in profit or loss based on functions within the Group.
Alternatively, an entity may present the analysis based on nature if this presentation provides information that is
reliable and more relevant. The analysis may also be presented in the notes.

An entity that presents the analysis of expenses by function or by nature in the statement of profit or loss and
OCI may face challenges in determining how this presentation interacts with the specific requirements to present
the effect of some events or circumstances as a single amount in the statement of profit or loss and OCI - e.g.
impairment losses determined under Section 5.5 of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

The Group has applied judgement in determining an appropriate presentation and disaggregated the impairment loss
amount into:

* impairment related to trade and other receivables and contract assets, which is presented separately in the
statement of profit or loss and OCI; and

e impairment related to investments in debt securities, which is not presented separately but included under ‘finance
costs’ due to materiality considerations.

The Group believes that this presentation is relevant to an understanding of its financial performance.

The Group has presented a subtotal of ‘operating profit’. WWhen an entity presents results from operating activities, it
ensures that the amount disclosed is representative of activities that would normally be regarded as ‘operating’, and it
would be inappropriate to exclude items clearly related to operations.

The Group has presented interest expense on the lease liability separately from the depreciation charge for the right-
of-use asset. Interest expense on the lease liability is a component of finance costs, which are presented separately
in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

The Group has elected to disclose a single amount of post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations in the
statement of profit or loss and OCI, and has analysed that single amount into revenue, expenses and the pre-tax profit
or loss in Note 7. Alternatively, an entity may present the analysis in the statement.

The Group has elected to present individual components of OCI before related tax with an aggregate amount
presented for tax in the statement of profit or loss and OCI and has provided disclosures related to tax on each
component of OCl in Note 14(B). Alternatively, an entity may present individual components of OCI net of related tax
in the statement.

IFRS 9 specifies whether and when amounts previously recognised in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. However,
in some circumstances it may be unclear at the time when a gain or loss is recognised in OCl whether it will
subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss. For example, if an entity hedges a future purchase of a non-financial
item, then the related hedging gains and losses will subsequently be included in the initial cost of the non-financial
item and affect profit or loss when the non-financial item is disposed of or written down. Conversely, if the future
hedged cash flows are no longer expected to occur or if a loss is no longer expected to be recoverable, then the
hedging gains or losses will be reclassified to profit or loss. Accordingly, in our view gains or losses on cash flow
hedges and costs of hedging relating to the future recognition of a non-financial asset or liability should be presented
in OCI as items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss when specific conditions are met.

The Group has elected to present reclassification adjustments in the statement of profit or loss and OCI. Alternatively,
an entity may present these adjustments in the notes.

The Group has disclosed adjusted EBITDA because management believes that this measure is relevant to an
understanding of the entity’s financial performance. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.
See Note 15.
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c = - -
[=]
£ Consolidated statement of changes in equity
=]
T
g For the year ended 31 December 2024
£ Attribut;éo owners of the Company
O
IAS 1.10(c), 29, 108, \\ Share Share Translation
113 In thousands of EUR Nog capital premium reserve
Balance at 1 January 2023, as previously reported (’O 14,550 3,500 (119)
IAS 1.106(b) Impact of correction of errors <O, 43 - - -
Restated balance at 1 January 2023 N 14,550 3,500 (119)
Total comprehensive income for the period (rest#€d)
- . 2
§ IAS 1.106(d)(i) Profit for the period oD = = -
S | 1AS 1.106(i), 106A OCl for the period N\ .@ 14(B), 26(D) - . 275
e - - . NI
& IAS 1.106(a) Total comprehensive income for the pené(ﬁre‘@ed) - - 275
% Hedging gains and losses and costs f@ ging@‘"
3 transferred to the cost of inventq&' = = =
IAS 1.106(d)fiii) Transactions with owners of 0‘.0
Contributions and dlStrIb% s
Treasury shares acquired 26(B) = = =
Dividends 26(C) - - -
Equity-settled share- &ment 13(E), 14(C) = = =
Total transactlo ag'\ﬁflers of the Company - - -
" Restated baIane at @‘becember 2023 14,550 3,500 156
g Balance a W 2024 14,550 3,500 156
w
= Total coMpr sive income for the period
E IAS 1.106(d)(i) Profit for th riod - = o
Nl /45 1.106(a)ii, 106A OClI for the period 14(B), 26(D) . . 458
[ B .
<§t IAS 1.106(a) Total comprehensive income for the period - - 458
& Hedging gains and losses and costs of hedging
transferred to the cost of inventory - - -
Transactions with owners of the Company
IAS 1.106/(d)(iii) Contributions and distributions
Issue of ordinary shares 26(A) 390 1,160 -
Issue of ordinary shares related to business combinations 34(A) 24 63 -
Issue of convertible notes 14(C),
28(C)-(D) o o o
Treasury shares sold 26(B) - 19 -
Dividends 26(C) = = =
8 Equity-settled share-based payment 13(E), 14(C) = = =
2 Share options exercised 26(A) 15 35 -
Total contributions and distributions 429 1,277 -
IAS 1.106(d)fiii) Changes in ownership interests
Acquisition of NCI without a change in control 36 - - 8
Acquisition of subsidiary with NCI 34 - B B
Total changes in ownership interests - - 8
Total transactions with owners of the Company 429 1,277 8
Balance at 31 December 2024 14,979 4,777 622
The notes on pages 27 to 191 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
7]
Q
(]
S
c
2
2- IAS 32.33, a. The Accounting Standards do not mandate a specific method of presenting treasury shares within equity. However,
Insights local laws may prescribe the allocation method. Therefore, an entity needs to take into account its legal environment
73.750.10-20 when choosing how to present its own shares within equity. An entity needs to choose a presentation format, to be
applied consistently to all treasury shares. The Group has elected to present the total cost of treasury shares as a
separate category of equity.
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Attributable to owners of the Company b
Equity

Cost of component * b‘b Non-

hedging Hedging Fair value Revaluation Tre:z:g of convertible Retaine \\ controlling
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve notes ear;\i\& Total interests  Total equity
(35) 434 17 = = = 0@)40 26,787 2,718 29,505
: . . . : - o 57 57 . 57
(35) 434 17 - - & 8497 26,844 2,718 29,562

003
(\6
- - - - - - 5,623 5,623 351 5,974
@

9 56 82 - - 03\0 .g\ (13) 409 22 431
9 56 82 - QO 5,610 6,032 373 6,405

<

P
. = - 2 ) (280) - = (280) - (280)
: : @Q o : . (571) (571) - (571)

. . ‘Q X° . s 250 250 : 250
- - oO°- X" - (280) - (321) (601) - (601)
(27) 491 L 9N - (280) - 13,786 32,275 3,091 35,366
(27) 491 z\e' S@‘ . (280) - 13,786 32,275 3,091 35,366
. Q‘ KL . . . 7,055 7,055 497 7,552
27 (62) 87 134 . . 63 707 26 733
27 (62) 87 134 . . 7118 7,762 523 8,285
4 4 . . . . - 8 - 8
. . . . . . . 1,550 . 1,550
. . . . . . 120 207 - 207
: : . . . 109 - 109 - 109
. . . . 1 . . 30 - 30
. . . . . . (1,243)  (1,243) . (1,243)
. . . - . . 755 755 . 755
. . . . . . . 50 - 50
. . . - 1 109 (368) 1,458 - 1,458
. . . . . . (93) (85) (115) (200)
. . . . . . . . 305 305
) ) ) : : . (93) (85) 190 105
. . . . 1 109 (461) 1,373 190 1,563
4 433 186 134 (269) 109 20443 41,418 3,804 45,222

IAS 1.78(e), 79(b), b.  Generally, IFRS 2 Share-based Payment does not address whether an increase in equity recognised in connection
108, Insights with a share-based payment transaction should be presented in a separate component within equity or within
4.56.900.20 retained earnings. In our view, either approach is allowed under the Accounting Standards. The Group has elected to

present this increase in retained earnings.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December

IAS 1.10(d), 29, Note 2024 2023
38-38A, 113 In thousands of EUR restated*
IAS 718(b) Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the period 7,552 5,974
Adjustments for: A\z’ &9
— Depreciation 9\' \o 21(A) 5,339 5,122
— Amortisation (\ Q 22(0) 785 795
— Deferred income Q 3 (38)
— (Reversal of) impairment losses on propio& plaggd
equipment 21(B) (393) 1,123
— Impairment losses on |ntang|b|e Q)Odell 22(C) 16 285
— Impairment loss on remeasur of isposal group 20(A) 35 -
— Change in fair value of b|o|o ss 16(A) (587) (28)
— Increase in fair value of i m operty 23(A) (20) (60)
— Net finance costs 10 752 1,188
— Share of profit of eq%&cc d investees, net of tax 24 (1,141) (587)
— Gain on sale of Nt and equipment 9(A) (48) (16)
— Gain on sale of Qed operation, net of tax 7 (516) -
— Equity- settlel&ar@sed payment transactions 13(E) 755 248
— Tax exp 14 3,153 2,416
() 15,644 16,460
Channg
Intang|be)assets (emissions allowances) 5 (20)
— Inventories (1,843) (176)
— Contract assets (489) (782)
— Trade and other receivables (16,946) (4,920)
— Contract liabilities (6) 166
— Prepayments 870 (305)
— Trade and other payables 8,727 (6,841)
— Provisions and employee benefits 26 274
Cash generated from operating activities 5,988 3,856
IAS 731-32 Interest paid (1,609) (1,289)
IAS 735 Income taxes paid (400) (1,910)
IAS 710 Net cash from operating activities 3,979 657
IAS 718-19 The Group has elected to present cash flows from operating activities under the indirect method. Alternatively, an
entity may present operating cash flows under the direct method (see Appendix Il1).
IFRS 731, There is no specific guidance in the Accounting Standards on the classification of cash flows from supplier finance
33-34, B11F arrangements. However, in our view it is the nature of the activity, rather than the classification of the related item in

IG18A, IAS 710-11,

43, 44F-44H,
Insights 2.3.190.
90-120, IU 12-20

the statement of financial position, that primarily determines the classification of the cash outflow. Furthermore, in our
view, in determining the appropriate classification an entity should apply judgement and assess whether a single cash
outflow or multiple cash flows occur for the entity. The Group presents a single cash outflow for the payments made
to the bank because it considers the payment to a supplier by the bank not to be a cash transaction of the Group.

The Group classifies its cash outflows for payments made to the bank within operating activities because it views the
principal nature of these payments as related to the purchase of goods and services. There may be other acceptable
approaches depending on the legal form and structure of supplier finance arrangements. The Group has provided
disclosure to enable understanding of the effects of its supplier finance arrangement on its financial position, financial

performance and cash flows (see Note 29 and Note 32(C)(iii)).
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c

L

=

Q

@ 3

X =

& O 5
IAS 1.10(d), 29, Q e 2023
38-38A, 113 In thousands of EUR °* 0 v restated*

D 2
LY ¢ ©

IAS 731 Interest received é’ 6\ 29
IAS 731 Dividends received 0 X, &2
IAS 7.16(b) Proceeds from sale of property, plant and eQ m 397
IAS 716(d), (h) Proceeds from sale of investments 534
IAS 739 Disposal of discontinued opelanom sposed of -
IAS 739 Acquisition of subsidiary, net of ca é -

IAS 716(a) Acquisition of property, plant an (2,228) ::E,

IAS 716(a) Acquisition of investment pr: (40) €

o

IAS 716(a) Purchase of non-current b| ca)b ets (835) c

IAS 716(c), (g) Acquisition of other inv i wep (342) 8

IAS 24.18 Dividends from equig@ytco d investees - %

IAS 716(a) Development ex tureGy (503) I
Receipt of asset-Nelat vernment grant 1,462
IAS 710 Net cash used in ilvésting activities (1,494)

%)

=

2

L

=

=

s

(%)

&

<

=

[

o
IAS 718, 20, A, ¢ The Group has used "profit or loss’ as the starting point for presenting operating cash flows under the indirect method.
Insights 2.3.30.20 This is the starting point referred to in IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, although the example provided in the appendix

to the accounting standard starts with a different figure — ‘profit before taxation'. Because the appendix is illustrative
only and therefore does not have the same status as the accounting standard, it would be more appropriate to follow
the accounting standard.

IAS 76, 11, d.  The Group has classified cash flows related to emissions allowances (current intangible assets) within operating

Insights 2.3.20.11 activities because they relate to the Group's principal revenue-generating activities and the assets are not considered
long-term in nature. The emissions allowances are expected to be realised within 12 months of the reporting date by
surrendering them to the Government to settle the annual emissions obligation (see Note 22(E)). In determining the
classification of cash flows, an entity considers the nature of the activity to which they relate.

IFRS 16.50, e.  The Group has classified:

IAS 7.17(e) e cash payments for the principal portion of lease payments as financing activities;
e cash payments for the interest portion of lease payments as operating activities (see footnote (f) below); and
e short-term lease payments and payments for leases of low-value assets as operating activities.

IAS 731, Insights f. The Accounting Standards require cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid to be disclosed separately.

2.3.560.10-20 In our view, such disclosure is required in the statement of cash flows, rather than in the notes. In the absence of
specific guidance in the Accounting Standards, an entity chooses an accounting policy, to be applied consistently, to
classify interest and dividends paid as either operating or financing activities, and interest and dividends received as
either operating or investing activities. The Group has elected to classify cash flows from interest paid as operating
activities, cash flows from interest received and dividends received as investing activities, and cash flows from
dividends paid as financing activities.
Interest paid includes the interest portion of the lease liabilities. See footnotes (e) above and (g) below.

Insights 2.3.50.38  9- In our view, an entity should choose an accounting policy, to be applied consistently, to classify cash flows related to
capitalised interest as follows:
e asinvesting activities if the other cash payments to acquire the qualifying asset are reflected as investing activities; or
* consistently with interest cash flows that are not capitalised.
The Group has presented capitalised interest consistently with interest cash flows that are not capitalised.

Appendices
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c - -
[=]
: Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)
=
T
g For the year ended 31 December
= IAS 1.10(d), 29, Note 2024 2023
38-38A, 113 In thousands of EUR restated*
Cash flows from financing activities
IAS 717(a) Proceeds from issue of share capital (/2 1,550 -
IAS 717(c) Proceeds from issue of convertible notes )- (L& 5,000 -
IAS 717(c) Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference shares 2,000
IAS 717(c) Proceeds from loans and borrowings 591 4,079
IAS 717(a) Proceeds from sale of treasury shares \’b v 30 -
IAS 717(a) Proceeds from exercise of share options 43\ tb 26(A) 50 -
- IAS 716(h) Proceeds from settlement of derivatives Qé x(’ 5 1
8 IAS 721 Transaction costs related to loans and borrovvm@ (o) 28(C)-(E) (311) -
c
g | /As7424 Acquisition of NCI V' &' 36 (200) -
§ IAS 717(b) Repurchase of treasury shares xo‘ < - (280)
g IAS 717(d) Repayment of borrowings D (5,055) (2,445)
B o <
3 IAS 717(e) Payment of lease liabilities ‘b ‘i\' (554) (590)
IAS 731, 34 Dividends paid < "’Q 26(C) (1,243) (571)
IAS 710 Net cash from financing acﬁ(&%s—g' 1,863 204
Net decrease in cash an §1 alents (384) (633)
Cash and cash equwal gf&at J uary** 1,567 2,226
IAS 728 Effect of movement xcl;aq e rates on cash held (13) (26)
Cash and cash Ig@ at 31 December** ie 1,170 1,567
*  The comparative mfc@}n is restated on account of correction of errors. See Note 43.
IAS 745 ** Cash and cash equivarents includes bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management.
The notes on pages 27 to 191 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IAS 710, h. The Group has elected to present a statement of cash flows that includes an analysis of all cash flows in total —i.e.
" IFRS 5.33(c), including both continuing and discontinued operations; amounts related to discontinued operations by operating,
8 Insights 5.4.220.50 investing and financing activities are disclosed in Note 7(B). However, in our view there are numerous ways in which
"g the requirements of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations and |AS 7 regarding cash
e flow presentation may be met.
<°' IAS 71011, Insights 1. There is no specific guidance in the Accounting Standards on the classification of cash flows from the receipt of
2.3.20.11 government grants. Cash flows should be classified based on the nature of the activity to which they relate. The
Group has classified cash flows related to asset-related grants as investing activities and those related to income-
related grants as operating activities because this reflects the nature of the related activities.
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IAS 1.10(e)

IAS 1.51(a)-(b),
138(a)-(b)

IAS 1.16, 112(a), 116,
10.17

IAS 1.51(d)~(e)
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Basis of preparation

Notes to the consolidated financial statements’ ., o*

\v
1. Reporting entity \]0‘5

[Name of the Company] (the Company) is domiciled in [Cound Qe Company's registered
office is at [address]. These consolidated financial statem@&ompnse the Company angits
subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’) up is primarily involved in acturmg
paper and paperrelated products, culUvatmg‘s@ and selling wood (see Note« ?\

cV
1 o
2. Basis of accouné‘o ‘“‘ﬂ “\
These consolidated fi stat re accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards. The th Y% s board of directors on [date].
Deis é@@‘le ro?\&Q:qu Q@
0

@%al? resentation currency

These 0 L3 inancial statements are presented in EUR, which is the Company’s functional
curren mounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

mf 3“§ﬂg changes thereto, are included in Note 44 and

IAS 1.113-114 a.

Notes are presented, to the extent practicable, in a systematic manner and are cross-referred to/from items in the
primary statements. In determining a systematic manner of presentation, an entity considers the effect on the
understandability and comparability of the financial statements. The Group has applied judgement in presenting
related information together in a manner that it considers to be most relevant to an understanding of its financial
performance and financial position. The order presented is only illustrative and entities need to tailor the organisation
of the notes to fit their specific circumstances.

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation.
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Introduction

Australian content

0
2
c
@
£
1]
2
s
®
z
S
£
£
o

Appendices




Introduction

Australian content

7}
o
c
(7]
£
[]
-
©
-
17}
>
£
©
£
S
-

Appendices

72 | Example Public Company Limited

IAS 1.10(e)

IAS 1.122

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4. Use of judgements and estimates

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements and
estimates about the future, including climate-related risks and opportunities, that affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are consistent with
the Group's risk management and climate-related commitments where appropriate. Revisions to
estimates are recognised prospectively.

A. Judgements

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

e Note 8(D): revenue recognition — whether revenue from made-to-order paper products is
recognised over time or at a point in time;

e Note 24(B): equity-accounted investees — whether the Group has significant influence over an
investee;

e Note 29: reverse factoring — presentation of amounts related to supplier finance arrangements in
the statement of financial position and in the statement of cash flows;

e Note 33(A): consolidation — whether the Group has de facto control over an investee; and

e Note 37(A): lease term —whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise extension options.
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Basis of preparation

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

4. Use of judgements and estimates (continued)
B. Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Introduction

IAS 1.125, 129-130 Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have a
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year is included in the following notes:

e Notes 8(D) and 29: revenue recognition — estimate of expected returns;
e Note 13(D)(i): measurement of defined benefit obligations — key actuarial assumptions;

e Note 14(H): recognition of deferred tax assets — availability of future taxable profit against which
deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilised;

e Note 14(l): uncertain tax treatments;

e Note 16(B): determining the fair value of biological assets on the basis of significant
unobservable inputs;

Australian content

e Note 20(D): determining the fair value less costs to sell of the disposal group on the basis of
significant unobservable inputs;

e Note 22(C): impairment test of intangible assets and goodwill — key assumptions underlying
recoverable amounts, including the recoverability of development costs;

e Notes 31 and 39: recognition and measurement of provisions and contingencies — key
assumptions about the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources;

e Note 32(C)(ii): measurement of ECL allowance for trade receivables and contract assets — key
assumptions in determining the weighted-average loss rate; and

e Notes 34(A) and 34(C): acquisition of subsidiary — fair value of the consideration transferred
(including contingent consideration) and fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
measured on a provisional basis.

0
2
c
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£
]
2
T
S
)
>
£
&
£
S
o

i. Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair
values, for both financial and non-financial assets, and financial and non-financial liabilities.

IFRS 13.93(g) The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
This includes a valuation team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value
measurements, including Level 3 fair values, and reports directly to the chief financial officer.

The valuation team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments.
If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values,
then the valuation team assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the
conclusion that these valuations meet the requirements of the Accounting Standards, including
the level in the fair value hierarchy in which the valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group’s audit committee.

Appendices
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

4. Use of judgements and estimates (continued)
B. Assumptions and estimation uncertainties (continued)
i. Measurement of fair values (continued)

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as
far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows.

e [evel 1:quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e [evel 2:inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

e [evel 3:inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

IFRS 13.95 The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the
following notes:

¢ Note 12(B): share-based payment arrangements;?

¢ Note 16(B): biological assets;

Note 20(D): disposal group held for sale;

Note 23(C): investment property;

Note 32(B): financial instruments; and

Note 34(C)(i): acquisition of subsidiary.”

IFRS 13.6(a) a.  The Group has included in the list above a reference to the disclosures about the measurement of fair values for
share-based payment arrangements. However, the measurement and disclosure requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement do not apply to these arrangements.

IFRS 13.BC184 b. The Group has disclosed information about the fair value measurement of assets acquired in a business combination,
although the disclosure requirements of IFRS 13 do not apply to the fair value of these assets if they are
subsequently measured at other than fair value. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.
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[llustrative disclosures — Notes
Basis of preparation
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

5. Change in accounting policy*"°

A. Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

The Group has adopted Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to

IAS 1)and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1) from 1 January 2024.
The amendments apply retrospectively. They clarify certain requirements for determining whether
a liability should be classified as current or non-current and require new disclosures for non-current
loan liabilities that are subject to covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. This
resulted in a change in the accounting policy for the classification of liabilities that can be settled

in a Group entity’s own shares (e.g. convertible notes issued by a Group entity). Previously, the
Group ignored all counterparty conversion options when classifying the related liabilities as current
or non-current. Under the new policy, when a liability includes a counterparty conversion option
whereby the liability may be settled by a transfer of a Group entity's own shares, the Group takes
into account the conversion option in classifying the host liability as current or non-current unless
the option is classified as equity under IAS 32. The Group'’s other liabilities were not impacted by
the amendments.

Despite the change in policy, there is no retrospective impact on the comparative statement of
financial position, as the Group had no outstanding convertible notes as at 31 December 2023.
However, the Group issued new convertible notes during the year ended 31 December 2024,
some of which (series B) have conversion options that are classified as liabilities. As such, these
convertible notes are impacted by the revised policy. The related liabilities are classified as current
at 31 December 2024 because the conversion option can be exercised by the note holders within
12 months after the reporting period (in this case at any time) —i.e. the Group does not have the
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date. See Note 28(D).

IAS 8.28

IAS 1.38

The description of the nature and effects of the changes in accounting policies presented is only an example that
reflects the circumstances of the Group, and may not be representative of the nature and effects of the changes for
other entities. It is given for illustrative purposes largely without regard to materiality.

Amendments to accounting standards and interpretations that are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
1 January 2024 are described in Appendix |.

The Group chose to present a separate note describing its change in accounting policy since the last annual financial
reporting period. Alternatively, this information could be provided in the basis of accounting note — see Note 2.
Comparative information is generally required in respect of the preceding period for all amounts reported in the
current period’s financial statements and, if it is relevant to understanding the current period’s financial statements,
also for narrative and descriptive information. However, when entities adopt new accounting standards without
restating comparative information, the disclosure requirements of the new accounting standards do not normally
apply to the comparative period because the comparative information reflects the requirements of the superseded
accounting standards.
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IFRS 8.20-22

IAS 41.46(a)

IFRS 8.16,
IAS 41.46(a)

IFRS 8.27(a)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

6. Operating segments’
A. Basis for segmentation

The Group has the following six strategic divisions, which are its reportable segments. These
divisions offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require
different technology and marketing strategies.

The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment.

Reportable segmentsb Operations

Non-recycled Papers Buying, manufacturing and distributing pulp and paper

Recycled Papers Buying, recycling and distributing pulp and paper

Packaging (sold in February 2024; Designing and manufacturing packaging materials
see Note 7)

Forestry Cultivating and managing forest resources and related
services

Timber Products Manufacturing and distributing softwood lumber,
plywood, veneer, composite panels, engineered lumber,
raw materials and building materials

Research and Development (R&D) Conducting research and development activities

The Group's chief executive officer reviews the internal management reports of each division at
least quarterly.

Other operations include the cultivation and sale of farm animals (sheep and cattle), the
construction of storage units and warehouses, the rental of investment property and the
manufacture of furniture and related parts (see Notes 8 and 16). None of these segments met the
quantitative thresholds for reportable segments in 2024 or 2023.

There are varying levels of integration between the Forestry and Timber Products segments, and
the Non-recycled Papers and Recycled Papers segments. This integration includes transfers of raw
materials and shared distribution services, respectively. Intersegment pricing is determined on an
arm’s length basis.

IFRS 8.27-28 a.

IFRS 8.12, 22(aa) b.

Operating segment disclosures are consistent with the information reviewed by the chief operating decision maker
(CODM) and will vary from one entity to another and may not be in accordance with the Accounting Standards.

To help users of the financial statements understand the segment information presented, an entity discloses
information about the measurement basis adopted — e.g. the nature and effects of any differences between the
measurements used in reporting segment information and those used in the entity’s financial statements, the nature
and effect of any asymmetrical allocations to reportable segments and reconciliations of segment information to the
corresponding amounts reported in the financial statements.

The Group's internal measures used in reporting segment information are consistent with the Accounting Standards.
Therefore, the reconciling items are limited to items that are not allocated to reportable segments, as opposed to a
difference in the basis of preparation of the information.

When two or more operating segments are aggregated into a single operating segment, the judgements made by
management in applying the aggregation criteria are disclosed. This includes a brief description of the operating
segments that have been aggregated in this way and the economic indicators that have been assessed in
determining that the aggregated operating segments share similar economic characteristics.
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Performance for the year

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

6. Operating segments (continued)

B. Information about reportable segments

Introduction

i. Assets*

2024

Timber

Products R&D

2023**

Forestry

Packaging

(discontinued) Oy
&

Recycled Papers

Non-recycled
Papers

Australian content

ii. External revenues*

2023**

o il A
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£
]
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£
&
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S
o

-

Profit before tax*
2024

Other
segments

2023**

18%

Appendices

*

As a percentage of the total for all reportable segments. Excludes other segments.

* %

The Group has changed its internal organisation and the composition of its reportable segments.
See page 80 for details.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
=]
T
o - -
£ 6. Operating segments (continued)
B. Information about reportable segments (continued)
IFRS 8.27 Information related to each reportable segment is set out below. Segment profit (loss) before tax
is used to measure performance because management believes that this information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of the respective segments relative to other entities that operate in
the same industries.
Reportable segments
IFRS 8.16 2024 Non-recycled Recycled
In thousands of EUR Papers Papers
g IFRS 8.21(b), 23 Segment profit (loss) before tax 7,730 5,599
E IFRS 8.23(a), 32 External revenues® 64,112 30,367
S IFRS 8.23(b) Inter-segment revenue® - 317
o
2 Segment revenue 64,112 30,684
< | FRS 8.23(0) Interest income® 109 42
IFRS 8.23(d) Interest expense® (597) (445)
IFRS 8.23(e) Depreciation and amortisation® (2,128) (1,583)
IFRS 8.23(g) Share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted investees® 1,109 -
Other material items of income and expense and non-cash
IFRS 8.23(f), (i) items:®
— Change in fair value of biological assets - -
— Government grants - -
£ — Settlement of pre-existing relationship with acquiree - -
"E’ — Flood-related expenses - -
£ — Other material items of income (expenses)** - -
Z — Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets (114) (74)
‘g IAS 36.129(a), 130(@)i) | | — Impairment losses on non-financial assets - -
& 1AS 36.129(b), 130(d)i) | | — Reversal of impairment losses on non-financial assets 493 -
IFRS 8.21(b) Segment assets’ 43,263 23,025
IFRS 8.24(a) Equity-accounted investees 2,209 -
IFRS 8.24(b) Capital expenditure 8,697 5,765
IFRS 8.21(b) Segment liabilities® 39,399 12,180
*  See Note 7
** QOther material items of income (expenses) relate to various items as detailed in Note 9(A) and (B).
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Performance for the year

s
o
E
Reportable segments
Packaging Timber Research and Total reportable All other
(discontinued)* Forestry Products Development segments segments Total
(162) 1,240 (263) 101 14,245 771 15,016 E,
7543 3,967 2,700 - 108,689 1,714 110,403 §
940 2,681 1,845 875 6,658 891 7,549 E
8,483 6,648 4,545 875 115,347 2,605 117,952 %
- 45 10 - 206 3 209 =
- (391) (85) - (1,518) (5) (1,523)
(623) (1,139) (248) (201) (5,922) (202) (6,124)
- 32 - - 1,141 - 1,141
- 407 - - 407 180 587
- 200 - - 200 38 238
- - (326) - (326) - (326) £
- (519) - - (519) - (519) 2
(35) - - - (35) 68 33 2
(1) (7) (5) - (21) - (21) |4
- - (116) - (116) - (116) g
- - - - 493 - 493 £
- 25,209 4,521 2,323 98,341 9,059 107,400
- 280 - - 2,489 - 2,489
- 1,158 545 1,203 17,368 560 17,928
- 6,390 1,236 169 59,374 237 59,611

IFRS 8.23, IAS 1.7 a  The Group has disclosed these amounts for each reportable segment because they are either included in the

n
30-31, 97-98, segment measure of profit or loss reviewed by the CODM or otherwise regularly provided to the CODM. The Group §
1U 06-24, applied judgement and considered a number of factors, including the core principle of IFRS 8 Operating Segments, to -qg,
Insights determine the material items of income and expense to disclose for each reportable segment. =
5.2.200.10-27 <°'

b. IFRS 8 does not specify the disclosure requirements for a discontinued operation; nevertheless, if the CODM
regularly reviews the financial results of the discontinued operation (e.g. until the discontinuance is completed), and
the definition of an operating segment is otherwise met, then an entity may need to disclose such information to
meet the core principle of IFRS 8. This will depend on the entity’s specific facts and circumstances.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

6. Operating segments (continued)

c
2
°
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B. Information about reportable segments (continued)

Reportable segments (restated)*, **

2023 Non-recycled Recycled
IFRS 8.16 In thousands of EUR Papers Papers
IFRS 8.21(b), 23 Segment profit (loss) before tax 4,483 3,819
IFRS 8.23(a), 32 External revenues® 67085 22,060
IFRS 8.23(b) Inter-segment revenue” - 323
- Segment revenue 67,085 22,383
é IFRS 8.23(c) Interest income? 91 24
8 IFRS 8.23(d) Interest expense® (577) (355)
5 IFRS 8.23(e) Depreciation and amortisation® (2,180) (1,276)
% IFRS 8.23(g) Share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted investees® 561 -
2 Other material items of income and expense and non-cash
IFRS 8.23(f), (i) items:”

- Change in fair value of biological assets _ )
— Other material items of income (expenses)**** } )

— Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets (129) (41)
IAS 36.129(2), 130(c)i) | | — |mpairment losses on non-financial assets (1,408) -
1AS 36.129(b), 130(d)i) | | — Reversal of impairment losses on non-financial assets - -
IFRS 8.21(b) Segment assets’ 26,967 16,003
IFRS 8.24(a) Equity-accounted investees 1,700 -
IFRS 8.24(b) Capital expenditure 1,136 296
IFRS 8.21(b) Segment liabilities” 26,907 14,316

* 2023 information is restated on account of correction of errors (see Note 43).

IFRS 8.29 **  As aresult of the acquisition of Papyrus Pty Limited (Papyrus) during the year ended 31 December 2024

(see Note 34), the Group has changed its internal organisation and the composition of its operating segments,
which resulted in a change in reportable segments. Accordingly, the Group has restated the previously
reported segment information for the year ended 31 December 2023.

*¥**  See Note 7.

Primary statements

*¥*** Other material items of income (expenses) relate to various items as detailed in Note 9(A) and (B).

Appendices

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation.
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.




[llustrative disclosures — Notes | 81

Performance for the year

Reportable segments (restated)*, **

Packaging Timber Research and Total reportable s:gljln::::;
(discontinued)*** Forestry Products Development segments (restated)*** Total
(466) 997 1,280 67 10,180 195 10,375
23,193 3,483 2,985 - 118,806 1,106 119,912
2,835 2,676 1,923 994 8,751 765 9,516
26,028 6,159 4,908 994 127557 1,871 129,428
- 27 7 - 149 2 151
- (301) (63) - (1,296) (3) (1,299)
(1,250) (696) (201) (165) (5,768) (149) (5,917)
- 26 - - 587 - 587
- (2) - - (2) 30 28
- - - - - 76 76
(3) (20) - - (193) - (193)
- - - - (1,408) - (1,408)
13,250 18,470 3,664 1,946 80,300 3,403 83,703
- 248 - - 1,948 - 1,948
127 722 369 123 2,773 150 2,923
2,959 4,540 1,456 158 50,336 454 50,790

IFRS 8.23, IAS 1.7 a.

30-31, 97-98,
U 06-24, Insights
5.2.200.10-27

The Group has disclosed these amounts for each reportable segment because they are either included in the
segment measure of profit or loss reviewed by the CODM or otherwise regularly provided to the CODM. The Group
applied judgement and considered a number of factors including the core principle of IFRS 8 to determine the

material items of income and expense to disclose for each reportable segment.

IFRS 8 does not specify the disclosure requirements for a discontinued operation; nevertheless, if the CODM
regularly reviews the financial results of the discontinued operation (e.g. until the discontinuance is completed), and
the definition of an operating segment is otherwise met, then an entity may need to disclose such information to

meet the core principle of IFRS 8. This will depend on the entity’s specific facts and circumstances.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)
=]
T
:c::’ 6. Operating segments (continued)
C. Reconciliations of information on reportable segments to the amounts
reported in the financial statements
2024 2023
In thousands of EUR Note restated*
IFRS 8.28(a) i. Revenues
Total revenue for reportable segments 115,347 127557
Revenue for other segments 2,605 1,871
Elimination of intersegment revenue (7,549) (9,516)
= Elimination of discontinued operations 7 (7543)  (23,193)
£ Consolidated revenue 102,860 96,719
[=}
g IFRS 8.28(b) ii. Profit before tax
'S Total profit before tax for reportable segments 14,245 10,180
3 Profit before tax for other segments 771 195
Elimination of intersegment profit (2,263) (1,349)
Elimination of discontinued operation 7 162 466
Unallocated amounts:
— Other corporate expenses (2,564) (636)
Consolidated profit before tax from continuing operations 10,351 8,856
IFRS 8.28(c) iii. Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 98,341 80,300
ag Assets for other segments 9,059 3,403
"g’ Other unallocated amounts 5,460 6,310
[
B Consolidated total assets 112,860 90,013
]
Z | IFRS8.28(0) iv. Liabilities
E Total liabilities for reportable segments 59,374 50,336
& Liabilities for other segments 237 454
Other unallocated amounts 8,027 3,857
Consolidated total liabilities 67,638 54,647
*  See Notes 6(B), 7, 22 and 43.
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IFRS 8.28(e)

IFRS 8.33(a)-(b)

[llustrative disclosures — Notes | 83
Performance for the year
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
6. Operating segments (continued)
C. Reconciliations of information on reportable segments to the amounts
reported in the financial statements (continued)
v. Other material items
Reportable
2024 segment Consolidated
In thousands of EUR totals Adjustments totals
Interest income 206 3 209
Interest expense (1,518) (5) (1,523)
Capital expenditure 17,368 560 17,928
Depreciation and amortisation (5,922) (202) (6,124)
Change in fair value of biological assets 407 180 587
Government grants 200 38 238
Settlement of pre-existing relationship with acquiree (326) - (326)
Flood-related expenses (519) - (519)
Other material items of income (expenses)** (35) 68 33
Impairment losses on non-financial assets — goodwill (116) - (116)
Reversal of impairment losses on non-financial assets —
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 493 - 493
Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets (211) - (211)
Reportable
segment
2023 totals Consolidated
In thousands of EUR (restated)* Adjustments totals
Interest income 149 2 151
Interest expense (1,296) (3) (1,299)
Capital expenditure 2,773 150 2,923
Depreciation and amortisation (5,768) (149) (5,917)
Change in fair value of biological assets 28 - 28
Other material items of income or expenses** 76 - 76
Impairment losses on non-financial assets — property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets (1,408) - (1,408)
Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets (193) - (193)

*  See Notes 6(B), 7, 22 and 43.

** QOther material items of income (expenses) relate to various items as detailed in Note 9(A) and (B).

D. Geographic information®"

The Non-recycled Papers, Recycled Papers and Forestry segments are managed on a worldwide
basis, but operate manufacturing facilities and sales offices primarily in [Country X], the
Netherlands, Germany, the UK and the US.

The geographic information analyses the Group's revenue and non-current assets by the
Company'’s country of domicile and other countries. In presenting the geographic information,
segment revenue has been based on the geographic location of customers and segment assets
were based on the geographic location of the assets.

Insights 5.2.220.20 a.

IFRS 8.32, IG5 b.

In our view, entity-wide disclosures by region (e.g. Europe or Asia) do not meet the requirement to disclose
information by individual foreign country (e.g. France, the Netherlands or Singapore) when it is material.

As part of the required ‘entity-wide disclosures’, an entity discloses revenue from external customers for each
product and service, or each group of similar products and services, regardless of whether the information is used by
the CODM in assessing segment performance. This disclosure is based on the financial information used to produce
the entity’s financial statements. The Group has not provided additional disclosures in this regard, because the Group
has already met that disclosure requirement by providing the external revenue information in Note 6(B), which has
been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards, and the disaggregated revenue information in Note 8.
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o
g Notes to the consolicated financial statements (continued)
T
:c::’ 6. Operating segments (continued)
D. Geographic information (continued)
i. Revenue
2024 2023
In thousands of EUR restated*
[Country X] (of which EUR 4,149 thousand (2023: EUR 12,781
thousand) relates to discontinued packaging operation) 32,338 34,826
All foreign countries
Germany (of which EUR 1,885 thousand (2023: EUR 6,005 thousand)
e relates to discontinued packaging operation) 23,556 25,877
£ Netherlands 22,654 25,641
8 UK 310 212
Es US (of which EUR 1,509 thousand (2023: EUR 4,407 thousand) relates to
% discontinued packaging operation) 21,995 22,733
3 Other countries 9,550 10,623
Packaging (discontinued) (7,543) (23,193)
102,860 96,719
* See Notes 6(B) and 7.
ii. Non-current assets
2024 2023
In thousands of EUR restated*
8 [Country X] 16,952 16,484
é All foreign countries
% Germany 6,104 7877
‘i Netherlands 9,608 8,986
G UK 2,002 1,998
£ us 7,691 7807
Other countries 951 992
43,308 44,144
Non-current assets exclude financial investments (other than equity-accounted investees),
deferred tax assets and employee benefit assets.”
E. Major customer
IFRS 8.34 Revenues from one customer of the Group's Non-recycled Papers and Recycled Papers segments
represented approximately EUR 20,000 thousand (2023: EUR 17500 thousand) of the Group's total
revenues.

Appendices

IFRS 8.24(a), 33(b) a.  The Group has disclosed the equity-accounted investees as the geographic information of non-current assets
because they are regularly provided to the CODM. IFRS 8 does not specify which financial instruments are excluded
from non-current assets reported in the geographic information.
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Performance for the year

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

7. Discontinued operation

Introduction

See accounting policy in Note 44(C).

IFRS 5.30, 41(a)~(b), In February 2024, the Group sold its entire Packaging segment (see Note 6). Management

41(d) committed to a plan to sell this segment early in 2024, following a strategic decision to place
greater focus on the Group's key competencies —i.e. the manufacture of paper used in the printing
industry, forestry and the manufacture of timber products.

The Packaging segment was not previously classified as held-for-sale or as a discontinued
operation. The comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss and OCI has been
re-presented to show the discontinued operation separately from continuing operations.

Subsequent to the disposal, the Group has continued to purchase packaging from the
discontinued operation. Although intra-group transactions have been fully eliminated in the
consolidated financial results, management has elected to attribute the elimination of transactions
between the continuing operations and the discontinued operation before the disposal in a

way that reflects the continuance of these transactions subsequent to the disposal, because
management believes this is useful to the users of the financial statements.

Australian content

To achieve this presentation, management has eliminated from the results of the discontinued
operation the inter-segment sales (and costs thereof, less unrealised profits) made before its
disposal. Because purchases from the discontinued operation will continue after the disposal,
intersegment purchases made by the continuing operations before the disposal are retained in
continuing operations.

IAS 1.98(e) A. Results of discontinued operation® g
In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023 qé
[
IFRS 5.33(b)() Revenue 8,483 26,028 2
Elimination of interrsegment revenue (940) (2,835) ;
External revenue 7543 23,193 B.g'
IFRS 5.33(b)(i) Expenses (8,641) (26,486)
Elimination of expenses related to intersegment sales 936 2,827
External expenses (7,705)  (23,659)
IFRS 5.33(b)(i) Results from operating activities (162) (466)
IFRS 5.33(b)/ii,
IAS ,2_87((,7))%) Income tax 14(A) 25 44
Results from operating activities, net of tax (137) (422)
IFRS 5.33(b)(iii) Gain on sale of discontinued operation 846 -

IFRS 5.33(b)(ii),

1AS 12.81(h)(0) Income tax on gain on sale of discontinued operation 14(A) (330) -
IFRS 5.33(a) Profit (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 379 (422)
IAS 33.68 Basic earnings (loss) per share (EUR)” 11 0.12 (0.14)
IAS 33.68 Diluted earnings (loss) per share (EUR)” 11 0.12 (0.14)
IFRS 5.33(d) The profit from the discontinued operation of EUR 379 thousand (2023: loss of EUR 422 thousand)

is attributable entirely to the owners of the Company. Of the profit from continuing operations of
EUR 7173 thousand (2023: EUR 6,396 thousand), an amount of EUR 6,676 thousand is attributable
to the owners of the Company (2023: EUR 6,045 thousand).

Insights a. |n our view, considering that IFRS 5 does not specify how the elimination should be attributed to continuing and

5.4.230.40 discontinued operations (see Note 6(B)—(C)), an entity may present transactions between the continuing and
discontinued operations in a way that reflects the continuance of those transactions, when that is useful to the users
of the financial statements. It may be appropriate to present additional disclosure either on the face of the statement
of profit or loss and OCI or in the notes. In our experience, if the additional disclosure is provided in the statement
of profit or loss and OClI, then judgement may be required over whether the disaggregated information should be
presented as part of the statement itself or as an additional disclosure alongside the totals in that statement. Clear
disclosure of the approach taken to the elimination of intra-group transactions will be relevant, including an explanation
of any additional analysis of discontinued operations in the notes to the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

Appendices

IAS 33.68 b. The Group has elected to present basic and diluted EPS for the discontinued operation in the notes. Alternatively,
basic and diluted EPS for the discontinued operation may be presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.
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c - - - -
[=]
: Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
=]
-]
[=] - - - -
£ 7. Discontinued operation (continued)
IFRS 5.33(c) B. Cash flows from (used in) discontinued operation®
In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Net cash used in operating activities (225) (910)
Net cash from investing activities 7(C) 10,890 -
Net cash flows for the year 10,665 (910)
JAS 740(d) C. Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Group
- In thousands of EUR Note 2024
f=
£ Property, plant and equipment (7,986)
E Inventories (134)
%’ Trade and other receivables (3,955)
£ IAS 740(c) Cash and cash equivalents (110)
Z Deferred tax liabilities 110
Trade and other payables 1,921
Net assets and liabilities (10,154)
IAS 740(a)~(b) Consideration received, satisfied in cash 11,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (110)
Net cash inflows 7(B) 10,890
[Z]
t
[
£
[
5
]
o
(]
£
a
§ IAS 710, a.  In our view, there are numerous ways in which the requirements of IFRS 5 and IAS 7 on cash flow presentation may
'-g IFRS 5.33(c), be met. The Group has elected to present:
é’ Insights 5.4.220.50 e astatement of cash flows that includes an analysis of all cash flows in total: i.e. including both continuing and
< discontinued operations; and

e amounts related to discontinued operations by operating, investing and financing activities in the notes.

Alternatively, cash flows attributable to operating, investing and financing activities of discontinued operations can be
presented separately in the statement of cash flows.
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Performance for the year
= = = = c
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) £
Q
=
3
8. Revenue* £
A. Revenue streams
The Group generates revenue primarily from the sale of paper and timber products and provision
of forestry services to its customers (see Note 6(A)). Other sources of revenue include rental
income from owned and leased investment properties and immaterial amounts related to hedge
accounting and hedging gains.
Discontinued
Continuing operation
operations (see Note 7) Total
In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 -
[=
IFRS 15.113(a) Revenue from contracts %
with customers” 102,394 96,421 7543 23,193 109,937 119,614 c
Other revenue =
1AS 40.75(1() Investment property o
rentals 37(B)(ii) 460 302 - - 460 302 <
Hedging gains® 32(C)iv) 6 (4) - - 6 (4)
466 298 - - 466 298
Total revenue 102,860 96,719 7543 23,193 110,403 119,912
[
t
[
£
[
s
7]
>
G
£
a
IFRS 15.119(b), a.  |FRS 15 requires an entity to provide disclosure about costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The Group
127-128 does not incur such costs, and therefore the related disclosures are not illustrated in this guide. Similarly, the Group

has determined that its contracts with customers do not contain a significant financing component, and therefore
the related disclosures are not illustrated.

IFRS 15.113, b.In providing a separate disclosure of revenue from contracts with customers — either in the notes or in the statement
IAS 1.29-30, 85, of profit or loss — we believe that an entity should not include amounts that do not fall in the scope of IFRS 15.

Insights 4.2.560.25

IFRS 9.B6.5.29(a), ¢ \When an entity hedges a sale, whether in a forecast transaction or a firm commitment, the costs of hedging related
Insights 710.167.20 to that sale are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the cost related to that sale in the same period as the revenue

from the hedged sale is recognised. In our view, when these costs of hedging are reclassified to profit or loss, an
entity may choose an accounting policy, to be applied consistently, to present them:

e asrevenue: because they relate to a hedge of revenue. However, they should not be presented or disclosed as
revenue from contracts with customers in the scope of IFRS 15, because they are not; or

Appendices

® inanother appropriate line item of income or expense: because the term ‘cost related to that sale’ could be
interpreted as precluding presentation as revenue.
The Group has chosen to present the costs of hedging related to sales transactions as revenue.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

8. Revenue (continued)
B. Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15.114-115 In the following table, revenue from contracts with customers (including revenue related to a
discontinued operation) is disaggregated by primary geographical market, major products and service
lines and timing of revenue recognition. The table also includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated
revenue with the Group's reportable segments (see Note 6).% ¢

Reportable segments
For the year ended 31 December Non-recycled Papers Recycled Papers Packaging (discontinued)d
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Primary geographical markets

Europe 51,276 54,335 24,290 17873 6,034 18,786

us 12,832 12,752 6,075 4,189 1,509 4,407
64,108 67,087 30,365 22,062 7543 23,193

Major products/service lines

Standard paper products 48,081 50,315 22,774 16,547 - -
Made-to-order paper products 16,027 16,772 7,591 5,515 - -
Forestry services - - - - - -
Timber products - - - - - -
Packaging and other - - - - 7543 23,193

64,108 67,087 30,365 22,062 7543 23,193

Timing of revenue recognition
Products transferred at a point

in time 48,081 50,315 22,774 16,547 7543 23,193
Products and services
transferred over time 16,027 16,772 7,591 5,515 - -
Revenue from contracts with
customers 64,108 67087 30,365 22,062 7,543 23,193
Other revenue 4 (2) 2 (2) - -
IFRS 15.115 External revenue as reported
in Note 6 64,112 67085 30,367 22,060 7543 23,193

IFRS 15.114, B87- a.  The extent to which an entity’s revenue is disaggregated for the purpose of this disclosure depends on the facts and
B89, IE210-IE211 circumstances of the entity’s contracts with customers.

In determining the appropriate categories, an entity considers how revenue is disaggregated in:
e disclosures presented outside the financial statements: e.g. earnings releases, annual reports or investor presentations;
¢ information reviewed by the CODM for evaluating the financial performance of operating segments; and

e other similar information that is used by the entity or users of the entity's financial statements to evaluate
performance or make resource allocation decisions.

For example, if in the front part of an annual report an entity provides information about its revenue by type of good
or service and by geographic region, then the disclosure in the financial statements needs to provide a consistent
disaggregation —i.e. by type of good or service and by geographic region.

Examples of categories that might be appropriate in disclosing disaggregated revenue include, but are not limited to,
the following.

TYPE OF CATEGORY EXAMPLE
Type of good or service Major product lines
Geographic region Country or region
Market or type of customer Government and non-government customers
Type of contract Fixed-price and time-and-materials contracts
Contract duration Short-term and long-term contracts
Timing of transfer of goods or services Goods or services transferred to customers:
e atapointin time
® overtime
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Reportable segments
Forestry Timber Products Total reportable segments All other segments Total
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
5
3,174 2,821 2,160 2,418 86,934 96,233 1,003 651 87,937 96,884 E
793 662 540 b67 21,749 22,577 251 153 22,000 22,730 g
3,967 3,483 2,700 2,985 108,683 118,810 1,254 804 109,937 119,614 g
E
- - - - 70,855 66,862 - - 70,855 66,862
- - - - 23,618 22,287 - - 23,618 22,287
3,967 3,483 - - 3,967 3,483 - - 3,967 3,483
- - 2,700 2,985 2,700 2,985 - - 2,700 2,985
- - - - 7,543 23,193 1,254 804 8,797 23,997
3,967 3,483 2,700 2,985 108,683 118,810 1,254 804 109,937 119,614
»
5
- - 2,700 2,985 81,098 93,040 831 359 81,929 93,399 *§
>
3,967 3,483 - - 27,585 25,770 423 445 28,008 26,215 g
E
3,967 3,483 2,700 2,985 108,683 118,810 1,254 804 109,937 119,614
- - - - 6 (4) 460 302 466 298
3,967 3,483 2,700 2,985 108,689 118,806 1,714 1,106 110,403 119,912

TYPE OF CATEGORY ExAMPLE

Sales channels Goods or services sold:
e directly to consumers
e through intermediaries

IFRS 15.112, 114, b.  Some entities may not be able to meet the objective in paragraph 114 of IFRS 15 for disaggregating revenue by
BC340 providing segment revenue information and may need to use more than one type of category. Other entities
may meet the objective by using only one type of category. Even if an entity uses consistent categories in the
segment note and in the revenue disaggregation note, further disaggregation of revenue may be required because
the objective of providing segment information under IFRS 8 is different from the objective of the disaggregation
disclosure under IFRS 15 and, unlike IFRS 8, there are no aggregation criteria in IFRS 15.

Nonetheless, an entity does not need to provide disaggregated revenue disclosures if the information about revenue
provided under IFRS 8 meets the requirements of paragraph 114 of IFRS 15 and those revenue disclosures are
based on the recognition and measurement requirements in IFRS 15.

IFRS 15.115 ¢ An entity is required to disclose sufficient information to enable users of financial statements to understand the
relationship between the disclosure of disaggregated revenue and revenue information that is disclosed for each
reportable segment, if the entity applies IFRS 8.

IFRS 15.114,5.58  d.  Although it is not explicitly required to include discontinued operations as part of the disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers, the Group has provided that information.

Appendices
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

Introduction

8. Revenue (continued)
IFRS 15.116-118 C. Contract balances

The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities
from contracts with customers.

31 December 31 December

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Receivables, which are included in ‘trade and other receivables’ 18 32,092 22,010
Receivables, which are included in ‘assets held for sale’ 20 3,496 -
Contract assets 1,271 782
Contract liabilities (160) (166)

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights to consideration for work completed

but not billed at the reporting date on made-to-order paper products. The contract assets were
impacted by an impairment charge of EUR 4 thousand (2023: EUR 2 thousand). There was no
impact on contract assets as a result of an acquisition of the subsidiary (see Note 34). The contract
assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional. This usually occurs
when the Group issues an invoice to the customer.

Australian content

IFRS 15.120(b) The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance consideration received from customers for
construction of storage units and warehouses, for which revenue is recognised over time, and to
the unredeemed customer loyalty points. The amount of unredeemed customer loyalty points is
EUR 50 thousand (2023: EUR 2 thousand). This will be recognised as revenue when the points are
redeemed by customers, which is expected to occur over the next two years.

IFRS 15.116(b) The amount of EUR 166 thousand included in contract liabilities at 31 December 2023 has been
recognised as revenue in 2024 (2023: EUR 140 thousand).

IFRS 15.116(c) The amount of revenue recognised in 2024 from performance obligations satisfied (or partially
satisfied) in previous periods is EUR 8 thousand (2023: EUR 4 thousand). This is mainly due

to changes in the estimate of the stage of completion of construction of storage units and
warehouses.
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IFRS 15.121-122 No information is provided about remaining performance obligations at 31 December 2024 or at
31 December 2023 that are part of contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or
less, as allowed by IFRS 15.

Appendices
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Performance for the year

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

8. Revenue (continued)

D. Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies”

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The
Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of
performance obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and
the related revenue recognition policies. For the accounting policy for onerous contracts, see

Note 44(T).

Type of product/service

Nature and timing of satisfaction of
performance obligations, including
significant payment terms

Revenue recognition policies

Standard paper
products

Customers obtain control of standard
paper products when the goods are
delivered to and have been accepted at
their premises. Invoices are generated
at that point in time. Invoices are usually
payable within 30 days. No discounts are
provided for standard paper products,
but customers may earn loyalty points
instead (see Loyalty programme).

Some contracts permit the customer
to return an item. Returned goods are
exchanged only for new goods —i.e. no
cash refunds are offered.

Revenue is recognised when the goods
are delivered and have been accepted by
customers at their premises.

For contracts that permit the customer to
return an item, revenue is recognised to
the extent that it is highly probable that

a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur.

Therefore, the amount of revenue
recognised is adjusted for expected
returns, which are estimated based on
the historical data for specific types

of paper, size, finish etc. In these
circumstances, a refund liability and a
right to recover returned goods asset
are recognised.

The right to recover returned goods
asset is measured at the former
carrying amount of the inventory less
any expected costs to recover goods.
The refund liability is included in other
payables (see Note 29) and the right
to recover returned goods is included
in inventory (see Note 17). The Group
reviews its estimate of expected returns
at each reporting date and updates
the amounts of the asset and liability
accordingly.

Made-to-order paper
products

The Group has determined that for made-
to-order paper products, the customer
controls all of the work in progress as
the products are being manufactured.
This is because under those contracts
paper products are made to a customer'’s
specification and if a contract is
terminated by the customer, then the
Group is entitled to reimbursement of
the costs incurred to date, including a
reasonable margin.

Invoices are issued according to
contractual terms and are usually payable
within 30 days. Uninvoiced amounts are
presented as contract assets. Customers
may earn loyalty points (see Loyalty
programme).

Revenue and associated costs are
recognised over time — i.e. before the
goods are delivered to the customers’
premises. Progress is determined based
on the cost-to-cost method because the
customer obtains control of the work

in progress as the made-to-order paper
products are being manufactured, and
the cost measure faithfully depicts the
transformation of the work in progress.

Introduction

Australian content
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IAS 1.117-117E a. The Group presents material accounting policies related to revenue from contracts with customers in the revenue

note, rather than in a separate note with other material accounting policies (see Note 44). Other approaches to
presenting accounting policies may be acceptable.
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IFRS 15.119, 123-126,
IAS 1.122

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

8. Revenue (continued)

D. Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies (continued)

Type of product/service

Nature and timing of satisfaction of
performance obligations, including
significant payment terms

Revenue recognition policies

Timber products

Customers obtain control of timber
products when the goods are dispatched
from the Group's warehouse. Invoices
are generated and revenue is recognised
at that point in time. Invoices are usually
payable within 30 days. No discounts,
loyalty points or returns are offered for
timber products.

Revenue is recognised when the
goods are dispatched from the Group’s
warehouse.

Loyalty programme

Customers who purchase paper products
may enter the Group’s customer loyalty
programme and earn points that are
redeemable against any future purchases
of the Group's products. The points
accumulate and do not expire.

The Group allocates a portion of the
consideration received to loyalty points.
This allocation is based on the relative
stand-alone selling prices. The amount
allocated to the loyalty programme is
deferred, and is recognised as revenue
when loyalty points are redeemed or the
likelihood of the customer redeeming the
loyalty points becomes remote.

The deferred revenue is included in
contract liabilities.

Managing forest
resources services
and related services

Invoices for forestry services are issued
on a monthly basis and are usually
payable within 30 days.

Revenue is recognised over time as
the services are provided. The stage of
completion for determining the amount
of revenue to recognise is assessed
based on surveys of work performed.

If the services under a single
arrangement are rendered in different
reporting periods, then the consideration
is allocated based on their relative stand-
alone selling prices. The stand-alone
selling price is determined based on the
list prices at which the Group sells the
services in separate transactions.

Construction
contracts

The Group builds storage units and
warehouses for customers in the
Timber Products segment based on
their designs and on their land. Each
project commences on receipt of a full
prepayment from a customer and its
length depends on the complexity of the
design. However, projects usually do not
extend beyond six months.

Revenue is recognised over time based
on the cost-to-cost method. The related
costs are recognised in profit or loss
when they are incurred.

Advances received are included in
contract liabilities.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) £
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9. Income and expenses £
IAS 1.97 A. Other income
In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
IAS 4140 Change in fair value of biological assets 16(A) 587 28
IAS 40.76(a) Increase in fair value of investment property 23(A) 20 60
30(A), (C),
IAS 20.29 Government grants (D) 238 -
IAS 1.98(c) Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 37(B)(i) 48 16
893 104
€
IAS 1.97 B. Other expenses®’ £
In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023 E
i
Impairment loss on goodwillb 22(C) 116 - s
&
IFRS 5.41(c) Impairment loss on remeasurement of the disposal group 20(A) 35 - §
Settlement of pre-existing relationship with acquiree 34(A) 326 -
IAS 1.87 Flood-related expenses 519 -
996 -
IAS 1.104 C. Expenses by nature
2024 2023
In thousands of EUR Note restated*
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 472 (343) *E
Raw materials and consumables 42,104 43,208 £
IAS 1.104 Employee benefits 13(E) 22,154 19,439 2
8
IAS 1.104 Depreciation and amortisation 21(A), 22(A) 6,124 5,917 2
(Reversal of) impairment of property, plant and equipment g
and intangible assets 21(B), 22(C) (493) 1,408 =
Consultancy 4,866 2,732
Advertising 2,550 2,650
Maintenance 12,673 9,957
Lease expense 37(A)ii) 145 209
Other 2,000 1,999
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution, administrative
and research and development expenses 92,595 87176
*  See Note 43.
Insights a.  There is no guidance in the Accounting Standards on how specific expenses are allocated to functions. An entity ”
4.1.30.10-40 establishes its own definitions of functions. In our view, cost of sales includes only costs directly related to the .g
provision of goods or services for which the entity recognises revenue. Only expenses that cannot be allocated to a T
specific function are classified as ‘other expenses’. 2
[=}
IAS 36.126, b.  The Group has classified expenses by function and has therefore allocated the impairment loss to the appropriate <
Insights 3.10.410.20 function. In our view, in the rare case that an impairment loss cannot be allocated to a function, it should be included

in ‘other expenses’ as a separate line item if it is significant (e.g. impairment of goodwill), with additional information
given in a note.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

10. Net finance costs

See accounting policies in Notes 44(H) and (P).

IAS 1.97 In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Interest income under the effective interest method on:®
IFRS 720(b) — Corporate debt securities — at FVOCI 8 27
IFRS 720(b) — Corporate debt securities — at amortised cost 169 13
IFRS 720(b) — Cash and cash equivalents 1 1
IFRS 16.90(a)(ii) Interest income on lease receivable 31 10
Total interest income arising from financial assets 209 151
IFRS 3.B64(p)(ii) Remeasurement to fair value of pre-existing interest in an
acquiree 34(D) 250 -
Dividend income:
IFRS 711A(d) — Equity securities — at FVOCI - investments held at the
reporting date 25 26 32
IFRS 7.20(a){viii) Corporate debt securities — at FVOCI:
— Gain on derecognition reclassified from OCI 64 -
IFRS 720(a)(i) Financial assets at FVTPL — net change in fair value:
— Mandatorily measured at FVTPL — held for trading 74 -
— Mandatorily measured at FVTPL — other 508 264
Finance income - other 922 296
IAS 1.82(ba) Finance costs — impairment loss on debt securities (net of
reversals) 32(C)(if) (59) (13)
IFRS 720(b), 71G13 Financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL — interest expense” (1,523) (1,299)
IAS 21.52(a) Net foreign exchange loss (186) (250)
IFRS 724C(b) Cash flow hedges - reclassified from OCI including costs of
hedging reserve 32(C)(iv) 17 12
IAS 3784(e) Unwind of discount on site restoration provision 31(C)i) (60) (50)
IFRS 720(a)(i) Change in fair value of contingent consideration 32(B)(iii) (20) -
IFRS 724C(b)(ii) Cash flow hedges — ineffective portion of changes in fair value 32(C)(iv) (51) (16)
IFRS 724C(b)(ii) Net investment hedge — ineffective portion of changes in fair value (1) -
IFRS 720(a)(i) Financial assets at FVTPL — net change in fair value:
— Mandatorily measured at FVTPL — held for trading - (19)
Finance costs — other (1,824) (1,622)
Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss (752) (1,188)
IFRS 720(b), a. Under IFRS 7 an entity is required to disclose the total interest income (calculated under the effective interest
IAS 1.97 method) for financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI — showing these amounts separately.
IAS 32.40, b.  The Group has grouped interest expense on lease liabilities and dividends classified as an expense with interest
IFRS 71G13 expense on financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL. Alternatively, they may be presented as a separate item. If

there are differences between interest and dividends with respect to matters such as tax deductibility, then it is

desirable to disclose them separately.
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Performance for the year

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

11. Earnings per share
A. Basic earnings per share

Introduction

The calculation of basic EPS has been based on the following profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders and weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding.

IAS 33.70(a) i.  Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic)
2024 2023
Continuing Discontinued
Continuing Discontinued operations operation Total

In thousands of EUR Note operations operation Total (restated)* (restated)*  (restated)*

Profit (loss) for the :,E,
year, attributable to §
the owners of the t
Company 6,676 379 7055 6,045 (422) 5,623 %

Dividends on non- 2
redeemable 2
preference shares 26(C) (438) - (438) (438) - (438)

Profit (loss) attributable
to ordinary
shareholders 6,238 379 6,617 5,607 (422) 5,185

*  See Notes 7 and 43.

IAS 33.70(b) ii. Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (basic)

In thousands of shares Note 2024 2023 12

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 26(A)(i) 3,100 3,100 %

Effect of treasury shares held 26(B){vii) (49) (40) §

Effect of share options exercised 26(A)() 3 - £

Effect of shares issued related to a business combination 26(A)(i) 6 - g

Effect of shares issued in October 2023 26(A)(i) 23 - .

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares at
31 December 3,083 3,060

B. Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted EPS has been based on the following profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders and weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for
the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

IAS 33.70(a) i Profit (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)
2024 2023
Continuing Discontinued
Continuing Discontinued operations operation Total
In thousands of EUR Note operations operation Total (restated)* (restated)*  (restated)*

Profit (loss) attributable

to ordinary

shareholders (basic) 6,238 379 6,617 5,607 (422) 5,185
Interest expense on

convertible notes, net

of tax 28(C)-(D) 61 - 61 - - -
Profit (loss) attributable

to ordinary

shareholders

(diluted) 6,299 379 6,678 5,607 (422) 5,185

*  Sees Notes 7 and 43.

Appendices

a.  |n addition to disclosing the weighted-average number of ordinary shares used as a denominator in calculating basic
EPS, the Group has disclosed information to show how the number is calculated. This information is not specifically
required by IAS 33 Earnings per Share — it is provided for illustrative purposes only.
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:c::’ 11. Earnings per share (continued)
B. Diluted earnings per share (continued)
IAS 33.70(b) ii. Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (diluted)
In thousands of shares Note 2024 2023
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (basic) 3,083 3,060
Effect of conversion of convertible notes 28(C)-(D) 101 -
Effect of share options on issue 47 18
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at
31 December 3,231 3,078
f=
*2 IAS 33.70(c) At 31 December 2024, 135,000 options (2023: 44,000) were excluded from the diluted weighted-
8 average number of ordinary shares calculation because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
c
©
'S The average market value of the Company'’s shares for the purpose of calculating the dilutive
§ effect of share options was based on quoted market prices for the year during which the options
< were outstanding.?
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Insights a.  In our view, the method used to determine the average market price for ordinary shares should be disclosed in the notes.
5.3.270.80
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Employee benefits

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

12. Share-based payment arrangements®
See accounting policy in Note 44(E)(ii).

A. Description of share-based payment arrangements

At 31 December 2024, the Group had the following share-based payment arrangements.
i.  Share option programmes (equity-settled)

On 1 January 2020 and 1 January 2023, the Group established share option programmes that
entitle key management personnel to purchase shares in the Company. On 1 January 2024, a
further grant on similar terms was offered to key management personnel and senior employees.
Under these programmes, holders of vested options are entitled to purchase shares at the market
price of the shares at grant date. Currently, these programmes are limited to key management
personnel and other senior employees.

The key terms and conditions related to the grants under these programmes are as follows; all
options are to be settled by the physical delivery of shares.

Number of
instruments Contractual
Grant date/employees entitled in thousands  Vesting conditions life of options

Options granted to key
management personnel
On 1 January 2020 400 3 years’ service from grant date 7 years
and 5% increase in operating
income in each of the 3 years

On 1 January 2023 200 Same as above 10 years
On 1 January 2024 225 Same as above 10 years
Options granted to senior

employees
On 1 January 2024 100 3 years’ service from grant date 10 years
Total share options 925

ii. Replacement awards (equity-settied)

In connection with the acquisition of Papyrus, the Group exchanged equity-settled share-based
payment awards held by employees of Papyrus for 150,000 equity-settled share-based payment
awards of the Company with a contractual life of nine years from the vesting date (see Note 34(A)(ii)).

iii. Share purchase plan (equity-settied)

On 1 January 2024, the Group offered 26 of its employees the opportunity to participate in an
employee share purchase plan.To participate in the plan, the employees are required to save an
amount of 5 percent of their gross monthly salary, up to a maximum of EUR 300 per month, for a
period of 36 months. Under the terms of the plan, at the end of the 36-month period the employees
are entitled to purchase shares using funds saved at a price of 20 percent below the market price

at grant date. Only employees who remain in service and save the required amount of their gross
monthly salary for 36 consecutive months will become entitled to purchase the shares. Employees
who cease their employment, do not save the required amount of their gross monthly salary in any
month before the 36-month period expires, or elect not to exercise their options to purchase shares
will be refunded their saved amounts.

iv. Share appreciation rights (cash-settled)

On 1 January 2019 and 1 January 2024, the Group granted 100,000 and 300,000 share appreciation
rights (SARs), respectively, to employees that entitle them to a cash payment after three years of
service.The SARs expire at the end of a five-year period after grant date. The amount of the cash
payment is determined based on the increase in the share price of the Company between grant

date and the time of exercise.

ASIC Instrument a.

2016/191

Where ASIC Instrument 2016/191 is applied in the financial statements, certain share-based payment disclosures
are subject to the exception of the rounding provisions. This exception is not reflected in this international-based
illustrative disclosure.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

12. Share-based payment arrangements (continued)
A. Description of share-based payment arrangements (continued)

Introduction

iv. Share appreciation rights (cash-settled) (continued)
Details of the liabilities arising from the SARs were as follows.

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
IFRS 2.51(b)(i) Total carrying amount of liabilities for SARs 13 440 380
IFRS 2.51(b)(ii) Total intrinsic value of liabilities for vested benefits - 380

The liabilities at 31 December 2023 were settled during 2024.
B. Measurement of fair values
i. Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements

IFRS 2.46, 47(a)(i), (iii) The fair value of the employee share purchase plan (see (A)(iii)) has been measured using a

Monte Carlo simulation. The fair value of the employee share options (see (A)(i) and (A)(ii) has
been measured using the Black-Scholes formula. Service and non-market performance conditions
attached to the arrangements were not taken into account in measuring fair value.

Australian content

IFRS 2.47(a)(iii) The requirement that the employee has to save in order to purchase shares under the share
purchase plan has been incorporated into the fair value at grant date by applying a discount to
the valuation obtained. The discount has been determined by estimating the probability that the
employee will stop saving based on historical behaviour.

The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the equity-settled

*g share-based payment plans were as follows.
qE: Share option programmes
g Key management Senior Replacement Share purchase
) personnel employees awards plan
g (see (A)(i) (see (A)(i) (see (A)(ii))  (see (A)(iii))
a 2024 2023 2024 2024 2024
EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
IFRS 2.47(a)(i) Fair value at grant date 3.54 3.72 3.14 3.81 4.02
Share price at grant date EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
10.10 10.50 10.10 10.30 10.10
Exercise price EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR
10.10 10.50 10.10 10.30 8.08
Expected volatility
(weighted average) 46.6% 48.7% 45.7% 52.0% 46.1%
Expected life (weighted average) 8.6years 88years b.4years 5.9years 3.0years
Expected dividends 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% N/A
Risk-free interest rate (based on
government bonds) 1.0% 0.2% 0.9% 1.5% 0.8%
IFRS 2.47(a)(ii) Expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical volatility of the Company's

share price, particularly over the historical period commensurate with the expected term.The
expected term of the instruments has been based on historical experience and general option
holder behaviour.

At 31 December 2024, a total amount of EUR 78 thousand was invested by the participants
in the share purchase plan (see Note 40(B)(i)) and has been included in ‘other trade payables’
(see Note 29).
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

12. Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

B. Measurement of fair values (continued)

ii. Cash-settled share-based payment arrangement’

The fair value of the SARs (see Note 12(A)(iv)) has been measured using the Black-Scholes
formula. Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the arrangement were not

taken into account in measuring fair value.

The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date and measurement date of the

SARs were as follows.

Measurement

Grant date date

1 January 31 December

2024 2024

Fair value EUR 2.82 EUR 4.40
Share price EUR 10.10 EUR 12.70
Exercise price EUR 10.10 EUR 10.10
Expected volatility (weighted average) 46.4% 48.5%
Expected life (weighted average) 3.2 years 2.8 years
Expected dividends 3.2% 3.3%
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 0.8% 1.6%

Expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical volatility of the Company’s
share price, particularly over the historical period commensurate with the expected term.The
expected term of the instruments has been based on historical experience and general option

holder behaviour.

C. Reconciliation of outstanding share options

The number and weighted-average exercise prices of share options under the share option
programmes (see Note 12(A)(i)) and replacement awards (see Note 12(A)(ii)) were as follows.

2024 2023

Weighted- Weighted-

Number of average Number of average

In thousands of options options  exercise price options exercise price
Outstanding at 1 January 550 EUR 10.18 400 EUR 10.00
Forfeited during the year (50) EUR 10.00 (50) EUR 10.00
Exercised during the year (5) EUR 10.00 - -
Granted during the year 505 EUR 10.04 200 EUR 10.50
Outstanding at 31 December 1,000 EUR 10.12 550 EUR 10.18
Exercisable at 31 December 295 EUR 10.00 350 EUR 10.00

IFRS 2.45(d) The options outstanding at 31 December 2024 had an exercise price in the range of EUR 8.08 to
EUR 10.50 (2023: EUR 10.00 to EUR 10.50) and a weighted-average remaining contractual life of
6.4 years (2023: 5.2 years).

IFRS 2.45(c) The weighted-average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised in 2024 was
EUR 10.70 (2023 no options exercised).
D. Expense recognised in profit or loss
For details of the related employee benefit expenses, see Note 13(E).

Insights Although it is not specifically required by IFRS 2, the Group has disclosed information about the fair value

4.5.1000.10 measurement of its SARs. In our view, these disclosures should be provided for cash-settled share-based payments.

For awards granted during the period, disclosures about fair value measurement at grant date and at the reporting
date should be given; for awards granted in previous periods but unexercised at the reporting date, disclosures

about fair value measurement at the reporting date should be given.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

Introduction

13. Employee benefits

See accounting policies in Note 44(E).

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Net defined benefit asset (671) (731)
Total employee benefit asset (671) (731)
Net defined benefit liability 285 280
Liability for social security contributions 8 5
Liability for long-service leave 199 176
= IFRS 2.51(b)(i) Cash-settled share-based payment liability 12 440 380
‘g Total employee benefit liabilities 932 841
g Non-current 912 453
'S Current 20 388
<g 932 841

For details on the related employee benefit expenses, see Note 13(E).

IAS 19.139(a) The Group contributes to the following post-employment defined benefit plans in [Countries X
and Y.

¢ Plan A entitles a retired employee to receive an annual pension payment. Directors and
executive officers (see Note 40(B)(i)) retire at age 60 and are entitled to receive annual payments
equal to 70 percent of their final salary until the age of 65, at which time their entitlement falls to
50 percent of their final salary. Other retired employees are entitled to receive annual payments
equal to 1/60 of final salary for each year of service that the employee provided.

e Plan B reimburses certain medical costs for retired employees.

The defined benefit plans are administered by a single pension fund that is legally separated
from the Group. The board of the pension fund comprises three employee and two employer
representatives and an independent chair. The board of the pension fund is required by law to act
in the best interests of the plan participants and is responsible for setting certain policies (e.g.
investment, contribution and indexation policies) of the fund.
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IAS 19.139(b) These defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency
risk, interest rate risk and market (investment) risk.
A. Funding

IAS 19.147(a) Plan A is fully funded by the Group's subsidiaries, except for the obligation for directors and

executive officers, which is funded by the Company. The funding requirements are based on
the pension fund's actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding policies of the plan.
The funding of Plan A is based on a separate actuarial valuation for funding purposes for which
the assumptions may differ from the assumptions set out in (D). Employees are not required to
contribute to the plans. Plan B is unfunded.

The Group has determined that, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the defined
benefit plans, and in accordance with statutory requirements (including minimum funding
requirements for Plan A) for the plans of the respective jurisdictions, the present value of refunds
or reductions in future contributions is not lower than the balance of the total fair value of the plan
assets less the total present value of obligations. This determination has been made on a plan-
by-plan basis. As such, no decrease in the defined benefit asset was necessary at 31 December
2024 or 31 December 2023.

IAS 19.147(b) The Group expects to pay EUR 350 thousand in contributions to its defined benefit plans in 2025.

Appendices

IAS 1.69, 19.133 a.  Although it is not required to distinguish the current and non-current portions of assets and liabilities arising from
post-employment benefits, the Group distinguishes between the current and non-current portions of obligations
arising from long-term employee benefits if it does not have the right to defer settlement of the liability at least
12 months from the reporting date.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

13. Employee benefits (continued)
B. Movement in net defined benefit (asset) liability

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for
the net defined benefit (asset) liability and its components.®

Defined benefit Net defined benefit
obligation Fair value of plan assets (asset) liability
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Balance at 1 January 7,057 6,718 (7508) (7162) (451) (444)
Included in profit or loss”
Current service cost 497 456 - - 497 456
Past service credit (100) - - - (100) -
Interest cost (income) 360 322 (383) (344) (23) (22)
757 778 (383) (344) 374 434
Included in OCI°
Remeasurement loss (gain):
— Actuarial loss (gain) arising from:
- demographic assumptions (31) 4 - - (31) 4
- financial assumptions (21) 8 - - (21) 8
- experience adjustment (30) 6 - - (30) 6
— Return on plan assets
excluding interest income - - 10 (3) 10 (3)
Effect of movements in exchange
rates® 21 (1) 76 (1) 97 (2)
(61) 17 86 (4) 25 13
Other
Contributions paid by the employer - - (325) (403) (325) (403)
Benefits paid (433) (456) 424 405 (9) (51)
(433) (456) 929 2 (334) (454)
Balance at 31 December 7,320 7057 (7,706) (7508) (386) (451)
Represented by:
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
Net defined benefit asset (Plan A) (671) (731)
Net defined benefit liability (Plan B) 285 280

(386) (451)

During 2024, the pension arrangements for a number of employees in [Country X] were adjusted
to reflect new legal requirements in that country regarding the retirement age. As a result of the

plan amendment, the Group's defined benefit obligation decreased by EUR 100 thousand (2023:
nil). A corresponding past service credit was recognised in profit or loss during 2024.

IAS 19.138

IAS 21.39,
Insights 4.4.1010

The Group has more than one defined benefit plan and has generally provided aggregated disclosures in respect of
these plans, on the basis that they are not exposed to materially different risks. Further disaggregation of some or all
of the disclosures — e.g. by geographic locations or by different characteristics — would be required if this were not
the case.

Although it is not specifically required by IAS 19 Employee Benefits, the Group has disclosed the subtotals of items
recognised in profit or loss and OCI. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.

A net obligation under a defined benefit plan may be denominated in a foreign currency from the point of view

of the sponsor’s financial statements. In our view, in that case the net defined benefit liability (asset) should first

be calculated in the currency in which it is denominated, and the resulting net amount should then be translated

into the sponsor’s functional currency. As a result, the foreign exchange gain or loss arising on translation will be
recognised together with other foreign exchange gains and losses, rather than as part of the IAS 19 remeasurement.
This is different from the situation illustrated above. In this case, the sponsor of the plan is a foreign subsidiary, and
therefore the translation difference is recognised in OCl in the usual way.
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< - - - u
g Notes to the consolicated financial statements (continued)
T
:c::’ 13. Employee benefits (continued)
- C. Plan assets
IAS 19.142 Plan assets comprise the following.
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
IAS 19.142(b) Equity securities:
— Consumer markets 1,725 1,842
— Pharmaceuticals 602 555
— Qiland gas 218 239
= — Telecoms 343 260
£ — Financial institutions 213 561
8 3,101 3,457
% IAS 19.142(c) Government bonds 3,587 3,254
3 IAS 19.142(e) Derivatives:
— Interest rate swaps 29 37
— Forward foreign currency contracts 185 70
— Longevity swaps 97 39
31 146
IAS 19.143 Property occupied by the Group 525 497
IAS 19.143 Company’s own ordinary shares 182 154
” 7,706 7508
é IAS 19.142 All equity securities and government bonds have quoted prices in active markets. All government
£ bonds are issued by European governments and are rated AAA or AA, based on [Rating Agency Y]
‘g ratings.
g IAS 19.146 At each reporting date, an Asset-Liability Matching study is performed by the pension fund'’s
o asset manager, in which the consequences of the strategic investment policies are analysed. The
strategic investment policy of the pension fund can be summarised as follows:
e a strategic asset mix comprising 40-50 percent equity securities, 40-50 percent government

bonds and 0-15 percent other investments;

¢ interest rate risk is managed with the objective of reducing the cash flow interest rate risk by
40 percent through the use of debt instruments (government bonds) and interest rate swaps;

e currency risk is managed with the objective of reducing the risk by 30 percent through the use
of forward foreign currency contracts; and

e |ongevity risk is managed with the objective of reducing the risk by 25 percent through the use
of longevity swaps.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

13. Employee benefits (continued)
D. Defined benefit obligation

IAS 1.125, 19.144 i. Actuarial assumptions

Introduction

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as
weighted averages).

2024 2023
Discount rate 5.1% 4.8%
Future salary growth 2.5% 2.5%
Future pension growth 3.0% 2.0% £
Medical cost trend rate 4.5% 4.0% £
o
IAS 19.144 Assumptions regarding future longevity have been based on published statistics and mortality E
tables. The current longevities underlying the values of the defined benefit obligation at the T
reporting date were as follows. ‘g
<
2024 2023
Plan A Plan B Plan A Plan B
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners
Males 18.5 18.2 18.3 18.0
Females 21.0 19.0 21.0 18.8
Longevity at age 65 for current members
aged 45
Males 19.2 19.0 19.0 18.7 %
Females 22.9 20.5 22.9 20.0 £
®
IAS 19.147(c) At 31 December 2024, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was ‘i
175 years (2023: 17.1 years). ‘g
ii. Sensitivity analysis &

IAS 1.125, 129, 19.145 Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions,
holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the
amounts shown below.

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Effect in thousands of EUR Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Discount rate (1% movement) (338) 354 (335) 350
Future salary growth (1% movement) 187 (176) 180 (172)
Future pension growth (1% movement) 181 (173) 175 (168)
Medical cost trend rate (1% movement) 389 (257) 380 (250)
Future mortality (1% movement) (73) 69 (70) 67

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under
the plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

13. Employee benefits (continued)
E. Employee benefit expenses

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Wages and salaries 18,286 16,229
Social security contributions 1,468 1,267
IAS 19.53 Contributions to defined contribution plans 455 419
Termination benefits 31(B) 350 450
Expenses related to post-employment defined benefit plans 13(B) 374 434
Expenses related to long-service leave 26 12
IFRS 2.51(a) Equity-settled share-based payments 12 755 248
IFRS 2.51(a) Cash-settled share-based payments® 12 440 380
9(C) 22,154 19,439
IFRS 2.1G19, a.  The Group has included the remeasurement of the liability in relation to its cash-settled share-based payment
BC252-BC255, arrangement in ‘employee benefit expenses’. Alternatively, in our view an entity may include the amount in ‘finance
Insights 4.5.970.20 income’ or ‘finance costs’.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

14. Income taxes®"°

See accounting policy in Note 44().
A. Amounts recognised in profit or loss®

2024 2023
In thousands of EUR restated*
Current tax expense

Current year:

— Corporate income tax 2,931 3,594
— Global minimum top-up tax (see Note 14(J)) 132 -
Changes in estimates related to prior years 116 (34)

3,179 3,560

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 77 (865)

Reduction in tax rate (15) (5)

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses (see Note 14(H)) (50) (240)
Recognition of previously unrecognised (derecognition of

previously recognised) deductible temporary differences (13) 10

(1) (1,100)

Tax expense on continuing operations 3,178 2,460

*  See Notes 7 and 43.

‘Tax expense on continuing operations’ excludes the Group's share of the tax expense of equity-
accounted investees® of EUR 492 thousand (2023: EUR 261 thousand), which has been included
in ‘share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax". The amount also excludes the tax
income from the discontinued operation of EUR 25 thousand (2023: EUR 44 thousand) and the tax
expense on the gain on sale of the discontinued operation of EUR 330 thousand (2023: nil); both of
these have been included in "profit (loss) from discontinued operation, net of tax’ (see Note 7).

In December 2024, a new corporate tax law was enacted in France. Consequently, as of 1 July
2025, the corporate tax rate in France will be reduced from 30 to 29 percent. This change resulted in
a gain of EUR 15 thousand related to the remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities of the
Group's French subsidiary, Baguette S.A., being recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024. In addition, on 23 March 2025, an increase in the corporate tax rate in the Netherlands from
25 to 30 percent was substantively enacted, effective from 1 January 2026. This increase does

not affect the amounts of current or deferred income taxes recognised at 31 December 2024.
However, this change will increase the Group'’s future current tax charge accordingly. If the new

tax rate were applied to calculate taxable temporary differences and tax losses recognised as at

31 December 2024, then the net deferred tax assets would increase by EUR 27 thousand.

In December 2023, numerous changes to the tax law were enacted in Denmark, including a decrease
in the corporate tax rate from 35 to 21 percent. This change resulted in a gain of EUR 5 thousand
related to the remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Group’s consolidated Danish

entity, Mermaid A/S, being recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Tax Transparency
Code - Part A

Insights
3.13.5680.20-80

c.

The changes in tax laws and the tax rates disclosed or applied throughout this guide to calculate the tax impact
amounts are for illustrative purposes only and do not reflect actual changes in tax laws or corporate tax rates in the
respective jurisdictions. In practice, the applicable changes in tax laws need to be considered and tax rates of the
respective entities need to be used. All tax impacts in this guide are calculated using the Company’s domestic tax
rate of 33 percent, except for global minimum top-up tax.

Refer to Australian content: Note 14 Income taxes for additional Australia specific disclosures.

The Tax Transparency Code (the Code) released by the Board of Taxation requires businesses with a turnover of AU$100 million
or over to voluntarily disclose additional tax information in their financial statements or other report. Such additional disclosures
are included in Part A of the Code. Refer to \oluntary tax disclosures - Part A for an example that illustrates one way in which
an entity might incorporate additional disclosure requirements in Part A of the Code within its annual financial statements.

The Group has allocated the entire amount of current income tax related to cash contributions to funded post-employment
benefit plans to profit or loss because the cash contributions relate primarily to service costs. In our view, the allocation of the
current income tax effect to profit or loss and OCI should reflect the nature of the cash contribution, unless it is impracticable
to identify whether the cost to which the funding relates affects profit or loss or OCI. We believe that if the nature of the cash
contribution is unclear, then an entity may choose an accounting policy, to be applied consistently, based on one of three
specific approaches. For further information about the three approaches, see Insights into IFRS 3.13.580.30.

Although it is not specifically required, the Group has disclosed the share of tax of equity-accounted investees.

This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.
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< - - - u
g Notes to the consolicated financial statements (continued)
T
:c::’ 14. Income taxes (continued)
- B. Amounts recognised in OCI
2024 2023
restated
Tax Tax
Before (expense) Net of Before (expense) Net of
IAS 1.90-91, 12.81(ab) In thousands of EUR tax benefit tax tax benefit tax
Items that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss
Revaluation of property, plant
;E, and equipment 200 (66) 134 - - -
‘é Remeasurements of defined
g benefit liability (asset) 72 (24) 48 (15) 5 (10)
'S Equity investments at FVOCI —
o net change in fair value 141 (47) 94 59 (19) 40
< Equity-accounted investees —
share of OCI 15 - 15 (3) - (3)
428 (137) 291 41 (14) 27
Items that are or may be
reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
Foreign operations — foreign
- currency translation differences 679 - 679 471 - 471
|5 Net investment hedge (3) - (3) (8) - (8)
3 Cash flow hedges reserve:
g — Effective portion of changes
g in fair value (62) 21 (41) 95 (30) 65
£ — Net amount reclassified to
LS profit or loss (31) 10 (21) (12) 4 (8)
Cost of hedging reserve:
— Net change in fair value 34 (12) 22 10 (3) 7
— Net amount reclassified to
profit or loss 8 (3) 5 2 - 2
Debt investments at FVOCI:
— Net change in fair value 54 (18) 36 60 (19) 41
— Net amount reclassified to
profit or loss (64) 21 (43) - - -
Reclassification of foreign
currency differences on loss
of significant influence (20) - (20) - - -
Equity-accounted investees —
share of OClI (172) - (172) (166) - (166)
423 19 442 452 (48) 404
851 (118) 733 493 (62) 431
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

14. Income taxes (continued)
C. Amounts recognised directly in equity

2024 2023
In thousands of EUR Before tax Tax Net of tax Before tax Tax Net of tax
IAS 12.81(a) Convertible notes 163 (54) 109 - - -
IAS 12.81(a) Share-based payments - - - - 2 2

For amounts recognised directly in equity relating to correction of an error — see Note 43.

D. Reconciliation of effective tax rate™”

2024 2023
In thousands of EUR restated*

IAS 12.81(c) Profit before tax from continuing operations 10,351 8,856
Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate 33.00% 3,416 33.00% 2,922
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (0.71%) (73) (0.55%) (49)
Current tax expense related to global minimum

H top-up tax (see Note 14(J))° 1.28% 132 - -
Reduction in tax rate (0.14%) (15) (0.06%) (5)
Tax effect of:

— Share of profit of equity-accounted investees

reported, net of tax (3.64%) (377) (2.19%) (194)
— Non-deductible expenses 1.09% 113 0.41% 36
— Tax-exempt income (0.23%) (24) (0.56%) (50)
— Tax incentives (0.85%) (88) (0.71%) (63)
— Current-year losses for which no deferred tax

asset is recognised 0.40% 41 1.43% 127
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses

(see Note 14(H)) (0.48%) (50) (2.71%) (240)
Recognition of previously unrecognised

(derecognition of previously recognised)

deductible temporary differences (0.13%) (13) 0.11% 10
Changes in estimates related to prior years 1.12% 116 (0.38%) (34)

30.70% 3,178  2778% 2,460

*  See Notes 7 and 43.

IAS 12.85 a.  The Group's reconciliation of the effective tax rate is based on its domestic tax rate, with a reconciling item in
respect of tax rates applied by Group companies in other jurisdictions. The reconciliation of the effective tax
rate is based on an applicable tax rate that provides the most meaningful information to users. In some cases,
it might be more meaningful to aggregate separate reconciliations prepared using the domestic tax rate in each
individual jurisdiction.

IAS 12.81(c) b.  Rather than presenting either a numerical reconciliation between total tax expense and the product of accounting
profit multiplied by the applicable tax rates, or a numerical reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and
the applicable tax rate, the Group has elected to present both.

c. |AS 12 does not provide specific guidance on how to reflect the impact of global minimum top-up tax in the
reconciliation of the effective tax rate. The Group has disclosed a separate line item for the total amount of top-up
tax levied on the Group in 2024 to aid users’ understanding of the impact.
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IAS 12.81(9)(i)—(ii)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

14. Income taxes (continued)

E. Movement in deferred tax balances™" °

Recognised in

2024 Net balance at profit or loss
In thousands of EUR 1January (see Note 14(A))
Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets’) (1,006) 71
Intangible assets 56 4
Biological assets (22) (182)
Investment property (30) (7)
Investment in securities (56) (7)
Trade and other receivables, including contract assets 53 17
Derivatives (39) (5)
Inventories 64 96
Loans and borrowings (including lease liabilities®) 1,586 (142)

Employee benefits (91) 21

Equity-settled share-based payments 225 88
Provisions 508 (13)
Deferred income 54 (15)
Other items 14 25

Tax losses carried forward 386 50

Tax assets (liabilities) before set-off 1,702 1

Set-off of tax

Net tax assets (liabilities)

2023

Net balance at

Recognised in
profit or loss
(see Note 14(A))

In thousands of EUR 1 January restated*
Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets") (1,515) 509
Intangible assets (38) 94
Biological assets (25) 3
Investment property (10) (20)
Investment in securities (18) 1

Trade and other receivables, including contract assets - 53
Derivatives (12) 1

Inventories 8 56
Loans and borrowings (including lease liabilities®) 1,729 (143)
Employee benefits (90) (6)
Equity-settled share-based payments® 141 82

Provisions 290 218
Deferred income 46 8
Other items 10 4
Tax losses carried forward 146 240

Tax assets (liabilities) before set-off 662 1,100

Set-off of tax

Net tax assets (liabilities)

* See Note 43.

IAS 12.81(g),
Insights
3.13.640.60

Insights
3.13.640.70

Insights 3.13.300

IAS 12 requires disclosure of the amount of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities in respect of each type of
temporary difference. The Accounting Standards are unclear on what constitutes a ‘type’, and the Group has provided
the disclosures based on the classes of assets and liabilities related to the temporary differences. Another possible
interpretation is to present disclosures based on the reason for the temporary difference — e.g. depreciation.

In our view, it is not appropriate to disclose the tax effects of both recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets
as a single amount — e.g. similar to the ‘gross’ approach under US GAAP - because under the Accounting Standards

it is recognised deferred tax assets that are required to be disclosed.

The Group does not plan to dispose of its investments in associates in the foreseeable future, and therefore has
measured deferred tax relating to these investments using the tax rates applicable to dividends, which are nil
because such dividends are tax-exempt. As a result, no deferred tax has been recognised.
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Income taxes
c
.2
°
S
°
e
=
£
Balance at 31 December
Acquired
Recognised Recognised directly in business Other
in OCI in equity combinations (see Notes 7(C) Deferred tax
(see Note 14(B)) (see Note 14(C)) (see Note 34(C)) and 20(B)) Net Deferred tax assets liabilities
(66) - (35) 210 (826) 553 (1,379)
. - (38) - 22 98 (76)
- - - - (204) - (204)
- - - - (37) - (37) -
(44) - - - (107) 32 (139) 8
- - - - 70 70 - S
16 i - - (28) 3 (31) S
- - (3) 40 197 197 - L
- (54) (9) - 1,381 1,444 (63) 7
(24) - - - (94) 160 (254) 3
- - - - 313 313 -
- - 6 - 501 501 -
- - - - 39 39 -
- - - - 39 50 (11)
- - - - 436 436 -
(118) (54) (79) 250 1,702 3,896 (2,194)
- (1,645) 1,645
1,702 2,251 (549) *
5
)
Balance at 31 December QE,
Acquired "E
Recognised Recognised directly in business Other fa
in OCI in equity combinations (see Notes 7(C) Deferred tax E
(see Note 14(B)) (see Note 14(C)) (see Note 34(C)) and 20(B)) Net Deferred tax assets liabilities 6._'
- - - - (1,000) 531 (1,537)
- - - - 56 94 (38)
. _ - . (22) - (22)
- - - - (30) - (30)
(38) - - - (55) 16 (71)
- - - - 53 53 -
(29) - - - (40) 3 (43)
- - - - 64 64 -
- - - - 1,586 1,586 -
5 - - - (91) 150 (241)
- 2 - - 225 225 -
- - - - 508 508 -
- - - - 54 54 -
- - - - 14 18 (4)
- - - - 386 386 -
(62) 2 - - 1,702 3,688 (1,986)
- (1,580) 1,580
1,702 2,108 (406)
n
8
IAS 12.15, 22A, d.  The tax deductions in the Group's jurisdictions related to leases are allocated to the lease liabilities rather than e
24, Insights the right-of-use assets. Therefore, the Group has recognised a separate deferred tax asset in relation to its lease S
3.13.230 liabilities and a deferred tax liability in relation to its right-of-use assets. <°'
IAS 12.68C e.  When the amount of the tax deduction (or estimated future tax deduction) exceeds the amount of the related
cumulative share-based payment expense, the excess of the associated income tax is recognised directly in equity.
Any subsequent reduction in the excess is also recorded in equity.
© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
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IAS 12.81(f), 87

IAS 12.82A

IAS 12.81(e)

IAS 12.81(e)

IAS 1.125, 129, 12.82

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

14. Income taxes (continued)
F. Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities®

At 31 December 2024, there was a deferred tax liability of EUR 1,523 thousand (2023: EUR 1,146
thousand) for temporary differences of EUR 4,615 thousand (2023: EUR 3,473 thousand) related to
investments in subsidiaries and the joint venture. However, this liability was not recognised because
the Group controls the dividend policy of its subsidiaries and is able to veto the payment of dividends
of its joint venture —i.e. the Group controls the timing of reversal of the related taxable temporary
differences and management is satisfied that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.”

In some of the countries in which the Group operates, local tax laws provide that gains on

the disposal of certain assets are tax-exempt, provided that the gains are not distributed. At

31 December 2024, total tax-exempt reserves amounted to EUR 613 thousand (2023: EUR 540
thousand), which would result in a tax liability of EUR 202 thousand (2023: EUR 178 thousand) if
the subsidiaries paid dividends from these reserves.

G. Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items, because it is not
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can use the benefits
therefrom.*

2024 2023
Gross Gross
In thousands of EUR amount Tax effect amount Tax effect
Deductible temporary differences 161 53 200 66
Tax losses 644 213 672 222
805 266 872 288

H. Tax losses carried forward

Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised expire as follows.

In thousands of EUR 2024 Expiry date 2023 Expiry date
Expire 644 2025-2029 520 2025-2026
Never expire - - 152 -

In 2024, one of the Group's UK subsidiaries, Paper Pabus Co, successfully launched a new type
of paper and entered into a number of long-term supply contracts. As a result, management
revised its estimates of future taxable profits and the Group recognised the tax effect of

EUR 152 thousand of previously unrecognised tax losses (tax impact: EUR 50 thousand) because
management considered it probable that future taxable profits would be available against which
such losses can be used.

In 2023, the Group's Danish subsidiary, Mermaid A/S, launched a new production line that

would allow it to reduce costs significantly going forward and improve profitability. As a result,
management revised its estimates of future taxable profits and the Group recognised the tax
effect of EUR 727 thousand of previously unrecognised tax losses (tax impact: EUR 240 thousand)
because management considered it probable that future taxable profits would be available against
which such losses can be used. In 2024, Mermaid A/S achieved its planned profitability; therefore,
management continues to consider it probable that future taxable profits would be available
against which the tax losses can be recovered and, therefore, the related deferred tax asset can be
realised.

IAS 12.81(f), 87 a.
Insights b.
3.13.310.10

IAS 12.81(e) C.

Although it is not required, in addition to the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates and interests in joint arrangements for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised, the Group has also provided the encouraged disclosure of the amounts of
unrecognised deferred tax liabilities. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.

In our view, the ability of a joint venturer to veto the payment of dividends is sufficient to demonstrate control for the
purpose of recognising deferred tax.

Although IAS 12 only requires the disclosure of the amount of deductible temporary differences and unused tax
losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised, the Group has also disclosed their respective tax
effects. This disclosure is for illustrative purposes only.
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Income taxes

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

14. Income taxes (continued)
H. Tax losses carried forward (continued)

Introduction

In 2024, the Group's Romanian subsidiary, Lei Sure Limited, incurred a tax loss of EUR 124
thousand, increasing cumulative tax losses to EUR 644 thousand (2023: EUR 520 thousand).
Management has determined that the recoverability of cumulative tax losses, which expire in
2027-2031, is uncertain due to surplus capacity/supply depressing paper prices in Romania.
Based on the five-year business plan and taking into account the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, Lei Sure Limited is not expected to generate taxable profits until 2030.
However, if paper prices improve more quickly than forecast or new taxable temporary differences
arise in the next financial year, then additional deferred tax assets and a related income tax benefit

12.85 of the Canadian tax authorities allowing it to qualify for a reduced corporate tax rate. In 2024,

there was a change in the Canadian Government. The new Government is currently debating
certain tax rulings granted in the past, which include the tax ruling applied by the Group. If the
tax ruling applied in the past is retroactively revoked, then additional tax expenses for the period
2020-2023 of up to EUR 53 thousand may be incurred. This amount has not been recognised in
these consolidated financial statements because the Group believes that the tax ruling granted
in the past was in compliance with the applicable law and, if revoked, the Group believes that it is
probable that it would successfully defend the Group's tax treatment in court.

of up to EUR 213 thousand could be recognised. :,E,

c

L Uncertainty over income tax treatments® b E

IAS 1.122, 125, 129, From 2020 until 2023, the Group’s Canadian subsidiary Maple-leaf Inc benefited from a tax ruling %
<

Of the Group's current tax provision, EUR 63 thousand (2023: nil) relates to management’s
estimation of the amount of tax payable by the Group’s German subsidiary Papier GmbH for the
ongoing tax review, which its tax authority opened in March 2024. The uncertain tax treatment
relates to the interpretation of how the tax legislation applies to the Group’s transfer pricing
arrangements. Due to the uncertainty involved, there is a possibility that the outcome of the tax
review is significantly different from the amount currently recognised. Although management
has used a single best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid, it is anticipated

that the reasonably possible outcome of current tax liabilities sits within a range between

EUR 51 thousand and EUR 72 thousand.

%]
2
<
]
£
]
2
1]
S
)
>
£
1]
£
S
o

The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on
its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.

a.  Management of the Group analysed the specific facts and circumstances of the open tax review and determined
that it is necessary to provide information about assumptions and estimates related to the uncertain tax treatment
required by paragraph 125 of IAS 1.

Appendices

b.  The Group provided quantitative disclosure of the sensitivity of the amount of the uncertain tax treatment to
the method, assumptions and estimates underlying the calculation. Other approaches to the disclosure may be
acceptable to meet the requirements of paragraph 129 of IAS 1.

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.




Introduction

Australian content

7}
o
c
(7]
£
[]
-
©
-
17}
>
£
©
£
S
-

Appendices

112 | Example Public Company Limited

IAS 12.88A-88D,
E1.88C-88D(a)(b)(i)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

14. Income taxes (continued)

J. Global minimum top-up tax® " ¢

The Group is subject to the global minimum top-up tax under Pillar Two tax legislation. The top-up
tax relates to the Group's operations in [Country F], where the statutory tax rate is 10 percent, and
in [Country Gl, where Subsidiary X receives government support through additional tax deductions
that reduce its effective tax rate to below 15 percent. The Group recognised a current tax expense
of EUR 132 thousand related to the top-up tax (2023: nil) which is levied on the Company.®

The Group has applied a temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for the impacts
of the top-up tax and accounts for it as a current tax when it is incurred.

In March 2024, [Country G] enacted new tax legislation to implement a domestic minimum top-up
tax, which is effective from 1 January 2025. As a result, from 2025 Subsidiary X will be liable for
the top-up tax in relation to its operations instead of the Company.

Insights 3.13.43.10

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development’s (OECD) draft legislative framework for the global
minimum top-up tax (GloBE model rules) applies to multinational enterprise groups with a total consolidated group
revenue of EUR 750 million or more in at least two of the four preceding years, although jurisdictions may introduce
a lower threshold. Although the Group may not be subject to this global minimum top-up tax, the disclosures are
included for illustration purposes.

‘Pillar Two taxes’ are those arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two
framework published by the OECD. This tax reform aims to ensure that large multinational groups pay taxes at least
at a minimum rate of 15 percent on income arising in each jurisdiction in which they operate by applying a system
of top-up taxes. There are three active mechanisms under Pillar Two model rules that countries can adopt: the
Income Inclusion Rule (lIR), the Undertaxed Payment Rule (UTPR) and a Qualified Domestic Minimum Top-up Tax
(QDMTT). They are often referred to as ‘global minimum top-up tax’ or ‘top-up tax'. Different jurisdictions may enact
or substantively enact local tax laws at different points in time, and the taxes may also become effective at different
points in time. These disclosures are included for illustrative purposes only.

It is noted that for the purpose of the top-up tax, if a single jurisdiction in which a group operates enacts or
substantively enacts changes to its tax laws, then that entire group may be impacted regardless of whether a similar
tax law has been enacted or substantively enacted in the jurisdiction of the ultimate parent. An entity needs to
monitor the progress of the legislative process in each jurisdiction in which it operates to determine whether and
when it may become subject to the top-up tax.

For further information about the financial reporting impacts of global minimum top-up taxes, see our article and
read our FAQs.

The ultimate parent company of the Group is Cameron Paper Co (see Note 40(A)). However, it is located in a
jurisdiction that has not adopted Pillar Two legislation. Therefore, the Company, as an intermediate parent, is liable for
IIR Pillar Two taxes.
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Alternative performance measure

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

15. Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (adjusted EBITDA)
Management has presented the performance measure adjusted EBITDA because itﬁgﬂitors

this performance measure at a consolidated level and it believes that this meas‘e| evant
to an understanding of the Group'’s financial performance. Adjusted EBI )‘\Qalcul@&é

adjusting profit from continuing operations to exclude the |mpact f& ce costs,
depreciation, amortisation, impairment losses/reversals re, 1 goo ngible assets,
property, plant and equipment and the remeasure p&\le‘o S, and share of profit of
equity-accounted investees. 6

Adjusted EBITDA is not a defined perfim n IFRS Accounting Standards. The
Group's definition of adjusted E @\ ay“ee omparable with similarly titled performance

measures and d|sclosure'i ere &

Reconcmatw@’%&\ QIT%&‘})roflt from continuing operations

19 2024 2023
In T@w&’f Euﬁ\‘ed . A\ 6"3‘ Note restated*
Prof*‘@contlw&operatlons 7173 6,396
Inco¥® tare KN 14 3,178 2,460
\ >4

Profit ﬁ;f‘ore tax 10,351 8,856
Adjustments for:
— Net finance costs 10 752 1,188
— Depreciation 21(A) 5,339 5,122
— Amortisation 22(A) 785 795
— (Reversal of) impairment losses on property, plant and

equipment 21(B) (393) 1,123
— Impairment losses on goodwill 22(C) 116 -
— (Reversal of) impairment losses on intangible assets 22(C) (100) 285
— Impairment loss on remeasurement of disposal group 20(A) 35
— Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 24 (1,141) (587)
Adjusted EBITDA 15,744 16,782

*  See Notes 7 and 43.

IAS 1.85-85B, a.

BC38G,
Insights 4.1.150

The Group has disclosed adjusted EBITDA because management believes that this measure is relevant to an
understanding of the Group's financial performance. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.

If an entity presents additional subtotals in the statement of financial position or statement of profit or loss and OCI,
then the subtotals:

e comprise line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in accordance with the Accounting Standards;

e are presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that constitute the subtotal clear and
understandable;

e are consistent from period to period;
e are displayed with no more prominence than other subtotals and totals presented in the statement of financial
position or statement of profit or loss and OCI; and

e for the additional subtotals presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI, are reconciled with the subtotals
and totals required by IAS 1.
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c - - - -
o
: Notes to the consoliclated financial statements (continued)
=]
T
£ 16. Biological assets
See accounting policy in Note 44(J).
A. Reconciliation of carrying amount
Standing
In thousands of EUR Note timber Livestock Total
IAS 4150, IFRS 13.93(e)|  Balance at 1 January 2023 3,240 196 3,436
IAS 41.50(b),
IFRS 13.93(e){ii) Purchases 743 92 835
IAS 41.50(c), )
- IFRS 13.93(e)/iii) Sales of livestock - (63) (63)
S IAS 41.50(a)), . . .
‘g’ IFRS 13.93(e){ii) Harvested timber transferred to inventories (293) - (293)
et IAS 41.40, 50(a) Change in fair value less costs to sell:
% IAS 41.51 — Due to price changes 9(A) (17) 22 5
‘g‘ IAS 41.51 — Due to physical changes 9(A) 15 8 23
< IAS 41.50(f) Effect of movements in exchange rates 68 45 13
IAS 41.50 Balance at 31 December 2023 3,756 300 4,056
Non-current 3,756 269 4,025
Current - 31 31
3,756 300 4,056
IAS 4150, IFRS 13.93(¢)| Balance at 1 January 2024 3,756 300 4,056
IAS 41.50(b),
£ IFRS 13.93(e)/iii) Purchases 294 1 305
£ IAS 41.50(c), _
g IFRS 13.93(e)lii) Sales of livestock - (127) (127)
£ | 1as41500), _ _ _
> IFRS 13.93(e)liii) Harvested timber transferred to inventories (135) - (135)
g IAS 41.40, 50(a) Change in fair value less costs to sell:
LS IAS 4151 — Due to price changes 9(A) 92 59 151
IAS 41.51 — Due to physical changes 9(A) 315 121 436
IAS 41.50(f) Effect of movements in exchange rates 30 14 44
IAS 41.50 Balance at 31 December 2024 4,352 378 4,730
Non-current 4,352 346 4,698
Current - 32 32
4,352 378 4,730

Appendices
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Assets

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

16. Biological assets (continued)
A. Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Introduction

IAS 41.41, 43, 46(b)(i) At 31 December 2024, standing timber comprised approximately 3,310 hectares of pine

tree plantations (2023: 3,230 hectares), which ranged from newly established plantations to
plantations that were 30 years old. EUR 282 thousand (2023: EUR 513 thousand) of the standing
timber was less than one year old and considered to be immature assets.”

IAS 41.41, 43, At 31 December 2024, livestock comprised 1,875 cattle and 3,781 sheep (2023: 1,260 cattle
46(0)i)-{i) and 3,314 sheep). During 2024, the Group sold 289 cattle and 286 sheep (2023: 150 cattle and
175 sheep).?

B. Measurement of fair values
i.  Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 13.93(b) The fair value measurements for the standing timber have been categorised as Level 3 fair
values based on the inputs to the valuation techniques used. The fair value measurements of
livestock have been categorised as Level 2 fair values based on observable market sales data
(see Note 4(B)).

ii. Level 3 fair values

Australian content

The following table shows a breakdown of the total gains (losses) recognised in respect of Level 3
fair values (standing timber).”

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
IFRS 13.93(e)(i) Gain included in ‘other income’ ®
2
Change in fair value (realised) 60 3 g
. . . £
IFRS 13.93(f) Change in fair value (unrealised) 347 (5) g
- w . 1]
IFRS 13.93(e)(ii) Gain included in OCI 2
. >
IFRS 13.93(e)(ii) Effect of movements in exchange rates 30 68 5
£
[-n
n
)
L2
2
IAS 41.43 a.  This is an example of encouraged disclosures providing a quantified description of each group of biological assets, 2
distinguishing between mature and immature biological assets (for standing timber), and the basis for making such <°'
distinctions.
b. Because the Group classifies the entire category of standing timber as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, this table
illustrates only those disclosures that are incremental to the information in the reconciliation in Note 16(A).
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

16. Biological assets (continued)
B. Measurement of fair values (continued)
iii. Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair
values, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

IFRS 13.93(d), (h), 99

Inter-relationship
between key
unobservable inputs and
fair value measurement

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Standing timber

Standing timber  Discounted cash flows: The e Estimated future timber market The estimated fair

older than valuation model considers prices per tonne (2024: EUR value would increase
25 years (the the present value of the 12.8-179, weighted average (decrease) if:
age at which net cash flows expected EUR 16.25; 2023: EUR 11.6-16.3, e the estimated
it becomes to be g_enerated by the weighted average EUR 15.15). timber prices per
marketable) plarjta‘m_on. The cash flow ' e Estimated yields per hectare tonne were higher
projections include specific (2024: 6-10, weighted average 8; (lower);
estlmatzs for [X] ﬁef?rs- The 2023: 5-10, weighted average 75). ® the estimated
expected net cash flows are ;

P - o  Estimated harvest and yields per hectare
discounted using a risk- ) were higher (lower):
adjusted discount rate. transportation costs (2024: . '

6.4-8.3%, weighted average * the estimated
75%: 2023: 6.3-7.8%, weighted harvest and
average 6.7%). transportation costs
* Risk-adjusted discount rate (2024: were lower (higher);
79-9.0%, weighted average or ) )
8.6%; 2023: 71-8.3%, weighted ~ * therisk-adjusted
average 78%). discount rates were
lower (higher).
Younger Cost approach and e Estimated costs of infrastructure The estimated fair

value would increase
(decrease) if:

standing timber  discounted cash flows: per hectare (2024: EUR 0.8-1.1,

The Group considers both
approaches, and reconciles
and weighs the estimates
under each approach based
on its assessment of the
judgement that market
participants would apply.
The cost approach considers
the costs of creating a
comparable plantation,
taking into account the costs
of infrastructure, cultivation
and preparation, buying and
planting young trees with

an estimate of the profit
that would apply to this
activity. Discounted cash
flows consider the present
value of the net cash flows
expected to be generated
by the plantation at maturity,
the expected additional
biological transformation and
the risks associated with the
asset; the expected net cash
flows are discounted using
risk-adjusted discount rates.

weighted average EUR 0.95;
2023: EUR 0.8-1.2, weighted
average EUR 0.97).

Estimated costs of cultivation and

preparation per hectare (2024

EUR 0.2-0.4, weighted average

EUR 0.3; 2023: EUR 0.3-0.4,
weighted average EUR 0.35).

Estimated costs of buying and

planting young trees (2024: EUR

1.0-1.3, weighted average EUR

1.25; 2023: EUR 1.1-1.3, weighted

average EUR 1.2).

Estimated future timber market

prices per tonne (2024: EUR
13.8-19.8, weighted average

EUR 1705; 2023: EUR 13.7-19.5,

weighted average EUR 16.6).
Estimated yields per hectare
(2024: 6-11, weighted average
8.6; 2023: 7-11, weighted
average 8.9).

Risk-adjusted discount rate (2024:

8.9-9.9%, weighted average

9.4%; 2023: 9.3-9.9%, weighted

average 9.6%).

the estimated costs
of infrastructure,
cultivation and
preparation and
buying and planting
trees were higher
(lower);

the estimated
timber prices per
tonne were higher
(lower);

the estimated
yields per hectare
were higher
(lower); or

the risk-adjusted

discount rates were
lower (higher).

Livestock
Livestock
comprises cattle
and sheep,
characterised as
commercial or
breeders

Market comparison
technigue: The fair values are
based on the market price

of livestock of similar age,
weight and market values.

Not applicable.

Not applicable.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

16. Biological assets (continued)

Introduction

B. Measurement of fair values (continued)
iii. Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs (continued)

The estimated yields per hectare of pine tree plantations are determined mainly based on the age
of the plantation, historical yields, the potential impact of extreme weather events and harvest
loss due to disease and pests. Historical yields of younger standing timber have been adjusted
downwards by 0.8 percent (2024: 0.78 percent) to reflect potential losses due to severe storms
and high winds and by 0.3 percent (2024: 0.26 percent) for all other factors. The risk of potential
losses due to fire is reflected in the cash flows by including the estimated cost of fire insurance.

IAS 1.31, 112 The Group assessed the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the estimated yields
per hectare for younger standing timber. By considering the impact of higher temperatures (an
increase of 2°C by 2050) on the growth rate of pine trees and on the intensity and frequency of
storms, the Group concluded that, overall, the positive effects (accelerated growth) and negative
effects (increase in the frequency of storms) would have an immaterial impact on yields. Due to
the high degree of estimation uncertainty around the impact of climate change on the intensity
and frequency of storms, this conclusion may change in the future.

Australian content

IAS 1.125, 129 The fair value of younger timber reflects on average five days per year of intense high winds. Fair
value would decrease by EUR 323 thousand assuming 10 days per year of intense high winds®.

As described in Note 30(D), a flood occurred in 2024 in an area near one of the Group's standing
timber plantations, temporarily affecting the access roads to it but not the plantation itself.
Although employees were temporarily unable to access the plantation, there was no damage to
the plantation itself and no significant impact on the fair value of the standing timber.

IAS 41.49(c) C. Risk management strategy related to agricultural activities

The Group is exposed to the following risks relating to its pine tree plantations. These risks and
management’s strategies to mitigate them are described below.

i. Regulatory and environmental risks
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The Group is subject to environmental and other laws and regulations in various countries in
which it operates. The Group has established environmental policies and procedures aimed at
compliance with these laws.

ii. Supply and demand risk

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the price and sales volume of timber.
When possible, the Group manages this risk by aligning its harvest volume to market supply and
demand. Management performs regular industry trend analyses for projected harvest volumes
and pricing.

Appendices

a.  The educational guidance Effects of climate-related matters on financial statements republished by the IASB in
July 2023 noted that IFRS 13 requires that unobservable inputs reflect the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing, including assumptions about risk that may include climate-related risk.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

Introduction

16. Biological assets (continued)
C. Risk management strategy related to agricultural activities (continued)
iii. Climate-related risks

The Group's pine plantations are exposed to the risk of damage from extreme weather events
such as storms, high winds and drought. Changes in global climate-related conditions could
intensify one or more of these events. Periods of drought and associated high temperatures may
increase the risk of forest fires and insect outbreaks. In addition to their effects on forest yields,
extreme weather events may also increase the cost of operations. The Group has extensive
processes in place aimed at monitoring and mitigating these risks through proactive management
and early detection. The Group has incorporated considerations for climate change into its
reforestation practices, such as the establishment and maintenance of fire breaks and increased
monitoring during fire danger periods.

Physical risks arising from fires and drought are to a great extent subject to risk transfer and
thereby within the cover of the Group's property and business interruption insurance programmes.
However, should the frequency and severity of these events increase as a result of climate
change, the cost of such coverage may increase.

Australian content

For information on the impact of extreme weather events and climate change on the valuation of
standing timber, see Note 16(B)(iii).

17. Inventories

See accounting policies in Notes 44(K) and 8(D).

..2 In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
[
g IAS 1.78(c), 2.36(b) Raw materials and consumables 7415 6,914
g IAS 1.78(c), 2.36(b) Finished goods 4,200 4,705
z Right to recover returned goods® 533 500
E Inventories 12,148 12,119
o
IAS 2.36(h) Carrying amount of inventories pledged as security for liabilities 1,650 2,090
IAS 1.98(a), 2.36(dl) In 2024, inventories of EUR 54,019 thousand (2023: EUR 53,258 thousand) were recognised as an

expense during the year and included in ‘cost of sales'.

IAS 2.36(e)-(9) During 2023, due to regulatory restrictions imposed on the manufacture of a new product in

the Non-recycled Papers segment, the Group tested the related product line for impairment

(see Note 22(C)(ii)) and wrote down the related inventories to their net realisable value, which
resulted in aloss of EUR 42 thousand. In 2024, following a change in estimates, EUR 10 thousand
of the write-down was reversed.

In addition, inventories have been reduced by EUR 345 thousand (2023: EUR 125 thousand) as a
result of the write-down to net realisable value. This write-down was recognised as an expense
during 2024.

The write-downs and reversals are included in ‘cost of sales”.”

7]
o
L
5
S IFRS 15.B21, a.  |IFRS 15 and other accounting standards do not specify where assets for rights to recover products from customers
o BC367 with regards to sales with a right of return should be presented. The Group has included the assets in ‘inventories’
< and disclosed them separately in the note.
Insights b.In our view, for an entity that presents an analysis of expenses by function in the statement of profit or loss and OClI,
3.8.400.70 the write-down of inventories to net realisable value and any reversals should be included in ‘cost of sales'’.

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.




[llustrative disclosures — Notes | 119
Assets

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

18. Trade and other receivables

See accounting policies in Notes 44(P)(i)-(ii) and (S)(i).

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
IAS 1.78(b) Trade receivables due from related parties 40(C) 1,236 642
IAS 1.78(b) Other trade receivables 31,282 21,683

32,518 22,325

A. Transfer of trade receivables®

IFRS 714, 42D(a)~(c) The Group sold with recourse trade receivables to a bank for cash proceeds. These trade
receivables have not been derecognised from the statement of financial position, because the
Group retains substantially all of the risks and rewards — primarily credit risk. The amount received
on transfer has been recognised as a secured bank loan (see Note 28(A)). The arrangement with
the bank is such that the customers remit cash directly to the Group and the Group transfers the
collected amounts to the bank.

The receivables are held within a held-to-collect business model consistent with the Group's
continuing recognition of the receivables.

The following information shows the carrying amount of trade receivables at the reporting date
that have been transferred but have not been derecognised and the associated liabilities.

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
IFRS 742D(e) Carrying amount of trade receivables transferred to a bank 600 1,000
Carrying amount of associated liabilities 598 985

B. Credit and market risks, and impairment losses

Information about the Group's exposure to credit and market risks, and impairment losses for
trade receivables is included in Note 32(C).

Insights a.  There is no specific guidance in the Accounting Standards on the classification of cash flows from factoring

2.3.150.20, 170.30 arrangements — e.g. whether the entity should classify the cash inflows from the factor as operating or financing
in the statement of cash flows. The primary consideration for the classification of cash flows is the nature of the
activity to which they relate and judgement may be needed to apply this to factoring arrangements.

Considering that the customers remit cash directly to the Group, the Group has presented a financing cash inflow
for the proceeds received from the bank, followed by an operating cash inflow for the proceeds received from the
customer and a financing cash outflow for the settlement of amounts due to the bank.
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IAS 745

IAS 1.31

IFRS 5.41(a)~(b), 41(d)

IFRS 5.41(c)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

19. Cash and cash equivalents

See accounting policies in Notes 44(P)(i)—(ii) and (S)(i).
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
Bank balances 50 988
Demand deposits 1,352 861
Cash 1,402 1,849
3-month deposit (cash equivalent) 102 -
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position 1,504 1,849
Bank overdrafts repayable on demand and used for cash management

purposes (334) (282)
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 1,170 1,567

An amount of EUR 300 thousand (2023: nil) included in demand deposits is subject to restrictions
imposed by certain customers. Although the amount can be withdrawn at any time from the bank
without penalty, the agreements with the customers require the Group to keep an aggregate
amount of EUR 300 thousand in a demand deposit account and to use it only to meet warranty
claims arising in the next 12 months (see Note 31(A)).?

20. Disposal group held for sale”
See accounting policy in Note 44(0).

In June 2024, management committed to a plan to sell part of a manufacturing facility within the
Non-recycled Papers segment. Accordingly, part of that facility is presented as a disposal group held
for sale. Efforts to sell the disposal group have started and a sale is expected by April 2025.

A. Impairment losses relating to the disposal group

Impairment losses of EUR 35 thousand for write-downs of the disposal group to the lower of
its carrying amount and its fair value less costs to sell have been included in ‘other expenses’
(see Note 9(B)). The impairment losses have been applied to reduce the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment within the disposal group.

Insights 2.3.10.20, a.

40, 70, IU 03-22

The Group has classified the amount of EUR 300 thousand as cash because it assessed that the contractual
restrictions on use of the amount held in the demand deposit do not change the nature of the demand deposit
because the amount can still be accessed on demand from the bank without penalty. The Group has included the
demand deposit as a component of cash and cash equivalents in its statement of cash flows and presents the
demand deposit as cash and cash equivalents in its statement of financial position. The Group has also provided
disclosure about the restriction on use in Note 19 and disclosure about liquidity risk arising from this demand deposit
and how it manages that risk (see Note 32(C)(iii)).

The part of the Group’s manufacturing facility that has been presented as a disposal group held for sale does not
meet the definition of a discontinued operation in IFRS 5. If it did, then additional disclosures applicable to the
discontinued operation would be required.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

20. Disposal group held for sale (continued)

Introduction

IFRS 5.38 B. Assets and liabilities of disposal group held for sale®

At 31 December 2024, the disposal group was stated at fair value less costs to sell and comprised
the following assets and liabilities.

In thousands of EUR Note

Property, plant and equipment 21(A) 8,129
Inventories 2,775

Trade and other receivables 3,496

Assets held for sale 14,400 £
In thousands of EUR Note §
Trade and other payables 4,270 %
Deferred tax liabilities 14(E) 140 7
Liabilities held for sale 4,410 <

IFRS 5.38 C. Cumulative income or expenses included in OCI

There are no cumulative income or expenses included in OCl relating to the disposal group.

D. Measurement of fair values
i Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 13.93(a)~(b) The non-recurring fair value measurement for the disposal group of EUR 10,050 thousand (before

costs to sell of EUR 60 thousand) has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs g

to the valuation technique used (see Note 4(B)).” 2
[

ii. Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs =
7]

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of the disposal G

group, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used. B-E_

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Cost approach and discounted cash flows: The Group considers both ¢ Budgeted EBITDA growth rate

approaches, and reconciles and weighs the estimates under each technique (4.2-5.1%, weighted average

based on its assessment of the judgement that market participants would 4.7%).

apply. The cost approach considers the current replacement costs of

replicating the manufacturing facility, including the costs of transportation,
installation and start-up. Discounted cash flows consider the present value
of the net cash flows expected to be generated from the facility, taking ) i )
into account the budgeted EBITDA growth rate and budgeted capital * Risk-adjusted discount rate

e Budgeted capital expenditure
growth rate (3-4%, weighted
average 3.5%).

. . . 0
expenditure growth rate; the expected net cash flows are discounted using (7.7%).
a risk-adjusted discount rate.
n
)
2
b=
8
IFRS 5.38 a. The Group has elected to disclose major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held-for-sale in the notes. 2
Alternatively, this information may be provided in the statement of financial position. <
IFRS 13.93(a), b. A non-recurring fair value measurement — e.g. related to an asset classified as held-forsale — may occur during the
Insights 2.4.530 reporting period. The disclosures required for a non-recurring fair value measurement are applicable in the financial

statements for the period in which the fair value measurement occurred.
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c - - - .
g Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
-]
g 21. Property, plant and equipment
See accounting policies in Notes 44(L), (S)(ii) and (U)(ii).
A. Reconciliation of carrying amount’
Fixtures
Land and Plant and and Under
In thousands of EUR Note buildings equipment fittings construction Total
Cost
IAS 16.73(d) Balance at 1 January 2023 10,746 29,509 5,289 - 45,544
IAS 16.73(e)(i) Additions 193 1,540 675 - 2,408
‘g’ IAS 16.73(e)(ii) Disposals (315) (1,081) - - (1,396)
‘g’ IAS 16.73(e) viii) Effect of movements in exchange
e rates - 316 171 - 487
',—§ IAS 16.73(d) Balance at 31 December 2023 10,624 30,284 6,135 - 47043
3 IAS 16.73(d) Balance at 1 January 2023 10,624 30,284 6,135 - 47,043
IAS 16.73(e)iii) Acquisitions through business
combinations 34(C) 185 1,580 190 - 1,955
IAS 16.73(e)(i) Additions 1,750 9,694 657 4,100 16,201
IAS 16.73(e)(ix) Reclassification to investment
property — depreciation offset 21(F) (300) - - - (300)
IAS 16.73(e)(ix) Revaluation of building
reclassified to investment
" property 21(F) 200 - - - 200
‘g’ IAS 16.73(e)(ix) Reclassification to investment
£ property 21(F) (800) - - - (800)
g IAS 16.73(e)lii) Reclassification to assets held for
> sale 20(B) - (9,222) - - (9,222)
g IAS 16.73(e)ii) Disposals (402) (11,659) (2,100) - (14,161)
a IAS 16.73(e)(viil) Effect of movements in exchange
rates - 91 50 - 141
IAS 16.73(d) Balance at 31 December 2024 11,257 20,768 4,932 4,100 41,057
2
&
< IAS 16.73(d)-(e) a.  Although IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment only requires the reconciliation of the carrying amount at the

beginning and at the end of the reporting period, the Group has also provided separate reconciliations of the gross
carrying amount and accumulated depreciation. These additional reconciliations are not required and a different
format may be used.
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IAS 16.73(d)
IAS 16.73(e)(vii)
IAS 16.73(e)(v)
IAS 16.73(e)(ii)
IAS 16.73(e)(viii)

IAS 16.73(d)

IAS 16.73(d)

IAS 16.73(e)(vii)
IAS 16.73(e)(vi)
IAS 16.73(e)(ix)
IAS 16.73(e)(ii)

IAS 16.73(e)(ii)
IAS 16.73(e)(viii)

IAS 16.73(d)

IAS 1.78(a), 16.73(e)

[IFRS 16.47]

IAS 36.126(a)-(b)

IAS 743
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

21. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
A. Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Land and Plant and Fixtures Under

In thousands of EUR Note buildings equipment and fittings construction Total
Accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses
Balance at 1 January 2023 1,615 5,557 939 - 8,111
Depreciation 9(C) 123 4,240 759 - 5,122
Impairment loss 21(B), 9(C) - 1,123 - - 1,123
Disposals - (700) - - (700)
Effect of movements in exchange

rates - 98 59 - 157
Balance at 31 December 2023 1,738 10,318 1,757 - 13,813
Balance at 1 January 2023 1,738 10,318 1,757 - 13,813
Depreciation 9(C) 120 4,478 741 - 5,339
Reversal of impairment loss 21(B), 9(C) - (393) - - (393)
Reclassification to investment

property — depreciation offset 21(F) (300) - - - (300)
Reclassification to assets held

for sale 20(B) - (1,058) - - (1,058)
Disposals - (3,808) (1,127) - (4,935)
Effect of movements in exchange

rates - 63 38 - 101
Balance at 31 December 2024 1,558 9,600 1,409 - 12,567
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2023 9,131 23,952 4,350 - 37433
At 31 December 2023 8,886 19,966 4,378 - 33,230
At 31 December 2024 9,699 11,168 3,623 4,100 28,490

Property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets of EUR 3,593 thousand (2023:
EUR 4,153 thousand) related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment
property (see Note 37(A)(i)).

B. Impairment loss and subsequent reversal

During 2023, due to regulatory restrictions imposed on the manufacture of a new product in the
Non-recycled Papers segment, the Group tested the related product line for impairment and
recognised an impairment loss of EUR 1,123 thousand with respect to plant and equipment. In
2024, EUR 393 thousand of the loss was reversed. Further information about the impairment loss
and subsequent reversal is included in Note 22(C)(ii).

C. Leased property, plant and equipment

During 2024, the Group recognised additions to right-of-use assets related to leased properties
that do not meet the definition of investment property of EUR 150 thousand (2023: EUR 180
thousand in relation to leases of production equipment). Some leases provide the Group with the

option to buy the equipment at a beneficial price.
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IAS 16.74(a)

IAS 16.74(b)

IAS 23.26

IFRS 13.93(d)

IAS 8.39, 16.76

IAS 1.41(a)-(c)

IAS 16.79

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

21. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
D. Security

At 31 December 2024, properties with a carrying amount of EUR 5,000 thousand (2023: EUR 4,700
thousand) were subject to a registered debenture that forms security for bank loans (see Note 28(A)).

E. Property, plant and equipment under construction

During 2024, the Group acquired a piece of land for EUR 3,100 thousand, with the intention of
constructing a new factory on the site.

The Group has started construction and costs incurred up to 31 December 2024 totalled

EUR 1,000 thousand. Included in this amount are capitalised borrowing costs related to the
acquisition of the land and the construction of the factory of EUR 194 thousand, calculated using a
capitalisation rate of 5.2 percent.

F. Transfer to investment property

During 2024, a building was transferred to investment property (see Note 23(A)), because it was
no longer used by the Group and it was decided that the building would be leased to a third party.

Immediately before the transfer, the Group remeasured the property to fair value and recognised
a gain of EUR 200 thousand in OCI. The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
used in measuring the fair value of the building at the date of transfer were the same as those
applied to investment property at the reporting date (see Note 23(C)(ii).

G. Change in estimates®

During 2024, the Group conducted an operational efficiency review at one of its plants, which
resulted in changes in the expected usage of certain dyeing equipment. The dyeing equipment,
which management had previously intended to sell after five years of use, is now expected to
remain in production for 12 years from the date of purchase. As a result, the expected useful life of
the equipment increased and its estimated residual value decreased.

As part of its commitment to reduce the carbon footprint of its Timber Products segment

(see Note 38), the Group decided to replace its fleet of diesel trucks. This resulted in a reduction
in the expected useful life of the trucks, which were originally intended to be sold after eight
years of use but are now expected to remain in use for only two more years. Consequently, the
estimated residual value of the trucks has increased.

The effect of these changes on actual and expected depreciation expense, included in ‘cost of
sales’, was as follows.

In thousands of EUR 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 Later

(Decrease) increase in depreciation
expense (256) (113) 150 150 130 170

H. Change in classification

During 2024, the Group modified the classification of depreciation expense on certain office
space to reflect more appropriately the way in which economic benefits are derived from its use.
Comparative amounts in the statement of profit or loss and OCI were reclassified for consistency.
As aresult, EUR 120 thousand was reclassified from ‘administrative expenses' to ‘selling and
distribution expenses”.

I. Temporarily idle property, plant and equipment

At 31 December 2024, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of EUR 503 thousand were
temporarily idle, but the Group plans to operate the assets in 2025.

Transitioning to a lower-carbon economy can pose climate-related risks and opportunities that may affect an entity's
business and strategic plans. It can also affect the useful lives and residual values of assets and the methods of
depreciation or amortisation. See our article for more information on how climate-related matters influence useful
lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
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IAS 38.118(c)

IAS 38.118(e)(i)
IAS 38.118(e)(i)
IAS 38.118(e)(i)
IAS 38.118(e)(viii)
IAS 38.118(e)(vii)

IFRS 3.B67(d)\viii),

IAS 38.118(c)
IFRS 3.B67(d)(i),
IAS 38.118(c)

IFRS 3.B67(d)(ii),
IAS 38.118(e)(i)

IAS 38.118(e)(i)
IAS 38.118(e)(i)
IAS 38.118(e)(i)
IAS 38.118(e)(viii)
IAS 38.118(e)(vii)

IFRS 3.B67(d)(vii),

IAS 38.118(c)
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

22. Intangible assets and goodwill
See accounting policies in Notes 44(M) and (S)(ii).

A. Reconciliation of carrying amount’

Patents and Development Customer Emissions

In thousands of EUR Note Goodwill trademarks costs relationships certificates” Total
Cost
Balance at 1 January

2023 3,545 1,264 4,011 - 100 8,920
Acquisitions

Internally developed - - 515 - - 515

Government grant 30(B) - - - - 120 120

Purchases - - - - 10 10
Disposals - - - - (110) (110)
Effect of movements in

exchange rates - (171) (95) - - (266)
Balance at
31 December 2023 3,645 1,093 4,431 - 120 9,189
Balance at 1 January

2024 3,545 1,093 4,431 - 120 9,189
Acquisitions

Business

combinations 34(C)~(D) 541 170 - 80 - 791

Internally developed - - 1,272 - - 1,272

Government grant 30(B) - - - - 115 115

Purchases - - - - 20 20
Disposals 31(D) - - - - (140) (140)
Effect of movements in

exchange rates - 186 200 - - 386
Balance at
31 December 2024 4,086 1,449 5,903 80 115 11,633

IAS 38.118(c), (e)

Insights
5.14.100.10

Although IAS 38 Intangible Assets requires only the reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and at the
end of the reporting period, the Group has also provided separate reconciliations of the gross carrying amount and
accumulated amortisation. These additional reconciliations are not required and a different format may be used.

The Accounting Standards do not contain specific guidance on accounting for emissions allowances. In our view, a
polluting entity participating in a cap and trade scheme should choose an accounting policy, to be applied consistently,
to account for emissions allowances based on one of the following approaches.

* Asintangible assets: Under this approach, it is argued that emissions allowances are identifiable non-monetary
assets that do not have physical substance and that therefore they meet the definition of an intangible asset.

* Asinventories: Under this approach, it is argued that emissions allowances are effectively an input to be consumed
in the production process, similar to inventories.

The Group has elected to account for emissions allowances as intangible assets.
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IFRS 3.B67(d)(i),
IAS 38.118(c)

IAS 38.118(e)(vi)

IAS 38.118(e)(iv)
IAS 38.118(e)(vii)

IFRS 3.B67(d)(viii),

IAS 38.118(c)

IFRS 3.B67(d)(i),
IAS 38.118(c)

IAS 38.118(e)(vi)

IFRS 3.B67(d)(v),
IAS 38.118(e)(iv)

IAS 38.118(e)(v)
IAS 38.118(e)(vii)

IFRS 3.B67(d)(viii),

IAS 38.118(c)

IAS 38.118(c)

IAS 38.118(c)

IAS 38.118(c)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

22. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
A. Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Patents and Development Customer  Emissions

In thousands of EUR Note Goodwill trademarks costs relationships allowances Total
Accumulated

amortisation and

impairment losses
Balance at 1 January

2023 138 552 2,801 - - 3,491
Amortisation 22(B), 9(C) - 18 677 - - 795
Impairment loss 22(C), 9(C) - - 285 - - 285
Effect of movements in

exchange rates - (31) (12) - - (43)
Balance at 31 December

2023 138 639 3,751 - - 4,528
Balance at 1 January

2024 138 639 3,751 - - 4,528
Amortisation 22(B), 9(C) - 129 646 10 - 785
Impairment loss 22(C), 9(B) 116 - - - - 116
Reversal of impairment

loss 22(C), 9(C) - - (100) - - (100)
Effect of movements in

exchange rates - 61 17 - - 78
Balance at 31

December 2024 254 829 4,314 10 - 5,407
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2023 3,407 712 1,210 - 100 5,429
Non-current 5,329
Current 100
At 31 December 2023 3,407 454 680 - 120 4,661
Non-current 4,541
Current 120
At 31 December 2024 3,832 620 1,589 70 115 6,226
Non-current 6,111
Current 115
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IAS 36.131(b)

IAS 36.130(d)(ii)

IAS 36.126(a)-(b)

IAS 36.130(d)(ii)

IAS 36.126(a)-(b)

IAS 36.132
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

22. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
B. Amortisation

The amortisation of patents, trademarks and development costs is allocated to the cost of
inventory and is included in ‘cost of sales’ as inventory is sold; the amortisation of customer
relationships is included in ‘cost of sales'".

C. Impairment test’

The impairment loss and its subsequent reversal were recognised in relation to the manufacture of
a new product in the Non-recycled Papers segment and the goodwill in the Timber Products CGU
as follows.

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023

Non-recycled Papers
Plant and equipment and development costs 22(C)(ii) (493) 1,408

The impairment loss and subsequent reversal in relation to the Non-recycled Papers segment
were included in ‘cost of sales’ (see Note 9(C)).”

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023

Timber Products
Goodwill 22(C)(iii) 116 -

The impairment loss on goodwill in the Timber Products CGU was included in ‘other expenses’
(see Note 9(B)).”

i.  Recoverability of development costs’

Included in the carrying amount of development costs at 31 December 2024 is an amount of

EUR 400 thousand related to a development project for a new process in one of the Group'’s
factories in the Non-recycled Papers segment. The regulatory approval that would allow this new
process was delayed; consequently, the benefit of the new process will not be realised as soon as
previously expected and management has carried out an impairment test.

The recoverable amount of the CGU that included these development costs (the factory using
the process) was estimated based on the present value of the future cash flows expected to
be derived from the CGU (value in use), assuming that the regulatory approval would be passed
by July 2025 and using a pre-tax discount rate of 12 percent and a terminal value growth rate of
2 percent from 2029. The recoverable amount of the CGU was estimated to be higher than its
carrying amount and no impairment was required.

Management considers it possible that the regulatory approval may be delayed by a further year to
July 2026. This further delay would result in an impairment of approximately EUR 100 thousand in
the carrying amount of the factory.

IAS 36.126,
Insights 3.10.410.20

IAS 36.132, 134

See our article for information on how climate-related matters influence cash flow projections for impairment testing
of non-financial assets, as well as disclosure considerations.

The Group has classified expenses by function and has therefore allocated the impairment loss to the appropriate
function. In our view, in the rare case that an impairment loss cannot be allocated to a function, it should be included
in ‘other expenses' as a separate line item if it is significant (e.g. impairment of goodwill), with additional information
given in a note.

The Group has disclosed the key assumptions (discount rate and terminal growth rate) used to determine the
recoverable amount of assets and CGUs, although disclosures beyond the discount rate are only required for CGUs
containing goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets.
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IAS 36.130(a), (d)(i)

IAS 36.130(e)

IAS 36.130(g), 132

IAS 36.130(e)

IAS 36.134(a)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

22. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
C. Impairment test (continued)

ii. Impairment loss and subsequent reversal in relation to a new product

During 2023, a regulatory inspection revealed that a new product in the Non-recycled Papers
segment did not meet certain environmental standards, necessitating substantial changes to the
manufacturing process. Before the inspection, the product was expected to be available for sale in
2024; however, as a result of the regulatory restrictions, production and the expected launch date
were deferred.

Accordingly, management estimated the recoverable amount of the CGU (the product line)
in 2023.The recoverable amount was estimated based on its value in use, assuming that the
production line would go live in August 2025.

In 2024, following certain significant changes to the recovery plan, the Group reassessed its
estimates and reversed part of the initially recognised impairment.

The estimate of value in use was determined using a pre-tax discount rate of 10.5 percent
(2023: 9.8 percent) and a terminal value growth rate of 3 percent from 2029 (2023: 3 percent
from 2028).?

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Plant and equipment 21(B) (393) 1,123
Development costs (100) 285
(Reversal of) impairment loss (493) 1,408

At 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of the CGU was as follows.
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023

Recoverable amount 1,576 1,083

iii. Impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill’

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Group’s CGUs
(operating divisions) as follows.

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
European Paper manufacturing and distribution 2,676 2,135
Timber Products 960 1,076
3,636 3,21
IAS 36.135 Multiple units without significant goodwill 196 196
3,832 3,407
IAS 36.132, 134 a.  The Group has disclosed the key assumptions used (discount rate and terminal growth rate) to determine the
recoverable amount of assets and CGUs, although disclosures beyond the discount rate are required only for CGUs
containing goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets.
IAS 36.134 b. Separate disclosures are required for each CGU (or group of CGUs) for which the carrying amount of goodwill or

intangible assets with an indefinite useful life allocated to the CGU is significant in comparison with its carrying
amount.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

22. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
C. Impairment test (continued)

Introduction

iii. Impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill (continued)
European Paper manufacturing and distribution

IAS 36.134(c), (e) The recoverable amount of this CGU was based on fair value less costs of disposal, estimated
using discounted cash flows. The fair value measurement was categorised as a Level 3 fair value
based on the inputs in the valuation technique used (see Note 4(B)).

IAS 36.134(e)(i) The key assumptions” used in the estimation of the recoverable amount are set out below.
The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future "
trends in the relevant industries and have been based on historical data from both external and §
internal sources. S
In percent 2024 2023 s
S
IAS 36.134(e)(v), ()i Discount rate 8.7 8.5 9
IAS 36.134(e)(iv) Terminal value growth rate 1.0 0.9 <
IAS 36.134(e)i), (A)(ii) Budgeted EBITDA growth rate (average of next five years) 5.2 4.8
IAS 36.134(e)lii) The discount rate was a post-tax measure estimated based on the historical industry average

weighted-average cost of capital, with a possible debt leveraging of 40 percent at a market interest
rate of 7 percent.

IAS 36.134(e)ii)~{iii) The cash flow projections included specific estimates for five years and a terminal growth rate
thereafter. The terminal growth rate was determined based on management’s estimate of the
long-term compound annual EBITDA growth rate, consistent with the assumptions that a market
participant would make.

IAS 36.134(e)ii) Budgeted EBITDA was estimated taking into account past experience, adjusted as follows.
e Sales volumes for the next five years were projected based on their average increase over the

past five years. This is in line with market expectations of demand for the next five years. It was
assumed that the sales price would increase in line with forecast inflation over the next five years.
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¢ Significant one-off environmental costs have been factored into the budgeted EBITDA,
reflecting various potential regulatory developments in a number of European countries in which
the CGU operates. Other environmental costs are assumed to grow with inflation in other years.

e Estimated cash flows related to a restructuring that is expected to be carried out in 2025."

e Adecrease of 20 percent in waterusage-related costs starting in 2026, assuming that the
construction of a water recycling facility is finalised in 2025. The project has been approved
by the board of directors and is expected to reduce the costs of acquiring and disposing of
water during the paper recycling process. Water recycling supports the Group's strategy
to mitigate the key climate-related risks to which the CGU is exposed — the unavailability of
clean water resources, a significant cost increase in acquiring clean water and exposure to
waterusage-related taxes or levies.*

The estimated costs of constructing the water recycling facility were also included in calculating the
recoverable amount.”

IAS 36.134(d)(ii), a.  |AS 36 /mpairment of Assets specifically requires quantitative disclosures (i.e. values) in respect of the discount
(iv)~(v), (e)(ii, rates and growth rates used to extrapolate cash flow projections. Narrative disclosures are sufficient for other key
(V)=(v), (1), IE89 assumptions, having regard to the requirement for an entity to disclose a description of management's approach

to determining the value(s) assigned to each key assumption, whether those value(s) reflect past experience or,
if appropriate, are consistent with external sources of information, and, if not, how and why they differ from past

experience or external sources of information. An entity also discloses additional quantitative information if a -

reasonably possible change in key assumptions would result in an impairment. %

c

IAS 36.6, Insights b.  Fair value is determined from a market participant’s perspective in accordance with IFRS 13. Cash flows related to 2

3.10.185.10 restructurings and capital expenditure are included if consistent with a market participant’s perspective. <°'
IAS 36.134(e)(ii) c. The Group has disclosed information on the impact of significant climate-related risks and opportunities on the key

assumptions used in calculating the fair value less costs of disposal of the CGU. This is because the CGU is highly
exposed to climate-related risks and opportunities and the impact on the key assumptions used is significant.
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IAS 36.134(1)(i)

IAS 36.134(1){iii)
IAS 36.134(1){iii)

IAS 1.125,
36.134(c)~(d)

IAS 36.134(d)(i)

IAS 36.134(d)(v)
IAS 36.134(d)(iv)
I1AS 36.134(d)(i), (f)(ii)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

22. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

C. Impairment test (continued)

iii. Impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill (continued)
European Paper manufacturing and distribution (continued)

The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU exceeded its carrying amount by approximately
EUR 300 thousand (2023: EUR 250 thousand). Management has identified that a reasonably
possible change in two key assumptions could cause the carrying amount to exceed the
recoverable amount. The following table shows the amount by which these two assumptions
would need to change individually for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying
amount.

Change required for
carrying amount to equal
recoverable amount

In percent 2024 2023
Discount rate 1.6 1.3
Budgeted EBITDA growth rate (4.4) (3.6)

Timber Products

The recoverable amount of this CGU was based on its value in use, determined by discounting

the future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the CGU. The carrying amount of
the CGU was determined to be higher than its recoverable amount of EUR 960 thousand and an
impairment loss of EUR 116 thousand during 2024 (2023: nil) was recognised. The impairment loss
was fully allocated to goodwill and included in ‘other expenses'.

The Group committed in 2024 to reduce the carbon footprint of its Timber Products segment

(see Note 38). The impact of this project — which has substantively commenced in 2023 incurring
costs of EUR 1,000 thousand and under which additional capital expenditure of EUR 20,000
thousand is expected in the next four years — was included in calculating the recoverable amount.?
Furthermore, the budgeted EBITDA growth rate is expected to decrease by 1 percent on

average in the next five years due to higher energy costs. The budgeted EBITDA does not reflect
environmental costs arising from potential regulatory developments, as the Group expects that
the project will decrease the carbon footprint to sufficiently low levels.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value in use were as follows.”

In percent 2024 2023
Discount rate 9.6 10.0
Terminal value growth rate 18 2.0
Budgeted EBITDA growth rate (average of next five years) 8.0 9.0

IAS 36.48, a.

Insights 3.10.250.20

IAS 36.134(c)(ii, b.

(iv)—(v), (e)lii),
(iv)—(v), (f), IES9

IAS 36 requires that, when determining value in use, the benefits from capital expenditure to improve or enhance
an asset’s performance are taken into account in the future net cash flow estimation only once the expenditure

is incurred. In our view, capital expenditure should be considered incurred once the project has substantively
commenced, rather than it being necessary for the project to have been completed.

IAS 36 specifically requires quantitative disclosures (i.e. values) in respect of the discount rates and growth rates
used to extrapolate cash flow projections. Narrative disclosures are sufficient for other key assumptions, having
regard to the requirement for an entity to disclose a description of management'’s approach to determining the
value(s) assigned to each key assumption, whether those value(s) reflect past experience or, if appropriate, are
consistent with external sources of information, and, if not, how and why they differ from past experience or external
sources of information. An entity also discloses additional quantitative information if a reasonably possible change in
key assumptions would result in an impairment.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

22. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
C. Impairment test (continued)

iii. Impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill (continued)

Timber Products (continued)

IAS 36.134(d)(ii) The discount rate was a pre-tax measure” based on the rate of 10-year government bonds issued by
the Government in the relevant market and in the same currency as the cash flows, adjusted for a
risk premium to reflect both the increased risk of investing in equities generally and the systematic
risk of the specific CGU.

IAS 36.134(d)(ii)~{iii) Five years of cash flows were included in the discounted cash flow model. A long-term growth
rate into perpetuity has been determined as the lower of the nominal gross domestic product
(GDP) rates for the countries in which the CGU operates and the long-term compound annual
EBITDA growth rate estimated by management.

Budgeted EBITDA was based on expectations of future outcomes taking into account past
experience, adjusted for anticipated revenue growth. Revenue growth was projected taking into
account the average growth levels experienced over the past five years and the estimated sales
volume and price growth for the next five years. It was assumed that sales prices would grow at a
constant margin above forecast inflation over the next five years, in line with information obtained
from external brokers who publish a statistical analysis of long-term market trends.

IAS 36.134(f) Following the impairment loss recognised in the Group's Timber Products CGU, the recoverable
amount was equal to the carrying amount. Therefore, any adverse movement in a key assumption
would lead to further impairment.

D. Development costs

IAS 23.26(a)-(b) Included in development costs is an amount of EUR 37 thousand (2023: EUR 12 thousand) that
represents borrowing costs capitalised during the year using a capitalisation rate of 5.1 percent
(2023: 5.4 percent).

E. Emissions allowances

The Group participates in a ‘cap and trade’ scheme in various countries. Under the scheme, at the
beginning of each year the Government in each country sets specific annual limits for emitting
pollutants and grants the Group the respective number of emissions allowances. The Group can
settle its annual obligation created by the emissions of pollutants only by surrendering emissions
allowances by a specified date, which is usually within 12 months after the reporting date. If the
Group's annual emissions are below the limit, then it can sell the remaining allowances to other
parties on a trading platform. Conversely, if the annual emissions exceed the limit, then the Group
purchases additional allowances to settle its obligation. Historically, the Group has emitted more
pollutants than its annual allocation of emissions allowances from the Government and has had to
purchase additional allowances.

The Group recognises emissions allowances as intangible assets. Emissions allowances received
from the Government are initially measured at fair value, which is determined based on the market
price of allowances traded on the platform at that date. Emissions allowances purchased on the
trading platform are initially measured at cost.

In 2024, the Group received emissions allowances amounting to EUR 115 thousand

(2023: EUR 120 thousand) (see Note 31(D)). In addition, the Group purchased emissions
allowances amounting to EUR 20 thousand during 2024 (2023: EUR 10 thousand) on a
trading platform. The additional allowances are purchased and surrendered within a period of
less than 12 months to settle the obligation to the Government.

IAS 36.50(b), 55, a. |AS 36 prima facie requires value in use to be determined using pre-tax cash flows and a pre-tax discount rate.
AZ20, Insights However, in our experience it is more common to use post-tax cash flows and a post-tax discount rate such as the
3.10.840.10-20 weighted-average cost of capital. Challenges arise in following a post-tax approach appropriately so that the resulting

value in use is consistent with the pre-tax principle.

Whichever rate is used (pre- or post-tax), the pre-tax discount rate needs to be disclosed. When value in use is
determined using post-tax cash flows and a post-tax discount rate, the pre-tax discount rate needs to be calculated
to comply with the disclosure requirements.
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IAS 40.76, IFRS 13.93(e)

IAS 40.76(a),
IFRS 13.93(e)(iii)

IAS 40.76(f),
IFRS 13.93(e)(iii)

IAS 40.76(d),
IFRS 13.93(e)(i), (f)

IAS 40.76, IFRS 13.93(e)
IFRS 16.92(a)

IFRS 13.93(e)(i), (f)

IAS 40.75(f)(i)—(iii)

IAS 40.75(e)

IFRS 13.93(b)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

23. Investment property®
See accounting policy in Note 44(N).
A. Reconciliation of carrying amount

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Balance at 1 January 400 300
Acquisitions 300 40
Reclassification from property, plant and equipment 21(F) 800 -
Change in fair value 9(A) 20 60
Balance at 31 December 1,520 400

Investment property comprises a number of commercial properties that are leased to third parties.
Each of the leases contains an initial non-cancellable period of 10 years. Subsequent renewals

are negotiated with the lessee and historically the average renewal period is four years. Further
information about these leases is included in Note 37(B).

Changes in fair values are recognised as gains in profit or loss and included in ‘other income’. All
gains are unrealised.

B. Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Rental income recognised by the Group during 2024 was EUR 460 thousand (2023: EUR 302
thousand) and was included in ‘other revenue’ (see Note 8(A)). Maintenance expense, included in
‘cost of sales’ (see Note 9(C)), was as follows.

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
Income-generating property 45 30
Vacant property 20 15

65 45

C. Measurement of fair values
i. Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of investment property was determined by external, independent property valuers,
having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location
and category of the property being valued. The independent valuers provide the fair value of the
Group's investment property portfolio every six months.

The fair value measurements for all of the investment properties have been categorised as a
Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used (see Note 4(B)).

Insights 3.4.260.40 2.

Because IAS 40 Investment Property makes no reference to making disclosures on a class-by-class basis, it could be
assumed that the minimum requirement is to make the disclosures on an aggregate basis for the whole investment
property portfolio. If investment property represents a significant portion of the assets, then it may be appropriate to
disclose additional analysis — e.g. portfolio by types of investment property.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

23. Investment property (continued)
C. Measurement of fair values (continued)

ii. Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs
The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment

property, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Valuation technique

Significant unobservable inputs

Inter-relationship between key
unobservable inputs and fair value
measurement

Discounted cash flows:The
valuation model considers the
present value of net cash flows to
be generated from the property,
taking into account the expected
market rental growth rate, void
periods, occupancy rate, lease
incentive costs such as rent-free
periods and other costs not paid
by tenants. The expected net cash
flows are discounted using risk-
adjusted discount rates. Among
other factors, the discount rate
estimation considers the quality
of a building and its location
(prime vs secondary), tenant
credit quality and lease terms.

Expected market rental growth
(2024: 2-3%, weighted average
2.6%; 2023: 2-3%, weighted
average 2.5%).

Void periods (2024 and 2023:
average 6 months after the end of
each lease).

Occupancy rate (2024: 90-95%,
weighted average 92.5%; 2023:

91-95%, weighted average 92.8%).

Rent-free periods (2024 and 2023:
1-year period on new leases).

Risk-adjusted discount rates (2024
5-6.3%, weighted average 5.8%;
2023: 5.7-6.8%, weighted average
6.1%).

The estimated fair value would
increase (decrease) if:

e expected market rental
growth were higher (lower);

e void periods were shorter
(longer);

e the occupancy rate were
higher (lower);

¢ rent-free periods were shorter
(longer); or

® the risk-adjusted discount
rates were lower (higher).
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IFRS 12.20(a),
21(a)(i)~(iii), (b)(iii)

IFRS 12.7(c), 20(b),

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

24. Equity-accounted investees®"®

See accounting policies in Notes 44(A)(v)—(vi) and (S)(i).

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Interest in joint venture 24(A) 2,217 1,048
Interests in associates 24(B) 272 900
Balance at 31 December 2,489 1,948

A. Joint venture®

Paletel AG (Paletel) is a joint venture in which the Group has joint control and a 40 percent
ownership interest. It is one of the Group’s strategic suppliers and is principally engaged in the
production of paper pulp in Himmerland, Denmark. Paletel is not publicly listed.

Paletel is structured as a separate vehicle and the Group has a residual interest in the net assets of
Paletel. Accordingly, the Group has classified its interest in Paletel as a joint venture. In accordance
with the agreement under which Paletel is established, the Group and the other investor in the
joint venture have agreed to make additional contributions in proportion to their interests to make
up any losses, if required, up to a maximum amount of EUR 6,000 thousand. This commitment has
not been recognised in these consolidated financial statements.

23(a), B18

a.
IFRS 12.21 b.
IFRS 12.21-23, ¢.
B12-B13

For additional disclosure examples and explanatory notes on IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, see
our Guide to annual financial statements — IFRS 12 supplement.

The extent of disclosures required by IFRS 12 for individually material interests in joint arrangements and associates
differs from that for individually immaterial interests. For example, required financial information may be disclosed in
aggregate for all individually immaterial associates.

The extent of disclosures required by IFRS 12 for individually material joint ventures and joint operations is different.
For example, the disclosure of summarised financial information, fair value (if there is a quoted market price) and
commitments is not required for joint operations.
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24. Equity-accounted investees (continued) £
A. Joint venture (continued)
IFRS 12.21(b), The following table summarises the financial information of Paletel as included in its own financial
Bi2-614 statements, adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition and differences in accounting
policies. The table also reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying amount of
the Group's interest in Paletel.
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
IFRS 12.21(a)(iv) Percentage ownership interest 40% 40%
IFRS 12.B12(b){ii) Non-current assets 5,953 3,259
IFRS 12.B12(b)(i), Current assets (including cash and cash equivalents — :,E,
B13(a) 2024: EUR 200 thousand, 2023: EUR 150 thousand) 1,089 821 5
IFRS 12.B12(b){iv), Non-current liabilities (including non-current financial liabilities E
B13(c) excluding trade and other payables and provisions — T
2024: EUR 1,211 thousand, 2023: EUR 986 thousand) (1,716) (1,320) o
IFRS 12.B12(b)ii), Current liabilities (including current financial liabilities <
B13(b) excluding trade and other payables and provisions —
2024: EUR 422 thousand, 2023: EUR 930 thousand) (543) (1,130)
Net assets (100%) 4,783 1,630
Group's share of net assets (40%) 1,913 652
Elimination of unrealised profit on downstream sales (96) (4)
Goodwill 400 400
Carrying amount of interest in joint venture 2,217 1,048 @
c
IFRS 12.B12(b)(v) Revenue 25,796 21,405 %
IFRS 12.B13(d) Depreciation and amortisation (445) (350) I
IFRS 12.B13(f) Interest expense (396) (218) g
IFRS 12.B13(g) Income tax expense (1,275) (290) £
IFRS 12.B12(b){vi), (ix) Profit and total comprehensive income (100%) 3,205 690 o
Profit and total comprehensive income (40%) 1,282 276
Elimination of unrealised profit on downstream sales (92) (4)
Group'’s share of total comprehensive income 1,190 272
IFRS 12.B12(a) Dividends received by the Group 21 -
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IFRS 12.20, 21(a)(i)—(ii),

(b)(iii)

IFRS 12.21(b),
B12-B14

IFRS 12.21(a)(iv)
IFRS 12.B12(b)(ii)
IFRS 12.B12(b)(i)
IFRS 12.B12(b)(iv)
IFRS 12.B12(b)(iii)

IFRS 12.B12(b)(v)

IFRS 12.B12(b)(vi)
IFRS 12.B12(b)(viii)
IFRS 12.B12(b)(ix)

IFRS 12.7(b), 12.9(e),
IAS 1.122

IFRS 12.21(c), B16

IFRS 12.22(c)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

24. Equity-accounted investees (continued)
B. Associates

On 31 March 2024, the Group's equity interest in its material associate, Papyrus, increased from
25 to 90 percent and Papyrus became a subsidiary from that date (see Note 34). Papyrus is one
of the Group's strategic suppliers and is principally engaged in the production of paper pulp in
Kentucky, US. Papyrus is not publicly listed.

The following table summarises the financial information of Papyrus as included in its own financial
statements, adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition and differences in accounting
policies. The table also reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying amount

of the Group's interest in Papyrus. The information for 2023 presented in the table includes the
results of Papyrus for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2023. The information for 2024
includes the results of Papyrus only for the period from 1 January to 31 March 2024, because
Papyrus became a subsidiary on 31 March 2024.

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
Percentage ownership interest 25% 25%
Non-current assets - 1,280
Current assets - 1,975
Non-current liabilities - (1,087)
Current liabilities - (324)
Net assets (100%) - 1,844
Group's share of net assets (25%) - 461
Elimination of unrealised profit on downstream sales - (8)
Carrying amount of interest in associate - 453
Revenue 7,863 19,814
Profit from continuing operations 271 857
Other comprehensive income (408) (552)
Total comprehensive income (100%) (137) 305
Total comprehensive income (25%) (34) 76
Elimination of unrealised profit on downstream sales 1 (1)
Group's share of total comprehensive income (33) 75

The Group also has interests in a number of individually immaterial associates. For one of these
associates, the Group owns 20 percent of the equity interests but has less than 20 percent of the
voting rights; however, the Group has determined that it has significant influence because it has
meaningful representation on the board of the investee.

The following table analyses, in aggregate, the carrying amount and share of profit and OCI of
these associates.

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023

Carrying amount of interests in associates 272 447

Share of:

— Profit from continuing operations (133) 102

- 0OCl (57) (31)
(190) 71

The Group has not recognised losses totalling EUR 15 thousand (2023: nil) in relation to its
interests in associates, because the Group has no obligation in respect of these losses.

During 2024, the Group repaid a loan of EUR 1,000 thousand received from one of its associates
(see Notes 28 and 40(C)).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

25. Other investments, including derivatives

See accounting policies in Notes 44(P) and (S)(i).

Introduction

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023

Non-current investments

IFRS 78(f) Corporate debt securities — at amortised cost 2,421 2,243
IFRS 78(h) Corporate debt securities — at FVOCI 118 373
IFRS 78(h) Equity securities — at FVOCI 710 511
IFRS 78(a) Equity securities — mandatorily at FVTPL 251 254
IFRS 722B(a) Interest rate swaps used for hedging 116 131 .
3,616 3,512 g
Current investments E
IFRS 78(a) Sovereign debt securities — mandatorily at FVTPL 243 591 %
IFRS 722B(a) Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 297 352 2
Other forward exchange contracts 122 89 2
662 1,032
IFRS 77 Corporate debt securities classified as at amortised cost have interest rates of 6.3 to 7.8 percent

(2023: 75 to 8.3 percent) and mature in two to five years. Corporate debt securities at FVOCI
have stated interest rates of 5.2 to 70 percent (2023: 6.5 to 8.0 percent) and mature in two to
three years.

Sovereign debt securities at FVTPL have stated interest rates of 3.5 to 4.0 percent (2023: 3.2 to
3.8 percent) and are held for trading.

Information about the Group's exposure to credit and market risks, and fair value measurement, is
included in Note 32(C).

Equity securities designated as at FVOCI®
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IFRS 711A The Group designated the investments shown below as equity securities at FVOCI because
these equity securities represent investments that the Group intends to hold for the long term for
strategic purposes.

Dividend Dividend
Fair value at Fair value at income income
31 December 31 December recognised recognised
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023 during 2024 during 2023
Investment in MSE Limited 243 175 10 12
Investment in DEF Limited 467 336 16 20
710 511 26 32
IFRS 711A(e) No strategic investments were disposed of during 2024, and there were no transfers of any

cumulative gain or loss within equity relating to these investments.

Insights 710.230.25 a.  When disclosing which investments in equity instruments have been designated as at FVOCI, in our view an entity
should apply judgement in determining what disclosures would provide the most useful information for financial
statement users. We believe that in most cases, disclosing the names of individual investees would be appropriate —
e.g. if an entity has a small number of individually significant investments, particularly if this disclosure enables users
to access additional information about those investees from other sources. However, in some cases disclosure at a
higher level of aggregation and disclosures other than the names of investees may provide more useful information.
For example, if an entity has a large number of individually insignificant investments in a few industries, then
disclosure by industry may be appropriate. Similarly, if an entity holds investments for which no public information is
available, then disclosure about the nature and purpose of those investments may be relevant.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

26. Capital and reserves®
See accounting policies in Notes 44(B)(i)—(ii), (E)(iv), (L)(iv), (P)(ii), (P)(iv)—(v), (Q) and (R).
A. Share capital and share premium

Introduction

Non-redeemable

Ordinary shares preference shares
IAS 1.79(a)(iv) In thousands of shares 2024 2023 2024 2023
In issue at 1 January 3,100 3,100 1,750 1,750
Issued for cash 130 - - -
Exercise of share options 5 - - -
‘g’ Issued in business combination 8 - - -
8
§ IAS 1.79(a)(ii) In issue at 31 December - fully paid 3,243 3,100 1,750 1,750
L‘i:’ IAS 1.79(a)(i), (iii) Authorised - par value EUR 3 10,000 10,000 2,000 2,000
o
‘g‘ IAS 1.79(a)(v) All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company'’s residual assets. Preference
<

shareholders participate only to the extent of the face value of the shares.

i. Ordinary shares

Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All rights attached to the Company’s
shares held by the Group are suspended until those shares are reissued.

Issue of ordinary shares

IAS 1.79(a) In October 2024, the general meeting of shareholders approved the issue of 130,000 ordinary
shares at a price of EUR 11.92 per share (2023: nil).

Additionally, 5,000 ordinary shares were issued as a result of the exercise of vested options
arising from the 2020 share option programme granted to key management personnel (2023: nil)
(see Note 12). Options were exercised at an average price of EUR 10 per share.
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IAS 743 During 2024, 8,000 ordinary shares were also issued as a result of the acquisition of Papyrus
(see Note 34(A)) (2023: nil).

ii. Non-redeemable preference shares

Holders of these shares receive a non-cumulative dividend of 25.03 cents per share at the
Company's discretion or whenever dividends to ordinary shareholders are declared. They do not
have the right to participate in any additional dividends declared for ordinary shareholders. These
shares do not have voting rights.

B. Nature and purpose of reserves

i. Translation reserve

IAS 1.79(b) The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations, as well as the effective portion of any
foreign currency differences arising from hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation
(see Note 44(P)(v)).

Appendices

a.  Refer to Australian content: Note 26 Capital and reserves for additional Australia specific disclosures.
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Equity and liabilities

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

26. Capital and reserves (continued)
B. Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

Introduction

IAS 1.79(b) ii. Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value
of hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition in profit or
loss or directly included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability.

IAS 1.79(b) iii. Cost of hedging reserve

The cost of hedging reserve reflects gain or loss on the portion excluded from the designated
hedging instrument that relates to the forward element of forward contracts. It is initially
recognised in OCl and accounted for similarly to gains or losses in the hedging reserve.

iv. Fair value reserve

IAS 1.79(b) The fair value reserve comprises:

Australian content

e the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity securities designated at FVOCI; and

¢ the cumulative net change in fair value of debt securities at FVOCI until the assets are
derecognised or reclassified. This amount is adjusted by the amount of the loss allowance.

v. Revaluation reserve

IAS 1.79(b) The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment immediately
before its reclassification as investment property.

vi. Convertible notes

IAS 1.79(b) The reserve for convertible notes comprises the amount allocated to the equity component for the
convertible notes (series A) issued by the Group in August 2024 (see Note 28(C)).

vii. Treasury share reserve
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IAS 1.79(b), 32.34 The reserve for the Company's treasury shares comprises the cost of the Company's shares held
by the Group. At 31 December 2024, the Group held 48,000 of the Company's shares (2023:
50,000).”

C. Dividends

IAS 1.107 The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company for the year.
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
25.97 cents per qualifying ordinary share (2023: 4.28 cents) 805 133
25.03 cents per non-redeemable preference share (2023: 25.03 cents) 438 438
1,243 571
IAS 1.137(a), 10.13, After the reporting date, the following dividends were proposed by the board of directors. The
12.810) dividends have not been recognised as liabilities and there are no tax consequences.
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
2792 cents per qualifying ordinary share (2023: 25.97 cents) 892 805
25.03 cents per non-redeemable preference share (2023: 25.03 cents) 438 438
1,330 1,243

Appendices

IAS 1.79(a)(vi), 32.34 . The Group has elected to disclose the number of treasury shares held in the notes. Alternatively, it may be disclosed

in the statement of financial position or the statement of changes in equity.
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g Notes to the consolicated financial statements (continued)
T
:c::’ 26. Capital and reserves (continued)
IAS 1.106(d)(ii), 106A D. OCI accumulated in reserves, net of tax®
Cost of hedging
In thousands of EUR reserve
2024
IAS 16.77(f) Revaluation of property, plant and equipment -
Remeasurements of defined benefit liability/asset -
= IFRS 720(a)(vii) Equity investments at FVOCI — net change in fair value -
*2 IAS 21.52(b) Foreign operations — foreign currency translation differences -
E IAS 21.52(b) Reclassification of foreign currency differences on loss of significant influence -
8 IAS 21.52(b) Net investment hedge — net loss -
© . . . .
2 IFRS 724C(b)(ii) Cash flow hedges — effective portion of changes in fair value -
Z IFRS 724C(b)(iv) Cash flow hedges - reclassified to profit or loss -
Cost of hedging reserve — changes in fair value 22
Cost of hedging reserve — reclassified to profit or loss 5
IFRS 7.20(a)(viii) Debt investments at FVOCI — net change in fair value -
IFRS 720(a)(viil) Debt investments at FVOCI — reclassified to profit or loss -
Equity-accounted investees — share of OCI -
Total 27
- 2023
|5 Remeasurements of defined benefit liability/asset -
qE, IFRS 7.20(a)(vii) Equity investments at FVOCI — net change in fair value -
g IAS 21.52(b) Foreign operations — foreign currency translation differences -
§ IAS 21.52(b) Net investment hedge — net loss -
E IFRS 724C(b)(ii) Cash flow hedges — effective portion of changes in fair value -
& IFRS 724C(b)(iv) Cash flow hedges - reclassified to profit or loss -
Cost of hedging reserve — changes in fair value 7
Cost of hedging reserve — reclassified to profit or loss 2
IFRS 720(a){viii) Debt investments at FVOCI — net change in fair value -
Equity-accounted investees — share of OCI -
Total 9
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Equity and liabilities
c
2
°
S
T
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£
Attributable to owners of the Company
Translation Hedging Fair value Revaluation
reserve reserve reserve reserve Retained NCI
(see Note 26(B)(i)) (see Note 26(B)(ii)) (see Note 26(B)(iv)) (see Note 26(B)(v)) earnings Total (see Note 34) Total OCI
- - - 134 - 134 - 134
- - - - 48 48 - 48
- - 94 - - 94 - 94 .
653 - - - - 653 26 679 8
c
(20) - - - - (20) - (20) S
(3) - - - - (3) - (3) £
- (41) - - - (41) - (41) £
- (21) - - - (21) - (21) 3
- - - - - 22 - 22
- - - - - 5 - 5
- - 36 - - 36 - 36
- - (43) - - (43) - (43)
(172) - - - 15 (157) - (157)
458 (62) 87 134 63 707 26 733
]
- - - - (10) (10) - (10) £
- - 41 - - 41 - a1 £
449 - - - - 449 22 471 g
®) - - - - ®) - ®) z
- 64 - - - 64 - 64 E
- (8) - - - (8) - (8) -
- - - - - 7 - 7
- - - - - 2 - 2
- - 41 - - 41 - 41
(166) - - - (3) (169) - (169)
275 56 82 - (13) 409 22 431
n
k:
T
c
o
o
o
<
IAS 1.106A a.  The Group has elected to present the disaggregation of changes in each component of equity arising from
transactions recognised in OCl in the notes. Alternatively, an entity may present the disaggregation in the statement
of changes in equity.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

Introduction

27. Capital management

IAS 1.134-135(a) The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Management monitors the
return on capital, as well as the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

IAS 1.135(a) The board of directors seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be
possible with higher levels of borrowing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position. The Group's target is to achieve a return on capital above 23 percent; in 2024 the
return was 29.9 percent (2023: 24.3 percent). The weighted-average interest expense on interest-
bearing borrowings (excluding liabilities with imputed interest) was 5.8 percent (2023: 5.5 percent).

Management is considering extending the Group's share option programme beyond key
management and other senior employees. Currently, other employees are awarded SARs
and participate in an employee share purchase programme (see Note 12(A)). The Group is in
discussions with employee representatives, but no decisions have been made.

Australian content

IAS 1.135(a) The Group monitors capital using a ratio of 'net debt’ to ‘adjusted equity’. Net debt is calculated
as total liabilities (as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents.
Adjusted equity comprises all components of equity other than amounts accumulated in the
hedging and cost of hedging reserves.?

The Group's policy is to keep the ratio below 1.95. The Group’s net debt to adjusted equity ratio at
31 December 2024 was as follows.

2024 2023
” In thousands of EUR restated*
g Total liabilities 67638 54,647
£ Less: cash and cash equivalents (1,504) (1,849)
> Net debt 66,134 52,798
£ Total equity 45,222 35,366
o Less: hedging reserve (433) (491)
Less: cost of hedging reserve (4) 27
Adjusted equity 44,785 34,902
Net debt to adjusted equity ratio 148 1.51
*  See Note 43.
See Notes 28(B) and 32(C)(iii) for information about loans subject to covenants.
IAS 1.135(a) From time to time, the Group purchases its own shares on the market; the timing of these

purchases depends on market prices. The shares are primarily intended to be used for issuing
shares under the Group’s share option programme. Buy and sell decisions are made on a specific
transaction basis by the risk management committee; the Group does not have a defined share
buy-back plan.

Appendices

a.  The Group has provided the definitions of ‘net debt’ and ‘adjusted equity’ because they are relevant to
understanding how it manages capital and are not defined in IFRS Accounting Standards. It has also provided the
reconciliations between these measures and items presented in the consolidated financial statements.
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Equity and liabilities

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

IAS 1.77 Non-current liabilities

IFRS 78(g) 28. Loans and borrowings
See accounting policies in Notes 44(B)(i)—(ii), (P)(i), (P)(iii), (S)(i) and (U).
In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Secured bank loans 7,554 8,093
Unsecured bond issues 6,136 9,200
Convertible notes (series A) 3,728 -
Redeemable preference shares 1,939 -
Lease liabilities 3,451 3,975
22,808 21,268
Current liabilities
Current portion of secured bank loans 1,055 3,985
Unsecured bank loans 503 117
Unsecured bond issues 3,064 -
Convertible notes (series B) including embedded conversion
option 950 -
Dividends on redeemable preference shares 51 -
Current portion of lease liabilities 674 bb4
Loan from associate 40(C) - 1,000
6,297 5,656

included in Note 32(C).

Information about the Group's exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risks is
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IFRS 7.7

IFRS 7.7 14,
IAS 16.74(a)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

28. Loans and borrowings (continued)
A. Terms and repayment schedule

The terms and conditions of outstanding loans are as follows.

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

Nominal Year of Face Carrying Face Carrying

In thousands of EUR Currency interest rate maturity value amount value amount
Secured bank loan

(see Note 18(A)) EUR 3.60-3.90% 2024-25 600 598 1,000 985
Secured bank loan CHF 3.90% 2028 1,240 1,240 1,257 1,257
Secured bank loan uSD 4.70% 2026-27 1,447 1,447 1,521 1,521
Secured bank loan

(see Note 28(B)(i)) EUR 4.50% 2026-27 3,460 3,460 3,460 3,460
Secured bank loan

(see Note 28(B)(ii)) GBP SONIA+1.1% 2024-26 1,864 1,864 4,855 4,855
Unsecured bank loan EUR 3.80% 2025 510 503 - -
Unsecured bank loan EUR 5.50% 2024 - - 17 17
Unsecured bond issues  EUR Euribor+0.5% 2028 1,023 1,023 1,023 1,023
Unsecured bond issues  EUR  Euribor+1% 2029 5,113 5,113 5113 5,113
Unsecured bond issues  EUR Euribor 2025 3,064 3,064 3,064 3,064
Loan from associate EUR 4.80% 2024 - - 1,000 1,000
Convertible notes

(series A) (see

Note 28(C)) EUR 3.00% 2027 4,000 3,728 - -
Convertible notes

(series B) including

embedded

conversion option

(see Note 28(D)) uSsD 4.50% 2027 1,000 950 - -
Redeemable

preference shares EUR 4.40% 2030 2,051 1,990 - -
Lease liabilities EUR 6.0-70% 2024-38 5,697 4,125 5,936 4,529
Total interest-bearing liabilities 31,069 29,105 28,346 26,924

The secured bank loans are secured over land and buildings, inventories and trade receivables
with a carrying amount of EUR 5,000 thousand (2023: EUR 4,700 thousand) (see Note 21(D)),
EUR 1,650 thousand (2023: EUR 2,090 thousand) (see Note 17) and EUR 600 thousand

(2023: EUR 1,000 thousand) (see Note 18(A)) respectively.
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Equity and liabilities

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

28. Loans and borrowings (continued)
B. Secured bank loans

IAS 1.69(a)H(d), 72A, The Group's secured bank loans are subject to various covenants. Two of these loans include
72B, 75-75A, 76ZA, : ) o _
IFRS 718-19 covenants that need to be complied with within 12 months of the reporting date.

i. Secured bank loan (EUR)

The Group has a secured bank loan with a carrying amount of EUR 3,460 thousand at

31 December 2024 (2023: EUR 3,460 thousand). This loan is repayable in tranches within

five years from the issue date, with the next tranche due in January 2026. However, the loan
contains a covenant stating that at the end of each quarter the Group’s debt (defined in the
covenant as the Group’s loans and borrowings and trade and other payables) cannot exceed
2.5 times the Group's quarterly revenue from continuing operations, otherwise the loan will be
repayable on demand.

The Group exceeded its maximum leverage threshold in the third quarter of 2024; however,
management obtained a waiver from the bank in October 2024 and the breach was remedied.
At 31 December 2024, the threshold was no longer exceeded and the Group complied with the
covenant. Accordingly, the loan is classified as non-current at 31 December 2024.%"

The Group expects to comply with the quarterly covenants within 12 months after the reporting
date.

ii. Secured bank loan (GBP)

The Group has another secured bank loan with a carrying amount of GBP 1,864 thousand at

31 December 2024 (2023: GBP 4,855 thousand). This loan is repayable in tranches within 3 years
from the issue date, with the next and final tranche due in June 2026. The loan contains a covenant
that requires the Group to reach a cumulative revenue threshold (from both continuing and
discontinued operations) of at least EUR 105,060 thousand per year, over the period from 1 July to
30 June of each year. The covenant is tested annually on 30 June. The loan becomes repayable on
demand if the cumulative threshold is not met at any testing date.

The Group complied with the cumulative revenue threshold when it was tested on

30 June 2024.The Group earned revenue of EUR 50,330 thousand from 1 July 2024 through
31 December 2024. As at 31 December, management is uncertain whether the Group will
meet the cumulative revenue threshold at 30 June 2025. However, the loan is classified

as non-current at 31 December 2024 because the Group has an existing right to defer
settlement of the loan for at least 12 months after the reporting period.”

IAS 1.69(d), a.  Any breach of a covenant at or before the reporting date, that triggers a repayment of the related liability within
72A-72B, Insights 12 months after the reporting date, results in the entity classifying that liability as current unless the breach is
3.1.50.100, 190, remediated at or before the reporting date. In this case, the Group breached the covenant but obtained a remedy
3.1.70.20 or ‘waiver’ from the lender before the reporting date. In addition, the Group complied with the covenant at
31 December 2024 resulting in the Group having the right to defer settlement of the loan for at least 12 months
after the reporting date. The covenants with which the Group needs to comply after the reporting date (i.e. future
covenants) do not affect the Group's right to defer settlement of the loan at the reporting date.

IAS 1.76ZA, Insights  b- When an entity classifies a liability arising from a loan arrangement as non-current, and that liability is subject to

3.1.80.10 covenants with which an entity is required to comply within 12 months after the reporting date, the entity discloses
information in the notes that enables users of the financial statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within 12 months after the reporting date.
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146 | Example Public Company Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

28. Loans and borrowings (continued)

C. Convertible notes (series A)

In thousands of EUR Note

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes (1,000,000 notes at EUR 4 par value) 4,000
Transaction costs (200)
Net proceeds 3,800
Amount classified as equity (net of transaction costs of EUR 9 thousand) 14(C) (163)
Accrued interest 91

Carrying amount of liability at 31 December 2024 3,728

The Company issued 1,000,000 convertible notes on 6 August 2024 (2023: nil). The notes have
a three-year term. Interest is payable at maturity. The conversion option may be exercised by

the holders of the notes at any time until maturity. WWhen the conversion option is exercised, the
outstanding principal of the notes are converted into 250,000 ordinary shares of the Company;
any accrued but unpaid interest as at the exercise date is required to be paid in cash. Otherwise,
the total principal and accrued interest outstanding is repayable in cash at maturity. The liability is
classified as non-current at 31 December 2024.*

D. Convertible notes (series B)

In thousands of EUR Note

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes (250,000 notes at EUR 4

(USD 4.4) par value) 1,000
Transaction costs” (50)
Net proceeds 950
Fair value of embedded derivative liability (equity conversion option) 32(A)~(B) (45)
Accrued interest -
Carrying amount of host liability at 31 December 2024 905

The Company issued 250,000 foreign currency (USD) convertible notes on 31 December 2024
(2023: nil). The notes have a three-year term. Interest is payable annually in arrears. The conversion
option may be exercised by the holders of the notes at any time until maturity. When the
conversion option is exercised, the outstanding principal of the notes are converted into 100,000
ordinary shares of the Company; any accrued but unpaid interest as at the exercise date is required
to be paid in cash. Otherwise, the total principal and accrued interest outstanding is repayable in
cash at maturity. The host liability is classified as current at 31 December 2024.°

IAS 1.69(a)~(d), a.

76A-76B, IAS 32.11,
16, Insights 3.1.100

Insights 7750.80 b.

IAS 1.69(a)—(d), C.

76A-76B, IAS 32.11,
Insights 3.1.100

The newly effective amendments to IAS 1 clarified how entities classify liabilities that can be settled in their own
shares — e.g. convertible notes (see Note 5). The Group classified the liability as non-current at 31 December 2024
as the maturity date is not within 12 months of the reporting date and the equity-classified conversion option does
not impact the classification of the liability as current or non-current. The Group therefore has the right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The conversion option is classified as an
equity component under IAS 32 because the conversion will result in a fixed amount (i.e. the outstanding principal
amount of the notes), exchanged for a fixed number of ordinary shares (i.e. the ‘fixed for fixed’ requirement is met).

In our view, an entity should choose an accounting policy, to be applied consistently, to allocate transaction costs
relating to a hybrid (combined) instrument that includes a non-derivative host contract which is not accounted for
at FVTPL and an embedded derivative that is accounted for at FVTPL. The Group's accounting policy is to allocate
all of the transaction costs to, and deduct from, the carrying amount of the non-derivative host contract on initial
recognition and measure the embedded derivative at fair value on initial recognition.

The newly effective amendments to IAS 1 clarified how entities classify liabilities that can be settled in their own
shares — e.g. convertible notes (see Note 5). Even though the maturity date is not within 12 months from the
reporting date, the Group classified the host liability as current at 31 December 2024 because the Group takes the
liability-classified conversion option into account when classifying the host liability. The note holders may exercise
the conversion option at any time, which would result in the notes being settled by the Group. As such, the Group
does not have the right to defer settlement of the host liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

The conversion option contains an obligation for the Company to issue a fixed number of shares in exchange for a
variable amount of cash. As the note payable is denominated in USD rather than EUR, the Company’s functional
currency, the cash is fixed in USD terms but is variable in the Company’s functional currency terms. In addition,
the conversion option has economic characteristics of equity and is not closely related to those of the host debt
instrument. Therefore, the conversion option is a separable embedded derivative liability.
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Equity and liabilities

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

28. Loans and borrowings (continued)

Introduction

E. Redeemable preference shares
In thousands of EUR

Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference shares 2,000
Transaction costs (61)
Accrued dividend 51
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 1,990

During 2024, 1,000,000 redeemable preference shares were issued as fully paid with a par value
of EUR 2 per share (2023: nil). The redeemable preference shares do not carry the right to vote.
The holders of the redeemable preference shares participate in the Company's residual assets
only to the extent of the face value of the shares.

The redeemable preference shares are mandatorily redeemable at par on 31 May 2030 and
classified as a non-current liability at 31 December 2024. The Group is obliged to pay holders of
these shares annual dividends of 4.4 percent of the par amount on 31 May each year until and
including on maturity.
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IAS 744A-E

IAS 744B(a)

IAS 744B(b)

IAS 744B(c)

IAS 744B(d)

IAS 744B(e)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

28. Loans and borrowings (continued)

F. Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from

financing activities”

Liabilities
Bank
overdrafts
used for cash Other loans
management and Convertible

In thousands of EUR Note purposes borrowings notes
Balance at 1 January 2024 282 22,395 -
Changes from financing cash flows
Proceeds from issue of share capital 26(A) - - -
Proceeds from issue of convertible notes 28(C)-(D) - - 4,828
Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference

shares 28(E) - - -
Proceeds from loans and borrowings - 591 -
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares - - -
Proceeds from exercise of share options 26(A) - - -
Proceeds from settlement of derivatives - - -
Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings — 28(C)-(E) - - (241)
Acquisition of NCI 36 - - -
Repayment of borrowings - (5,055) -
Payment of lease liabilities - - -
Dividend paid 26(C) - - -
Total changes from financing cash flows - (4,464) 4,587
Changes arising from obtaining or losing

control of subsidiaries or other businesses - 500 -
The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates - (122) -
Changes in fair value - - -
Other changes
Liability-related
Change in bank overdraft 19 52 - -
New leases 37(A) - - -
Capitalised borrowing costs 21(E), 22(D) - 231 -
Interest expense 10 - 1,061 91
Interest paid - (1,289) -
Total liability-related other changes 52 3 91
Total equity-related other changes - - -
Balance at 31 December 2024 334 18,312 4,678
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Equity and liabilities
c
2
°
S
3
£
Derivatives (assets)/liabilities
held to hedge long-term
Liabilities borrowings Equity
Interest rate Interest rate
swap and swap and
forward forward
exchange exchange
Redeemable contracts used contracts used
preference Lease for hedging - for hedging - Share capital/ Retained =
shares liabilities assets liabilities premium Reserves earnings NCI Total ."E’
o
- 4,529 (205) 8 18,050 439 13,786 3,091 62,375 t
<
E
- - - - 1,550 - - - 1,550 §
- - - - - 172 - - 5,000
2,000 - - - - - - - 2,000
- - - - - - - - 591
- - - - 19 1 - - 30
- - - - 50 - - - 50
- - 4 1 - - - - 5
(61) - - - - (9) - - (311) ‘E
; ; - - - 8 (93) (115) (200) £
- - - - - - - - (5,055) 2
- (554) - - - - - - (554) >
. - - - - - (1,243) - (1,243) £
1,939 (554) 4 1 1,619 182 (1,336) (115) 1,863 a
- - - - 87 - 120 - 707
- - - - - - - - (122)
- - 24 16 - - - - 40
- - - - - - - - 52
- 150 - - - - - - 150
- - - - - - - - 231
51 320 - - - - - - 1,523
- (320) - - - - - - (1,609)
51 150 - - - - - - 347
- - - - - 598 7,873 828 9,299
1,990 4,125 (177) 25 19,756 1,219 20,443 3,804 74,509
IAS 744D-E, 60 a.  This example illustrates one possible format to meet the disclosure requirement in paragraphs 44A-E of IAS 7 by

providing a reconciliation between the opening and closing balances for liabilities arising from financing activities.
Other presentation formats are possible. Although IAS 7 only requires disclosure of a reconciliation of changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, the Group has elected to expand the disclosure to cover changes in bank
overdrafts used for cash management purposes and changes in equity balances arising from financing activities
as well. If an entity provides the disclosures required by paragraph 44A of IAS 7 in combination with disclosures
of changes in other assets and liabilities, then it discloses the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

separately from changes in those other assets and liabilities.
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IAS 744A-E

IAS 744B(a)

IAS 744B(c)

IAS 744B(d)

IAS 744B(e)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

28. Loans and borrowings (continued)
F. Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing

activities (continued)

Liabilities

Bank
overdrafts
used for cash Other loans
management and Convertible

In thousands of EUR Note purposes borrowings notes
Restated balance at 1 January 2023 303 20,769 -
Changes from financing cash flows
Proceeds from loans and borrowings - 4,079 -
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares - - -
Proceeds from settlement of derivatives - - -
Repayment of borrowings - (2,445) R
Payment of lease liabilities - - -
Dividend paid 26(C) - - -
Total changes from financing cash flows - 1,634 -
The effect of changes in foreign exchange

rates - (30) -
Changes in fair value - - -
Other changes
Liability-related
Change in bank overdraft 19 (21) - -
New leases 21(C) - - -
Capitalised borrowing costs 22(D) - 12 -
Interest expense 10 - 1,061 -
Interest paid - (1,051) -
Total liability-related other changes (21) 22 -
Total equity-related other changes - - -
Balance at 31 December 2023 282 22,395 -
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Equity and liabilities
c
2
°
S
3
E
Derivatives (assets)/liabilities
held to hedge long-term
Liabilities borrowings Equity
Interest rate Interest rate
swap and swap and
forward forward
exchange exchange
Redeemable contracts used contracts used
preference Lease for hedging - for hedging - Share capital/ Retained t
shares liabilities assets liabilities premium Reserves earnings NCI Total "qé
Q
- 4,939 (204) 1 18,050 297 8,497 2,718 55,370 g
%
@
- - - - - - - - 4,079 3
- - - - - (280) - - (280)
- - 8 3 - - - - 11
- - - - - - - - (2,445)
- (590) - - - - - - (590)
- - - - - - (571) - (571)
- (590) 8 3 - (280) (571) - 204
2
- - - - - - - - (30) g
- - 9) 4 - : - - (5) §
S
7]
z
©
£
- - - - - - - - (21) £
- 180 - - - - - - 180
- - - - - - - - 12
- 238 - - - - - - 1,299
- (238) - - - - - - (1,289)
- 180 - - - - - - 181
- - - - - 422 5,860 373 6,655
- 4,529 (205) 8 18,050 439 13,786 3,091 62,375
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

Introduction

29. Trade and other payables

See accounting policies in Notes 44(P)(iii) and (iv).

Note 2024 2023
In thousands of EUR restated*

IFRS 78(g) Trade payables due to related parties 40 174 351

Trade payables — supplier finance arrangement 5,515 4,900

Other trade payables 17,016 14,700

Accrued expenses 312 487

- Trade payables 23,017 20,438
é Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 32(C)-(D) 8 7
8 Interest rate swaps used for hedging 32(C)-(D) 20 5
E’ Contingent consideration 34(A)iii) 270 -
£ Refund liabilities 8(D) 988 883
2 Other payables 1,286 895
24,303 21,333

Non-current 290 5

Current 24,013 21,328

24,303 21,333

*  See Note 43.

Information about the Group's exposure to currency and liquidity risks is included in Note 32(C).

receive early payment of their invoices from a bank. Under the arrangement, the bank agrees to
pay amounts due to participating suppliers in respect of invoices owed by the Group and the Group
repays the bank at a later date. The principal purpose of this arrangement is to facilitate efficient
payment processing and provide the willing suppliers early payment terms, compared with the
related invoice payment due date.

[Z]

8

f=

£ Supplier finance arrangements

[

g IAS 744G, 44H(a), The Group participates in a supplier finance arrangement under which its suppliers may elect to
d IFRS 7B11F

(]

£

o

The Group has not derecognised the original trade payables relating to the arrangement because
neither a legal release was obtained nor was the original liability substantially modified on entering
into the arrangement.

From the Group's perspective, the arrangement does not significantly extend payment terms
beyond the normal terms agreed with other suppliers that are not participating; however, the
arrangement does provide willing suppliers with the benefit of early payment. Additionally,

the Group does not incur any additional interest towards the bank on the amounts due to the
suppliers. The Group therefore includes the amounts subject to the arrangement within trade
payables because the nature and function of these payables remains the same as those of other
trade payables.

All payables under the arrangement are classified as current as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Appendices
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IAS 743, Insights
2.3.190.120

[llustrative disclosures — Notes‘ 153
Equity and liabilities

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

29. Trade and other payables (continued)
Additional information about the Group’s trade payables is provided in the table below.

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023°

Carrying amount of financial liabilities

Presented within trade and other payables 5,515 4,900
— of which suppliers have received payment from the
bank 3,860 -*

Range of payment due dates

Trade payables subject to supplier finance arrangement
(days after invoice date) 50-65 ¥
Comparable trade payables (days after invoice date) 45-60 =¥

Non-cash changes

There were no significant non-cash changes in the carrying amount of financial liabilities subject to
supplier finance arrangements.

*  The Group applied transitional relief available under Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7 and has not provided comparative information in the first year of adoption.

The payments to the bank are included within operating cash flows because they continue to be
part of the normal operating cycle of the Group and their principal nature remains operating —i.e.
payments for the purchase of goods and services. The payments to a supplier by the bank of
EUR 3,860 thousand are considered non-cash transactions.

For additional information about how these arrangements affect the Group’s exposure to liquidity
risk, see Note 32(C)(iii).

IAS 763

Transitional relief permits the Group to not provide comparative information for 2023 and certain quantitative
information as at 1 January 2024 in the first year of applying Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7.
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IAS 20.39(b)-(c)

IAS 20.39(b)(c)

IAS 41.57(a)-(b)

IAS 20.39(b)-(c)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

30. Government grants
See accounting policies in Notes 8(D) and 44(F)—(G).

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
Deferred income — Asset acquisition® 30(A) 1,424 1,462
1,424 1,462
Non-current 1,424 1,462
Current - -
1,424 1,462

A. Asset acquisitions

In 2023, the Group was awarded a grant, amounting to EUR 1,462 thousand, conditional on the
acquisition of factory premises in a specified region. The factory has been in operation since early
2024 and the grant, recognised as deferred income, is being amortised over the useful life of the
building. In accordance with the terms of the grant, the Group is prohibited from selling the factory
premises for a period of 15 years from the date of the grant.

B. Emissions schemes”

The Group participates in a ‘cap and trade’ scheme in various countries. Under the scheme, at the
beginning of each year the Government in each country sets specific annual limits for emitting
pollutants and grants the Group the respective number of emissions allowances. The Group
recognises emissions allowances and the related deferred income at the fair value of allowances
granted, which is determined based on the quoted market price of allowances traded in an active
market. When the Group emits pollutants and recognises a liability (see Note 31(D)), it reduces
the related expense in profit or loss by releasing the deferred income. In 2024, the Group received
emissions allowances amounting to EUR 115 thousand (2023: EUR 120 thousand) (see Note 22).
The Group emitted pollutants above the limitin 2024 and 2023, and therefore the deferred income
related to this grant as at 31 December 2024 is nil (2023: nil).

C. New pine tree plantations

In 2024, the Group was awarded an unconditional grant, amounting to EUR 130 thousand, for
plantations of pine trees in a specified region. This grant was recognised in profit or loss in full and
presented in ‘other income’ when it became receivable (see Note 9(A)). There is no outstanding
balance of deferred income related to this grant as at 31 December 2024.

D. Payroll expenses for employees in flood-affected areas

In 2024, the Group received support from the Government in [Country X], amounting to
EUR 70 thousand, towards payroll for employees who were temporarily out of work in
flood-affected areas. The full amount of the grant was received in 2024 and recognised in
profit or loss as ‘other income’ (see Note 9(A)).

IAS 20.24,
Insights
4.3.130.60

IAS 20.23,
Insights
5.14.110.20

The Group has elected to present government grants related to assets as deferred income. Alternatively, an entity
may present these grants as a deduction in arriving at the carrying amount of the asset.

The deferred income is generally classified as a non-current liability when an entity presents a classified statement
of financial position.

In our view, if emissions allowances are received from a government for less than their fair value, then the entity
should choose an accounting policy, to be applied consistently, either to recognise the resulting government grant
at fair value (as the difference between the fair value of the allowances and the consideration (if any) paid) or to
recognise them at the nominal amount paid for the certificates. IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Government Assistance notes that fair value is the usual approach for non-monetary grants.

The Group has elected to account for the government grant related to emissions allowances at their fair value.
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Equity and liabilities

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

31. Provisions
See accounting policy in Note 44(T).

Introduction

Site Emissions
In thousands of EUR Note Warranties Restructuring restoration schemes Legal Total
Balance at
IAS 3784(a) 1 January 2024 200 460 740 140 - 1,540
Assumed in a business
combination 34 - - 150 - 20 170
Provisions made
IAS 3784(b) during the year 440 280 660 120 - 1,500 -
Provisions used during é
IAS 3784(c) the year 22 (200) (360) (800) (140) - (1,500) 8
IAS 37.84(d) Provisions reversed s
during the year® - (100) - - - (100) g
IAS 3784(e) Unwind of discount 10 - - 60 - - 60 §
IAS 3784(a) Balance at
31 December 2024 440 280 810 120 20 1,670
Non-current 200 - 810 - - 1,010
Current 240 280 - 120 20 660
440 280 810 120 20 1,670
A. Warranties
IAS 3785(a)~(c) The provision for warranties relates mainly to paper sold during 2023 and 2024. The provision

has been estimated based on historical warranty data associated with similar products and
services. The Group expects to settle the majority of the liability over the next year. An expected
reimbursement of warranty expense incurred of EUR 25 thousand has been included in

‘other trade receivables’ (see Note 18) following a supplier accepting responsibility for the
defective products.
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B. Restructuring

IAS 1.98(b), 125, During 2024, a provision of EUR 280 thousand was made to cover the costs associated with
3785(a)-(b) restructuring part of a manufacturing facility within the Non-recycled Papers segment that will be
retained when the remainder of the facility is sold (see Note 20). Estimated restructuring costs
mainly include employee termination benefits (see Note 13(E)) and are based on a detailed plan
agreed between management and employee representatives. The restructuring and the sale are
expected to be completed by June 2025.

During 2023, the Group committed to a plan to restructure a product line in the American Paper
manufacturing and distribution division due to a decrease in demand as a result of a deterioration
in economic conditions. Following the announcement of the plan, the Group recognised a
provision of EUR 460 thousand for expected restructuring costs, including contract termination
costs, consulting fees and employee termination benefits (see Note 13(E)). Estimated costs
were based on the terms of the relevant contracts. The restructuring was completed in 2024,
and EUR 360 thousand of the provision was used during the year. The unused provision of

EUR 100 thousand was reversed and has been included in ‘cost of sales’.

Appendices

Insights 3.12.850.10 2 In our view, in the statement of profit or loss and OCI, the reversal of a provision should be presented in the same
line item as the original estimate.
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IAS 37.85(a)

IAS 1.125,129,
37.85(a)~(b)

IAS 34.26

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

31. Provisions (continued)
C. Site restoration
i. France

A provision of EUR 740 thousand was made during 2023 and an unwind of the discount

of EUR 60 thousand was recognised in 2024 in respect of the Group’s obligation to rectify
environmental damage in France. The required work was completed during 2024 at a cost of
EUR 800 thousand.

ii. Romania

Under Romanian law, the Group's subsidiary in Romania is required to restore contaminated
land to its original condition before the end of 2027 During 2024, the Group provided
EUR 660 thousand for this purpose.

Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the greatest uncertainty in estimating the
provision is the costs that will be incurred. In particular, the Group has assumed that the site
will be restored using technology and materials that are currently available. The Group has been
provided with a range of reasonably possible outcomes for the total cost, which range from
EUR 500 thousand to EUR 700 thousand, reflecting different assumptions about pricing of the
individual components of the cost. The provision has been calculated using a discount rate of
5.9 percent, which is the risk-free rate in Romania. The rehabilitation is expected to occur in the
next two to three years.

The provision has increased compared with the amount of EUR 500 thousand reported in the
Company’s interim financial statements as at 30 June 2024 due to a change in estimated costs.
At the time of preparing the interim financial statements, the extent of restoration work required
was uncertain, because the inspection report by the Romanian authorities had not yet been
finalised. The estimates were subsequently revised based on the final report.

iii. Acquisition of Papyrus

As part of the acquisition of Papyrus, the Group recognised environmental provisions of
EUR 150 thousand, measured on a provisional basis (see Note 34(C)).
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Equity and liabilities

Notes to the consolidated financial Statements (continued)

31. Provisions (continued)
D. Emissions schemes

Introduction

IAS 3785(a) The Group participates in a ‘cap and trade’ scheme in various countries (see Note 30(B)). The
Group recognises a liability to surrender emissions allowances as it emits pollutants. The liability
is measured based on the carrying amount of the allowances on hand to the extent of emissions
within the annual limit (see Note 22), and at the current market value of allowances to the extent
that the Group would be required to purchase additional allowances to settle the obligation.

During 2024, the Group recognised a provision for pollutants emitted of EUR 120 thousand. The
provision will be settled by surrendering the emissions allowances to the Government in 2025.
A provision of EUR 140 thousand at 31 December 2023 was settled in 2024 in a similar manner.

€
E. Legal %
o
IAS 37.86(a)~(b) As a result of the acquisition of Papyrus, the Group assumed a contingent liability of g
EUR 20 thousand, measured on a provisional basis (see Note 34(C)). E
F. Levies §
IAS 3785(a) The Group operates in a number of countries in which it is subject to government levies. It

assesses the timing of when to accrue environmental taxes imposed by legislation at the end of
the tax year (31 March) on entities that manufacture pulp products. The Group recognised a liability
to pay environmental taxes on 31 March, when the obligating event as stated in the legislation
occurred. It paid that liability in full at a later date.

Therefore, at 31 December 2024 no liability for environmental taxes has been recognised.
An expense of EUR 102 thousand has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2024.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management

Introduction

A. Accounting classifications and fair values™"

IFRS 78, 256-26, 29, The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial
18.93(8)-(b), 94,97.99 | |igpilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information
for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a
reasonable approximation of fair value.

Trade and other receivables and trade and other payables classified as held-for-sale are not included
in the table below (see Note 20). Their carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

£ Carrying amount
% Fair value -
© 31 December 2024 hedging Mandatorily at FVOCI - debt
E} In thousands of EUR Note instruments FVTPL - others instruments
©
‘§ Financial assets measured at fair value
< Interest rate swaps used for hedging 25 116 - -
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 25 297 - -
Other forward exchange contracts 25 - 122 -
Sovereign debt securities 25 - 243 -
Corporate debt securities 25 - - 118
Equity securities 25 - 251 -
413 616 118
” Financial assets not measured at fair value
g Trade and other receivables 18 - - -
g Cash and cash equivalents 19 - - -
2 Corporate debt securities 25 - - -
g_g- Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 29 (20) - -
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 29 (8) - -
Contingent consideration 29 - (270) -
|| Convertible notes - embedded derivative liability 28 - (45) -
(28) (315) -
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Bank overdrafts 19 - - -
Secured bank loans 28 - - -
Unsecured bank loans 28 - - -
Unsecured bond issues 28 - - -
Convertible notes — liability 28 - - -
Redeemable preference shares 28 - - -
Dividends payable on redeemable shares 28 - - -
Trade and other payables* 29 - - -

*

Other payables that are not financial liabilities (refund liabilities recognised under IFRS 15 — EUR 988 thousand)
are not included.
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Financial instruments

c
2
°
S
3
E
Carrying amount Fair value -
c
Financial assets "qé
FVOCI - equity at amortised  Other financial 8
instruments cost liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total g
E
@
- . - 116 - 116 - 16 E
- - - 297 - 297 - 297
- - - 122 - 122 - 122
- - - 243 43 200 - 243
- - - 118 48 70 - 118
710 - - 961 961 - - 961
710 - - 1,857
2
- 32,518 - 32,518 S
- 1,504 - 1,504 g
- 2,421 - 2,421 2,461 - - 2,461 g
- 36,443 - 36,443 -
£
o
. - - (20) - (20) - (20)
- - - (8) - (8) - (8)
- - - (270) - - (270) (270)
- - - (45) - - (45) (45)
. - - (343)
- - (334) (334)
- - (8,609) (8,609) - (8,979) - (8,979)
- - (503) (503) - (505) - (505)
- - (9,200) (9,200) - (9,675) - (9,675)
- - (4,633) (4,633) - (4,671) - (4,671)
- - (1,939) (1,939) - (1,936) - (1,936)
- - (51) (51) - (51) - (51)
- - (23,017) (23,017)
- - (48,286) (48,286)

IFRS 78, 29 a.  In this table, the Group has disclosed the fair value of each class of financial assets and financial liabilities in a way
that permits the information to be compared with the carrying amounts. In addition, it has reconciled the assets
and liabilities to the different categories of financial instruments as defined in IFRS 9. This presentation method is
optional and different presentation methods may be appropriate, depending on circumstances.

The Group has not disclosed the fair values of financial instruments such as short-term trade receivables and
payables, because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Appendices

IFRS 76, B1-B3 b. An entity groups financial instruments into classes that are appropriate to the nature of the information disclosed
and that take into account the characteristics of those financial instruments. Although IFRS 7 does not define
‘classes’, as a minimum instruments measured at amortised cost should be distinguished from instruments
measured at fair value.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

A. Accounting classifications and fair values (continued)

Carrying amount

Fair value —
31 December 2023 hedging Mandatorily at FVOCI - debt
In thousands of EUR Note instruments FVTPL - others instruments
Financial assets measured at fair value
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 25 131 - -
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 25 352 - -
Other forward exchange contracts 25 - 39 _
Sovereign debt securities 25 - 591 -
Corporate debt securities 25 - - 373
Equity securities 25 - 254 -
483 934 373
Financial assets not measured at fair value
Trade and other receivables 18 - - _
Cash and cash equivalents 19 - . _
Corporate debt securities 25 - - R
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Interest rate swaps used for hedging 29 (5) - -
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 29 (7) - -
Contingent consideration 29 - - _
(12) - -
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value
Bank overdrafts 19 - - _
Secured bank loans 28 - - -
Unsecured bank loans 28 - - _
Unsecured bond issues 28 - - -
Loan from associate - - _
Trade and other payables* 29 - - -

*  Other payables that are not financial liabilities (refund liabilities recognised under IFRS 15 — EUR 883 thousand)
are not included.
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Financial instruments
c
2
°
S
g
E
Carrying amount Fair value
Financial assets
FVOCI - equity at amortised  Other financial
instruments cost liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
- - - 131 - 131 - 131
- - - 3562 - 352 - 3562 =
- - - 89 - 89 - 89 ‘GE,
- - - 591 81 510 - 591 8
- - - 373 151 222 - 373 k5
511 - - 765 540 - 225 765 £
511 - - 2,301 E
- 22,325 - 22,325
- 1,849 - 1,849
- 2,243 - 2,243 2,249 - - 2,249
- 26,417 - 26,417
. - - (5) - (5) - (5) 2
- - - (7) - (7) - (7) g
S
- - - (12) 4
<
£
- - (282) (282) o
- - (12,078) (12,078) - (12,078) - (12,078)
- - (117) (117) - (117) - (117)
- - (9,200) (9,200) - (9,301) - (9,301)
- - (1,000) (1,000) - (997) - (997)
- - (20,438) (20,438)
- - (43,115) (43,115)
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)
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32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

B. Measurement of fair values
i. Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The following tables show the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair
values for financial instruments in the statement of financial position, as well as the significant
unobservable inputs used. Related valuation processes are described in Note 4(B)(i).

IFRS 13.91(a), 93(d), Financial instruments measured at fair value
93(h)(i), 99
€
"2 Inter-relationship between
8 significant unobservable
s Significant unobservable inputs and fair value
.‘_E‘ Type Valuation technique inputs measurement
=
3 IFRS 3.B67(b)(iii) Contingent Discounted cash flows:The e Expected cash flows The estimated fair value
< consideration valuation model considers the (31 December 2024 would increase (decrease) if:
present value of the expected EUR 318-388 thousand). o the expected cash flows
fut_ure payments, discqunted ¢ Risk-adjusted discount were higher (lower); or
using a risk-adjusted discount rate (31 December 2024: o the risk-adjusted discount
rate. 15%). .
rate were lower (higher).
Equity Market comparison e Adjusted market multiple  The estimated fair value
securities technique: The valuation (2023: 4-7). would increase (decrease) if
model is based on market the adjusted market multiple
multiples derived from were higher (lower).

quoted prices of companies
comparable to the investee,
adjusted for the effect of
the non-marketability of the
equity securities, and the
revenue and EBITDA of the
investee. The estimate is
adjusted for the net debt of
the investee.

Primary statements

Corporate debt Market comparison/ Not applicable. Not applicable.

securities discounted cash flow: The fair
value is estimated considering
(i) current or recent quoted
prices for identical securities
in markets that are not active
and (ii) a net present value
calculated using discount
rates derived from quoted
yields of securities with
similar maturity and credit
rating that are traded in active
markets, adjusted by an
illiquidity factor.
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Financial instruments

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

B. Measurement of fair values (continued)

Introduction

i Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs (continued)

IFRS 13.91(a), 93(d), Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

93th)fi, 99 Inter-relationship between

significant unobservable
Significant unobserv- inputs and fair value
Type Valuation technique able inputs measurement

Forward Forward pricing: The fair value is Not applicable. Not applicable.
exchange determined using quoted forward
contracts exchange rates at the reporting date

and present value calculations based

on high credit quality yield curves in

the respective currencies.

Australian content

Interest rate Swap models: The fair value is Not applicable. Not applicable.

swaps calculated as the present value of
the estimated future cash flows.
Estimates of future floating-
rate cash flows are based on
guoted swap rates, futures prices
and interbank borrowing rates.
Estimated cash flows are discounted
using a yield curve constructed from
similar sources and which reflects
the relevant benchmark interbank
rate used by market participants for
this purpose when pricing interest
rate swaps. The fair value estimate
is subject to a credit risk adjustment
that reflects the credit risk of the
Group and of the counterparty; this
is calculated based on credit spreads
derived from current credit default
swap or bond prices.
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Equity Least Squares Monte Carlo: The Expected volatility The estimated fair value
conversion fair value is estimated by utilising (31 December 2024 would increase (decrease) if
option a simulation of possible future 47%, 31 December the expected volatility were
(embedded share prices and foreign exchange 2023: N/A). higher (lower).
in convertible rates, and applying least squares
notes)” regression analysis, as well as

comparing at each potential exercise

date the discounted risk-neutral

expectation of the option payoff

if not exercised, and the relevant

exercise price.

IFRS 13.93(d), 97 Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Type Valuation technique

Other financial Discounted cash flows: The
liabilities* valuation model considers
the present value of expected
payments, discounted using a risk-
adjusted discount rate.

*  QOther financial liabilities include secured and unsecured bank loans, unsecured bond issues, convertible

notes - liability component, redeemable preference shares and loans from associates.

Appendices

a.  |n practice, there may be other significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation of a similar equity conversion
option. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.
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IFRS 13.93(c), 95

IFRS 13.91(b), 93(e)(ii)

IFRS 13.93(e)(iii)

IFRS 13.93(e)(iii)
IFRS 13.93(e)(iii)
IFRS 13.91(b), 93(e)(i), (f)

IFRS 13.91(b), 93(e)(ii)

IFRS 13.93(e)(iv)

IFRS 13.93(e)(iv), 95

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

B. Measurement of fair values (continued)
ii. Transfers between Levels 1 and 2

At 31 December 2024, FVOCI corporate debt securities with a carrying amount of

EUR 40 thousand were transferred from Level 1 to Level 2 because quoted prices in the market
for such debt securities were no longer regularly available. To determine the fair value of such

debt securities, management used a valuation technique in which all significant inputs were based
on observable market data (see Note 32(B)(i)). There were no transfers from Level 2 to Level 1 in
2024 and no transfers in either direction in 2023.

iii. Level 3 recurring fair values
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for
Level 3 fair values.

Equity
Equity Contingent conversion
In thousands of EUR Note securities consideration option
Balance at 1 January 2023 - -
Gain included in OCI
— Net change in fair value (unrealised) 13 -
Purchases 212 -
Balance at 31 December 2023 225 -
Balance at 1 January 2024 225 - -
Assumed in a business combination 34(A) - (250)
|| Issues 28(D) - - (45)
Loss included in ‘finance costs’
— Net change in fair value (unrealised) 10 - (20) -
Gain included in OCI -
— Net change in fair value (unrealised) 18 - -
Transfers out of Level 3 (243) - -
Balance at 31 December 2024 - (270) (45)

Transfer out of Level 3

The Group holds an investment in equity shares of MSE Limited with a fair value of EUR 243
thousand at 31 December 2024 (2023: EUR 225 thousand). The fair value of this investment was
categorised as Level 3 at 31 December 2023 (for information on the valuation technique, see
Note 32B(i)). This was because the shares were not listed on an exchange and there were no
recent observable arm'’s length transactions in the shares.

During 2024, MSE Limited listed its equity shares on an exchange and they are currently actively
traded in that market. Because the equity shares now have a published price quotation in an
active market, the fair value measurement was transferred from Level 3 to Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy at 31 December 2024.
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Financial instruments
32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

B. Measurement of fair values (continued)

iii. Level 3 recurring fair values (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

For the fair values of contingent consideration and equity securities, reasonably possible changes

at the reporting date to one of the significant unobservable inputs, holding other inputs constant,

would have the following effects.

Contingent consideration Profit or loss

Effect in thousands of EUR Increase Decrease

31 December 2024

Expected cash flows (10% movement) (23) 23

Risk-adjusted discount rate (1% movement (100 bps)) 6 (6)

Equity conversion option Profit or loss

Effect in thousands of EUR Increase Decrease
‘ 31 December 2024

Expected volatility (10% movement) 13 (13)

Equity securities OCl, net of tax

Effect in thousands of EUR Increase Decrease

31 December 2023

Adjusted market multiple (5% movement) 81 (81)

C. Financial risk management®
The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
e credit risk (see Note 32(C)(ii));

e liquidity risk (see Note 32(C)(iii)); and
¢ market risk (see Note 32(C)(iv)).
i. Risk management framework

The Company'’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight
of the Group's risk management framework. The board of directors has established the risk
management committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group's risk
management policies. The committee reports regularly to the board of directors on its activities.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced

by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards
and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Group audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s
risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group audit committee is assisted in its
oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk
management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the audit committee.

IFRS 734

The financial risk disclosures presented are only illustrative and reflect the facts and circumstances of the Group.

In particular, IFRS 7 requires the disclosure of summary quantitative data about an entity’s risk exposures based on
information provided internally to an entity’s key management personnel, although certain minimum disclosures are
also required to the extent that they are not otherwise covered by the disclosures made under the ‘management
approach’ above.
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IFRS 731, 33

IFRS 7.35K(a), 36(a)

IAS 1.82(ba)

IFRS 15.113(b)

IFRS 7.33(a)~(b)

IFRS 733(c)

IFRS 7.35K(b), B8G

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
ii. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group's
receivables from customers and investments in debt securities.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and contract assets represent the maximum credit
exposure.

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets recognised in profit or loss were
as follows.

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023

Impairment loss on trade receivables and contract assets arising from

contracts with customers* 210 192
Impairment loss on lease receivable 1 1
Impairment loss on debt securities at amortised cost 62 13
Impairment loss (reversal) on debt securities at FVOCI (3) -

270 206

*  Of which EUR 11 thousand (2023: EUR 3 thousand) related to a discontinued operation (see Notes 6 and 7).

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. However, management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of
its customer base, including the default risk associated with the industry and country in which
customers operate. Details of concentration of revenue are included in Notes 6(D)—(E).

The risk management committee has established a credit policy under which each new customer
is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery
terms and conditions are offered. The Group's review includes external ratings, if they are available,
financial statements, credit agency information, industry information and in some cases bank
references. Sale limits are established for each customer and reviewed quarterly. Any sales
exceeding those limits require approval from the risk management committee.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by establishing a maximum
payment period of one and three months for individual and corporate customers respectively.

More than 85 percent of the Group’s customers have been transacting with the Group for over
four years and none of these customers’ balances have been written off or are credit-impaired at
the reporting date. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to their
credit characteristics, including whether they are an individual or a legal entity, whether they are a
wholesale, retail or end-user customer, their geographic location, industry, trading history with the
Group and existence of previous financial difficulties.

The Group is monitoring the economic environment in [Region Z] and is taking actions to limit its
exposure to customers in countries experiencing particular economic volatility. In 2024, certain
purchase limits have been reduced, particularly for customers operating in [Countries A, B, C, D
and E], because the Group's experience is that the recent economic volatility has had a greater
impact for customers in those countries than for customers in other countries.

The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. The Group does not
have trade receivable and contract assets for which no loss allowance is recognised because of
collateral.

The quantitative information below on trade receivables and contract assets includes amounts
classified as held-for-sale (see Note 20).
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32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management £
(continued) -
C. Financial risk management (continued)
ii. Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
IFRS 734(a), (c) At 31 December 2024, the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets by
geographic region was as follows.?
Carrying amount
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023 -
[=
Q
[Countries A, B, C, D and E| 1,598 1,683 ‘g
Other [Region Z] countries 24,027 13,649 t
us 1,374 7,687 =
Other regions 286 188 o
<
37,285 23,107
IFRS 734(a), (c) At 31 December 2024, the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets by type
of counterparty was as follows.?
Carrying amount
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
Wholesale customers 27,588 15,051
Retail customers 9,246 7145 @
End-user customers 342 820 é
Other 109 91 %
37,285 23,107 4
IFRS 7.34(a), (c) At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the receivable from the Group’s most significant E
customer (a European wholesaler) was EUR 8,034 thousand (2023: EUR 4,986 thousand). o
IFRS 734(a), 35M, B8l | A summary of the Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets is as
follows.
2024 2023
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
In thousands of EUR impaired impaired impaired impaired
External credit ratings at least Baa3 from [Rating
Agency X] or BBB- from [Rating Agency Y] 6,397 - 5,139 -
Other customers:
— Four or more years’ trading history with the
Group* 21,298 - 14,230 -
— Less than four years' trading history with the
Group* 8,735 - 3,290 -
— Higher risk 952 223 446 216
Total gross carrying amount 37,382 223 23,105 216
Loss allowance (246) (74) (138) (76)
37,136 149 22,967 140
*  Excluding ‘higher risk’.
n
8
-]
c
[
Qo
Q
<
IFRS 71G18 a.  |dentifying concentrations of risk requires judgement in light of specific circumstances, and may arise from industry
sectors, credit ratings, geographic distribution or a limited number of individual counterparties.
© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
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IFRS 7.35M, B8I

IFRS 7.35B(a), 35F(c),
35G(a)-(b)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)

ii. Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
Expected credit loss assessment for corporate customers

The Group allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on data that is determined to

be predictive of the risk of loss (including but not limited to external ratings, audited financial
statements, management accounts and cash flow projections and available press information
about customers) and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined
using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of the risk of default and are aligned to
external credit rating definitions from agencies [Rating Agencies X and Y.

Exposures within each credit risk grade are segmented by geographic region and industry
classification and an ECL rate is calculated for each segment based on delinquency status and
actual credit loss experience over the past seven years. These rates are multiplied by scalar factors
to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historical
data has been collected, current conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

Scalar factors are based on GDP forecast and industry outlook and include the following: 1.3
(2023: 1.2) for [Country X1, 0.9 (2023: 0.8) for [Country Y], 1.1 (2023: 1.2) for [Country Z] and 1.8
(2023: 1.9) for [Industry Al.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets for corporate customers as at 31 December 2024.

Weighted- Gross  Impairment
31 December 2024 Equivalent to external average carrying loss Credit-
In thousands of EUR credit rating [Agency Y] loss rate amount allowance impaired
Grades 1-6: Low risk BBB- to AAA 0.30% 9,163 (27) No
Grades 7-9: Fair risk BB- to BB+ 0.60% 16,094 (97) No
Grade 10: Substandard B- to CCC- 2.60% 1,633 (42) No
Grade 11: Doubtful CtoCC 23.20% 118 (27) Yes
Grade 12: Loss D 44.90% 67 (30) Yes

27,075 (223)

Expected credit loss assessment for individual customers

The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade receivables from individual
customers, which comprise a very large number of small balances.

Loss rates are calculated under a ‘roll rate” method based on the probability of a receivable
progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Roll rates are calculated
separately for exposures in different segments based on the following common credit risk
characteristics — geographic region, age of customer relationship and type of product purchased.
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Financial instruments
32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)
C. Financial risk management (continued)
ii. Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
Expected credit loss assessment for individual customers (continued)
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets from individual customers as at 31 December 2024.
Weighted- Gross
31 December 2024 average carrying Loss Credit-
In thousands of EUR loss rate amount allowance impaired
Current (not past due) 0.40% 8,51 (34) No
1-30 days past due 1.10% 1,638 (18) No
31-60 days past due 5.60% 232 (13) No
61-90 days past due 13.20% m (15) No
More than 90 days past due 43.60% 38 (17) Yes
10,530 (97)
Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past seven years. These rates are
multiplied by scalar factors to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
Scalar factors are based on actual and forecast unemployment rates and are as follows: 1.3
(2023: 1.2) for [Country X], 0.95 (2023: 1.0) for [Country Yl and 1.2 (2023: 1.1) for [Country Z].
Expected credit loss assessment for corporate customers
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets for corporate customers as at 31 December 2023.
Equivalent to Weighted- Gross  Impairment
31 December 2023 external credit average carrying loss Credit-
In thousands of EUR rating [Agency Y] loss rate amount allowance impaired
Grades 1-6: Low risk BBB- to AAA 0.20% 4,786 (10) No
Grades 7-9: Fair risk BB-to BB+ 0.60% 8,141 (49) No
Grade 10: Substandard B- to CCC- 2.60% 865 (22) No
Grade 11: Doubtful CtoCC 24.20% 100 (24) Yes
Grade 12: Loss D 44.80% 101 (45) Yes
13,993 (150)
Expected credit loss assessment for individual customers
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets from individual customers as at 31 December 2023.
Weighted- Gross
31 December 2023 average carrying Loss Credit-
In thousands of EUR loss rate amount allowance impaired
Current (not past due) 0.30% 7088 (21) No
1-30 days past due 1.10% 2,012 (22) No
31-60 days past due 5.60% 193 (11) No
61-90 days past due 14.60% 20 (3) No
More than 90 days past due 43.50% 15 (7) Yes
9,328 (64)
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IFRS 735H

IFRS 7.35L

IFRS 7351, BSD

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)

ii. Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and contract assets

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and contract assets
during the year was as follows.

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
Balance at 1 January 214 26
Amounts written off (80) (5)
Amounts derecognised due to discontinued operation (25) -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 21 193
Balance at 31 December 320 214

Trade receivables with a contractual amount of EUR 70 thousand written off during 2024 are still
subject to enforcement activity.

The following significant changes in the gross carrying amounts of trade receivables contributed to
the changes in the impairment loss allowance during 2024:

¢ the growth of the business in [Countries A, B, X and Y] resulted in increases in trade receivables
of EUR 4,984 thousand (2023: EUR 2,356 thousand) and EUR 4,556 thousand (2023:
EUR 2,587 thousand) respectively and increases in impairment allowances of EUR 30 thousand
(2023: EUR 14 thousand) and EUR 44 thousand (2023: EUR 23 thousand) respectively;

e increases in credit-impaired balances in [Countries D and Z] of EUR 143 thousand
(2023: EUR 98 thousand) resulted in increases in impairment allowances of EUR 47 thousand
(2023: EUR 44 thousand); and

® adecrease in trade receivables of EUR 3,970 thousand attributed to the Packaging segment,
which was sold in February 2024 (see Note 7), resulted in a decrease in the loss allowance in
2024 of EUR 25 thousand.
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Financial instruments

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)

Introduction

ii. Credit risk (continued)
Debt securities

IFRS 733(a)~(b), The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in liquid debt securities and only with
gggg,j;ﬂa), counterparties that have a credit rating of at least A2 from [Rating Agency X] and A from [Rating
AgencyYl.

The Group monitors changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit ratings. To
determine whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk at the reporting date that has not been reflected in published
ratings, the Group supplements this by reviewing changes in bond yields and, where available,
credit default swap (CDS) prices together with available press and regulatory information
about debtors.

Australian content

12-month and lifetime probabilities of default are based on historical data supplied by

[Rating Agency Xl for each credit rating and are recalibrated based on current bond yields and CDS
prices. Loss given default parameters generally reflect an assumed recovery rate of 40 percent
except when a security is credit-impaired, in which case the estimate of loss is based on the
instrument’s current market price and original effective interest rate.

IFRS 7.34(a), (c) The exposure to credit risk for debt securities at amortised cost, FVOCIl and FVTPL at the reporting
date by geographic region was as follows.

Net carrying amount

In thousands of EUR 2024 2023

[Country X 1,615 2,338
[Countries A, B, C, D and E] 68 115
Other [Region Z] countries 366 273
UK 435 430
us 298 51

2,782 3,207
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IFRS 7.34(a), 35M, BSI

IFRS 7351

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
ii. Credit risk (continued)
Debt securities (continued)

The following table presents an analysis of the credit quality of debt securities at amortised cost,
FVOCI and FVTPL. It indicates whether assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI were subject
to a 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL allowance and, in the latter case, whether they were credit-
impaired.

2024 2023
Credit rating FVTPL  FVOCI At amortised cost FVTPL  FVOCI At amortised cost
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL - Lifetime ECL- Lifetime
12- 12- not ECL - 12- 12- not ECL -
month month  credit- credit- month month  credit- credit-
In thousands of EUR ECL ECL impaired impaired ECL ECL impaired impaired
BBB- to AAA 243 122 1,764 - - 591 378 1,569 - -
BB-to BB+ - - - 207 - - - - 334 -
B-to B+ - - - 13 - - - - 233 -
Cto CCC+ - - - 247 - - - - 73 -
D - - - - 185 - - - - 67
Gross carrying
amounts 122 1,764 567 185 378 1,569 640 67
Loss allowance (1) (15) (25) (55) (4) (7) (7) (19)
Amortised cost 121 1,749 542 130 374 1,562 633 48
Carrying
amount 243 18 1,749 542 130 591 373 1,562 633 48

An impairment allowance of EUR 55 thousand (2023: EUR 19 thousand) in respect of debt
securities at amortised cost with a credit rating of D was recognised because of significant
financial difficulties being experienced by the debtors. The Group has no collateral in respect of
these investments.
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Financial instruments
32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)
C. Financial risk management (continued)
ii. Credit risk (continued)
Debt securities (continued)
The movement in the allowance for impairment for debt securities at amortised cost during the
year was as follows.
2024
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL - ECL -
12-month not credit- credit-
In thousands of EUR ECL impaired impaired Total
Balance at 1 January 10 3 20 33
Net remeasurement of loss allowance 5 46 27 78
Transfer to lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired (1) 1 - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL - credit-impaired - (8) 8 -
Financial assets repaid (2) (17) - (19)
New financial assets acquired 3 - - 3
Balance at 31 December 15 25 55 95
2023
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL - ECL -
12-month not credit- credit-
In thousands of EUR ECL impaired impaired Total
Balance at 1 January 6 2 12 20
Net remeasurement of loss allowance - 10 6 16
Transfer to lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired - - - -
Transfer to lifetime ECL - credit-impaired - (1) 1 -
Financial assets repaid - (4) - (4)
New financial assets acquired 1 - - 1
Balance at 31 December 7 7 19 33

The following contributed to the increase in the loss allowance during 2024.

e Anissuer of a debt security with a gross carrying amount of EUR 109 thousand entered
administration. The Group classified the debt security as credit-impaired and increased the loss
allowance by EUR 25 thousand.

e Arecession in [Country Y] in the fourth quarter of 2024 resulted in credit rating downgrades
and transfers to lifetime ECL measurement, with consequent increases in loss allowances of

EUR 33 thousand.
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IFRS 716A, 35H, 42P

IFRS 733(a)-(b),
34(a), 35B(a), 35F(a),
35G(a)-(b), 35M

IFRS 735H, 42P

IFRS 7.33(a)~(b), 34(a)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
ii. Credit risk (continued)
Debt securities (continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of debt securities at FVOCI during the
year was as follows.

2024 2023
12-month 12-month
In thousands of EUR ECL ECL
Balance at 1 January 4 4
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (1) (1)
Financial assets derecognised (3) -
New financial assets acquired 1 1
Balance at 31 December 1 4

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of EUR 1,504 thousand at 31 December 2024
(2023: EUR 1,850 thousand). The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and financial
institution counterparties, which are rated AA-to AA+, based on [Rating Agency Y] ratings.

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis
and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its cash and cash
equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties.

The Group uses a similar approach for assessment of ECLs for cash and cash equivalents to those
used for debt securities.

The amount of impairment allowance at 31 December 2024 is EUR 1 thousand (2023:
EUR 1 thousand).

Derivatives

The derivatives are entered into with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated
AA-to AA+, based on [Rating Agency Y] ratings.

Guarantees

The Group's policy is to provide financial guarantees only for subsidiaries’ liabilities. At
31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company has issued a guarantee to certain banks in respect
of credit facilities granted to two subsidiaries (see Note 33(B)).
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Financial instruments

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)

Introduction

iii. Liquidity risk

IFRS 731, 33 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset. The Group's objective when managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group uses activity-based costing to cost its products and services, which assists it in
monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising its cash return on investments.

IFRS 7.34(a), 39(c), The Group aims to maintain the level of its cash and cash equivalents and other highly marketable
B10A, B11E 1G18A debt investments at an amount in excess of expected cash outflows on financial liabilities (other
than trade payables) over the next 60 days. As described in Note 19, cash of EUR 300 thousand
(2023: nil) is subject to restrictions imposed by certain customers. As such, this cash amount was
excluded when calculating the ratio for the current period. The ratio of investments to outflows
was 1.17 at 31 December 2024 (2023: 1.21).

Australian content

The Group also monitors the level of expected cash inflows on trade and other receivables
together with expected cash outflows on trade and other payables. At 31 December 2024,

the expected cash inflows from trade and other receivables maturing within two months were
EUR 30,892 thousand (2023: EUR 21,209 thousand) and the expected cash outflows from trade
and other payables due within two months were EUR 23,024 thousand (2023: EUR 20,444
thousand). This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be
predicted, such as natural disasters.

As described in Note 29, the Group also participates in a supplier finance arrangement with the
principal purpose of facilitating efficient payment processing of supplier invoices and providing the
willing suppliers early payment terms compared with the related invoice payment due date. The
arrangement allows the Group to centralise payments of trade payables to the bank rather than
paying each supplier individually.
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From the Group's perspective, the arrangement does not significantly extend payment terms
beyond the normal terms agreed with other suppliers that are not participating; on average, the
payment terms for invoices relating to participating suppliers are extended by 5 days compared
with the normal terms agreed with other suppliers that are not participating (see Note 29).

IAS 750(a), In addition, the Group maintains the following lines of credit.
IFRS 7B11F

¢ EUR 10,000 thousand overdraft facility that is unsecured. Interest would be payable at the rate
of Euribor plus 250 basis points (2023: Euribor plus 160 basis points).

e EUR 15,000 thousand facility that is unsecured and can be drawn down to meet short-term
financing needs. The facility has a 30-day maturity that renews automatically at the option of the
Group. Interest would be payable at a rate of Euribor plus 200 basis points (2023: Euribor plus
110 basis points).
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
iii. Liquidity risk (continued)
Exposure to liquidity risk

IFRS 739(a) The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date.
The amounts are gross and undiscounted, and include contractual interest payments and exclude
the impact of netting agreements.a'b

Contractual cash flows
31 December 2024 Carrying 2 months 2-12 More than
In thousands of EUR amount Total or less months 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years

IFRS 7.39(a), Non-derivative financial

B11A-BI1D liabilities
Contingent consideration 270 (330) - - - (330) -
Bank overdrafts 334 (334) (334) - - - -
Secured bank loans 8,609 (9,409) (367) (720) (2,810) (5,512) -
Unsecured bank loan 503 (520) (194) (326) - - -
Unsecured bond issues 9,200 (10,272) (59) (3,195) (709) (6,309) -
Convertible notes" 4,678 (5,156) - - (81) (5,075) -
Redeemable preference

shares 1,990 (2,528) - (88) (88) (264) (2,088)

IFRS 16.58 Lease liabilities 4,125 (5,697) (381) (334) (963) (1,450) (2,569)

Trade payables 23,017 (23,017) (23,017) - - - -
52,726 (57,263) (24,352) (4,663) (4,651) (18,940) (4,657)

IFRS 739(b), Derivative financial liabilities®

B11A-B11D
Interest rate swaps used for

hedging 20 (21) (1) (6) (6) (8) -
Forward exchange contracts
used for hedging:
— Outflow 8 (152) (91) (61) - - -
— Inflow - 142 85 57 - - -
28 (31) (7) (10) (6) (8) -
IFRS 739, B11, a. The Group has disclosed a contractual maturity analysis for its financial liabilities, which is the minimum disclosure
Insights 7.10.650.80 under IFRS 7 in respect of liquidity risk. Because IFRS 7 does not mandate the number of time bands to be used in

Insights 7.10.650.70 b-

Insights 710.650.30

Insights d.

7.10.650.60;
IFRS 7B11A

the analysis, the Group has applied judgement to determine an appropriate number of time bands.

The Group has included both the interest and principal cash flows in the analysis. In our view, this best represents
the liquidity risk being faced by the Group.

In our view, the maturity analysis should include all derivative financial liabilities, but contractual maturities only are
required for those essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows.

In disclosing information about the maturity analysis of financial liabilities, an entity does not separate an embedded
derivative from a hybrid financial instrument. For such an instrument, the entity applies the disclosure requirements
for non-derivative financial liabilities. The Group has therefore also included the contractual cash flows associated
with the embedded derivative related to the series B convertible notes.
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32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management .E
(continued) -
C. Financial risk management (continued)
iii. Liquidity risk (continued)
Exposure to liquidity risk (continued)
Contractual cash flows
31 December 2023 Carrying 2 months 2-12 More than
In thousands of EUR amount Total or less months 1-2years 2-5years 5 years
IFRS 7.39(a), Non-derivative financial =
B11A-B11D liabilities .§
Bank overdrafts 282 (282)  (282) - - - - 8
Secured bank loans 12,078 (13,112) (1,720) (3,605) (518) (6,357) (912) E
Unsecured bank loan 17 (125) (63) (62) - - - g
Unsecured bond issues 9,200 (10,613) (61) (184) (3,306) (1,703) (5,359) -
IFRS 16.58 Lease liabilities 4,529  (5,936) (200) (400) (900) (1,400) (3,036)
Loan from associate 1,000 (1,048) (8) (1,040) - - -
Trade payables 20,438 (20,438) (20,438) - - - -
47644 (561,554) (22,772) (5,291) (4,724) (9,460) (9,307)
IFRS 7.39(b), Derivative financial liabilities
B11A-B11D
Interest rate swaps used for
hedging 5 (5) - (2) (1 (2) - 8
Forward exchange contracts g
- £
used for hedging: 8
1]
- Outflow 7 (41) (25) (16) - - - 3
— Inflow - 32 19 13 - - - ‘g
12 (14) (6) (5) (1) (2) - &
IFRS 7.39(b)~(c), B11D The inflows/(outflows) disclosed in the above table represent the contractual undiscounted cash
flows relating to derivative financial liabilities held for risk management purposes and which are

not usually closed out before contractual maturity. The disclosure shows net cash flow amounts for
derivatives that are net cash-settled and gross cash inflow and outflow amounts for derivatives that
have simultaneous gross cash settlement.

IFRS 7B10A As disclosed in Note 28(B), the Group's secured bank loans are subject to various covenants. A
future breach of any of these covenants may require the Group to repay the related loan earlier
than indicated in the above table.

The interest payments on variable interest rate loans and bond issues in the table above reflect
market forward interest rates at the reporting date and these amounts may change as market
interest rates change. The future cash flows on contingent consideration (see Note 34(A)) and
derivative instruments may be different from the amount in the above table as interest rates and
exchange rates or the relevant conditions underlying the contingency change. Except for these
financial liabilities, it is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could
occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.®

Insights a.  When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount to be disclosed is determined with reference to conditions

710.650.110 existing at the reporting date. For example, for a floating-rate bond with interest payments indexed to three-month
Euribor, in our view the amount to be disclosed should be based on forward rates rather than spot rates prevailing
at the reporting date because the spot interest rates do not represent the level of the index based on which the
cash flows will be payable. The forward interest rates better describe the level of the index in accordance with the
conditions existing at the reporting date.
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IFRS 733

IFRS 721C, 22A(a)

IFRS 721A,
722A(b)~(c), 22C

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices — e.g. foreign exchange rates, interest
rates and equity prices — will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

The Group uses derivatives to manage market risks. All such transactions are carried out within
the guidelines set by the risk management committee. Generally, the Group seeks to apply hedge
accounting to manage volatility in profit or loss.

Currency risk®

The Group is exposed to transactional foreign currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch
between the currencies in which sales, purchases, receivables and borrowings are denominated
and the respective functional currencies of Group companies. The functional currencies of Group
companies are primarily Euro (EUR) and Swiss francs (CHF). The currencies in which these
transactions are primarily denominated are EUR, USD, GBP and CHFE.

The Group's risk management policy is to hedge 75 to 85 percent of its estimated foreign currency
exposure in respect of forecast sales and purchases over the following 12 months at any point in
time. The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its currency risk, most with a maturity
of less than one year from the reporting date. These contracts are generally designated as cash
flow hedges.b

IFRS 7.24C(b)(vi)

IFRS 7.24B(a),
24C(a)

a.

b.

The Group did not designate any net positions in a hedging relationship. For an entity that did, the required
disclosures would include the hedging gains or losses recognised in a separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss and OCI.

The Group has not designated any fair value hedging relationships. For an entity that has a fair value hedge, the
required disclosures would include:

e the carrying amount of the hedged item recognised in the statement of financial position (presenting assets
separately from liabilities);

e the accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments on the hedged item included in the carrying amount of
the hedged item recognised in the statement of financial position (presenting assets separately from liabilities);

¢ theline item in the statement of financial position that includes the hedged item;
¢ the change in value of the hedged item used as the basis for recognising hedge ineffectiveness for the period;

e the accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments remaining in the statement of financial position for any
hedged items that have ceased to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses;

¢ hedge ineffectiveness: i.e. the difference between the hedging gains or losses of the hedging instrument and the
hedged item recognised in profit or loss; and

e the line item in the statement of profit or loss and OCI that includes the recognised hedge ineffectiveness.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

The Group designates the spot element of forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its
currency risk and applies a hedge ratio of 1:1. The forward elements of forward exchange contracts
are excluded from the designation of the hedging instrument and are separately accounted for as
a cost of hedging, which is recognised in equity in a cost of hedging reserve. The Group'’s policy is
for the critical terms of the forward exchange contracts to align with the hedged item.

The Group determines the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument
and hedged item based on the currency, amount and timing of their respective cash flows. The
Group assesses whether the derivative designated in each hedging relationship is expected

to be and has been effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item under the
hypothetical derivative method.

In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are:®

¢ the effect of the counterparties’ and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair value of the forward
foreign exchange contracts, which is not reflected in the change in the fair value of the hedged
cash flows attributable to the change in exchange rates; and

e changes in the timing of the hedged transactions.

IFRS 723E a.

The Group did not have any new sources of hedge ineffectiveness emerging in designated hedging relationships.
If it had, then it would be required to disclose those sources by risk category and explain the resulting hedge
ineffectiveness.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)
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32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

IFRS 7.34(a) Exposure to currency risk

The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the
management of the Group is as follows.

"qé; 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
g In thousands of EUR EUR usD GBP CHF EUR usD GBP CHF
Es Trade receivables 1,977 8,365 2,367 - 3,099 6,250 1,780 -
g Secured bank loans - (1,447)  (886) (1,240) - (1,621) (4,855) (1,257)
2 Trade payables (876) (7,956) (4,347) - (5,411) (10,245) (2,680) -
Convertible notes
(series B) including
embedded
conversion option - (950) - - - - - -
Net statement of
financial position
exposure 1,101 (1,988) (2,866) (1,240) (2,312) (5,516) (5,755) (1,257)
ag Next six months’
"E’ forecast sales® 9,000 23,000 12,000 - 18,700 17000 24,000 -
£ Next six months'
13 forecast
'g purchases® (10,000) (20,000) (8,000) - (9,800) (10,000) (17000) -
& Net forecast
transaction
exposure (1,000) 3,000 4,000 - 8900 7000 7,000 -
Forward exchange
contracts - (950) (946) - - (1,042) (870) -
Net exposure 101 62 188 (1,240) 6,588 442 375 (1,257)
-]
§ IFRS 7.34(a) a. Disclosure of estimated forecast sales and purchases does not form part of the minimum disclosure requirements
ét in IFRS 7, because estimated forecast sales and purchases are not financial instruments. However, the Group has

disclosed this information because it is relevant to an understanding of its exposure to currency risk. In addition,
IFRS 7 requires quantitative data about risk exposures to be based on information provided internally to key
management personnel and the Group provides forecast sales and purchase information to management as part of
its management of currency risk.
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Financial instruments
32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)
C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
IFRS 7.34(a) Exposure to currency risk (continued)
IFRS 731 The following significant exchange rates have been applied.®
Average rate Year-end spot rate
Euro 2024 2023 2024 2023
usD 1 0.758 0.765 0.750 0.758
GBP 1 1.193 1.214 1.172 1.230
CHF 1 0.818 0.825 0.810 0.828
IFRS 740 Sensitivity analysis
A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of EUR, USD, GBP or CHF against all other
currencies at 31 December would have affected the measurement of financial instruments
denominated in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown
below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant
and ignores any impact of forecast sales and purchases.
Profit or loss Equity, net of tax
Effect in thousands of EUR Strengthening Weakening  Strengthening Weakening
31 December 2024
EUR (9% movement) (33) 33 25 (25)
USD (10% movement) 25 (25) (7) 7
GBP (8% movement) 17 (17) (5) 5
CHF (3% movement) 2 (2) (30) 30
31 December 2023
EUR (10% movement) (37) 37 28 (28)
USD (12% movement) 85 (85) (8) 8
GBP (10% movement) 92 (92) (7) 7
CHF (5% movement) 6 (6) (50) 50
IFRS 731 Although it is not specifically required by the Accounting Standards, the Group has disclosed the significant

exchange rates applied. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only. In addition, IFRS 7 requires
information that enables users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and extent of risks arising from
financial instruments to which the entity is exposed at the reporting date.
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IFRS 721C,
22A(b)~(c), 22B-C

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that between 80 and 90 percent of its interest rate risk
exposure is at a fixed rate. This is achieved partly by entering into fixed-rate instruments and partly
by borrowing at a floating rate and using interest rate swaps as hedges of the variability in cash
flows attributable to movements in interest rates. The Group applies a hedge ratio of 1:1.

IFRS 722B(b), The Group determines the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument
IFRS9.686 and hedged item based on the reference interest rates, tenors, repricing dates and maturities and
the notional or par amounts.
The Group assesses whether the derivative designated in each hedging relationship is expected
to be effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item under the hypothetical
derivative method.
IFRS 723D In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are:*
¢ the effect of the counterparty’s and the Group's own credit risk on the fair value of the swaps,
which is not reflected in the change in the fair value of the hedged cash flows attributable to the
change in interest rates; and
e differences in repricing dates between the swaps and the borrowings.
Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the
management of the Group is as follows.
Nominal amount
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
Fixed-rate instruments
Financial assets 2,554 2,629
Financial liabilities (18,041) (12,869)
(15,487) (10,240)
Effect of interest rate swaps (8,000) (7500)
(23,487) (17.740)
Variable-rate instruments
Financial liabilities (11,064) (14,055)
Effect of interest rate swaps 8,000 7500
(3,064) (6,555)
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed-rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed-rate financial assets or financial liabilities, at FVTPL, and
the Group does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair
value hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would
not affect profit or loss.
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates would have increased or decreased equity by
EUR 65 thousand after tax (2023: EUR 66 thousand). This analysis assumes that all other variables,
in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant.
IFRS 723E The Group did not have any new sources of hedge ineffectiveness emerging in designated hedging relationships.

If it had, then it would be required to disclose those sources by risk category and explain the resulting hedge
ineffectiveness.
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Financial instruments
= = = = c
o
Notes to the consoliclated financial statements (continued) £
=
. N . . 3
32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management £
(continued) B
C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
IFRS 740 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate instruments
A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would
have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant.
Profit or loss Equity, net of tax E)
c
100 bp 100 bp 100 bp 100 bp 8
Effect in thousands of EUR increase decrease increase decrease g
31 December 2024 £
Variable-rate instruments (66) 66 - - E
Interest rate swaps 61 (61) 310 (302)
Cash flow sensitivity (net) (5) 5 310 (302)
31 December 2023
Variable-rate instruments (142) 142 - -
Interest rate swaps 61 (61) 280 (275)
Cash flow sensitivity (net) (81) 81 280 (275)
[
Other market price risk S
£
The primary goal of the Group's investment in equity securities is to hold the investments for the %
long term for strategic purposes. Management is assisted by external advisers in this regard. >
However, the Group also holds certain equity securities for the purpose of trading. See Note 25 for E
further details. E
o
IFRS 740 Sensitivity analysis — Equity price risk
All of the Group's listed equity investments are listed on either the London Stock Exchange or

the New York Stock Exchange. For such investments classified at FVOCI, a 2 percent increase

in the FTSE 100 plus a 3 percent increase in the Dow Jones Industrial Average at the reporting
date would have increased equity by EUR 28 thousand after tax (2023: an increase of EUR 18
thousand after tax); an equal change in the opposite direction would have decreased equity by
EUR 28 thousand after tax (2023: a decrease of EUR 18 thousand after tax). For such investments
classified as at FVTPL, the impact of a 2 percent increase in the FTSE 100 plus a 3 percent
increase in the Dow Jones Industrial Average at the reporting date on profit or loss would have
been an increase of EUR 16 thousand after tax (2023: EUR 18 thousand after tax). An equal
change in the opposite direction would have decreased profit or loss by EUR 16 thousand after tax
(2023: EUR 18 thousand after tax).
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IFRS 723B

IFRS 723B(a)
IFRS 7.23B(b)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Cash flow hedges™ "

At 31 December 2024, the Group held the following instruments to hedge exposures to changes in
foreign currency and interest rates.

Maturity
6-12 More than

1-6 months months one year
Foreign currency risk
Forward exchange contracts
Net exposure (in thousands of EUR) 253 63 -
Average EUR:USD forward contract rate 0.91 0.87 0.83
Average EUR:GBP forward contract rate 1.27 1.23 1.20
Average EUR:CHF forward contract rate 0.92 0.91 0.90
Interest rate risk
Interest rate swaps
Net exposure (in thousands of EUR) - 41 78
Average fixed interest rate 2.2% 2.4% 2.8%

At 31 December 2023, the Group held the following instruments to hedge exposures to changes
in foreign currency rates.

Maturity
6-12 More than

1-6 months months one year
Foreign currency risk
Forward exchange contracts
Net exposure (in thousands of EUR) 293 73 -
Average EUR:USD forward contract rate 0.93 0.89 0.85
Average EUR:GBP forward contract rate 1.35 1.32 1.28
Average EUR:CHF forward contract rate 0.95 0.93 0.91
Interest rate risk
Interest rate swaps
Net exposure (in thousands of EUR) - 63 67
Average fixed interest rate 2.1% 2.2% 2.9%

IFRS 723C, 24D

IFRS 723F

a.

The Group does not frequently reset hedging relationships because both the hedging instrument and the hedged
item frequently change (i.e. the entity does not use a dynamic process in which neither the exposure nor the
hedging instruments used to manage that exposure remain the same for a long period). If it did, then it would be
exempt from providing the disclosures required by paragraphs 23A and 23B of IFRS 7, but would instead provide
information about the ultimate risk management strategy, how it reflects its risk management strategy in its hedge
accounting and designations, and how frequently hedging relationships are discontinued and restarted. If the
volume of these hedges is unrepresentative of normal volumes during the year (i.e. the volume at the reporting date
does not reflect the volumes during the year), then the entity would disclose that fact and the reason it believes the
volumes are unrepresentative.

The Group did not have any forecast transaction for which cash flow hedge accounting had been used in the
previous period, but which is no longer expected to occur. If it did, then it would be required to disclose a description
of the forecast transaction as well as the amount reclassified from the cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss.
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Financial instruments
Notes to the consoliclated financial statements (continued)
32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)
C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Cash flow hedges (continued)
IFRS 724B(b) The amounts at the reporting date relating to items designated as hedged items were as follows.
31 December 2024
Balances

remaining in
the cash flow
hedge reserve
from hedging

Change in relationships

value used for Costs of  for which hedge

calculating hedge Cash flow hedging accounting is no

In thousands of EUR ineffectiveness hedge reserve hedge reserve longer applied
Foreign currency risk

Sales, receivables and borrowings 23 154 2 -

Inventory purchases 15 101 2 -

Interest rate risk
Variable-rate instruments 24 178 - -

31 December 2023

Foreign currency risk
Sales, receivables and borrowings (35) 181 (27) -
Inventory purchases (23) 119 - -

Interest rate risk
Variable-rate instruments (37) 191 - -
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
-]
[=]
E 32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)
C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Cash flow hedges (continued)
IFRS 7218, 21D, 24A, The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments and hedge ineffectiveness were
24C(b) as follows.
2024
-
3
c
8
c Line item in the
% statement of financial
-E Carrying amount position where the
&’ Nominal hedging instrument is
In thousands of EUR amount Assets Liabilities  included
Foreign currency risk
Other investments
including
Forward exchange contracts — 1,138 178 (5) derivatives (assets),
sales, receivables and trade and other
borrowings payables (liabilities)
[Z]
t
£
2 Forward exchange contracts — Other investments
® inventory purchases including
£ 758 19 (3) derivatives (assets),
B.E' trade and other
payables (liabilities)
Interest rate risk
Other investments
including
Interest rate swaps 8,000 116 (20) derivatives (assets),
trade and other
payables (liabilities)
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Financial instruments

Introduction

During the period - 2024

-
Amount E,
Changes in Amount from from costs Amount g
the value of Line item hedging of hedging Amount reclassified :
the hedging Hedge in profit or Costs of reserve reserve reclassified from costs  Line item in 8
instrument ineffectiveness loss that hedging transferred transferred from hedging of hedging  profit or loss g
recognised recognised in  includes hedge recognised to cost of to cost of reserve to reserve to  affected by the g
in OCl  profit or loss ineffectiveness in OCI inventory inventory  profit or loss  profit or loss  reclassification <
Finance
(23) (45) 20 - - (12) 6 Revenue
costs —other
Finance )
- - - (6) 2 £
costs —other g
2
S
7]
>
(15) - 14 6 6 - - s
£
o
Finance Finance
(24) (6) - - - (13) -

costs — other costs — other
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32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Cash flow hedges (continued)

IFRS 7218, 21D, 24A, The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments and hedge ineffectiveness were
24C(b)

as follows.
2023
-
c
3
c
[=}
g Line item in the
8 statement of financial
© o
"3 Carrying amount position where the
<:):: Nominal hedging instrument is
In thousands of EUR amount Assets Liabilities included

Foreign currency risk
Other investments

Forward exchange contracts — including
sales, receivables and 1,147 21 (4) derivatives (assets),
borrowings trade and other

payables (liabilities)

[Z]

=

[

g

£ Other investments
- including

(] —

E Forward exchang contracts 765 141 (3) derivatives (assets),
o

inventory purchases
ype trade and other

payables (liabilities)

Interest rate risk

Other investments
including
Interest rate swaps 7500 131 (5) derivatives (assets),
trade and other
payables (liabilities)
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Financial instruments
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£
During the period - 2023
Amount :E,
Changes in Amount from from costs Amount "cé;
the value of Line item hedging of hedging Amount reclassified o
the hedging Hedge in profit or Costs of reserve reserve reclassified from costs  Line item in .E
instrument ineffectiveness loss that hedging transferred transferred from hedging of hedging  profit or loss E
H]
recognised recognised in  includes hedge recognised to cost of to cost of reserve to reserve to  affected by the g
in OCl  profit or loss ineffectiveness in OCI inventory inventory  profit orloss  profit or loss  reclassification <
Finance
35 (11) costs— 6 - - (3) 7 Revenue
other
Finance @
- - - (3) (5) costs-— 5
other 5
S
7]
z
<
23 - 4 1 (1) - - E
o
Finance Finance
37 (5) costs— - - - (5) - costs-—
other other
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IFRS 724E-F

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Cash flow hedges (continued)

The following table provides a reconciliation by risk category of components of equity and analysis
of OCl items, net of tax, resulting from cash flow hedge accounting.

2024
Cost of

Hedging hedging
In thousands of EUR reserve reserve
Balance at 1 January 2024 491 (27)
Cash flow hedges
Changes in fair value:
— Foreign currency risk — inventory purchases (15) 14
— Foreign currency risk — other items (23) 20
— Interest rate risk (24) -
Amount reclassified to profit or loss:
— Foreign currency risk — other items (18) 8
— Interest rate risk (13) -
Amount included in the cost of non-financial items:
— Foreign currency risk — inventory purchases 6 6
Tax on movements on reserves during the year 29 (17)
Balance at 31 December 2024 433 4
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Financial instruments
= = = = c
Notes to the consoliclated financial statements (continued) £
Q
3
32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management .E
(continued) -
C. Financial risk management (continued)
iv. Market risk (continued)
Cash flow hedges (continued)
2023
Cost of
Hedging hedging
In thousands of EUR reserve reserve
Balance at 1 January 2023 434 (35) ‘qé;
Cash flow hedges §
Effective portion of changes in fair value: E
— Foreign currency risk — inventory purchases 23 4 T
— Foreign currency risk — other items 35 6 i
— Interest rate risk 37 - <
Amount reclassified to profit or loss:
— Foreign currency risk — other items (6) 2
- Interest rate risk (5) -
Amount included in the cost of non-financial items:
— Foreign currency risk — inventory purchases 1 (1)
Tax on movements on reserves during the year (28) 3)
Balance at 31 December 2023 491 (27) *2
[
Net investment hedges 3
IFRS 722A Aforeign currency exposure arises from the Group’s net investment in its Swiss subsidiary that ‘E
has a Swiss franc functional currency. The risk arises from the fluctuation in spot exchange rates E
between the CHF and EUR, which causes the amount of the net investment to vary. B.g'
The hedged risk in the net investment hedge is the risk of a weakening CHF against EUR that will
result in a reduction in the carrying amount of the Group's net investment in the Swiss subsidiary.
IFRS 722B(a) Part of the Group’s net investment in its Swiss subsidiary is hedged by a CHF-denominated
secured bank loan (carrying amount: EUR 1,240 thousand (2023: EUR 1,257 thousand)), which
mitigates the foreign currency risk arising from the subsidiary’s net assets. The loan is designated
as a hedging instrument for the changes in the value of the net investment that is attributable to
changes in the EUR/CHF spot rate.
IFRS 722B(b) To assess hedge effectiveness, the Group determines the economic relationship between the
hedging instrument and the hedged item by comparing changes in the carrying amount of the
debt that is attributable to a change in the spot rate with changes in the investment in the foreign
operation due to movements in the spot rate (the offset method). The Group's policy is to hedge
the net investment only to the extent of the debt principal.
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IFRS 7.24A,
24C(b)(i)~(iii)

IFRS 7.24B(b)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
(continued)

C. Financial risk management (continued)

iv. Market risk (continued)

Net investment hedges (continued)

The amounts related to items designated as hedging instruments were as follows.

2024

Line item in the
statement of financial
position where the
hedging instrument

Carrying amount

In thousands of EUR Nominal amount Assets Liabilities is included
Foreign exchange- Loans and
denominated debt (CHF) 1,240 - 1,240 borrowings

The amounts related to items designated as hedged items were as follows.

2024

In thousands of EUR Change in value used for calculating hedge ineffectiveness

CHF net investment 3

The amounts related to items designated as hedging instruments were as follows.

2023

Line item in the
statement of financial
position where the
hedging instrument

Carrying amount

In thousands of EUR Nominal amount Assets Liabilities  is included
Foreign exchange- Loans and
denominated debt (CHF) 1,257 - 1,257 borrowings

The amounts related to items designated as hedged items were as follows.

2023

In thousands of EUR Change in value used for calculating hedge ineffectiveness

CHF net investment 8
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Financial instruments

Introduction

During the period - 2024

Change in value used

for calculating hedge Change in value of Hedge ineffectiveness  Line item in profit Amount reclassified Line item affected in
ineffectiveness for hedging instrument recognised in profit  or loss that includes from hedging reserve  profit or loss because
2023 recognised in OCI orloss hedge ineffectiveness to profit or loss  of the reclassification

Finance costs —
(4) (3) (1) other - N/A

Australian content

During the period - 2024

Balances remaining in the foreign currency translation reserve from

Foreign currency translation reserve hedging relationships for which hedge accounting is no longer applied

125 -
%)
t
During the period - 2023 °E’
7]
-
©
i >
Change in value used >
for calculating hedge Change in value of Hedge ineffectiveness  Line item in profit Amount reclassified  Line item affected in &
ineffectiveness for hedging instrument recognised in profit  or loss that includes from hedging reserve  profit or loss because §
2023 recognised in OCI orloss hedge ineffectiveness to profit or loss  of the reclassification o

Finance costs —
(8) (8) - other - N/A

During the period - 2023

Balances remaining in the foreign currency translation reserve from
Foreign currency translation reserve hedging relationships for which hedge accounting is no longer applied

105 -
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o
: Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
=]
T
o - - - - -
£ 32. Financial instruments - Fair values and risk management
- (continued)
IFRS 713B, 13E, B50 D. Master netting or similar agreementsa’b
The Group enters into derivative transactions under International Swaps and Derivatives
Association (ISDA) master netting agreements. In general, under these agreements the amounts
owed by each counterparty on a single day in respect of all transactions outstanding in the
same currency are aggregated into a single net amount that is payable by one party to the other.
In certain circumstances — e.g. when a credit event such as a default occurs — all outstanding
transactions under the agreement are terminated, the termination value is assessed and only a
- single net amount is payable in settlement of all transactions.
f=
8 L N . .
‘g’ [IAS 32.42] The ISDA agreements do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the statement of financial
e position. This is because the Group does not have any currently legally enforceable right to offset
-T‘-: recognised amounts, because the right to offset is enforceable only on the occurrence of future
2 events such as a default on the bank loans or other credit events.
=
< . . . . -
The following table sets out the carrying amounts of recognised financial instruments that are
subject to the above agreements.
Gross
amounts
of financial Related
instruments in financial
the statement instruments
of financial that are
IFRS 7.13C, B46 In thousands of EUR Note position not offset Net amount
£ 31 December 2024
qg’ Financial assets
[ . . . . .
g Other investments, including derivatives
; — Interest rate swaps used for hedging 25 116 (5) M1
£ — Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 25 297 (16) 281
& — Other forward exchange contracts 25 122 (7) 115
535 (28) 507
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
— Interest rate swaps used for hedging 29 (20) 20 -
— Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 29 (8) 8 -
(28) 28 -
31 December 2023
Financial assets
Other investments, including derivatives
— Interest rate swaps used for hedging 25 131 (2) 129
— Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 25 352 (8) 344
— Other forward exchange contracts 25 89 (2) 87
572 (12) 560
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
— Interest rate swaps used for hedging 29 (5) 5 -
— Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 29 (7) 7 -
(12) 12 -
]
o IFRS 7.13C, B51- a.  The disclosure requirements in paragraph 13C of IFRS 7 may be grouped by type of financial instrument or
e B52, Insights transaction. Alternatively, an entity may present the disclosures in paragraph 13C(a)—(c) by type of financial
é’ 710.250.70 instrument, and those in 13C(c)—(e) by counterparty.
< IFRS 713C, B52- b.  The disclosure requirements described in paragraph 13C of IFRS 7 are minimum requirements. An entity
B53, Insights supplements them with additional qualitative disclosures if they are necessary for financial statement users to
710.250.120 evaluate the actual or potential effect of netting arrangements on its financial position. When disclosing quantitative
information by counterparty, an entity considers qualitative disclosure about the type of counterparty.
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Group composition

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

33. List of subsidiaries®
See accounting policy in Note 44(A)(ii).

Introduction

IFRS 12.10(a), 12(a)-(b),
IAS 24.13-14

Set out below is a list of material subsidiaries of the Group.

The Company

IFRS 12.7(a), 9(b),

IAS 1.122

IFRS 12.7(a), 9(b),

10(b)(ii)

IFRS 12.14

Baguette S.A.

France

Mermaid A/S

Denmark

Papier GmbH

Germany

Lei Sure
Limited
Romania

Paper Pabus
Co

UK

Hemy Payo
Products N.V.
Netherlands

Oy Kossu AG

Switzerland

100% 100% J 100% 100% Qi 100% 100% j§ 100% 100% Qi 100% 100% §} 100% 100% 90% 90%

Sloan Bio-
Research Co

Papyrus Pty Swissolote
Limited AG

us Switzerland

Maple-leaf Inc @8 Silver Fir S.A.

Canada
90% 25% 75% 60% 45% 45% 48% 48%

Spain

@ Name
@ Principal place of business

@® Ownership interest in 2024
@® Ownership interest in 2023

A. Maple-leaf Inc and Silver Fir S.A.

Although the Group owns less than half of Maple-leaf Inc and Silver Fir S.A. and has less than half
of their voting power, management has determined that the Group controls these two entities.
The Group controls Maple-leaf Inc by virtue of an agreement with its other shareholders; the
Group has control over Silver Fir S.A., on a de facto power basis, because the remaining voting
rights in the investee are widely dispersed and there is no indication that all other shareholders
exercise their votes collectively.

B. Sloan Bio-Research Co and MayCo

The Group does not hold any ownership interests in two structured entities, Sloan Bio-Research
Co and MayCo. However, based on the terms of agreements under which these entities were
established, the Group receives substantially all of the returns related to their operations and net
assets (these entities perform research activities exclusively for the Group) and has the current
ability to direct these entities’ activities that most significantly affect these returns. Because the
owners' interests in these entities are presented as liabilities of the Group, there are no NCI for
these entities.

The Company has issued guarantees to certain banks in respect of the credit facilities of
EUR 700 thousand granted to these entities, which is the maximum amount the Company is
exposed to.

a.

For additional disclosure examples and explanatory notes on IFRS 12, see our Guide to annual financial statements —

IFRS 12 supplement.
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IFRS 3.B64(a)-(c)

IFRS 3.B64(d)

IFRS 3.B64(q)

IFRS 3.B64(f)

IFRS 3.B64(1)(i),
IAS 740(a)-(b)
IFRS 3.B64(f)(iv),
IAS 743

IFRS 3.B64(f)(iii)

IFRS 3.B64(f)(iv)

IFRS 3.864(1)

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

34. Acquisition of subsidiary
See accounting policies in Note 44(A)(i)—(iii).

On 31 March 2024, the Group acquired 65 percent of the shares and voting interests in Papyrus.
As aresult, the Group's equity interest in Papyrus increased from 25 to 90 percent, granting it
control of Papyrus (see Note 24(B)).

Included in the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition of Papyrus

are inputs (a head office, several factories, patented technology, inventories and customer
relationships), production processes and an organised workforce. The Group has determined that
together the acquired inputs and processes significantly contribute to the ability to create revenue.
The Group has concluded that the acquired set is a business.

Taking control of Papyrus will enable the Group to modernise its production process through
access to Papyrus's patented technology. The acquisition is also expected to provide the Group
with an increased share of the standard paper market through access to Papyrus's customer base.
The Group also expects to reduce costs through economies of scale.

For the nine months ended 31 December 2024, Papyrus contributed revenue of EUR 20,409
thousand and profit of EUR 425 thousand to the Group's results. If the acquisition had

occurred on 1 January 2024, management estimates that consolidated revenue would have
been EUR 107091 thousand, and consolidated profit for the year would have been EUR 8,128
thousand. In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value
adjustments, determined provisionally, that arose on the date of acquisition would have been the
same if the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2024.

A. Consideration transferred

The following table summarises the acquisition date fair value of each major class of consideration
transferred.

In thousands of EUR Note 2024
Cash 2,500
Equity instruments (8,000 ordinary shares) 26(A)(i) 87

Replacement share-based payment awards 120
Contingent consideration 32(B)(iii) 250
Settlement of pre-existing relationship 9(B) (326)
Total consideration transferred 2,631

i. Equity instruments issued

The fair value of the ordinary shares issued was based on the listed share price of the Company at
31 March 2024 of EUR 10.88 per share.

ii. Replacement share-based payment awards

In accordance with the terms of the acquisition agreement, the Group exchanged equity-settled
share-based payment awards held by employees of Papyrus (the acquiree’s awards) for equity-
settled share-based payment awards of the Company (the replacement awards). The details of the
acquiree's awards and replacement awards were as follows.

Acquiree’s awards Replacement awards

Terms and conditions Grant date: 1 April 2023 Vesting date: 31 March 2027
Vesting date: 31 March 2027 Service condition
Service condition

Fair value at date of
acquisition EUR 527 thousand EUR 571 thousand
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IFRS 3.B64(1)

IFRS 3.B64(I)-(m)
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IFRS 3.B64(h)(i)
IAS 740(c)
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Group composition
34. Acquisition of subsidiary (continued)
A. Consideration transferred (continued)
ii. Replacement share-based payment awards (continued)
The value of the replacement awards is EUR 520 thousand, after taking into account an estimated
forfeiture rate of 9 percent. The consideration for the business combination includes EUR 120
thousand transferred to employees of Papyrus when the acquiree’s awards were substituted by
the replacement awards, which relates to past service. The balance of EUR 400 thousand will be
recognised as post-acquisition compensation cost. For further details on the replacement awards,
see Note 12(A)ii).
iii. Contingent consideration
The Group has agreed to pay the selling shareholders in three years’ time additional consideration
of EUR 600 thousand if the acquiree’s cumulative EBITDA over the next three years exceeds
EUR 10,000 thousand. The Group has included EUR 250 thousand as contingent consideration
related to the additional consideration, which represents its fair value at the date of acquisition.
At 31 December 2024, the contingent consideration had increased to EUR 270 thousand
(see Note 29).
iv. Settlement of pre-existing relationship
The Group and Papyrus were parties to a long-term supply contract under which Papyrus supplied
the Group with timber products at a fixed price. Under the contract, the Group could terminate
the agreement early by paying Papyrus EUR 326 thousand. This pre-existing relationship was
effectively terminated when the Group acquired Papyrus.
The Group has attributed EUR 326 thousand of the consideration transferred to the
extinguishment of the supply contract and has included the amount in ‘other expenses’
(see Note 9(B)). This amount is the lower of the termination amount and the value of the off-
market element of the contract. The fair value of the contract at the date of acquisition was
EUR 600 thousand, of which EUR 400 thousand related to the unfavourable aspect of the contract
to the Group relative to market prices.
B. Acquisition-related costs
The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of EUR 50 thousand on legal fees and due diligence
costs. These costs have been included in ‘administrative expenses'.
C. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition.
In thousands of EUR Note 2024
Property, plant and equipment 21(A) 1,955
Intangible assets 22(A) 250
Inventories 825
Trade receivables 848
Cash and cash equivalents 375
Loans and borrowings (500)
Deferred tax liabilities 14(E) (79)
Contingent liabilities 31 (20)
Site restoration provision 31 (150)
Trade and other payables (460)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 3,044
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IFRS 3.61

IFRS 3.B64(h)(ii)(iii)

IFRS 3.B67(a),
IAS 1.125

IFRS 3.B64(j), B67(c),

IAS 3786

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

34. Acquisition of subsidiary (continued)
C. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (continued)
i. Measurement of fair values’

The valuation techniques used for measuring the fair value of material assets acquired were as
follows.

Assets acquired  Valuation technique

Property, Market comparison technique and cost technique: The valuation model considers market prices

plant and for similar items when they are available, and depreciated replacement cost when appropriate.

equipment Depreciated replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical deterioration as well as
functional and economic obsolescence.

Intangible Relief-from-royalty method and multi-period excess earnings method.: The relief-from-royalty

assets method considers the discounted estimated royalty payments that are expected to be avoided

as a result of the patents being owned. The multi-period excess earnings method considers the
present value of net cash flows expected to be generated by the customer relationships, by
excluding any cash flows related to contributory assets.

Inventories Market comparison technique: The fair value is determined based on the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and sale, and a
reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to complete and sell the inventories.

The trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of EUR 900 thousand, of which
EUR 52 thousand was expected to be uncollectable at the date of acquisition.

Fair values measured on a provisional basis
The following amounts have been measured on a provisional basis.

e The fair value of Papyrus’s intangible assets (patented technology and customer relationships)
has been measured provisionally, pending completion of an independent valuation.

e Papyrus is the defendant in legal proceedings brought by a customer that alleges that Papyrus
supplied defective goods. Management's assessment, based on its interpretation of the
underlying sales contract and independent legal advice, is that the basis for the customer’s
claim has little merit and it is not probable that an outflow will be required to settle the claim.
Management’s assessment of the fair value of this contingent liability, taking into account the
range of possible outcomes of the judicial process, is EUR 20 thousand (see Note 39).

® Papyrus’s operations are subject to specific environmental regulations. The Group has
conducted a preliminary assessment of site restoration provisions arising from these
regulations and has recognised a provisional amount. The Group will continue to review these
matters during the measurement period.

If new information obtained within one year of the date of acquisition about facts and
circumstances that existed at the date of acquisition identifies adjustments to the above amounts,
or any additional provisions that existed at the date of acquisition, then the accounting for the
acquisition will be revised.

IFRS 13.BC184

a.

The Group has disclosed information about the fair value measurement of assets acquired in a business
combination, although the disclosure requirements of IFRS 13 do not apply to the fair value of these assets if they
are subsequently measured at other than fair value. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.
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Group composition

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

34. Acquisition of subsidiary (continued)
D. Goodwill

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as follows.

Introduction

In thousands of EUR Note 2024
Consideration transferred 34(A) 2,631
IFRS 3.B64(0)(i) NCI, based on their proportionate interest in the recognised amounts of
the assets and liabilities of Papyrus 305
IFRS 3.B64(p)(i) Fair value of pre-existing interest in Papyrus 649
Fair value of identifiable net assets 34(C) (3,044)
Goodwiill 22(A) 541
IFRS 3.B64(p)(ii) The remeasurement to fair value of the Group's existing 25 percent interest in Papyrus resulted

in a gain of EUR 250 thousand (EUR 649 thousand less the EUR 419 thousand carrying amount
of the equity-accounted investee at the date of acquisition plus EUR 20 thousand of translation
reserve reclassified to profit or loss). This amount has been included in ‘finance income’

(see Note 10).

Australian content

IFRS 3.B64(e), B64(K) The goodwill is attributable mainly to the skills and technical talent of Papyrus's work force and the
synergies expected to be achieved from integrating Papyrus into the Group's existing Standard
Papers business. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

=]

T

:c::’ 35. Non-controlling interests®
See accounting policies in Note 44(A)(ii)—(iii) and (vi).

/BF/ZSI;Z 10(a)fii), 12, The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has
10611 material NCI, before any intra-group eliminations.”

31 December 2024 Papyrus Pty
In thousands of EUR Limited
NCI percentage 10%
Non-current assets 2,500

" Current assets 1,780

§ Non-current liabilities (715)

§ Current liabilities (43)

s Net assets 3,522

E Net assets attributable to NCI 352

7]

I Revenue 20,409
Profit 450
OcCl 25
Total comprehensive income 475
Profit allocated to NCI 45
OCl allocated to NCI 3
Cash flows from operating activities 430
Cash flows from investment activities (120)
Cash flows from financing activities (dividends to NCI: nil) 12
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 322

31 December 2023
In thousands of EUR

7}
o
c
(7]
£
[]
-
©
-
17}
>
£
©
£
S
-

NCI percentage -

Non-current assets -
Current assets -
Non-current liabilities -
Current liabilities -

Net assets -

Net assets attributable to NCI -
Revenue -
Profit -
OcCl R

Total comprehensive income -

Profit allocated to NCI -
OCl allocated to NCI -

Cash flows from operating activities -
Cash flows from investment activities -
Cash flows from financing activities (dividends to NCI: nil) -

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -

*  See Note 43.

On 31 March 2024, the Group's equity interest in Papyrus increased from 25 to 90 percent and
Papyrus became a subsidiary from that date (see Note 34). Accordingly, the information relating to
Papyrus is only for the period from 1 April to 31 December 2024.
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Group composition

Other individually

immaterial Intra-group
Oy Kossu AG Swissolote AG Maple-leaf Inc Silver Fir S.A. subsidiaries eliminations Total
10% 25% 55% 52%
9,550 7438 1,550 4,948
5,120 1,115 890 1,272
(5,230) (6,575) (1,280) (533)
(5,084) (915) (442) (1,018)
4,356 1,063 718 4,669
436 266 395 2,428 7 (80) 3,804
10,930 9,540 8,112 15,882
566 410 245 309
- - 44 -
566 410 289 309
57 103 135 161 3 (7) 497
- - 24 - - (1) 26
210 166 (268) (135)
510 75 - (46)
(600) (320) - 130
120 (79) (268) (51)
Other individually
Oy Kossu AG Swissolote AG immaterial Intra-group
restated* restated* Maple-leaf Inc Silver Fir S.A. subsidiaries eliminations Total
10% 40% 55% 52%
9,120 7322 1,394 4,874
4,960 1,278 850 638
(5,900) (6,900) (1,200) -
(4,390) (1,047) (615) (1,152)
3,790 653 429 4,360
379 261 236 2,267 2 (54) 3,091
8,660 9,390 6,259 13,743
150 252 236 285
- - 40 -
150 252 276 285
15 101 130 148 (5) (38) 351
- - 22 - - - 22
300 115 530 (100)
(25) (40) (788) (30)
(200) (50) 190 130
75 25 (68) -
a.  For additional disclosure examples and explanatory notes on IFRS 12, see our Guide to annual financial statements —
IFRS 12 supplement.
b.  Although it is not required by IFRS 12, the Group has reconciled from the summarised financial information about

subsidiaries with material NCI to the total amounts in the financial statements. This disclosure is provided for

illustrative purposes only.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

36. Acquisition of NCI

See accounting policies in Note 44(A)(ii)—(iii).

Introduction

IFRS 12.10(b)(iii), 18 In June 2024, the Group acquired an additional 15 percent interest in Swissolote, increasing its
ownership from 60 to 75 percent. The carrying amount of Swissolote’s net assets in the Group's
consolidated financial statements on the date of the acquisition was EUR 767 thousand.

In thousands of EUR

Carrying amount of NCI acquired (EUR 767 x 15%) 115
Consideration paid to NCI 200

A decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company (85)

The decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company comprised:

® adecrease in retained earnings of EUR 93 thousand; and

Australian content

e anincrease in the translation reserve of EUR 8 thousand.

Primary statements
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Other information
37. Leases
See accounting policy in Note 44(U).
A. Leases as lessee
The Group leases warehouse and factory facilities. The leases typically run for a period of 10 years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated every
five years to reflect market rentals. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are
based on changes in local price indices. For certain leases, the Group is restricted from entering
into any sub-lease arrangements. The Group also leases production equipment.
The warehouse and factory leases were entered into many years ago as combined leases of land
and buildings.
During 2024, one of the leased properties has been sub-let by the Group. The lease and sub-lease
expire in 2026.
The Group leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to three years. These leases are short-
term and/or leases of low-value items. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for these leases.
Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below.
i. Right-of-use assets’
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment
property are presented as property, plant and equipment (see Note 21(A)).

Land and Production

In thousands of EUR buildings equipment Total
2024
Balance at 1 January 2,181 1,972 4,153
Depreciation charge for the year (25) (283) (308)
Additions to right-of-use assets 150 - 150
Derecognition of right-of-use assets* (402) - (402)
Balance at 31 December 1,904 1,689 3,593

*

Derecognition of the right-of-use assets is as a result of entering into a finance sub-lease.

a.

Although it is not required by IFRS 16 Leases, the Group has reconciled the opening and closing right-of-use asset
carrying amounts in the financial statements. This disclosure is provided for illustrative purposes only.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

37. Leases (continued)
A. Leases as lessee (continued)

Introduction

i. Right-of-use assets (continued)

Land and Production

In thousands of EUR buildings equipment Total
2023
IFRS 16.53() Balance at 1 January 2,526 2,057 4,583
IFRS 16.53(a) Depreciation charge for the year (30) (265) (295)
IFRS 16.53(h) Additions to right-of-use assets - 180 180
-
8 Derecognition of right-of-use assets* (315) - (315)
c
8 IFRS 16.53() Balance at 31 December 2,181 1,972 4,153
c
% *  Derecognition of the right-of-use assets is as a result of entering into a finance sub-lease.
&
<‘5 ii. Amounts recognised in profit or loss
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
IFRS 16.53(b) Interest on lease liabilities 320 238
IFRS 16.53(f) Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets presented in ‘other revenue’ (150) (90)
IFRS 16.53(c) Expenses relating to short-term leases 80 90
IFRS 16.53(d) Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding short-term
leases of low-value assets 65 119
iii. Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
IFRS 16.53(g) Total cash outflow for leases 1,019 1,037

iv. Extension options
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IFRS 16.59(b){ii), B50, Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the Group up to one year
IE10Ex.23 before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the Group seeks to
include extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options
held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors. The Group assesses at the lease
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The
Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant
event or significant changes in circumstances within its control.

The Group has estimated that the potential future lease payments, should it exercise the
extension option, would result in an increase in lease liability of EUR 120 thousand.

B. Leases as lessor

IFRS 16.90-91 The Group leases out its investment property consisting of its owned commercial properties

as well as leased property (see Note 23). All leases are classified as operating leases from a
lessor perspective with the exception of a sub-lease, which the Group has classified as a finance
sub-lease.

Appendices
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Other information
37. Leases (continued)
B. Leases as lessor (continued)
i. Finance lease
During 2024, the Group has sub-leased a building that has been presented as a right-of-use asset —
property, plant and equipment.
During 2024, the Group recognised a gain of EUR 22 thousand (2023: nil) on derecognition of
the right-of-use asset pertaining to the building and presented the gain as part of ‘Gain on sale of
property, plant and equipment’ (see Note 9(A)).
During 2024, the Group recognised interest income on lease receivables of EUR 31 thousand
(2023: EUR 10 thousand).
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease receivables, showing the undiscounted
lease payments to be received after the reporting date.
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
Less than one year 143 35
One to two years 180 100
Two to three years 131 120
Three to four years - 100
Four to five years - -
More than five years - -
Total undiscounted lease receivable 454 355
Unearned finance income 30 40
Net investment in the lease 424 315
ii. Operating lease
The Group leases out its investment property. The Group has classified these leases as operating
leases, because they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of the assets. Note 23 sets out information about the operating leases of investment
property.
Rental income recognised by the Group during 2024 was EUR 460 thousand (2023: EUR 302
thousand).
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted
lease payments to be received after the reporting date.
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023
Less than one year 450 332
One to two years 400 420
Two to three years 380 390
Three to four years 350 360
Four to five years 340 300
More than five years 145 445
Total 2,065 2,247

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Introduction

Australian content

0
2
c
]
£
]
2
T
S
)
>
£
&
£
S
o

Appendices




Introduction

Australian content

7}
o
c
(7]
£
[]
-
©
-
17}
>
£
©
£
S
-

Appendices

206 | Example Public Company Limited

IAS 16.74(c)

IAS 40.75(h)

IAS 1.125, 37,86

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

38. Commitments

During 2024, the Group entered into a contract to purchase property, plant and equipment and
patents and trademarks in 2024 for EUR 1,465 thousand (2023: nil) and EUR 455 thousand
(2023: nil) respectively.

The Group has committed to reduce the carbon footprint of its Timber Products segment by

50 percent by increasing the use of green energy in the production and transportation of timber
products. The Group's project to replace its fleet of diesel trucks with electric vehicles and to use
solar energy in one of its factories has substantively commenced. The Group incurred costs of
EUR 1,000 thousand in 2023 and is committed to incurring capital expenditure of EUR 20,000
thousand over the next four years. As part of the plan, the Group entered into a contract in

2024 to acquire property, plant and equipment in 2025 in the amount of EUR 640 thousand.

See Notes 21(G) and 22(C) for the plan’s impact on the useful life and impairment of property,
plant and equipment.

The Group is committed to incurring other capital expenditure of EUR 150 thousand (2023:
EUR 45 thousand). The Group's joint venture is committed to incurring capital expenditure of
EUR 23 thousand (2023: EUR 11 thousand), of which the Group’s share is EUR 9 thousand
(2023: EUR 4 thousand). These commitments are expected to be settled in 2025.

The Group has entered into contracts for the management and maintenance of certain commercial
properties that are leased to third parties. These contracts will give rise to annual expense of
EUR 15 thousand for the next five years.

39. Contingencies

A subsidiary is defending an action brought by an environmental agency in Europe. Although
liability is not admitted, if the defence against the action is unsuccessful, then fines and legal costs
could amount to EUR 950 thousand, of which EUR 250 thousand would be reimbursable under an
insurance policy. Based on legal advice, management believes that the defence against the action
will be successful.

As part of the acquisition of Papyrus, the Group recognised a contingent liability of
EUR 20 thousand in respect of a claim for contractual penalties made by one of Papyrus's
customers (see Note 34(C)).
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

40. Related parties®"®
A. Parent and ultimate controlling party

Introduction

IAS 1.138(c), 24.13 During 2024, a majority of the Company'’s shares were acquired by Cameron Paper Co from
Brown Products Corporation. As a result, the new ultimate controlling party of the Group is
AJ Pennypacker. The previous ultimate controlling party was Sigma Global Investment Holdings.®

IAS 24.18 B. Transactions with key management personnel

i. Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation comprised the following.
In thousands of EUR 2024 2023

IAS 24.17(a) Short-term employee benefits 502 420
IAS 19.151(b), 24.17(b) Post-employment benefits 82 103
IAS 24.17(c) Other long-term benefits 3 2
IAS 24.17(d) Termination benefits 25 -
IAS 24.17(e) Share-based payments 516 250

1,128 775

Australian content

Executive officers also participate in the Group’s share option programme (see Note 12(A)(i)).
Furthermore, employees of the Company are entitled to participate in a share purchase
programme (see Note 12(A)(iii)) if they meet the criteria of investing a percentage of each month’s
salary for a period of 36 months. Consequently, the Group has deducted EUR 78 thousand from
the salaries of the employees concerned (including an amount of EUR 37 thousand that relates to
key management personnel), to satisfy the criteria. The amounts withheld are included in ‘trade
and other payables’ (see Note 29).

IAS 24.17(d) As a result of the termination of the employment of one of the Group's executives in France, the
executive received an enhanced retirement entitlement. Accordingly, the Group has recognised an
expense of EUR 25 thousand during the year (2023: nil).
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ii. Key management personnel transactions

Directors of the Company control 12 percent of the voting shares of the Company. A relative of a
director of a subsidiary has a 10 percent share in the Group’s joint venture (see Note 24(A)).

A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other
companies that result in them having control or significant influence over these companies.

IAS 24.18(b)fi) A number of these companies transacted with the Group during the year. The terms and
conditions of these transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might
reasonably be expected to be available, in similar transactions with non-key management
personnel-related companies on an arm’s length basis.

ASIC Instrument a.  Where ASIC Instrument 2016/191 is applied in the financial statements, related party disclosures are subject to the
2016/191 exception of the rounding provisions. This exception is not reflected in this international-based illustrative disclosure.

b.  For example disclosures for government-related entities that apply the exemption in paragraph 25 of IAS 24 Related
Party Disclosures, see Appendix |V.

IAS 24.13 ¢ If neither the Company’s parent nor its ultimate controlling party produced consolidated financial statements
available for public use, then the Company would disclose the name of the next most senior parent that does
so. If neither the ultimate controlling party nor any intermediate controlling party produced consolidated financial
statements that are available for public use, then this fact would be disclosed.

Appendices

AASB 124.Aus13.1 When any of the parent entities and/or ultimate controlling parties named is incorporated or otherwise constituted
outside Australia, an entity:
(a) identifies which of those entities is incorporated overseas and where; and
(b) discloses the name of the ultimate controlling entity incorporated within Australia.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

40. Related parties (continued)
B. Transactions with key management personnel (continued)

Introduction

ii. Key management personnel transactions (continued)

IAS 24.18(a) The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances related to key management
personnel and entities over which they have control or significant influence were as follows.
Transaction values for the Balance outstanding as at

In thousands of EUR year ended 31 December 31 December
Transaction Note 2024 2023 2024 2023

- Legal fees 40(a) 12 13 - -

c . .

*2 Repairs and maintenance 40(b) 410 520 137 351

8 Inventory purchases — paper 40(c) 66 - - -

c

-T‘-: IAS 24.18(b)(i), 23 a. The Group used the legal services of one of its directors in relation to advice over the sale of

*§ certain non-current assets of the Company. Amounts were billed based on market rates for

< such services and were due and payable under normal payment terms.

b. In 2023, the Group entered into a two-year contract with On-Track Limited, a company
controlled by another director, to buy repairs and maintenance services on production
equipment. The total contract value is EUR 986 thousand. The contract terms are based on
market rates for these types of services and amounts are payable on a quarterly basis for the
duration of the contract.

c. The Group bought various paper supplies from Alumfab Limited, a company that is controlled
by another director. Amounts were billed based on market rates for such supplies and were

[Z]
g due and payable under normal payment terms.
% From time to time directors of the Group, or their related entities, may buy goods from the Group.
Z These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Group
g employees or customers.
. IAS 24.18 C. Other related party transactions®
Transaction values for the Balance outstanding as at
year ended 31 December 31 December
In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023 2024 2023
IAS 24.18(a)~(b), 19 Sale of goods and services
Parent of the Group — Cameron Paper Co
(2023: Brown Products Corporation) 350 320 253 283
Joint venture 745 250 651 126
Associates 400 150 332 233
Purchase of goods
Joint venture 1,053 875 - -
Others
Joint venture
— Dividends received 24 21 - - -
Associates
— Loan and related interest 28 5 6 - 1,000

Appendices

Insights 5.5.120.30  a.  In our view, an entity should disclose the portions of transactions with joint ventures or associates that are not
eliminated in applying equity accounting in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) g
40. Related parties (continued) E’
IAS 24.18 C. Other related party transactions (continued) -
IAS 24.18(b)(i)~(ii) All outstanding balances with these related parties are priced on an arm'’s length basis and are to

18(c)-a), 23 be settled in cash within two months of the reporting date. None of the balances are secured. No

expense has been recognised in the current year or prior year for bad or doubtful debts in respect
of amounts owed by related parties. During 2024, there were no transactions or outstanding
balances with Brown Products Corporation, the previous parent of the Group. No guarantees have
been given or received.

To support the activities of the joint venture, the Group and the other investors in the joint venture

signed by the Group. During 2024, the Group entered into an EUR 89 thousand supply agreement
with Cameron Paper Co. At 31 December 2024, the Group has used EUR 25 thousand of its
commitment under the agreement.

have agreed to make additional contributions in proportion to their interests to make up any losses, =

if required (see Note 24). £

o

l2A4$271,774(c)(iv)(7), Purchase obligations in relation to recycled paper products arise from supply and service contracts E
g

5
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IAS 10.21-22

IAS 10.21-22

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

41. Subsequent events
A. Restructuring

At the end of January 2025, the Group announced its intention to implement a cost-reduction
programme and to take further measures to reduce costs. Additionally, to enable the Group to
adapt its size to current market conditions, it intends to reduce the Group's workforce by 400
positions worldwide by the end of 2025, by means of non-replacement whenever possible.

The Group expects the restructuring associated with the reduction in positions to cost between
EUR 600 thousand and EUR 850 thousand in 2025 and 2026.

B. Others

Subsequent to 31 December 2024, one of the Group’s major trade customers went into
liguidation following a natural disaster in February 2025 that damaged its operating plant.
Of the EUR 100 thousand owed by the customer, the Group expects to recover less
than EUR 10 thousand. No additional allowance for impairment has been made in these
consolidated financial statements.

On 10 January 2025, one of the premises of Oy Kossu AG, having a carrying amount of

EUR 220 thousand, was seriously damaged by fire. Surveyors are in the process of assessing the
extent of the loss, following which the Group wiill file a claim for reimbursement with the insurance
company. The Group is unable to estimate the incremental costs relating to refurbishment and
temporary shift of production to other locations (in excess of the reimbursement expected).

On 23 March 2025, an increase in the Netherlands corporate tax rate from 25 to 30 percent
was substantively enacted, effective from 1 January 2025. This increase does not affect the
amounts of current or deferred income taxes recognised at 31 December 2024. However,

this change will increase the Group's future current tax charge accordingly. If the new tax

rate were applied to calculate taxable temporary differences and tax losses recognised as at
31 December 2024 the effect would be that net deferred tax assets would increase by EUR 27
thousand (see Note 14).

On 22 July 2024, the Group announced its intention to acquire all of the shares of ABC Company
for EUR 6,500 thousand. On 4 January 2025, the Group's shareholders approved the transaction
and the Group is now awaiting approval from regulatory authorities before proceeding with the
acquisition. Management anticipates that this approval will be received by April 2025.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

42. Basis of measurement

IAS 1.112(a), 117 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for

the following items, which are measured on an alternative basis on each reporting date.

business combination

Items Measurement bases
Derivative financial instruments Fair value
Non-derivative financial instruments at FVTPL Fair value
Debt and equity securities at FVOCI Fair value
Contingent consideration assumed in a Fair value

Biological assets

Fair value less costs to sell

Investment property

Fair value

Liabilities for cash-settled shared-based
payment arrangements

Fair value

Net defined benefit (asset) liability

Fair value of plan assets less the present value
of the defined benefit obligation, limited as
explained in Note 44(E)(iv)
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£ Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
=]
T
E 43. Correction of errors®
IAS 8.49 During 2024, the Group discovered that maintenance expenses had been erroneously duplicated
in its financial statements since 2022. As a consequence, maintenance expenses and the related
liabilities have been overstated. The errors have been corrected by restating each of the affected
financial statement line items for prior periods. The following tables summarise the impacts on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
IAS 8.49 i. Consolidated statement of financial position
Impact of correction of error
1 January 2023 As previously
"dé; In thousands of EUR reported Adjustments As restated
§ Total assets 86,344 - 86,344
E’ Trade and other payables (current) (28,335) 85 (28,250)
% Deferred tax liabilities (295) (28) (323)
E Others (28,209) - (28,209)
Total liabilities (56,839) 57 (56,782)
Retained earnings (8,440) (567) (8,497)
Others (21,065) - (21,065)
Total equity (29,505) (57) (29,562)
31 December 2023 As previously
In thousands of EUR reported Adjustments As restated
g Total assets 90,013 - 90,013
£ Trade and other payables (current) (21,424) 96 (21,328)
£ Deferred tax liabilities (374) (32) (406)
2 Others (32,913) - (32,913)
£ Total liabilities (54,711) 64 (54,647)
a Retained earnings (13,722) (64) (13,786)
Others (21,580) - (21,580)
Total equity (35,302) (64) (35,366)
IAS 8.49 ii. Consolidated statement of profit or loss and OCI
Impact of correction of error
For the year ended 31 December 2023 As previously
In thousands of EUR reported Adjustments As restated
Administrative expenses (14,439) 11 (14,428)
Income tax expense (2,456) (4) (2,460)
Others 22,862 - 22,862
Profit 5,967 7 5,974
Total comprehensive income 6,398 7 6,405
There is no material impact on the Group's basic or diluted EPS and no impact on the total
operating, investing or financing cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Appendices

IAS 8.49 a.  The Group has disclosed the nature of the priorperiod error and the amount of the correction for each financial
statement line item affected as required by IAS 8.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) £
Q
=
. . . . 3
44. Material accounting policies® £
IAS 1.112(a), 116 The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements, except if mentioned otherwise.
IFRS 5.34, IAS 1.41, Certain comparative amounts in the statement of profit or loss and OCl have been restated,
6.28 reclassified or re-presented, as a result of a correction of a prior-period error (see Note 43),
a change in the classification of certain depreciation expenses during the current year (see
Note 21(H)) or an operation discontinued during the current year (see Note 7).
Set out below is an index of the material accounting policies, the details of which are available on
the pages that follow. .
[=
A. Basis of consolidation 170 %
B. Foreign currency 171 E
C. Discontinued operation 172 g
D. Revenue from contracts with customers 172 <
E. Employee benefits 172
FE Government grants 174
G. Emissions schemes 174
H. Finance income and finance costs 175
[.  Income tax 176
[
J. Biological assets 177 €
K. Inventories 177 *§
L. Property, plant and equipment 177 g
©
M. Intangible assets and goodwill 179 £
o
N. Investment property 179
0. Assets held for sale 180
P Financial instruments 180
Q. Share capital 185
R.  Compound financial instruments 185
S.  Impairment 186
T Provisions 188
U. Leases 188
V. Operating profit 190
W. Fair value measurement 190

a.  The example accounting policies illustrated reflect the circumstances of the Group on which these financial
statements are based, by describing only the specific policies that are relevant to an understanding of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. For example, the accounting policy for preference shares (see Note 44(Q)(ii)) is
not intended to be a complete description of the classification of such shares in general. These example accounting
policies should not be relied on for a complete understanding of IFRS Accounting Standards and should not be
used as a substitute for referring to the accounting standards and interpretations themselves. To help you identify
the underlying requirements in IFRS Accounting Standards, references to the recognition and measurement
requirements in IFRS Accounting Standards that are relevant for a particular accounting policy have been included
and indicated by square brackets — e.g. [IFRS 3.19].
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
A. Basis of consolidation
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i. Business combinations

[IFRS 3.3-4, 32, 34, The Group accounts for business combinations under the acquisition method when the acquired
53, B5-812] set of activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the
Group (see Note 44(A)(ii)). In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a

business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at
a minimum, an input and substantive process and whether the acquired set has the ability to
produce outputs.

-

§ The Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified assessment of

§ whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The optional concentration

g test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a

s single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.

s

7]

Z The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment
(see Note 44(S)(ii)). Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity
securities (see Note 44(Q)).

[IFRS 3.852] The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing

relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

P [IFRS 3.40, 58] Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation

s to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified

g as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise,

2 other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent

5 changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

£

= [IFRS 3.30, B57-B61] If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards

held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the amount of

the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in

the business combination. This determination is based on the market-based measure of the
replacement awards compared with the market-based measure of the acquiree's awards and the
extent to which the replacement awards relate to pre-combination service.

ii. Subsidiaries

[IFRS 10.6, 20] Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group ‘controls’” an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until
the date on which control ceases.

iii. Non-controlling interests

[IFRS 3.19] NCI are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at
the date of acquisition.?

[IFRS 10.23, B96] Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions.

iv. Loss of control

[IFRS 10.25, B98-B99] | \When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value
when control is lost.

Appendices

IFRS 3.19 a.  An entity has a choice on a combination-by-combination basis to measure any NCI in the acquiree at either the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or fair value. The Group has elected the former approach.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
A. Basis of consolidation (continued)

v. Interests in equity-accounted investees’

The Group's interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and a joint
venture.

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the
Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather
than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in associates and the joint venture are accounted for under the equity method. They are
initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCl of equity-
accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

vi. Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for
foreign currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against
the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.” Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

B. Foreign currency
i. Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured

based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss and presented
within finance costs.*

However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the following items are
recognised in OCl:

e aninvestment in equity securities designated as at FVOCI;

¢ afinancial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the
extent that the hedge is effective (see Note 44(P)(v)); and

e gualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedges are effective.

Insights
5.10.140.150

Insights 3.5.430.30

Insights 2.7.160.20

Although it is not illustrated, an entity’s equity-accounted investee may have accounting policies for items that do
not apply to the investor. In our view, this information should be included in the accounting policy note for equity-
accounted investees if it is necessary for an understanding of equity-accounted earnings or the carrying amount of
equity-accounted investees.

In the absence of specific guidance in the Accounting Standards, the Group has elected to eliminate unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions with equity-accounted investees against the investment in the investees.
Alternatively, the elimination may be presented as a reduction in the underlying asset — e.g. inventory.

In our experience, the most common practice is for all such exchange differences related to monetary items to be
included as part of finance costs. However, it is also acceptable to allocate the exchange differences to the various
line items affected. If exchange differences are allocated in this way, then this should be done consistently from
period to period having regard to the guidance in IAS 1 on offsetting, and in our view it would be necessary to
disclose the entity's allocation policy, if it is significant, in the financial statements.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

Introduction

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
B. Foreign currency (continued)
ii. Foreign operations

[IAS 21.39] The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated into EUR at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into EUR at the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.

[IFRS 10.B94, Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl and accumulated in the translation reserve,
ias 2141 except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

[IAS 21.48-48D] When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to

that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If

the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant
proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the Group disposes of only part
of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant
proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

Australian content

C. Discontinued operation

[IFRS 5.32] A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's business, the operations and cash flows
of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:

* represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations;

e is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic
area of operations; or

¢ is asubsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale.
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IFRS 5.34 When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit
or loss and OCl is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the
comparative year.

D. Revenue from contracts with customers®

Information about the Group's accounting policies relating to contracts with customers is provided
in Note 8(D).

E. Employee benefits
i.  Short-term employee benefits

[IAS 19.11] Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is
recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Appendices

IAS 1.117-117E a.  The Group presents material accounting policies related to revenue from contracts with customers in the ‘revenue’
note, rather than in a separate note with other material accounting policies. Other approaches to presenting
accounting policies may be acceptable.
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Accounting policies

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
E. Employee benefits (continued)

Introduction

ii. Share-based payment arrangements

[IFRS 2.14-15, The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to

19-21, 21A] employees is generally recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect

the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions

are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of
awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.
For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the
share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences
between expected and actual outcomes.

[IFRS 2.30, 32] The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of SARs, which are settled in cash,

is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period during
which the employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at
each reporting date and at settlement date based on the fair value of the SARs. Any changes in the
liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Australian content

iii. Defined contribution plans

[IAS 19.28, 51] Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is
provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in future payments is available.

iv. Defined benefit plans

[IAS 19.57 83] The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior
periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

[IAS 19.63-64, The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary under
IFRIC 14.25-24] the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Group,
the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form
of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.To calculate
the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum
funding requirements.
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[IAS 19.122, 127-130] Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding
interest), are recognised immediately in OCl. The Group determines the net interest expense
(income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the discount rate
used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-
net defined benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest
expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

[1AS 19.103, 109-110] When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or
loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the
settlement occurs.

v. Other long-term employee benefits

[IAS 19.155-156] The Group's net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That
benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

vi. Termination benefits

Appendices

[IAS 19.165] Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date, then they are discounted.
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IAS 20.39(a), [IAS 20.7,
26, 41.34-35]

[IAS 20.12, 20, 29]

[IAS 38.74]

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
F. Government grants®

The Group recognises an unconditional government grant related to a biological asset in profit or loss
as other income when the grant becomes receivable. Other government grants related to assets are
initially recognised as deferred income at fair value if there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Grants related to
the acquisition of assets are recognised in profit or loss as other income on a systematic basis over
the useful life of the asset. Grants related to emissions allowances are recognised in profit or loss as
a reduction of emissions expense in cost of sales as the group emits pollutants (see Note 44(G)).

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as other
income on a systematic basis in the periods in which the expenses are recognised, unless the
conditions for receiving the grant are met after the related expenses have been recognised. In this
case, the grant is recognised when it becomes receivable.

G. Emissions schemes”°®

The Group participates in a ‘cap and trade’ scheme in various countries. Under the scheme, the
Government in each country sets specific annual limits for emitting pollutants and grants the
Group the respective number of emissions allowances. The Group can settle its annual obligation
created by the emissions of pollutants only by surrendering emissions allowances. If the Group's
annual emissions are below the limit, then it can sell the remaining allowances to other parties on
a trading platform. Conversely, if the annual emissions exceed the limit, then the Group purchases
additional allowances to settle its obligation.

The Group recognises emissions allowances as intangible assets (see Note 44(M)). Emissions
allowances received from the Government are initially measured at fair value, which is determined
based on the market price of allowances traded on the platform at that date. Emissions allowances
purchased on the trading platform are initially measured at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the emissions allowances are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The cost
of emissions allowances is based on the first-in, first-out allocation method.

Emissions allowances received from the Government are government grants (see Note 44(F)).

The Group recognises a liability to surrender emissions allowances as it emits pollutants. The
Group measures the liability based on the carrying amount of the allowances on hand to the
extent of emissions within the annual limit, and at the current market value of allowances to the
extent that it would be required to purchase additional allowances to settle the obligation. The
liability is presented as a provision and derecognised when the allowances are surrendered to the
Government (see Note 44(T)).

Insights 4.3.140.10  a.

Insights 3.3.100.70, b.

5.14.130.10

Insights 5.14.170.30  ¢-

An entity chooses a presentation format, to be applied consistently, either to offset a grant related to income against
the related expenditure (net presentation) or to present it separately or under a general heading such as ‘other
income’ (gross presentation).

Emissions allowances are often interchangeable. The Accounting Standards are silent on how an entity should
determine the carrying amount of such assets — e.g. whether to calculate a gain or loss on disposal. In some cases,
it is feasible to identify and track the specific units sold or transferred — e.g. when the units have unique identification
numbers. Conversely, if it is not feasible to identify and track the specific units, then in our view an entity should
apply the guidance for determining cost formulas for inventories by analogy (see Insights into IFRS 3.8.280) under
the hierarchy for selecting accounting policies. We believe that a reasonable cost allocation method may be used —
i.e. average cost or first-in, first-out. An entity should apply the elected accounting policy consistently.

The Group has elected the first-in, first-out allocation method for emissions allowances.

In our view, when other means of settlement than surrendering emissions allowances are not possible, the provision
could be measured based on the current carrying amount of the certificates on hand if sufficient allowances are
owned to settle the current obligation, because that could be viewed as being the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation. Otherwise, the provision should be based on the current market value of the
emissions allowances at the reporting date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)

H. Finance income and finance costs”

The Group's finance income and finance costs include:

® interestincome;

® interest expense;

¢ dividend income;

¢ dividend expense on preference shares issued that are classified as financial liabilities;

e the net gain or loss on the disposal of investments in debt securities measured at FVOCI;
e the fair value gain or loss on financial assets measured at FVTPL;

e the foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial liabilities; impairment losses
(and reversals) on investments in debt securities measured at amortised cost or FVOCI;

e the gain or loss on the remeasurement to fair value of any pre-existing interest in an acquiree in
a business combination;

e the unwind of the discount on provisions (see Note 44(T));
¢ the fair value gain or loss on contingent consideration classified as a financial liability;
e hedge ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss; and

e the reclassification of net gains and losses previously recognised in OCI on cash flow hedges of
interest rate risk and foreign currency risk for borrowings (see Note 32(C)(iv)).

Interest income or expense is recognised under the effective interest method. Dividend income
is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the Group’s right to receive payment is
established.

IFRS9.5.4.1-56.4.2,A] | The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

e the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
e the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised
cost of the liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent
to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation

of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Insights 710.70.37  a.  There is no guidance in the Accounting Standards on what is included in finance income and finance costs and the
Group has disclosed as part of its accounting policy which items constitute finance income and finance costs.
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[IAS 12.58]

[IAS 12.88A]

[IAS 12.2, 12, 46,
IFRIC 23.11]

[IAS 12.71]

[IAS 12.15, 24, 39, 44]

[IAS 12.56]

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)

I. Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain
tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for them
under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.?

The Group has determined that the global minimum top-up tax — which it is required to pay under
Pillar Two legislation —is an income tax in the scope of IAS 12. The Group has applied a temporary
mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for the impacts of the top-up tax and accounts for it
as a current tax when it is incurred.”

i. Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or
received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
ii. Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

e temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that:
- is not a business combination; and

- atthe time of the transaction (i) affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and (ii)
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;

e temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements
to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

e taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwvill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal

of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for
individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Insights 3.13.45.10

Insights 3.13.43.20

a.

b.

Interest and penalties related to income taxes are not explicitly included in the scope of IAS 12. The IFRS
Interpretations Committee discussed the accounting for interest and penalties related to income taxes and noted
that an entity first considers whether interest or a penalty itself is an income tax. If so, then it applies IAS 12. If the
entity does not apply IAS 12, then it applies IAS 37 to that amount. The Committee also noted that this is not an
accounting policy choice —i.e. an entity needs to apply judgement based on the specific facts and circumstances.

Pillar Two top-up taxes are determined based on taxable profit or loss in a specific jurisdiction. They are included in
the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate parent entity, before eliminating intra-group items and after
making other adjustments — i.e. top-up taxes are levied on a net amount. Therefore, in our view all Pillar Two top-up
taxes levied by tax authorities are generally income taxes in the scope of IAS 12.
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[IAS 41.12-13]
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[IFRS 1.D5, IAS 16.30],
IAS 16.73(a)

[IAS 16.45]

[IAS 16.41, 71]

[IAS 16.13]
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
I Income tax (continued)
ii. Deferred tax (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities. For this purpose, the carrying amount of investment property
measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered through sale, and the Group has not rebutted
this presumption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

J. Biological assets

Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell, with any change therein recognised
in profit or loss.

K. Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is
based on the first-in, first-out allocation method. In the case of manufactured inventories, cost
includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

The cost of standing timber transferred from biological assets is its fair value less costs to sell at
the date of harvest.

L. Property, plant and equipment

i. Recognition and measurement

Iltems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised
borrowing costs, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The cost
of certain items of property, plant and equipment at 1 January 2006, the Group's date of transition
to the IFRS Accounting Standards, was determined with reference to its fair value at that date.?

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit
orloss.
ii. Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

The Group was previously a first-time adopter of IFRS Accounting Standards. It has included the accounting policy
for the determination of the cost of property, plant and equipment at the date of transition to IFRS Accounting
Standards because it regards this information as relevant to an understanding of its financial statements.
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[IAS 16.53, 58, 60],
IAS 16.73(b)

IAS 16.73(c)

[IAS 16.51]

[IAS 40.62]

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)

L. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

iii. Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their

estimated residual values under the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is
generally recognised in profit or loss. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods
are as follows:

¢ buildings: 40 years
e plant and equipment: 3-12 years
e fixtures and fittings: 5-10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

iv. Reclassification to investment property

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is
remeasured to fair value and reclassified accordingly. Any gain arising on this remeasurement is
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific
property, with any remaining gain recognised in OCl and presented in the revaluation reserve.
Any loss is recognised in profit or loss. However, to the extent that an amount is included in the
revaluation surplus for that property, the loss is recognised in OCl and reduces the revaluation
surplus within equity.
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Accounting policies

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
M. Intangible assets and goodwill

Introduction

i. Recognition and measurement

[IAS 38.107-108] Goodwill Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.
[IAS 38.54-55] Research and Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
development ) ) o ) )
[IAS 38.57 66, 71, 74] Development expenditure is capitalised only if the expenditure can be measured

reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic
benefits are probable and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as

-
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, development expenditure is measured at cost E,

less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 5

o

Emissions See Note 44(G). £

allowances =

S

S

[IAS 38.74] Other intangible Other intangible assets, including customer relationships, patents and trademarks, that are 2
assets acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated <

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

ii. Subsequent expenditure

[IAS 38.18] Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on
internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

iii. Amortisation

[IAS 38.97], Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual
IAS 36.118(a)-(b) values under the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised
in profit or loss. Goodwill and emissions allowances® are not amortised.

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows:
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e patents and trademarks: 3-20 years

e development costs: 2-5 years

e customer relationships: 4-5 years.

[IAS 38.104] Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

N. Investment property

[IAS 40.7 33, 35] Investment property is initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in profit or loss.

[IAS 16.41, 71] Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property (calculated as the difference between the net
[IAS 40.62(b)(ii), 69] proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. When
investment property that was previously classified as property, plant and equipment is sold, any
related amount included in the revaluation reserve (see Note 44(L)(iv)) is transferred to retained

earnings.
n
o
L2
b=l
c
o
o
o
<
Insights a.  For most emissions allowances traded in an active market, no amortisation will be required because the condition
5.14.120.20 of the asset does not change over time, and therefore the residual value will be the same as cost. As a result, the
depreciable amount will be nil.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
N. Investment property (continued)

Rental income from investment property is recognised as other revenue on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental
income, over the term of the lease.

0. Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-
sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through
continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill,
and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated
to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets, investment
property or biological assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s
other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale or held-for
distribution and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer
amortised or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.

P. Financial instruments
i. Recognition and initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component)

or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without
a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. However, if the
Group has an unconditional right to an amount that differs from the transaction price (e.g. due to
the Group's refund policy), the trade receivable will be initially measured at the amount of that
unconditional right.

ii. Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets — classification

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as subsequently measured at: amortised cost;
FVOCI - debt investment; FVOCI — equity investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the
business model.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)

P. Financial instruments (continued)

ii. Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets — classification (continued)

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL:

¢ itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

e itis held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and

e its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI on the principal
amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of certain equity investments that are not held for trading, the Group has
made an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the investment'’s fair value in OCI.
This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. See Note 25 for further details.

All financial assets not measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above (e.g. financial
assets held for trading and those that are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis) are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets (see Note 32(A)).

Financial assets — Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial
asset is held at a portfolio level® because this best reflects the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are
not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group'’s continuing recognition of the

b
assets.

IFRS 9.B4.1.1-
B4.1.2,
Insights 74.70.30

Insights 74.110.15

b.

The objective of the entity’s business model is not based on management'’s intentions with respect to an individual
instrument, but rather is determined at a higher level of aggregation. The assessment needs to reflect the way that
an entity manages its business or businesses. A single reporting entity may have more than one business model for
managing its financial instruments.

IFRS 9 does not provide specific guidance for business model assessment related to portfolios of financial assets for
which the entity’s objectives include transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for
derecognition. In our view, whether such a portfolio is considered consistent with a held-to-collect business model
depends on the circumstances.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

Introduction

44. Material accounting policies (continued)

IFRS 721 P. Financial instruments (continued)

ii. Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets — Business model assessment (continued)

The business models of the Group are as follows.

Held to collect There are two main portfolios of financial assets that have a held-to-
collect business model.

The Group holds financial assets which arise from its paper
manufacturing business and investment property. The objective of
the business model for these financial instruments is to collect the
amounts due from the Group's receivables and to earn contractual
interest income on the amounts collected.

Australian content

The Group also holds a portfolio of corporate debt securities for

the purpose of earning fixed coupons throughout the life of the
instrument, as well as maintaining a largely fixed interest rate profile
to manage its interest rate risk exposure (see Notes 25 and 32 for
further details).

Held to collect and sell The Group holds a portfolio of corporate debt securities for liquidity
management purposes (see Notes 25 and 32 for further details).

Held for trading The Group holds a portfolio of listed equity securities and sovereign
debt securities for the purpose of trading (see Note 25 for further
details).

Financial assets — Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPPI

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual
terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual
term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet
this condition. In making this assessment, the Group considers:
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e contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
e terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
e prepayment and extension features; and

e terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

[IFRS 9.B4.1.11(b), A prepayment feature is consistent with the SPPI criterion if the prepayment amount substantially
Ba.1121 represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which
may include reasonable compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a
financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that
permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual

par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable
compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of
the prepayment feature is insignificant on initial recognition. The Group had no financial assets held
outside trading business models that failed the SPPI assessment.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
P. Financial instruments (continued)
ii. Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets - Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including
FVTPL any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. However, see

Note 44(P)(v) for derivatives designated as hedging instruments.
Financial assets at These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost under the effective interest
amortised cost method. The gross carrying amount is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income,

foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated

FVOCI under the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investments at  These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as

FVOCI income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never
reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities — Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is measured at
FVTPL if it is classified as held-fortrading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial
recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses,
including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost under the effective interest method. Interest expense
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

See Note 44(P)(v) for financial liabilities designated as hedging instruments.
iii. Derecognition

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of
financial position but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred
assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. See Note 18(A) for further
details.
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IFRS 721

[IFRS 9.5.1.1, 5.2.1(c)]

[IFRS 9.6.5.11, 6.5.16]

[IFRS 9.6.5.6-6.5.7
6.5.12]

[IFRS 9.6.5.13-6.5.14]

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
P.  Financial instruments (continued)
iv. Offsetting

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to offsetting of financial assets and
financial liabilities is provided in Note 32(D).

v. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are
measured at fair value and changes therein are generally recognised in profit or loss.

More information about the Group's accounting policies and risk management activities related to
derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting is provided in Note 32(C)(iv).

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in OCl and accumulated in the hedging
reserve. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative that is recognised in
OCl is limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item, determined on a present
value basis, from inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the
derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group designates only the change in fair value of the spot element of forward exchange
contracts as the hedging instrument in cash flow hedging relationships. The change in fair value of
the forward element of forward exchange contracts (forward points) is separately accounted for
as a cost of hedging, recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity.

When the hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial
item such as inventory, the amount accumulated in the hedging reserve and the cost of hedging
reserve is included directly in the initial cost of the non-financial item when it is recognised.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the amount accumulated in the hedging reserve and
the cost of hedging reserve is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods during
which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the hedging instrument is sold,
expires, is terminated or is exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. When
hedge accounting for cash flow hedges is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in
the hedging reserve remains in equity until, for a hedge of a transaction resulting in the recognition
of a non-financial item, it is included in the non-financial item's cost on its initial recognition or,

for other cash flow hedges, it is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods as the
hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss.

If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, then the amounts that have been
accumulated in the hedging reserve and the cost of hedging reserve are immediately reclassified
to profit or loss.

Net investment hedges

When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial liability is designated as the hedging
instrument in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of changes
in the fair value of a derivative or foreign exchange gains and losses for a non-derivative is
recognised in OCl and presented in the translation reserve within equity. Any ineffective portion
of the changes in the fair value of the derivative or foreign exchange gains and losses on the non-
derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The amount recognised in OCl is fully or
partially reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment on disposal or partial disposal
of the foreign operation, respectively.
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Accounting policies

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
Q. Share capital

Introduction

i. Ordinary shares

[IAS 32.35-35A] Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a
deduction from equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction is
accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 (see Note 44(l)).

ii. Preference shares

[IAS 32.AG25-AG26] The Group's redeemable preference shares are classified as financial liabilities because they
bear non-discretionary dividends and are redeemable in cash by the holders. Non-discretionary
dividends thereon are recognised as interest expense in profit or loss as accrued.

Non-redeemable preference shares are classified as equity because they bear discretionary
dividends, do not contain any obligations to deliver cash or other financial assets and do not
require settlement in a variable number of the Group's equity instruments. Discretionary dividends
thereon are recognised as equity distributions on approval by the Company’s shareholders.

Australian content

iii. Repurchase and reissue of ordinary shares (treasury shares)

[IAS 32.33] When shares recognised as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which
includes directly attributable costs, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares
are classified as treasury shares and are presented in the treasury share reserve. When treasury
shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in
equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented within share premium.?

R. Compound financial instruments %

[IAS 32.28-32] Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible notes denominated in 5

EUR, which can be converted by the holder at any time until maturity to a fixed number of ordinary 2

shares. See Note 28(C) for further details. s

£

[IAS 32.38, AG31, The liability component of compound financial instruments is initially recognised at the fair value of =
IFRS 9.5.1.1]

a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is initially
recognised at the difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a
whole and the fair value of the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are
allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts.

[IFRS 9.5.3.1] Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument
is measured at amortised cost under the effective interest method. The equity component of a
compound financial instrument is not remeasured.

[IAS 32.AG32] Interest related to the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss (see Note 44(H)). On
conversion at maturity, the financial liability is reclassified to equity and no gain or loss is
recognised.

Appendices

Insights 73.750.10 @ The Accounting Standards do not mandate a specific method of presenting treasury shares within equity. However,
local laws may prescribe the allocation method. Therefore, an entity needs to take into account its legal environment
when choosing how to present its own shares within equity. An entity needs to choose a presentation format, to be
applied consistently to all treasury shares.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
S. Impairment

i. Non-derivative financial assets

Financial instruments and contract assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on:

¢ financial assets measured at amortised cost (cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other
receivables);

e debt securities measured at FVOCI (disclosed as part of ‘other investments including
derivatives'’; see Note 25 for further details); and

® contract assets.

The Group also recognises loss allowances for ECLs on lease receivables, which are disclosed as
part of trade and other receivables. See Note 32(C)(ii) for further details.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

* debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

e other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables (including lease receivables) and contract assets are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.?

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking information. See Note 32(C)(ii) for further details.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more
than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

e the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

¢ the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.
The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent

to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The Group considers this to be Baa3 or
higher per [Rating Agency X] or BBB- or higher per [Rating Agency Y].

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less
than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

B5.5.33] ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
IFRS9.5.5.15 a.  For lease receivables, contract assets and trade receivables with a significant financing component, an entity can

choose as an accounting policy either to apply the general model for measuring the loss allowance or always to
measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to the lifetime ECLs. The Group has chosen the latter policy.
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Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
S. Impairment (continued)

i.  Non-derivative financial assets (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost
and debt securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
e significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
e abreach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

e the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

e itis probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
¢ the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognised in OCI.
Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For individual
customers, the Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when the financial
asset is 180 days past due based on historical experience of recoveries of similar assets. For
corporate customers, the Group individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and
amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group
expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are
written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group'’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due. Based on its experience, there have been no corporate
customer recoveries after six months.

ii. Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other

than biological assets, investment property, inventories, contract assets and deferred tax assets)

to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the
other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Introduction

Australian content

%]
2
<
]
£
]
2
1]
S
)
>
£
1]
£
S
o

Appendices




Introduction

Australian content

7}
o
c
(7]
£
[]
-
©
-
17}
>
£
©
£
S
-

Appendices

232 | Example Public Company Limited

[IAS 36.117 122, 124]

[IAS 3714, 45, 47,
IFRIC 1.8]

[IAS 37.39]

[IAS 37.72]

[IAS 37.21]

[IAS 37,66, 68, 68A, 69]

[IFRS 16.9]

[IFRS 16.15, 45]

[IFRS 16.22-24]

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
S. Impairment (continued)
ii. Non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

T. Provisions

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Warranties A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are
sold, based on historical warranty data and a weighting of possible outcomes against

their associated probabilities.

Restructuring A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed
and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been

announced publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for.

Site restoration In accordance with the Group’s published environmental policy and applicable legal
requirements, a provision for site restoration in respect of contaminated land, and the

related expense, is recognised when the land is contaminated.

Emissions schemes See Note 44(G).

Onerous contracts A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing
with the contract, which is determined based on the incremental costs of fulfilling the
obligation under the contract and an allocation of other costs directly related to fulfilling
the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment

loss on the assets associated with that contract (see Note 44(S)(ii)).

U. Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

i. As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the

Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its
relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single
lease component.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives
received.
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[IFRS 16.29-33]

[IFRS 16.26]

IAS 1.112(c)

[IFRS 16.27]

[IFRS 16.36, 40, 42]

[IFRS 16.39]

[IFRS 16.47-48]

IFRS 16.60,
[IFRS 16.5-6, 8,
B3-B8, BC100]
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
U. Leases (continued)
i As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated under the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis
as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses
its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various
external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and
type of the asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
¢ fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

¢ variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

® the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise,
lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably
certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost under the effective interest method. It is
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index

or rate, if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under

a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to nil.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in
‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and borrowings’ in the statement of
financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of
low-value assets and short-term leases, including IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Introduction

Australian content

%]
2
<
]
£
]
2
1]
S
)
>
£
1]
£
S
o

Appendices




c
2
°
E
S
o
bt
]
£

Australian content

Primary statements

Appendices

234 | Example Public Company Limited

[IFRS 16.17]

[IFRS 16.61-62]

[IFRS 16.63]

[IFRS 16.858]

[IFRS 16.17]

[IFRS 16.77]

[IFRS 16.81]

[IFRS 13.9, 24, 42]

IFRS 13.93(g)

[IFRS 13.77 79, Al

[IFRS 13.61-62]

[IFRS 13.70-71]

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
U. Leases (continued)
ii. As a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone prices.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this

is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this
assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part
of the economic life of the asset.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the
sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head
lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described above, then it
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group applies IFRS 15 to
allocate the consideration in the contract.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment
in the lease (see Note 44(S)(i)). The Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed
residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term as part of ‘other revenue’.

V. Operating profit

Operating profit is the result generated from the continuing principal revenue-producing activities
of the Group as well as other income and expenses related to operating activities. Operating profit
excludes net finance costs, share of profit of equity-accounted investees and income taxes.

W. Fair value measurement

‘Fair value' is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its
absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value
of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of
fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets, and financial and non-financial liabilities
(see Note 4(B)(i)).

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price
in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset
or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an
ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The
chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into
account in pricing a transaction.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

44. Material accounting policies (continued)
W. Fair value measurement (continued)

Introduction

IFRS 728(a) The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the
transaction price —i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines
that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based
on a valuation technigue for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation
to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted

to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price.
Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of
the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data
or the transaction is closed out.

45. Accounting standards issued but not yet effective’

Australian content

IAS 8.30-31 A number of new accounting standards are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after
1 January 2024 and earlier application is permitted. However, the Group has not early adopted the
following new or amended accounting standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

A. IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements’

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and applies for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 The new standard introduces the following key new requirements.

e Entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five categories in the statement of
profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued operations and income
tax categories. Entities are also required to present a newly-defined operating profit subtotal.
Entities’ net profit will not change.

¢ Management-defined performance measures (MPMs) are disclosed in a single note in the
financial statements.
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¢ Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group information in the financial statements.

In addition, all entities are required to use the operating profit subtotal as the starting point for the
statement of cash flows when presenting operating cash flows under the indirect method.

The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard, particularly with
respect to the structure of the Group's statement of profit or loss, the statement of cash flows
and the additional disclosures required for MPMs. The Group is also assessing the impact on how
information is grouped in the financial statements, including for items currently labelled as ‘other’.

B. Other accounting standards’

The following new and amended accounting standards are not expected to have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
e [ ack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21)

e (lassification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7)d

AASB 1054.17 a. When an IFRS Accounting Standard has been issued by the IASB Board but the equivalent Australian Accounting
Standard has yet to be issued by the AASB, an entity intending to comply with IFRS Accounting Standards discloses
the information specified in paragraphs 30 and 31 of AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors in relation to that IFRS Accounting Standard.

b. For further information on IFRS 18, see our article and read our First Impressions publication.

c. Although new or amended accounting standards that will have no or no material effect on the financial statements
need not be provided, the Group has included all new or amended accounting standards and their possible impact
on the consolidated financial statements for illustrative purposes only.

d. For some entities, these amendments may be expected to have a material effect on their financial statements. The potential
impact may include, but are not limited to, a change in timing of recognition and derecognition of financial instruments in
certain situations in which settlement of a financial instrument with another takes more than a day. For example, entities that
derecognise trade receivables and recognise cash on the debtor’s payment initiation date may need to change the timing
of recognition and derecognition to the date the entity receives that cash. Similarly, a change may be required for entities
that derecognise both trade payables and cash on the payment initiation date even if the creditor has not yet received that
cash. However, an accounting policy choice is available for derecognising certain financial liabilities that are settled using an

electronic payment system subject to certain criteria being met. For further information, see our article.
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Appendix |

New accounting standards or amendments for 2024-25
and forthcoming requirements

Since the July 2024 edition of this guide, a number of accounting standards, amendments to or
interpretations of accounting standards have been issued. This appendix lists these new requirements
that have been issued by the IASB as at 31 August 2024, and it contains two tables, as follows.

Introduction

¢ New currently effective requirements: This table lists the recent changes to the Accounting
Standards that are required to be applied by an entity with an annual reporting period beginning on
1 January 2024 and annual periods beginning on 1 July 2024.

¢ Forthcoming requirements: This table lists the recent changes to the Accounting Standards that
are required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning after 1 January 2024, and for annual
periods beginning on 1 July 2024. These changes are also available for early adoption in annual
reporting periods beginning on 1 January 2024 and annual periods beginning on 1 July 2024.

Australian content

The tables also include a cross-reference to further KPMG guidance, as appropriate. All of the effective
dates in the tables refer to the beginning of an annual accounting period.

New currently effective requirements

Effective date New accounting standards or amendments KPMG guidance
£ Non-current Liabilities with Covenants — Amendments
£ to IAS 1
£ and Insights into IFRS (2.9.40,
13 3.1.40, 7.10.50), Article
g Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current —
E Amendments to IAS 1
1 January 2024 Insights into IFRS
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback - Amendments  (5.1.595), Article,
toIFRS 16 Leases — Sale and
leaseback
Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to Insights into IFRS
IAS 7and IFRS 7 (2.3.193, 7.10.655), Article

APPENDICES

© 2025 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English
company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation.
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.



https://kpmg.com/xx/en/home/insights/2022/11/classifying-liabilities-current-non-current-amendments-ias1.html
https://kpmg.com/xx/en/home/insights/2020/11/sale-leaseback-exposure-draft-ifrs16.html
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New accounting standards or amendments for 2024-25 and forthcoming requirements

Forthcoming requirements

Effective date

New accounting standards or amendments

KPMG guidance

1 January 2025

Lack of Exchangeability — Amendments to IAS 21

Insights into IFRS
(2.794 and 2.7.255),
Article

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture — Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28°

Article

1 January 2026

Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments — Amendments to IFRS 9and IFRS 7

Insights into IFRS
(74.175, 7.4.295,
7.4.335, 74.372,
7.4.385, 76.15, 76.65,
7.6.365, 7.10.235,
7.10.357 7.11.260),
Classification of
financial assets
article, Settlement by
electronic payments
article

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11

Insights into IFRS
(71.155, 7.7.22), Article

1 January 2027

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

Insights into IFRS
(1.2.45,2.1.15,
2.3.35,2.3.65, 3.1.15,
4.1.13,4.1.75, 4.1.95,
4.1.125, 4.1.135,
4.1.145, 4.1.165,
4.1.165, 4.1.175,
4.1.215, 5.8.15,
5.9.45,5.9.68, 7.10.95,
7.10.175), Article, First

Impressions
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1591 INto IFRS
. (1.1.185, 1.1.203),
Disclosures Article

The effective date for these amendments was deferred indefinitely by the IASB Board. Due to
regulatory framework in Australia, the AASB set an effective date of 1 January 2025. AASB will
consider further deferral of these amendments at its November 2024 Board meeting which is
expected to be approved by the Board given the recent Exposure Draft (ED) issued by IASB
relating to applying the equity method and AASB's ED 333 Equity Method of Accounting issued

for comment. Early adoption continues to be permitted.
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Consolidated income statement’
For the year ended 31 December
€ IAS 1.10(b), 104, 29, Note 2024 2023
-g 38-38A, 81A-85, 113 In thousands of EUR restated*
o
::; Continuing operations
'S | IAs1820) Revenue 8 102,860 96,719
% | 1AS199 103 Cost of sales a(C) (55,432) (56,186)
<< R
IAS 1.103 Gross profit 47428 40,533
IAS 1.85 Other income 9(A) 893 104
IAS 1.99, 103 Selling and distribution expenses 9(C) (18,322) (15,865)
JAS 1.99, 103 Administrative expenses 9(C) (17,732) (14,428)
JAS 1.99, 103, 38.126 Research and development expenses 9(C) (1,709) (697)
Impairment loss on trade receivables and contract assets 31(C)ii) (200) (190)
IAS 1.99, 103 Other expenses 9(B) (996) -
IAS 1.85, BC55-BC56 Operating profit 9,962 9,457
[Z]
E IAS 1.85 Finance income 1,131 447
£ IAS 1.82(b) Finance costs (1,883) (1,635)
2| Iasiss Net finance costs 10 (752) (1,188)
g IAS 1.82(c) Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 24 1,141 587
= IAS 1.85 Profit before tax 10,351 8,856
IAS 1.82(d), 12.77 Income tax expense 14 (3,178) (2,460)
IAS 1.85 Profit from continuing operations 7173 6,396
Discontinued operation
IFRS 5.33A, _ _ _ _
IAS 1.82(ea) Profit (loss) from discontinued operation, net of tax 7 379 (422)
IAS 1.81A(a) Profit for the period 7552 5,974
Profit attributable to:
1AS 1.81B(a)(i) Owners of the Company 7,055 5,623
IAS 1.81B(a)(i) Non-controlling interests 35 497 351
7,552 5,974
IAS 33.4A Earnings per share
IAS 33.66, 67A Basic EPS (EUR) 11 2.15 1.69
IAS 33.66, 67A Diluted EPS (EUR) 11 2.07 1.68
EPS - Continuing operations
IAS 33.66, 67A Basic EPS (EUR) 11 2.02 1.83
IAS 33.66, 67A Diluted EPS (EUR) 11 1.95 1.82
Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (adjusted EBITDA) 15 15,744 16,782
*  The comparative information is restated on account of correction of errors. See Note 43. Comparative
8 information has also been re-presented due to a discontinued operation and a change in classification.
g See Notes 7 and 21(H) respectively.
E The notes on pages 71 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
o
o
<

IAS 1.10A

This appendix illustrates the two-statement approach to the presentation of comprehensive income, consisting of an

income statement displaying profit or loss, and a separate statement displaying the components of OCI.
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IAS 1.10A

IAS 1.82A(a)(i)
IAS 1.85

IAS 1.85

IFRS 7.20(a)(vii)
IAS 1.82A(b)(i)
IAS 1.91(b)

IAS 1.82A(a)(ii)

IAS 21.52(b)
IAS 1.85

IAS 1.82A(b)(ii)
IAS 1.92

IFRS 724C(b)(i)

IFRS 724C(b)(iv),

IAS 1.92
IAS 1.85
IAS 1.92
IFRS 7.20(a)(viii)

IFRS 7.20(a)(viii),
IAS 1.92

IAS 1.91(b)

IAS 1.81A(b)
IAS 1.81A(c)

IAS 1.81B(b)(ii)
IAS 1.81B(b)(i)

Appendix 11239

Presentation of comprehensive income —Two-statement approach

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December

Note 2024 2023
In thousands of EUR restated*
Profit for the period 7,552 5,974
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 21(F) 200 -
Remeasurements of the defined benefit liability (asset) 13(B) 72 (15)
Equity investments at FVOCI — net change in fair value 26(D) 141 59
Equity-accounted investees — share of OCI 24, 26(D) 15 (3)
Related tax 14(B) (137) (14)
291 27
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
Foreign operations — foreign currency translation differences 679 471
Net investment hedge — net loss (3) (8)
Equity-accounted investees — share of OCI 24, 26(D) (172) (166)
Reclassification of foreign currency differences on loss of
significant influence 34(D) (20) -
Cash flow hedges — effective portion of changes in fair value 26(D) (62) 95
Cash flow hedges - reclassified to profit or loss 26(D) (31) (12)
Cost of hedging reserve — changes in fair value 26(D) 34 10
Cost of hedging reserve — reclassified to profit or loss 26(D) 8 2
Debt investments at FVOCI — net change in fair value 26(D) 54 60
Debt investments at FVOCI - reclassified to profit or loss 26(D) (64) -
Related tax 14(B) 19 (48)
442 404
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 733 431
Total comprehensive income for the period 8,285 6,405
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 7,762 6,032
Non-controlling interests 35 523 373
8,285 6,405

*  The comparative information is restated on account of correction of errors. See Note 43. Comparative
information has also been re-presented due to a discontinued operation and a change in classification.
See Notes 7 and 21(H) respectively.

The notes on pages 71 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Appendix il

Statement of cash flows - Direct method

Introduction

o 1is Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December

In thousands of EUR Note 2024 2023
é IAS 718(a) Cash flows from operating activities
8 Cash receipts from customers 95,008 97935
8 Cash paid to suppliers and employees (89,020) (94,079)
% Cash generated from operating activities 5,988 3,856
2| as731-32 Interest paid (1,609) (1,289)
IAS 735 Income taxes paid (400) (1,910)
IAS 710 Net cash from operating activities 3,979 657
Cash flows from investing activities
IAS 731 Interest received 37 29
IAS 731 Dividends received 26 32
IAS 716(b) Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,179 397
IAS 716(d), (h) Proceeds from sale of investments 1,346 534
£ IAS 739 Disposal of discontinued operation, net of cash disposed of 7 10,890 -
£ IAS 739 Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 34 (1,799) -
g IAS 716(a) Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (15,857) (2,228)
; IAS 716(a) Acquisition of investment property 23(A) (300) (40)
g IAS 716(a) Purchase of non-current biological assets 16(A) (305) (835)
& IAS 716(c), (g) Acquisition of other investments (359) (342)
IAS 24.18 Dividends from equity-accounted investees 24(A) 21 -
IAS 716(a) Development expenditure 22(A), (D) (1,235) (503)
Receipt of asset-related government grant 30 130 1,462
IAS 710 Net cash used in investing activities (6,226) (1,494)
Cash flows from financing activities
IAS 717(a) Proceeds from issue of share capital 26(A) 1,550 -
IAS 717(c) Proceeds from issue of convertible notes 28(C)-(D) 5,000 -
IAS 717(c) Proceeds from issue of redeemable preference shares 28(E) 2,000 -
IAS 717(c) Proceeds from loans and borrowings 591 4,079
IAS 717(a) Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 30 -
IAS 717(a) Proceeds from exercise of share options 26(A) 50 -
IAS 716(h) Proceeds from settlement of derivatives 5 1
IAS 721 Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings 28(C)-(E) (311) -
IAS 742A Acquisition of NCI 36 (200) -
IAS 717(b) Repurchase of treasury shares - (280)
IAS 717(d) Repayment of borrowings (5,055) (2,445)
IAS 717(e) Payment of lease liabilities (554) (590)
IAS 731, 34 Dividends paid 26(C) (1,243) (571)
IAS 710 Net cash from financing activities 1,863 204
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (384) (633)
o Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January* 1,567 2,226
t; IAS 728 Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held (13) (26)
% Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December* 19 1,170 1,567
E IAS 745 *  Cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of

the Group's cash management.

The notes on pages 71 to 235 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Other disclosures not illustrated in the consolidated financial statements

Appendix IV

Other disclosures notillustrated in the consolidated financial
statements

Going concern matters

Introduction

Extracts of notes to the consolidated financial Statements

2. Basis of accounting

X. Going concern basis of accountinsf"b

IAS 1.25-26, 122 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which
assumes that the Group will be able to discharge its liabilities including the mandatory repayment
terms of the banking facilities as disclosed in Note [X].

Australian content

The Group has recognised a net profit after tax of EUR 7937 thousand for the year ended

31 December 2024 and, as at that date, current assets exceed current liabilities by EUR 22,046
thousand. However, as described in Note [X] significant one-off environmental costs are expected
in 2025, reflecting various regulatory developments in a number of European countries.

In addition to the above, fully drawn banking facilities of EUR 7012 thousand are subject to review
by 30 June 2025. The lenders are expected to undertake a review, which will include (but is not
limited to) an assessment of:

¢ the financial performance of the Group against budget; and

e the progress of compliance with new regulatory requirements.
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Management believes that the repayment of the facilities will be met out of operating cash flows
and the immediate and significant mitigating actions taken by management to reduce costs and
optimise the Group’s cash flow and liquidity. Among these are the following mitigating actions:
reducing capital and investment expenditure through postponing or pausing projects and change
activity; deferring or cancelling discretionary spend; freezing non-essential recruitment; and reducing
marketing spend. Management anticipates that any additional cash flow needs will be met out of
asset sales. Management is confident that the asset sales will be finalised before 30 June 2025 as
disclosed in Note [X] and that the proceeds will be sufficient to meet any additional cash flow needs.

Based on these factors, management has a reasonable expectation that the Group has and will
have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

4. Use of judgements and estimates
A. Judgements

IAS 1.122 Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

IAS 1.122,1U 07-14, e Note 2(X) — going concern: whether there are material uncertainties that may cast significant
Insights 1.2.83.10 doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern [...]

a.  This appendix illustrates one possible example of disclosures in a close-call scenario.

IAS 1.122, 1U 07-14, b.  In some cases, management may conclude that there are no material uncertainties that require disclosure in

Insights 1.2.85.10 accordance with paragraph 25 of IAS 1. However, reaching that conclusion involved significant judgement (i.e. a ‘close-
call’ scenario). In these cases, a question arises about whether any disclosures are required. The IFRS Interpretations
Committee discussed this issue and noted that the disclosure requirements in paragraph 122 of IAS 1 apply to the
judgements made in concluding that there are no material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. To meet these disclosure requirements,
in our view similar information to that in respect of material uncertainties (see first three points in 1.2.83.10 in
Insights into IFRS) may be relevant to the users’ understanding of the entity’s financial statements.
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Distributions of non-cash assets to owners

Extracts of notes to the consolidated financial statements

X. Distribution of wholly owned subsidiary to owners of the
companya, b, c

Introduction

IFRIC 1716(a) On 15 May 2024, the board of directors of the Company announced that the Group would distribute
all of its shares in Papier GmbH, a wholly owned subsidiary within the Recycled Papers segment, to
the Company’s shareholders. On authorisation of the distribution, the Group recognised a dividend
payable of EUR 12,500 thousand, being the fair value of the assets to be distributed.

On 3 June 2024, the shares were distributed. The net assets comprised assets of EUR 17408
thousand less liabilities of EUR 7,464 thousand as follows.

=
% In thousands of EUR 2024
(X}
8 Property, plant and equipment 9,650
s Investment property 100
§ Intangible assets 400
Deferred tax assets 225
Inventories 2,900
Trade and other receivables 4,133
Loans and borrowings (3,064)
Provisions (200)
Deferred tax liabilities (450)
Trade and other payables (3,750)
£ Carrying amount of net assets distributed 9,944
£ Dividend to shareholders 12,500
g Carrying amount of net assets distributed (9,944)
£ Gain on distribution to owners of the Company 2,556°
B.g' IFRIC 1716(b) There was no change in the fair value of the assets to be distributed between the date on which

the distribution was approved and the date on which the dividend was settled.

a.  This appendix illustrates the disclosures that may be necessary to provide information about distributions of non-
cash assets to owners and/or non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are held for distribution (or distributed)

to owners.
IFRS 5.5A, b. |t is not clear whether a business that will be disposed of by distribution to owners could be classified as a
Insights 5.4.130.30 discontinued operation before its disposal. Although IFRS 5 was amended to extend the requirements in respect

of non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale to such items held for distribution to owners, the cross-
referencing in the amendments does not extend to discontinued operations. In our view, although the definition of a
discontinued operation has not been extended explicitly, classification of non-current assets or disposal groups held
for distribution to owners as a discontinued operation is appropriate if the remaining criteria of IFRS 5 are met.
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IFRIC 1714 ¢ The difference between the dividend paid/payable and the carrying amount of the assets distributed is presented as
a separate line item in profit or loss.
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Other disclosures not illustrated in the consolidated financial statements

Government-related entities under IAS 24

Extracts of notes to the consolidated financial statements

40. Related parties®

Example 1 - Individually significant transaction because of size of transaction

Introduction

In 2021, a subsidiary entity, Griffin Limited, entered into a procurement agreement with the
Department of Commerce of the Government of [Country X], such that Griffin Limited would act
as the sole supplier of recycled paper products to the Department'’s various agencies for a term of
three years from 2023 to 2025, with an agreed bulk discount of 10 percent compared with the list
prices that Griffin Limited would generally charge on individual orders.

The aggregate sales value under the agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted
to EUR 3,500 thousand (2023: EUR 2,800 thousand). As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate
amounts due from the Department amounted to EUR 10 thousand (2023: EUR 30 thousand) and
were payable under normal 30 days’ credit terms.

Example 2 - Individually significant transaction carried out on ‘non-market’
terms

Australian content

On 30 December 2023, the Department of Finance of the Government of [Country X|

contracted Griffin Limited to be the sole designer and supplier of materials for office fit-outs

for all of Government. The contract lasts for a term of five years from 2024 to 2028. Under the
agreement, the Department of Finance will reimburse Griffin Limited for the cost of each fit-out.
However, Griffin Limited will not be entitled to earn a margin above cost for this activity. The
aggregate sales value under the agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
EUR 3,500 thousand. As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amounts due from the Department
amounted to EUR 1,000 thousand and were payable under normal 30 days’ credit terms.

Example 3 - Individually significant transaction outside normal day-to-day
business operations

Under an agreement dated 1 January 2024, Griffin Limited and the Department of Trade and
Enterprise of the Government of [Country X] agreed to participate and co-operate with a third party
consortium in the development, funding and operation of a research and development centre.
Griffin Limited will also sub-lease a floor in its headquarters building as an administrative office

for the joint operation. As at 31 December 2024, the capital invested in the venture amounted

to EUR 700 thousand and total lease payments of EUR 100 thousand were received as rental
income.
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Example 4 - Individually significant transaction subject to shareholder approval

Griffin Limited currently owns 40 percent of Galaxy Corp, with the remaining 60 percent owned
by the Department of Commerce of the Government of [Country X] (25 percent) and Lex Corp
(35 percent), a party indirectly controlled by the Department of Commerce.

On 1 December 2024, Griffin Limited entered into a sale-and-purchase agreement (the
Agreement) with the Department of Commerce and Lex Corp, such that Griffin Limited will buy
their shares in Galaxy Corp at EUR 1 per share, at a total consideration of EUR 6,000 thousand. The
terms of the Agreement are subject to independent shareholders’ approval at the extraordinary
general meeting to be held on 1 February 2025. On completion of the proposed acquisition, Galaxy
Corp will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Griffin Limited.

APPENDICES

a.  This appendix illustrates a variety of disclosures that an entity may make under paragraph 26 of IAS 24; other
formats are possible. We assume that the Group is indirectly controlled by the Government of [Country X]. We also
assume that, in addition to selling to various private sector entities, products are sold to government agencies and
departments of [Country X].
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IAS 24.26

Extracts of notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

40. Related parties (continued)
Example 5 - Collectively, but not individually, significant transactions

Griffin Limited operates in an economic regime dominated by entities directly or indirectly
controlled by the Government of [Country X] through its government authorities, agencies,
affiliations and other organisations, collectively referred to as government-related entities. Griffin
Limited has transactions with other government-related entities, including but not limited to sales
and purchases of goods and ancillary materials, rendering and receiving services, lease of assets,
and use of public utilities.

These transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of Griffin Limited’s business on terms
comparable to those with other entities that are not government-related. Griffin Limited has
established procurement policies, a pricing strategy and an approval process for purchases
and sales of products and services, which are independent of whether the counterparties are
government-related entities.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, management estimates that the aggregate amount

of Griffin Limited's significant transactions with other government-related entities is at least

50 percent of its sales of recycled paper products and between 30 and 40 percent of its purchase
of materials.
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Other disclosures not illustrated in the consolidated financial statements

Entities with a service concession arrangement

Extracts of notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

X. Service concession arrangement®"

Introduction

SIC-29.6 On 1 July 2024, the Group entered into a service concession agreement with a local township
(the grantor) to construct a toll road near one of the Group's forestry operations. The construction
of the toll road started in July 2024 and it was completed and available for use on 30 September
2024. Under the terms of the agreement, the Group will operate and make the toll road available
to the public for a period of five years, starting from 1 October 2024. The Group will be responsible
for any maintenance services required during the concession period. The Group does not expect
major repairs to be necessary during the concession period.

SIC-29.6(c)(iv) The grantor will provide the Group a guaranteed minimum annual payment for each year that
the toll road is in operation. Additionally, the Group has received the right to charge users a fee
for using the toll road, which the Group will collect and retain; however, this fee is capped to a
maximum amount as stated in the service concession agreement. The usage fees collected
and earned by the Group are over and above the guaranteed minimum annual payment to

be received from the grantor. At the end of the concession period, the toll road will become
the property of the grantor and the Group will have no further involvement in its operation or
maintenance requirements.

Australian content

SIC-29.6(c)(v) The service concession agreement does not contain a renewal option. The rights of the grantor
to terminate the agreement include poor performance by the Group and in the event of a material
breach in the terms of the agreement. The rights of the Group to terminate the agreement include
failure of the grantor to make payment under the agreement, a material breach in the terms of
the agreement and any changes in law that would render it impossible for the Group to fulfil its
requirements under the agreement.

SIC-29.6(e), 6A For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has recognised revenue of EUR 350 thousand,
consisting of EUR 320 thousand on construction and EUR 30 thousand on operation of the toll
road, which is the amount of tolls collected. The Group has recognised profit of EUR 20 thousand,
consisting of a profit of EUR 25 thousand on construction and a loss of EUR 5 thousand on
operation of the toll road. The revenue recognised in relation to construction in 2024 represents
the fair value of the construction services provided in constructing the toll road. The Group has
recognised a service concession receivable, initially measured at the fair value of the construction
services, of EUR 260 thousand representing the present value of the guaranteed annual minimum
payments to be received from the grantor, discounted at a rate of 5 percent, of which EUR 11
thousand represents accrued interest.
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The Group has recognised an intangible asset received as consideration for providing construction
or upgrade services in a service concession arrangement of EUR 95 thousand, of which EUR 5
thousand has been amortised in 2024. The intangible asset represents the right to charge users a
fee for use of the toll road.*

a.  This appendix illustrates one possible format for the disclosure of a service concession arrangement to help in the
preparation of consolidated financial statements. Other presentation formats are possible.

SIC-29.7 b.  Disclosures about the nature and extent of service concession arrangements are provided individually for each
service concession arrangement or in aggregate for each class of service concession arrangement.

APPENDICES

¢ The disclosure requirements in IFRS 13 do not apply to assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value after
initial recognition.
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[IFRIC 12.13]

[IFRIC 12.17]

Extracts of notes to the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

44. Material accounting policies
D. Revenue
x. Service concession arrangements

Revenue related to construction or upgrade services under a service concession arrangement

is recognised over time, consistent with the Group's accounting policy on recognising revenue

on construction contracts. Operation or service revenue is recognised in the period in which the
services are provided by the Group. If the service concession arrangement contains more than one
performance obligation, then the consideration received is allocated with reference to the relative
stand-alone selling prices of the services delivered.

M. Intangible assets and goodwill
x. Service concession arrangements

The Group recognises an intangible asset arising from a service concession arrangement when

it has a right to charge for use of the concession infrastructure. An intangible asset received as
consideration for providing construction or upgrade services in a service concession arrangement
is measured at fair value on initial recognition with reference to the fair value of the services
provided. Subsequent to initial recognition, the intangible asset is measured at cost, which includes
capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

The estimated useful life of an intangible asset in a service concession arrangement is the period
from when the Group is able to charge the public for the use of the infrastructure to the end of the
concession period.

P Financial instruments
x. Non-derivative financial assets — Service concession arrangements

The Group recognises a financial asset arising from a service concession arrangement when it

has an unconditional contractual right to receive cash from or at the direction of the grantor for

the construction or upgrade services provided, and the right to receive cash depends only on the
passage of time. Such financial assets are measured at fair value on initial recognition and classified
as financial assets measured at amortised cost.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a financial asset and partly by an
intangible asset, then each component of the consideration is accounted for separately and is
initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration (see also Note 44(M)(x)).
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Keeping in touch
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